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A.A.BR* ArTtHUR #{mc:kung{t,uA D.Sc., FR.S F&Asm'“ ity of Dublln
and R'oyal Astronomer of Ireland, 189:-1397. vin ° m
A. Cy. AstauR Exnest Cowrey, M.A,, LitT. {luuma-;
Sub-Lsibrarian of the Bodleian lenry. Oxlond, and Fellow of Magdalen Cotlege. Seadiah,
A.C.G. ALBERT CHARLES LEWs GoTTHILY Gg:m, MA,, 18“) Pr.D,, F. lidseddl
D!n 'l e Gdd m' .
mal somy.bf-a Autbot:malabr;:ar/cl:w ri 'sii‘.:. Salmma.{m(ﬂ pert).
Musenm ; &c.
ARRH A E. Houclnon Serrano y Do
C t of the Siandard i Author of Restordtion of the Y Domingues,
yuormponden in Spain. of { Francisco,
ARF Aﬂ';“:l.losl"l“m Iﬁlhmmm' bt Anl Lec Christi C Oxford. Seuior{
utor t 'y
nal. l't !892t urer, Corpus ollege, Serles.
ALL AxtuUR Francts Leacw, M.A.
Barrister-at-Law, Middle Temple. Chrity Commissioner for En, nd and Wales.
Formerly Assistant-Secretary of the Board of Education. Fellow All Souls’ ] Schools.
Collqe Oxford, 1874-1881. Authoro( English Schools as the Refor
ALP ArserT FreEoerick Porramo, M.A., F.R.Hist.S.

mee-or lish History in the University of London. Fellow of All Souls’
College, Oxloan' Assistant Editor of the p.m".i.wo/ National ngnphy. 1893-' Sanders, Nicholas.

xl Lothian anmn. Oxford, ? Arnold Prizeman, 1898.
nd under the Prolecior Suund. enry VIII.; Life of Thomas Cnm; &ec
A. Ge. Stz Arcmmbawo Geixie, K.C.B. Sootland: .Geography and
See the biographical article: GRIKIE, SIR ARCHIBALD. Geology (in part).
A Go.* Rev. Avexanoer Goroon, M.A. Saravia, Adrian;
Lecturer in Church History in the University of Manchester. Servettis, Michael.
AHS Rev. Arcmusatp Hewnay Savce, D.D., LL.D., Lirt.D. ,{ Sardanapalus; Sargon;
See the biographical article: Sucn.A.H. . Sennacherib; 3
A H-S Sz A. Hourus-Scrinorer, C.IE. {m (ém parf); Shiras;
General in the Persian Army. Author of Easters Persian Irak. Shushter.
AJ.G Rev. ALEXANDER James Grieve, M.A,, B.D.
Professor of New Testament and Church Hm kshire United Ind: Septuagint, The.
College, Bradford. Sometime Registrar of University, and Mmbu of
Mysore Educational Service.
AL Amzw Lmec, LL.D. Seotland: History;
the biographical article: LANG, ANDREW. Second Sight.
A N* Rl:v ht‘""“' Mennes, D.D.

lessor of Divinity and Biblical Criticism, St ery lColal:se St Andrews. Author{ Sootland, Church of.
of History of Religion; &. Editor of Review of Theology Philosopky.

ALQ Acxzs Murrer Cray (Mrs Wilde).
:" ly eudeut utor of Lady Margaret Hall, Oxford. Joint-author of Sowm{m
Sand-grouse; Sandpiper;
Seaup; Socoter; Scrub-bird;
AL Aum N:mn,l?Rs . Secretary-bird; Seriema;
he biographical article: NEwTON, ALPRED. Shearwater; Sheathbdill;

3 A complete list, showing all individual contributors, appears in the final volume.
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Aoorr GorraARD Noxreewn, Pr.D.
Professor ofa' Scandinavian LIW at the Umvemty of Upeala. Author of Seandinavian Languages.

N S, Altisl Altnorwegische Gram-
matik; &c. ? 4 ¥
ANDREW SETH Puucu:-mmsou MA, LL.D, D.CL.
ll::coie-or of Lo and ol A m the 'I.Jnll;'er“:;y 7led|é|bu . Glﬂod{m;
urer in tl mveml Academ “m-
Authorolllusl’laaul)'hCom Th phem:l a t‘«ais ;:
Hon. Braproro REODES.
Head of Banking Firm of Bradford Rhodes & Co. Fi Savings Banks:
34th Street 'k.'l.'mi'"s...k. New York. ounder and First President of { Uniled Siates.
BerTRA SUrTEES PHILLPOTTS, M.A. (Dublin).
Formerly Librarian of Girton College, Cambridge. {mﬂﬂ Civilization.
Sz CyeriaN AxtaUR GrorcE Brmgce, G.C.B.
miral. Commander-in-Chief, China Station, 1901-1904. Director of Naval | Sea, Command of the;
lmelhgenee. 1889~1894. Author of The Art of Naval Warfare; Sea-Power and other | Sea-Power.
Studies;
Sz Cnnus Nonon Eoocvnz Ettor, K.CM.G., LL.D., D.C.L.
ice-Chancellor of Umveru? Fo ly Fellov ol ’I‘nm( College.
H.M.'s l‘ Chief f( he tish East{ Saka,
Africa Protectorate; Agent and CouuLthunl at Znn’bur Consul-General for
German East Alrica, 1900;1904.
Fws dhapiiod Aol' College, Oxford. Ca City of London Rnynl{!cm eoks' parf)
, 18t d i
Foeny S Rathor m"v'mda-m ot Gt Frris, 1= €t ( Woela® War (in parf).
Cnutul-‘mmnﬂms.th LLD'o!P"' 18 the University of
D:Adl‘m &C.Autbor of Pml: nl"clamr Commerce of Nations; ﬂury of International Seignlorage.
Caaries Hosk, FRGS,FZS DSc
esus College, Cambridge. u{ nal Resident and Member of the Sarawak.
preme ‘ouncil of Snnw-k. Knight ol the Prussian Crown. Author of A
Descripiive Account of the Mammals of Borneo; &c.
S Crarres Horrovp.
See the biographical article: HoLrovp, Sig C. {M Francis Job.
A ttane Professor of History, i Columbia University, New York City. M b.f{
ista . .
Aviat nt e"‘uﬁ- :to m::ory in :.m versity, New ity. em| Slorza.
Levr.-Cor. Craries Jaues Fox, F.R.G.S.
Chief Officer, London Salvage President of A of Professional Fire | Salvage Corps.
Bngule Officers.  Vice-President of National Fire Bngades Uluon &e.
CuariEs Letasrince Kincsrorp, M.A., F.R.HistS., F.S.A cute, ’l'". of; do ta-
Assistant-Secretary to the Board of Education. Author of Ltfcoj}lmry V. Editor sh Jane: ’
of Chronicles of London, and Stow's Survey of London. ore, 'hthl'lol.
CazL Tnzooo: Mmgsr, D.TH.
Prolessor of Church Hmory in the Umvemty of Marbu Aulhor of Publisistik { Sardiea, Council of.
L] Zmalkr Gregor VI1.; Quelien sur Gesch des Papstthums

CHEDOMILLE MIJATOVICH.
Senator of t Kln;dom of Servia. Envoy Extraordinary and Minister Pleni- | Servia,
potentiary ol the King of Servia to the Court of St James', 1895-1900 and 1902-

1903.

S Craries Moore Warsown, K.C.M.G., C.B.
Colonel, Royal Engineers. Deputy-Inspector-General of Fortificatio Sepulehre, The Holy.
1902. Served nd:-‘émnl cofﬂ"af."mm.ﬁ?u-.m ! i l“{

Prof ﬁﬁ?ﬁ; Chevalier of the Legion of Honour. Author of { Salis La
essor at t t r. .
Bindes sur ls rigne de Robert le Piens. { v

Crarres RavMOND Beaziey, M.A., D.Lir, F.R.GS,, F.R.Hisr.S.
of Meveon Cotleger Onford, Ao od fhe Univerity of Birmingiam. F"&“"'cm.,. oL raploy; | Santo,
ert urer in the Hist
Lothia: M lege Oxford, *lesg. m?a' . 150 apt
Henry lh ngabv The Dm of Modern Gugmﬂ?. &c.

{W. mnnn.,
CeAzLES WALKER ROBINSON, C.B., D.C.L. {

Major-General (M-EG?))' Military S MHII dquarters Hospiul. cAmy.
l&)o-l Sectmry il hlna,
1895-122 Author of Strategy of the Peninsular Wu, &:.m

Duncan Brack Macoonaro, M.A., D.D.
essor of Semitic Lan Hm!md 1 Semimry. Hlnloni Co

Prof¢
Author of D ¢ Theolo ®ris
'l‘lmy“ Sdodsmmfnu Ib;, xm: Religious Auu-m;.’w [ Idul &:.

Salamanes: Batile, 1812
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D.ET. mngrazuf,.aumawm comprising The Classical Coucerl, The "“"’3
Goldberg Variations, and analyses of othe '

D.G.H Davip Geozce Hocarra, M.A.
oltheMmhnMumm,Odod and Fellow of Magdalen College. Fellow
of the British Amde, myMEm' v;t:od_n Pnphu. 1888; Nanmth,sehz:r and 1903.
= ut, 1906~
lx;-xm w, Cretaa mﬁ’f"n Fund, 1899,
Saints, Battle of the;
Vlnmn. ol;
b.E DAVIDMAB ish Vice-Consul at Barcelona. Author of Skord History of the Royal llllh “:
it t e
Novy; Life :} E-d:mdda ac. g Mm o
Seven Years’ War:
Noval Operations,
D.0. Dovctas Owen.
Barrister-at-Law, Inner Temple Lecturer at the Royal Naval War College,
Portsmouth, and at London School of Economics. Hon. and Treasurer { ghipping.
of the Socicty of Nautical Research. Author of Declaration of War; Belligerents
and Neutrals; Ports and Docks; &c.
EAN Eowaro Atmxmu,utu .S. of F r oM
t niversi London. ellow ert
Cotees Onlora and Fodrell Protessor o Zostogy and Mcom.unve A..m‘,’,'.'{mm
University C , London.
EB.T. amun Buznerr Tyiroz, D.C.L., LL.D.
See the biographical article: TYLor, EDwARD BURNETT. {“‘l“ﬁﬂl-
EC.B. Rr. Rev. Eowaro Cuthsert BurtiEr, M.A., O.S.B., LitT.D.
Abbot of Dovmndc Abbey, Bath.  Author of *“The Lausiac History of Palladius "' { Servites.
in Cambridge Texis and Siudies.
RF Rr. Hon. St Eowamp Fry.
See the biographical article: Fry, Stz EowARD. {M 1st Eart ol
kG Eoxuno Gosse, LL.D., D.C.L. Samain, Albert Vietor;
See the bto‘nph  article: Gosss, EDMuND. Sermon.
&g, B T Pascr. { samos (in pars..
E A B. Sz Eowarp Hersert Bunsury, Bart., M.A. G.S. (d. 7)
M.P. for Bury St Edmunds, 1847-1833 Audwd Bubry nciens Geography; { Samos (in parf).
| 3% A E"“n'} Honu.lzguns, M. P: oy, Ca rerand Lib Sarmatas;
, Cam | Assista:
Univemy Legtaein Palaography, Cambrige, Lechuoe nd AvioaneLibarias { gethia.
RJD. Eowarp Josern Dent, M.A., Mus.Bac.
Formerly Fellow of ngn College, Cambridge. Author of A. Scarlatti: Ais Lr[c{!urhm, Alessandro,
REKC EouunD KERCHEVER CHAMBERS.
ot OntortChaneelor's Eopiah Emayin ;agn S huthor of The Mogsoss) | Shakespoars.
s ut|
;lqe Editor of the ** Red Letter ™ Shkakespeare; Donne’'s Poems; Vuuglnn-
oems ;
EL N Eouaro MeveR, RPu.D,, D.Litr, LL.D. Sanatruces; Sa
Professor of Ancient Hi the University of Berlin. Author of Geschichie de: 3 Satrap;
Allerthums, Geschichie 5':':"3:3 Actypiens: Die Israciiten wnd shre Nochbarsiamme. {Nm"v Shapur 1-NIL
ENLT Siz Eowaro Maunoe Troxrsown, G.C.B., 1.5.0., D.C.L,, Litr.D,, LL.D.
Director and Principal Librarian, British Mlneum. 898-1909. Sandars Reader in
Bibliography, Cambridge Umvermy. 1895-?6. Hon Fellow of Umvemly College,
Oxlo'z Correspondent of the Institute of Frunce and of the Royal Prussian W Greek and Roman
my of Sciences. Authorol Handbook a[ Greek and Latin Palacogmphy. Editor T
ol Clwmto- Angliae. Joint-editor of publications of lhe Palaeographw-l ociety, ackygraphy.
the New Palacographical Society, and of the F. of the L
EO* Emlm mes:' .R.CS., Sl{liib DHSc. ) od 1o the Children’s H | s
rgeon tal, London, and to t m
O on Serees, Lomdon.” Cebvatier of the Legion of Honour. 'Au?igr"'o s
a lluul ojAmy/vr Senior Siudents.
ERB. Eowyx RosrrT Bevan, M.A.
F'e:“s lege, Oxford. Author of The House of Selencus; Jerusalem under the Bngk
E Wa Rzv. Eouono Warzs, M.A, D.D, D.CL, C.B, C.V.0. W"b‘"’”u.'m

Provost of E! ‘Hon. Fellow of Bailiol Colle e.o.tord Headmaster of Ex A
College, luq-'-‘:;os. ‘I,\nﬂzh«:r J Grammar of Rv':l'u on of Steamships.
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Rev. Franx Eowarp BRrIiGHTMAN, M.A., Pr.D., D.L1tT.
Fellow and Tutor of Magdalen Iecc. Oxford. Prebendary of Linml.n Ca!hednl. Seraplon.
Pusey Librarian, Oxford, 188¢4-1903. Author of Lilurgies: Easters and

Freoerick Georoe MEESON B Saxons.
Fellow-and Lecturer of Clare C'ﬁl‘lép, Cunbndlb. {

FrepErick Gymer Pamsons, F.R.C.S, F.Z.S., F.R.ANTHROP.INST.
Vice-President, Anatomical Society 'of Great Britain and Ireland. Lecturer on Sealp.
‘Anatomy at St Thomas's Hospital and the London Schoo! of Medicine for Women,
London. Formerly Hunterian Professor at the Royal College of Surgeons.

OR-GENERAL Stz FrEpDERICK JOHN GOLDSMID. :
Muoe om blographical article: o (family). {""“" (in part).

Francis LLeweLLyN Grrerrrr, M.A., Pr.D., F.S.A. Sals;
Reader in Oxford Umvemty Editor of the Arc haeological Survey Scarab;

l\dArchuoiopul tion Fund. Fellow of Imperial ‘

t';: Archacological | e e of m‘&nm'h-a Priests of Memphis; | Seapls;
Cor. Freoeric Natusca Mauoe, C.B. Sedan: Balsle of;

Lecturer in Military Hmorz‘.Mnndzenef University. Anthot of War ond the{ Seven Weeks’ War (in porf);

World's Policy; The Leipsig Compaign; The Jena Campaign; &c. Seven Years® War (in part).
FranNx R. Cana. St Helena (in’ .

Author of South Africa from the Greas Trek to the Union. ,:,w; ,,(,',:.L“'”'*

RANCIS STORR. .

}rinitgég?el , Cambridge. Editor of the Joxrnal of Education, London. Oﬁcm{s.ml, George.
Freoerick Wririak Rupirer, 1.5.0, F.G.S.

Curalor a:‘d L:burun of lhe Mu-eum of Pﬂftalsc;} Geology, London, 1879-1902.

ion, 188 7-

Gmnc: A. BouLENGER, D Sc.,

In charge of tlle Collecuomof Rejmls and Fi-hu. Dcnnment of Zoology, British { Salmon and Salmonidae.
s S Com o B ECRUTO0 { et e i pr

t

of smm;f» Peopie; Provident Knowlodge Popers; Bc. Sa (in
G:oncz Dosson.

Author of Russia’s Radhway Adsance into Central Asia; &c. {m'm

Georce Eowaro Dosson, M.A,, MB,, F.ZS,, FRS (x 189 )
Army Medical mnent, 1868-1888 erly urator of the Rcyll Shrew.
Viﬂona Museum, Netley. Author of ll “’r of the Asialic Chiroptera, &c o

A Mozograph of the I

Georor GREGORY SMITH M.A. Sootland: Lilerature:
Professor of English Lit 's University, Belfast. Author of The Days o ’
of Jame: IV.; S Fhe Tramn Period: Speci Middle Scots, &c. ’{’W“r Alsxander.

REv. GeorGce HERBERT Box, M.A.

RectorolSutton Sandy, Beds. Formerly Hebrew Master, Merchant Taylors’ School, | gngkinah,
London. Lecturer in the Faculty of » University of Oxfe 1900-1909.
Author of Translation of Book of Isaiak; &c.

GEoRGE SaiNTsBuRry, LL.D., D.C.L. Saint-Simon, Due de;
See the biographical article: SAINTSBURY, GEORGE EDWARD BATEMAN. Sévigné, Madame de.

Muon GenrcE WiLLIAM REDWAY. Seven Days’ Battle;

Author of The War of Secession, 136:—:86:. Fredericksburg: o Study s War. Shenandoah Valley Campaigns.

Rev. Gnnmms WreerLer THATCHER, M.A., B.D. Shahrastinl;
rden of Camden College, Sydney, NSW. Formerly Tutor in Hebrew and Old Shi'ites.
Tuumtnt History at Mansfield College, Oxford.

Henzy A. Rowranp. .

See the biographical article: RowLanD, HENRY AuGusTUS. {m' Errors of Screws.
Salisbury, Marquess of;

Hucn Crisnoru, M.A. Shakespeare: The Slmk;:)m:-

Fcrmerly Scholar of Corpus Christi College, Oxford. Editor of the 11th edition of

Encyclopaedia Britannica; Co-editor ol (he 10th edition. Bacon Theory,

Sherdrooks, Viscount.

Rev. HipPOLYTE DELERAYE L Sebastian, St;
Bollandist. Joint-editor of the Acta Sanclorum ; and the Analecta Bollandiana. Sergius, 8t

Hans Frieorice Gaoow, F.R.S., Pr.D.
Strickland Curatorand lgctum on Zoolﬂ'm the University of Cambridge. Author 4 Sauropsida.
of ** Amphibia and Reptiles "' in the Cambridge Naixral History: &c.

Rev. HeEnry Fansaawe Tozer, M.A., F.R.G.S.
Hon. Fellow, formerly Fellow nnd Tutor of Exeter College, Oxford. Fellovl of the
Rnthu:r .:‘ ‘” < Gn b of the Hmonu;.Sotuefy Gm::..
ut! ulory noient aphy; Classical Geography; Leciures om
Geography of Greess; z. i -
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Hazerer L. Hnnmn,ll.b (Bmz),!..R.C.PJ..L.R.C.s.L {m
Hzwx R:cnm'l‘mn,
s.'mmy mam:xmumm {mmm:mmm.
IsmaRL Ab , MLA.
Reader in Talmudic and Rabbink Literature in the University of Cambridge. Sambel of Nebardea;
Formerly President, Jewish HmonalSoctt& ? nd AuthotolA Short | Shekel.
Hlunyo[.h-ulhm Jowish Life i iddie ; Judaism ; &c.

AMES ALEXANDER M
] me#wsmampw&mmmw Caudl&Co..Ltd.{S“W Geography (in part).

Jomx AztaoR Prarr, MA,
Professor of Greek in University Formerly Fellow of Trinity { Sappho.
College, Cambridge. Author of editions Homunlkdnd()dytuy.&c.

Vezy Rev. Joszrr Axartace RoBinsoN, M.A., D.D.
Dean Welb. Dean of Westminster, l9oe-|9n Fellow of the British
Chuphm—m-Ordimry to the King. Hon. Fellow of Christ’s College, 4 Selllitan Martyrs.
Norrisian Professor of Dwmity in the University of Cambridge, 1893~
1899. Authot of Some Thoughts on the ; &c.

Juas Bn-n.m SeafloMd;
oy Member of Soae:y 2 mam%ﬁﬁmﬁhqﬂsn":{ S King .Qtn:nnn'ty{ J
Surveyors’ Association. Author of Quantities.

Sewerage;
Jnsm BEAVINGTON ATKINSON.
Formerly Art-critic of the Satwrday Review. Author of An Art Tour én the Northern { Schadow.
Cagprtals of Europe; Schools of Modern Art in Germany.
Sanskrit.

H. Juuws Ecorimee, Pa.D.
P!dmo(&ukmndComplndvc- il , Edinburgh University. Formerly

Jmhﬂw%nmi:’ :E"t} ‘me o o% I<':.I.) bridge. St John's Coll
tor n's e
Cambridge. " Fellow o of "Btk Rnloare Netor of Rty of aum{m (i porf).

Rev. Joun FrepEsick Saarh.

Author of Siudies in Reli aua,mmhtedGHA.von Sehleiermacher !
Eﬂlm‘;mm’mqu - the Book of Job. (i parf)
Jauzs Gromce Frazzz, M.A, D.C.L, LLD., Lrrr.D.

MmdSoddAnthmpolog‘z i} Fellow of T! Coll
Cambridge. Fellow of the B m niumydmc'dda%.&c.w

Joszrr G. Honuu,A.MleB
Author of Plafing and Bosler Making; Practical Metal Turning; &c. {

Jomx Gul;:'xn:,‘M.A F.R.S
% forph ';ybwnivuu z-mbﬁdze.' FellowolzhmuColkge.

edallut. 1898. Neill Prizeman, Royal
.l9°4-

Jm Gzorox Rosezrson, M.A., Pr.D.
Professor of German and mmn.Umvulityoﬂ.ondon Editor of the
HdwnL.ugupJ Author of History of German Literature; Sdulkraﬂcr{

&tg‘mstonctSconK
ol.mnoma Southern Sban States. Author of Bxrma;
The Upper Burma Gaseltoer.

l"czms.mr Py Principal i of Leeds Clergy School and Lecturer of Leeds { Sootiand, Episoopal Chureh of.
Parish Church, 1900-1910.

Jomax Hzwxy AztEUR Harr, MA.
Fellow, Theological Lecturer and Librarian, St John's College, Cambridge.

Jomx Hrwzy Mmorzron, M. LmD FS.A. D.C.L. (1846-18¢6).

Slade Professor of Fine Art bridp 1886-189 Sangallo;
of the Fitswilliam South
Wm.:‘:'".,,...&m S e R DT I e,

Jomx Hoaace Roump, M., LL.D. Seatage:
Balliol Oxford. Autbor of Fendal Englond; Studies in Poerage and Fomil tage;
Histery; Pnupud}’m ol Fe ‘b ond ..’{ Serjeanty.

]olx Bou.nm Rosz, M.A., Lrrr.D.

tunbnd? Lecturer on b
Lectures IL‘%M Authorol“.o{blapo&uﬂr m{m
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Jmlg:nt V%l Crows. o the Royal Military College
S e e e ot e 2 "';,w{m ..
Russo-Turkish War, 1877-1878;

Krr1s Ingran, LL.D. , Jean Bapliste;
Jomts” the biographical article: INgrAM, Jorn KxrLs. zlor. Nassan,

Jomy Linton Mymes, M.A., FS.A., F.R.G.S.

Wykeham meunro‘Amnt mory ntbeUnivuIityo‘Oxfotd and Fellow of

M ke Ll mmc LecmmlnAnc:e;: Salamis: Cyprus.
Geography, Universi verpooL u in
;Jlmvuﬂti:.fwm,?nd&uduthTuwrdChdnChumh. Author of 4 Hi

Sy B ing R oo East Loodon nm-hg' kot
e s o oy et St of G Hasiory % (im port).

J‘nlgd. (;a;oxotlh Jmm PENDEREL-BRODHURST. { Sheraton, Thomas.

JomlSang D.Sc., F.G.S. of the Usited Ki . {m;um:
£t Suuq ngdom. Lecturer Seapolits (Racks);
Pummnw#u quuu Neill Medl“htdthmgoonyd Schorl

Jauxs Surre Rxm, M.A., LL.D., Lirr.D,
meemrolAﬁumtglllu:wy'udde'lnd% Gonville and Caius College,
Brownee snd Chancullors’ Madats” Edtter of eiitivns of Cicero's 4 ademis: Be g .
Amicitia; &c.

Bt?ohnb(uu (i B
oHN TwoMAS BEALBY. Sakhalin (in porf); Samars:
] ,Bint-nuthofo(Snnfad'- Europe. FormulyEdimolthe plml Government (in part);

agasine. Translator of Sven WAMWAM-J llnll’hH:Cicy(inM'

Saratov: Government (in parf).
Jum TrOMAS CUNNINGEAM, M.

Lecturer on §outh-We-tern Polytechnic, London. Formerly Fellow
o(Um % ':lht‘Prolmo‘Nnmnl History in the mm(n”d)
to Bi

Jauxs TrHOMSON SmoTWELL, PR.D. Salnt-Simon, Comts de

Professor of History in Columbia University, New York City. (i pari).
Ame.mn,MA D.CL., LLD. Seamen. relating to;
J All Souls' Rea dumkmnhwmthoUmmtyolefud lndl'-'ellv'ofhnwh{m laws to;

College. Author of Wills and Succeision; &c.

Jauzs WycLore Hunum M.A.
Staff Inspect nd;&Schooh under the Board of Education, London.
Imm&mbndge. Professor of Gml: and Ancient
Author of Bismarck and the foundation of

KNGSLEY GARLAND J mnu.

College, Oxford. M.tthe'ArnoldPrmn,x
Author of mGGckauSm 908

KATHLEEN SCHLESING!
Editor of the Pm]dw of Musical Archacology. Autbor of The Instruments of the

Histoire des Beaux Arts; &c.

LzoNArp Jaues Spencer, M.A.
Assistant in the rtment of Mineralogy, British M| Formerly Scholar
of Sidney Sussex lege, C: and Hark Schol. Editor of the

Mixeralogical Magasine.

LiNpa Mazy VILLARL
Sée the biographical article: VILLARI, PASQUALE.

valltln F“. Emigration Department). Formerly Newspa Corre-
z?nd:mm East o(%uf:re. Italian Vi w:'nCouwl in New Orleans, x':s. Phila-
“J)hh. 1907, and Boston
Couniry; &c.

1907-1910. Author of lialias Life n Town

mmc: AxrTHUR CAmv, M A.

Languages in the University of Manchester. Formerly
gzhlblmw of St lohnu College, & n? Ellerton Hebrew Scholar,

Léonce B
Keeper National du Luxembourg, Paris. Chevali i
B e ddont of the St s Poiatiss tentalistes Tremeaia Au :«'{m- Modern French.
ord, 1892; Kennicott Hebrew l ton Syriac Prize, 1896, {
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Bxrr.

fthor of Pemter Plate; 8. { snemoit viata.
Micaazr BrerT.

Barrister-at-Law, Middle Temple. ) ‘{lll'l(.: Military,
S Macxznux Darzeir Cuaiuess, K.C.B., CS.I., M.A.

Trinity Coll Oxfard, Barrister-at-Law.  Formerl Under-S

of State for the Home rtmeat, London, and l!nm Plrlhmennry Counsel to ] 8alo of Goods.

the Treasury. Author of o]lku-d&lkojzslu‘c

m.hdmm? MA. DUsc' FI‘s(:o , Cork. Author of * Protozoa, inthc{hm
. Universil uthor of * **

Cambridge Natural nlory ndtypapen otvmumnuic’onmh.

MazioNn H. SPIELMANN,
FumiyEdnmofl‘ellugmco]ln Membero(l-‘iuAnCommtteeo“nw-

national Brussels, Paris, uenn-Alm.Rome the Franco- Seulptare (is part);

British Exhibntion. London. Author of History of “ Punch"; British Portreit Shakespeare: wa;ik.
Pcuaulolhomul'? chrhﬁt'G&Wm.M 3 British . .
Sculpiure and Scuiptors To-Doy,Emmu

noml o?w’hb U of Pennsyl Autbor of. Religi {
e ml.::guagu. niversity 'ennsylvania. Aul -Religion { Shamash.
mkuderiAnaenBH o i Lowton Unir Lecturer in Greek in Bi hhnh.! !
Rea n An t, "Isorym niversity. rer in irmingham Gin .
Léon uES MaxaMe PrINET
J:ilcsryolthelnmmuoll-'nm (Aud«nyoannland Political Sdencu).{“ Nectalre;

Autbor of L'Industrie du sel en Franche- 8¢ Pol, Counts of.
M. Ta. HoursMa.
Professor of Semitic L 1ges in the University of Utrecht. {!ollﬂh-

OnnnmAnv M.A, LLD.
Tnsplctor

of Schools nd Inspector of Training Coll Bonldo{Eduuuon.
e Ry i Sl iy oty 11 E-glunb' o Charles II.; &c. ) Shattesbury, 1st Earl oL
Ed:tcrdthehudadak}’apa:. .

8t Petersburg (in parl);

Pamice PETER ALEXEIVITCH KROPOTKIN. Sakhalin (im port); =
See the biographical article: KroroTkiN, Princk, P. A. : Samara: Gm (in M.
3 (in X
Perzz Cnmns Mrrcnu MA FRS F.ZS., D.Sc, LL.D.
y of the of London. Umvemty Demonstrator in Com-
pamnve Anatomy and A-mant to Linagge Professor at Oxford, 1888-1891. Sex.
Author of Ontlines of Biology; &c.
Pexcy Gnmtn.l.LD F.S.A, D.LrrT.
) the biographical article: GARDNER, PExcY. {m
P‘mAsl(:o;t‘:clKotnheDmeMDd Mai. Formerly Editor of the Artist,
t t ulpture (is pars).
Author of The Art of Walter Crane; Velasgues, Life and Work; &c. 8 o
PercY SomErs TYRINGHAM STEPHENS, J.P.
Coatributor to the Badminion Hagul{c {m
PaurL Vinocraoorr, D.C.L., LL.D.
See the biographical article: VINOGRADOPF, PAUL. Serfdom.
S Prnture Warrs, K.C.B, F.RS,, LL.D. . ; .
Dlractof of Naval Construction for the British Navy. Chairman of the Federation llllm History since the Inven:
builders. Naval Architect and Director of War Shipbuilding Department ] _fiom of Steamskips;
o(s.r . G. Armstrong, Whitworth & Co., Ltd., 188s-1901. Shipbuilding.
RoseaT ADANSON, LL.D. .
See the biographical article: ADAMSON, ROBERT. {m (in parl).)
ROBERT ALEXANDER STEWART MACALISTER, M.A., F.S.A. Samaria;
St John's College, Cambridge. Director of Excavations for the Palestine Ex- Shechem.
ploration Fund.
CoLoNEL ROBERT ALEXANDER Wamas, C.B., CM.G,, C.LE.
Formerly H.M. Commissioner, Aden Boundary Delimitation. Served with Tirah Sapa.
Expedmonary Force, 1897-1898, and qop the Anglo-Russian Boundary Com-
mission, Pamirs, 1895.
Ricaazp CoPLEY CHRISTIE. :
See the biographical article: CrrisTiE, RicHARD CoPLEY. {W (in pori).
Rosert Drew Hicxs, M.A. in parf).
Fellow, formerly Lecturer in Classics, Trinity College, Cambridge. {m (n
Garnerr, LL.D. Sarpl, Paolo;
See the biographical article: GARNBTT, RICHARD. Satire.

e Soat f:cffe‘iodmu Gardens, London. {m
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RJ M RONALD omx McN M.A. ’ e
Christ J rch, Oxford. Barrister-at-Law. FumuiyEd:mdth&J-a’: .";m'
n). Scrope Family;
Ship-money;
Shrewsbury, Duke ol.
R.L* Rrcaarp Lyoexxer, F.RS., F.GS., FZS.
onh bt s Sl o oty et ey, d{“,.,.s"....,m -
a m. L4
of ali Lands; The Game Animals of Africa; &c. (im parf).
R.L.A SR REGINALD LAUmENCE Amonns, K.C.M.G.
Crown t for the Colonies, London. Assistant Under-Secretary of State for{ 8¢ Helena (is porf).
the Colo! 1898-1909.
R.N.B. Roszrr Nmt‘l‘bnm . x 'mp)M o A of The b
t useum, - thor of Scandinavia: .
Pahllca'll Hl;b?yn:jnbawh Nmmcmli w 15!,33:;00 Tk First Romanows, Sehested, Hannidal;
:o 13-1725; Slavowic Ewrope: The Political Hisiory and Russia from | Shafirov, Peter.
o 1796; &c. '
R.P.* RoBerT PEELE.
Professor of Mining in Columbia University, New York. {m

R.8.0. RoBERT Szymour Conway, M.A., D. Lrrr. .
Professor of Latin and lndo-Eumpean Philol Uninulg of Manchester. Samnites.
Formerly Professor of Latin in Umvermy Col’%e Cardiff; and Fellow of Gonville
and Caius College, Cambridye. Author of talic Dialecss.

R.W. Roserr Warracg, F.R.S. (Edin.), F.LS.
mfe-or of A lture and Rural Eumomy at Edinburgh Umvudty. and Garton.
Lecturer on Colonial and Indian Agriculture. Professor of iture, RA.C., (in parf)
Cirencester, 1882-1885. Author of Farm Live Stock of Great Britain; The Azn- .
c&!l:cudkwdwyojdwwudﬂuzw Farmiing Industries of

8.A.C STANLEY ArTHUR Coox, M.A. {m, Samuel;

Lecturer in Hebmw and , and formerly Fellow, Gonville and Caius College,
mml. Books of;

Cambridge. Editor for Palestine Exploration Fund. Author of Glossary of
Aramaic Inscriptions; The Laws of Moses and the Code of Hammurabi; Crilical
anourmﬂuhry igion of Anciens Palestine; &c.

[ 8 A SmeoN wacon, LL.D., D.Sc. B
See the biographical article: NEWCOMB, SIMON. {hhrn. Pland.

- Salerno; Sardinfa;
T. As. Taomas Asmsy, M.A.,, D.L Sassarl; Satrieum;
Dlrectorofthenﬁthh&hoolofohzohEmtRom Formerly Scholar of Saturnis; Segesta;
Christ Church, Oxford. Cuven Fellow, ington Prizeman, 1 Member - "
of the Im German Archaeological lumute. Author of The ical Topy- | Segusio; Selinus;
graphy of the Roman Campagna. Sessa Aurunea;
Severiana, Via.
T.A. A, THOMAS ANDREW ARCHER, M.A.
AudlorolmCruadcoijMl &c. {ﬁlﬂlﬂ.
T.A L TroMAS ArrLaN INcmau, M.A., LL.D. . -
ety College. Dublia. {ump Banks (in porf).
T. Ba. S THOMAS Bamcray, M.P.
Member of the Institute of International Law. Officer of the of Honour. Search.
Author of Problems of International Practice and Diplomacy; &. M.P. for Black-
bum, 1910.
T.C.A. Sm “othme?l’Ahmmx'hEl?B MAO‘MD DSc.m}l.LRb l-‘ol‘l.s.
essor versif Cambridge, Gonville
'(':'..u.calqg Physician to Addenbraoke’s Hoepital, C re.” Editor {""""""""‘
Sym of Medicine.
k3 Rev. ’I‘ng::sol;‘ognl, MA D.D, LL.D. (18 2—;804 H Fellow of
Presi Collqe 1-1 onora:
Llncoln (tZo °rg’loluooro¢ Logu; 1873-1888 V‘w& lor of :3 University “‘.“"""" 8d Earf of
of Oxford, 1899-1901. Author of Elements of Logic; Shaftesbury and |  (in part).
Huicheson; &c.
T.G.0. Taouss Grsxer Car MA,K.C. : '
i f!ormedydwdndvczu"nty(:onm s’ag;%lmu-m' to the Carriage {nlnp.
K Taoxas Kmxup, M.A, LL.D. Saint-Simon, Comte de
Author of An Inguiry snio Socialism; Primer of Socialism; &c. (in parf).
T.KO. Rev. Tromss Keiry Cueyne, D.Lirr., D.C.L., D.D. { Seraphim.
See the biographical article: Cazyng, T. K.
. L. B thom!.mwﬁzm,xcn D.Sc. .
T Assistan " he Treasury. Formerly Fello'dTnmtyCollqe.Cnn-{m “ol Antissa.’’
bridge. Audlot Trm:m Comic Sections; &c.
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mg:ghy % article: NoLpzxs, TREODOR. { Semitie Languages.
= PRI SR S e {bo 1am.

Tmomas Wririax Fox.
gol'euw of Textiles in the University of Manchester. Author of Meckawics o]{m

Taoumas Wrriax Rays Davios, LL.
Professor of Comparative Religi M.neu-m Univensity.  President of the Pali {m;

‘l‘mSoc'nt& Fallovcl)l”!hel tllllA. BSecnnryundljbnrhnoldn Sariputta;
Royal Asia s ~1903. ~ Author of Buddhism; Books of the | spsgna Vamss
Buddkists; Early SBM India; owglaoﬂb’da..&:. d Al

thWm.x:‘n UGUSTUS ll!nvog:‘t 'goounct, MJ; bl-r:‘l'l h? .S., Pn. D& David

5 Magdal " Hist "

College, Lam xsso-° 1. Aouthor of Guide dn Howt Dauphiné; The Range | Saussure, Horace Bénédiet de;
of the Todi; lo Switserland; ﬁ  Noiurs and | Savole; usen: Canmion;

8t Gall: Canton; St GaB:
s History; &c. Ednmcohhedllmulm 1830-1881.&:.

w mmmo?um’ﬁpdubnww m.Uim-
jum|
York. Anthotol&ny:na.ccw;%rudkxnm o g {m’m

WaLTER ALISON Pmriries, M
For-erlyExhib:tmro{ MmmCdlqenndSemwScbﬂuo(StJohn-Coﬂqe

Oxfard. Authofolﬂodau E'IO”,& MMM
Wriiian Bacaze, Pr.D.
Professor of Biblical Science at the Rabbinical Seminary, Budapest. Shammal,
Fllowmd'l‘mof’l‘ni Col Ca Author of Solution; { Sclense.
el b ul o P rinity College, hmbnd;e. ul Theory of
Wiiuiax Eomunp Azxyrace Axow, LL.D. .
Deputy Chief Librarian of the Manchester Free Libraries. Literary Salford.

Formerly
Suﬂo(ﬂmh.mrm lo.] -% Member of the Gorsedd, 'hhtln
name of Manceinion. Author Masnchester ; &c.

w Chri B(':'n‘:'nngff“'urf‘ et e Kiations] Mase of Wales. Directorof the { Sea-Serpent (in parf)
rist at useum i X
Manchester Museum, 1889-1899. (n

WriLiax Freax, LL.D. (d.
Formerly ¢ M

{
(
T e {
{
{

n ‘whctuur oa Agncultun} Entomology, University of Edinburgh, and M (in parf).
'mrreep F. Knox.
e ot The Conrt o  Saint. Saladin,

Rev. Wnuax Host, M.A., Lirt.D.
President of the Royal Historical Society, 1908~1 Author of Hi: the
Englisk Church, 597-1006; The Churck of England in the Middle Ages; Political
History of Bugla?.?;do—xcw.

Wnuiax Heney Bxun:rr M.A, D.D, D.Litr.
Professor of Old T t Exegesis in New and Hackney C , London.
Formerly Fellow of St jolm s Collage Cambridge, and Lecturer in Hebrew at Firth
College, Sheffield. Author of Religion of the Post-Exilic Prophets; &c.

S Wniiax Heney Frowee, F.R.S. Seal (in porf)
See the biographical article: FLowsr, Six W. H. { (in *
Wiiitax Hexry Havow, M.A,, Mus.Doc.
Principal of Armatrong lege Newcastle-on-Tyne. Formeﬂy Fellow and Tutor
of Worcester. College, foord Member of Councll Ra Collegeol Music: Editor
of Oxford History of Music. Author of Studies in ‘M

- Py A P S——
t tor oc:
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Music; &c.

WL Law:'or;’ Grant, M.A. v - Canada. Bei

Profeseor at Queen’ iversity, on, Cana Formerly Beit
Lecturer in Cm Hmory lt. Ox'l‘:nd Ument‘X“ Bdnwr of Acts of lh Privy
Councd (Colonial Series); C

S Wriiiam Lez-WaznNer, MA., G.CS.I
Member of the Council of India. Formerly Secretary in the Political and Secret
Department of the India Office. Author of Life of the Marguis of Dalkousie;
Nemoirs of Figlg-Morshal Sir Henry Wylic Norman; g
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W. N WiLLiaw Minto, M.A.
See the lmgnphnl article: MINTO, WiLLIAN. {M Sir Walter (in parf).
LML R WriLiax Micaaer R 3 bastiano del Plombo;
w See :ﬂmﬁmﬁ'ﬂu RosserTI, Dante G. :nllq. ol ’
W.P.A. Lmvagowm WiLLsax PAn:‘cxMAunnmnd ;&:ﬂ JINsT. oFCE;mfi}GMs of the
Engmear, D:rnment tanne a | Fi eries yo‘c‘:ﬂmbu t {St Lawrence: River.
W.R. 8. Wm.m( RoserTsoN Sarre, LL.D Salt: Ancient History ond
See the bwp;phnlamcfe Swarte, W. R. Religions Symbolism.
W.T. Ca. Wtiax THOMAS Cu.nm:, D.Sc., !-‘.ZNSt ! Hist South
Authotd“CﬁChs‘“ﬁm" mﬁzwgﬂuwsxamym {m
. W. Witiax W, .
v See the biographical article: WALLACE, WILLIAK (1844-1897). {Mw (i porf).
W.W.R*  Wrniiax Warker RocxweLl, Lic, Tuzok,
Assistant Theol Saragosss, Councils of.
Aokt ol Chih o, s Thetl Sy, N Yok
PRINCIPAL UNSIGNED ARTICLES
8t Vitus’s Dance. Santo Domingo. Seal-Fisheries. Sewing Machines.
Sal Ammonise. Sarsaparilla. Seattle. Sextant.
Salieylic Acld. Saskatchewan. Sea~-Urchin, Seychelles.
Savannah, Sedition. Shadow.
Salt Lake City. Saxe-Col Seismometer. Shakers.
Saltpetre. Saxe- n. Selenium. Shamash.
Salt. Saxe-Welmar-Eisenach. Selkirkshire, Sheffield.
Salvador. . Senna. Shell-heaps.
Salvation Army. Scarlet Fever. Sennar. Shell-money.
Salzburg. Sehleswig-Holstein. Sequola. Sheridan.
Samoa. Scilly Isles. t. Shetiand.
Samoyedes. Selplo. Servo-Bulgarian War. Shoe.
Serophulariacess. Settiement. Shorthand (moders).
San Franciseo. Sourvy. Sevarn. Shropshire.
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SAIRTE-CLAIRE DEVILLR, ATIENNE HENRI (1818-1881),
French chemist, was born on the 11th of March 1818 in the
sland of St Thorhas, West Indies, where his father was French
consul. “Together with his elder brother Charles he was educated
in Paris at the Collége Rollin. In 1844, having graduated as
doctor of medicine and doctor of science, he was appointed to
organize the new faculty of science at Besangon, where he acted
as dean and professor of chemistry from 1845 to 1851. Return-
ing to Paris in the latter year he succeeded A. J. Balard at the

Ecole Normale, and in 1859 became professor at the Sorbonne |.

lnphceol] B. A.Dums,{orwhomhehadbegunlolecture

e o= eV ES

aot YL
REER ga

Metric ission tuon sitting at Paris. Wil _. .
lst) he devised a method for dctermnml;:p ‘Fﬂou
deasities at temperatures up to 1400° C., and, partly with ler.
be investigated the :I‘lolmpoc orms ol nlu:on and boro d
an

lline omden. was another subject_in
which he made many expeniments. But his best known contribution
to general chemry is his < on the phenomcna of reversible
reactions, which he h d under a t -of * dis-
sociation.” He first took up the subject about 1857, and it was in
the course of his investigations on it that he devised the apparatus
known as the * Deville and cold tube.”

His brother, CuARLES JoserrR SAINTE- CLAIRE DEVILLE
(1814-1876), geologist and meteorologist, was born in St Thomas
on the 26th of February 1814. Having attended at the Ecole
des Mines in Paris, he assisted Elie de Beaumont in the chair
of geology at the Collége de France from 1855 unul he succeedcd
him in 1874. He made on v

ST ELMO'S FIRE, the glow accompanying the slow discharge
of electnclly to earth from the atmosphere. This discharge,
wlnch is identical with the *“ brush " discharge of hbontory

usually app as a tip of light on the extremities
of pomted ob;ecu such as church towers, the masts of ships,
or even the fingers of the outstretched hand: it is commonly
accompenied by a crackling or fizzing noise. St Elmo’s fire is
most frequently observed at low levels through the winter
season during and after snowstorms.

The name St Elmo is an Italian corruption through Sams’
Ermo of St Erasmus, a bishop, during the reign of Domitian,

. | of Formiae, Italy, who was broken on the whecl about the znd

of June 304. He has ever been the patron saint of Mediterranean
‘'sailors, who regard St Elmo’s fire as the visible sign of his guar-
dianship. The phenomenon was known to the ancient Greeks,
and Pliny in his Natural History states that when there were
two lights sailors called them Castor and Pollux and invoked
them as gods. To English sailors St Elmo’s fircs were known
as “ corposants ” (Ital. corpo samio).

See Hazlitt's edition of Brand's Antiquilies (1008) under “ Castor
and Pollux.”

ST EMILION, a town of south-western France, in the depart-

‘| ment .of Gironde, 23 m. from the right- bank of the Dordogne

and 27 m. E.N.E. of Bordeaux by rail. Pop. (1906), town,
1091; commune, 3546. The town derives its name from a
hermit who lived here in the 7th and 8th centuries. Pictur-
esquely situated on the slope of a hill, the town has remains
of ramparts of the 12th and 13th centuries, with ditches hewn
in the rock, and | medieval buildings. Of these thé chief
is the parish, once collegiate, church of the 1ath and i3th
centuries. A Gothic cloister adjoins the church. A fine belfry
(12th, 13th and 1sth centuries) commanding the town is built
on the terrace, beneath which are hollowed in the rock the ora-
tory and hermitage of St Emlhon, and ad;ommg them an
ancient monolithic church of
of a y of the Cord (xs5th and 17th cenluncs), of
a building (13th century)known as the Palais Cardinal, and a

e:pecnlly on the gaseous emanations. He mvesugncd also
the variations of temperature in the atmosphere and ocean.
He dnad at Paris on the roth of October 1876.

otk £l n o,

works (%]
T&-ln e et de Fogo (lld). ique aux Antilles el anx

fles ds Téméni) d‘ G ) ﬂ: hcnllc l¢ -
3 Mterigus e uwbcf-“(’nm e

sur les Qles de

q keep (the chief relic of a stronghold founded by Louis
VIIL) are also to be scen. Disused stone quarries in the side
of the hill are used as dwellings by the inhabitants. St Emilion
is celebrated for its wines. Its medieval importance, due to
the pilgrimagu to the tomb of the saint and to the commerce
in its wines, began to decline towards the end of the 13th century
owing to the foundation of Libourne. In 1272 it was the first
of the. towns of Guyenne to join the confederation headed by
Bordeaux.



SAINTE-PALAYBE, JEAN BAPTISTE LA CURNE (or LACURNE)
DE (1697-1781), French scholar, was born at Auxerre on tre
6th of June 1697. His father, Edme, had been
the bed-chamber to the duke of Orleans, brother
Sainte-Palaye had a twin brother to ‘whom he was putly
attached, refusing to marry so as not to be separated from him.
Formﬁmehehddtheumepodﬁmundﬂthemenl
Orleans as his father had under the duke of Orleans. He had
received a thorough education in Latin and Greek, and had-a
taste for history. In 1724 he had been elected an associate of the
Académie des Inmscriplions e Belles-Leltres, merely from his
reputation, as nothing had been written by him before that date.

From this time he devoted himself exclusively to the work of.

this society. After having published numerous memoirs on
Roman history, he began a series of studies on the chroniclers
of the middle ages for the Historiens des Gawles et de la France
(edited by Dom Bouquet): Raoul Glaber, Helgaud, the Gesia
of Louis VII., the chronicle of Morigny, Rigord and his con-
tinuator, William le Breton, the monk of St Denis, Jean de
Venette, Froissart and the Jouvencel. He made two journeys
into Italy with his brother, the first in 1739~1740, accompanied
by his compatriot, the president Charles de Brosses, who related
many humorous anecdotes about the two brothers, particularly
about Jean Baptiste, whom he called “the bilious Sainte-
Palaye!” On returning from this tour he saw one of Join-
ville’s manuscripts at the house of the senator Fiorentini, well
knmmthehuwryofthetmotthhphﬁngmmomlm
The manuscript was bought. for the king in 1741 and is still
at the Bibliothdque nationale. After the second journey (1749)
Lacurne published a letter to de Brosses, on Le Gofit dans les aris
(17s1). In this he showed that he was not only attracted by
manuscripts, but that he could see and admire works of art.
In 1759 he published the first edition of his Mémoires sur l'ancienne
chevaleric, considérée comme un éablissement politique et mililaire,
for which unfortunately he only used works of fiction and ancient
stories as sources, ting the heroic poems which would
bave shown him the nobler aspects ol this instituuon % soon
corrupted by * courteous ” d edition app
at the time of his death (3 vols. 1781, 3nd ed. 1826). He prepared
an edition of the works of Eustache Deschamps, which was never’
published, and also made a collection of more than a hundred
volumes of extracts from ancient authors relating to French
antiquities and the French language of the middle ages. His
Glossairedelal 3L isc was ready in 1756, and a prospectus
had been prubhshed but the great length of the work prevented
him finding a publisher. It remained in manuscript for morethan
acentury. Ini1764a oollzcuon of hnmmuscnpumbwght by
the government and after his death were placed in the hng’l
library; they are still there (fonds Moreau), with the exception
of some which were given to the marquess of Paulmy in exchange,
and were later placed in the Arsenal. Lacumne de Sainte-Palaye
ceased work about 1771; the death of his brother was greatly felt
by him, he became childish, and died on the 1st of March 1781.
Sainte-Palaye had been a member of the Auggmie angue :ince

SAINTE-PALAYE—ST ETIENNE

ht:erlhntlnto!mn\u.mdlnmmm-edonly‘bydu
jseum, dates probably from the close of the 1st or the beginning

brother of Philip of Valois, in 1330, and its site is occupied by a
hospital. Saintes was a bishop's see till 1790; the cathedral of
St Peter, built in the first half of the 12th century, was rebuilt
in the 15th century, and again after it bad been almost destroyed
by the Huguenots in 1568. The interior has now an unattractive
appearance. The tower (1sth century) is 236 ft. high. The
church of St Eutropius (founded at the close of the 6th century,
rebuilt in the 11th, and had its nave destroyed in the Wars
of Religion) stands above a very interesting well-lighted crypt—
the largest in. France after that of Chartres—adarned with
richly sculptured capitals and containing the tomb of St

. Eutropius (4th or sth century). The fine stone spire dates from

the 15th century. Notre-Dame, a splendid example of the
architecture of the 11th and 12th centuries, with a noble clock-
tower, is no longer devoted to religious purposes. The old hdtel
de ville (:6th and 18th centuries) contains a library, and the
present hotel de ville 8 museum. Bernard Palissy, the porcelain-
maker, has a statue in the town, where he lived from 1542 to
1562. Small vessels ascend the river as far as Saintes, which
carries on trade in grain, brandy and wine, has iron foundries,
works of the state railway, and manufactures earthenware,
tiles, &c.

Sai Mediol or Mediol n! '
wasa ﬂomgnlu town before C -eon;h:e:t?gf‘(.}::‘l tnl:\|= zﬁ .ﬁm
ages it was capital of the

was i
Eutropius, its fi 3

ottt T il ol o

in 845 nnd 854. Richard Caeur de Lion fortified himself within its

wnlln inst his father Henry 1., who ca ured it after a destructive

n 1242 St Louis defeated the sh under its walls and

was meived nto the town. It was not, mer. till the reign of

Charles V. that Saintes was s permanently recovered from the English.
The P did great d: dunng the Wars of Religion.

ST ETIENNE, an industrial town of east-central France, capital
of the department of Loire, 310 m. S.S.E. of Paris and 36 m.
S.S.W. of Lyons by rail. Pop (1906), town, 130,940; commune,
146,788. - St is situated Furens, which flows
through it from S.E. to N.W.,, pcnly underground, and is an
important adjunct to the silk manufacture. The town is uni-
formly built, its principal feature being the straight thoroughfare
nearly 4 m. long which traverses it from N. to S. The chief
olthclqmutbel’lmlhmngo which has a statue of F.
Garnier, the explorer, and is overlooked by the town hall and the
prefecture, both modern. The church of St Etienne dates from
the 15th century, and the Romanesque church of the abbey of
Valbenolte ison the S.E. outskirts of the town. A valuable collec-
tion of arms and armour, a picture gallery, industrial collections,
and a library with numerous manuscripts are in the Palais des
Arts. St Eticnne is the seat of a prefect, and has an important
school of mining, and schools of music, chemistry and dyeing, &c.

The town owes its importance chiefly to the coal-basin which

1758. His life was written for this Académi ds between Firminy and Rive-de-Gier over an area 20 m. lon;
the Audéml des Inscriptions by DJ“Y- both works 0" °‘ ﬂ° i_m wide, a uoeegndonly to those of Nord and Pll-de-ClhI‘l
Pulbluhegee works and tg:e in_ma at thc“mh' . Im&f |::¢. vorkmen ':im ptoo% ;o ‘Mln‘ e oso -onn\;

ript 18,000 a ucing annually between 3,000,000 a
tenth and last of de F'ancien | 4.000,000 tons. The mineral il:‘ of two & i

de
jlaxgu)n “siddle de tosu XIV wbﬁﬁ“’%”ﬁm??;;

SAINTES, a town of western France, capital of an arrondisse-
ment in the department of Charente-Inférieure, 47 m. S.E. of La

Rochelle by the railway from Nantes to Bordeaux. Pop. (1906), | The

town, 13,744; commune, 19,025. Saintes is plcu.lmly situated
on the left bank of the Ch , which es it from its
suburb of Les Dames. It is of interest for its Roman remains,
of which the best preserved is the triumphal arch of Germanicus,
dating front the rcign of Tiberius, This formerly stood on'a
Roman bridge destroyed in 1843, when it was removed and
reconstructed on the right bank of the river. Ruins of baths
and of an amphitheatre sre also to be seen.  The amphitheatre,

Lkinde—smelting coal, said
to be the best in France, and |u coal. There are mnulmum of
ribbons, trimmings and other goods made from silk and mixtures
of cotton and sill. This mdumr dates from the early 17th centui
is carried on chiefly in small factories (electricity supplying t
motive power), and em, at its maximum some 50,000 hands.
The attendant mdultry dyeing is carried on on a large scale.
‘manulacture of steel and uon and of heavy iron goods such as
armour-plating occupies about 3000 workmen, and about half that
number are employed in the producnon of ironmongery generally,
Weaving machinery, cycles, automobiles and agricultural imple-
ments are also made. The manufacture of fire-arms, ca on
at the national factory under the direction of lmllcry
employs-at busy times more than 10,000 men, and can tum out
480,000 rifles in the year. Private firms, employing 4500 lnnd-.
make both military rifies and ns, revolvers, &c. To
these industries must be added t| m:tun
§lam, castridges,

liqueurs, hemp-cables,




ST EUSTATIUS—ST GALL

At the close of the 1ath century St Etienne was a parish of
mtb.&bbeyo(\'dbmiu. By
uryl.he trade bad reached a
beginning of the 15th century
to erect fortifications. The

state was begun at St Etienne

w:-ﬂymthel!thmmry In 1789 the town was
producing at the rate of 12,000 muskets per annum; between
September 1794 and May 1796 they delivered over 170,000; and
xcoooomthemudwmpthmubwtthepu\oddm

The first rail d in France were the line between
St Etienne and Andrézieux on the Loire in 1828 and that between
St Etienne and Lyons in 1831 In 1856 St Etienne became the
administrative centre of the department instead of Montbrison.

ST EUSTATIUS and SABA, two islands in the Dutch West
Indies. St Eustatius lies 12 m. N.W. of St Kitts in 17° 5o’ N.
and 62° 50’ W. It is 8 sq. m. in-area.and is composed of several
wvolcanic hills and intervening valleys. It contains Orangetown,
situated an an open roadstead on the W., with a small expost
trade in yams and sweet potatoes. Pop. (1908) 1283.

A few miles to the N.W.is the island of SaBa, § 8q. m. in extent.
ltmd;nndevohnkmriﬁn;lbmpllytmthem
10 the beight of nearly 2800 ft; The town, Bottom, standing on
the flodr of an old crater, can dnly be approached from the shore
800 ft. below, by a series of steps cut in the solid rock and known
as the “ Ladder.” The best boats in the Caribbees are built
here; the wood is imported and the vessels, when complete,
are lowered over the face of the cliffs. < Pop. (1908) 2294. The
islands form part of the colony of Curagao (g.9.).

SAINT-SVREMOND, CHARLES DE MARGUETEL DE

SAINT-DENIS, SkiGNEUR DE (1610-1703), was .born at “Saint-
Denis-le-Guast, near Coutances, the seat of his family in
Normandy, onthemo(Apﬁlwm He wus a pupil of the
Jesuits at the Collige de Clermont (now Louis-le-Grand), Paris;
then a stodent at Caen. For a time he studied law at the
Calidge & Horcowrt. He soon, however, took to arms, and in
1629 went with Marshal Bassompierre to Italy. He served
great part of the Thirty Years’ War, distinguishing
hmnll at the siege of Landrecies (1637), when he was made

During his campaigns he studied the works of Montaigne
Spnnnhnndluhnlanguga. In 1639 be met Gassendi
and became one of his disciples. He was present at

at Nordlingen, and at Lerida. For a time he was person-
attached to Condé, but offended him by a satirical remark
was deprived of his command in the prince’s guards in
During the Fronde, Saint-Evremond was a steady royalist.
The duke of Candale (of whom he has left a very severe portrait)
gave him a command in Guienne, and’ Saint-Evremond, who
had reacbed the grade of maréchal de camp, is said to have saved

%ge
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Crhtﬁmlhmdlh?mvhkhhnﬁtohvebem~
discovered by Colbert’s agents at the seizure of Fouquet’s | ductive,

wvery inadequate cause for his disgrace. Saint.
Evremond fled to Holllnd and to England, where he wgs kindly

received by Charles II. and was pensioned. After James Il.'s-

fight to France Saint-Evremond was invited to return, but he
declined. Hortense Mancini, the most attractive of Mazarin's
attractive group of niem. came to Bnghnd in l67o,|nd set

died on the 29th of September 1703 and was buried in West-
minster Abbey, where his monument still is in Poet’s Comner
dose to that of Prior.

Saint- never autborized the prmtlng of any of his
works during his lifetime, though Barbin in 1668 published an
wnauthorized collection. But be empowered Des Maizcaux to
publish his works after his death, and they were published in
Loadon (2 vols., 1703), and often npﬁmed His masterpiece in
irony is the Cowscrsation du maréchal &’ H ocquincourt avec
kﬂrc Caneyc (the latter a Jesuit and Saint-Evremond’s master

3

nlcbopl),whkbhnbeenfnqueptlych-ed'ltbthawa

rovinciales.
'Hu(Ewnuﬂn.edmd from the MSS. bysnvenmlnd Des
Maizeaux, were pnnted b{]lmb Tonson (London, 1708, 2 vols.;
2nd ed., 3vnl:.ll t ammwMa‘wu\ax.h is corre-
spondence wi inol w ast {rien: was, was
published in 1752; La Couédw dc: mdémuta written in 1643, was

| printed in 16 Modern editions of his works are anpu
Pam. bl; . Giraud (Pms. 1865), and a selection (1881) with a

l‘l‘ mnnmn. a town of north-central France, in the depart-
ment of Yonne, 37 m. S.E. of Senson the Paris-Lyon-Méditer-
ranée railway. Pop. (1906) 2303. It stands on a hill on the
right bank of the Armance, half a mile from its confluence with
the Armancon and the canal of Burgundy. In the highest part
of the town stands the church, begun in the latter half of the
15th century, and though retaining the Gothic form, with great
flying buttrésses, is mainly in the Renaissance style. It is
approached through a narrow alley up a steep flight of steps,
and contains a fine Holy Sepulchre in- bas-relief and a choir-
screen and stained glass of admirable Renai workmanshi
The nave, left incomplete, was restored and finished between
1857 and 1862. The market-gardens of St Florentin produce
large quantities of asparagus. The town stands on the site of
the Roman military post Castrodunum, the sceneof themartyrdom
in the 3rd century of Saints Florentin and Hilaire, round whose
tomb it grew up. The abbey established here in the gth century
afterwards became a priory of the abbey of St Germain at Auxerre.
The town and its territory belonged, under the Merovingians, to
Burgundy, and in later times to the cousts of Champagne, from
whom it passed to the kings of France. Louis XV. raised it
from the rank of viscounty to that of county and bestowed it
on Louis Phelypeaux, afterwards Duc de la Vrillidre.

8T FLOUR, a town of south-central France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Cantal, situated at a height
of 2900ft.on a basaltic plateau overlooking the Lander, a tributary
of the Truyére, 47 m. E.N.E. of Aurillac by rail. Pop. (1906)
4090. Thestreets are dark and narrow, but the town has spacious

promenades established in the 18th century. St Flour grew up
round the tomb of St Florus, the apostle of Auvergne, who died
there in the 4th century. The abbey founded there about the
beginning of the 11th century became in 1317 an episcopal
chapter, and the town is gtill the seat of a bishopric. The
cathedral (1396-1466) is the principal building. The manufacture
of coarse woollen fabrics, of earthenware and candles is carried
on. A few miles S.E. of the town the gorge of the Truyére is
spanned by the fine railway viaduct of Garabit over 600 yds.
long and at a height of 400 ft. above the river.

8T GALL (Ger. St Gallen), one of the cantons of north-
east Switzerland, on the border of the Austrian province of the
Vorarlberg and of the independent principality of Liechtenstein.
It entirely surrounds the canton of Appenzell, which, like a great
part of this canton, formerly belonged to the abbots of St Gall,
while the “enclave ”” of Horn is in the canton of Thurgau.

Its area is-779-3 sq. m., of which 7101 sq. m. are reckoned * pro-
"l’oruucwennz 157-1 8q. m. and vi ardlll.q m.,
while of the remainder 2-8 sq. m. are occupied laciers. The
altitude above the sea-level varies from uofm (the laheo( Comstance]
to |o.667 (t (the Rm;els itz). The canton includes portions

the lake of Constance (213 sq. m.), of the Walensee (rather over
7 9q. m).lndo(thelahoflﬁnch (4 3q. m.), and several small lakes
wholly within its hmm. Hilly in its N. region, the height gradually
incrcases towards t r, while to its S.W. and extend
consiticrable alluvial phnu on the banks of the Linth and o( the
Rhine; The two rivers just named form in part its frontiers, the
princigal m v'l,thlhl; the canton being the Thur (as regards its
course), with ti

le reach

Stltter. both forming part port he
lake of Comnnce ( omhchund of zom:h Rnppenwnl). as well as
Weeven and Wal while the place
of Ragatz (¢.v.) is supplied with hot mmml waters from Pfafers.
Tbe main nnlway lincs from Zarich past Sargans for Coire. and {rom
ns past Altstattenand Rorschach for Constance.sknmubordcr:‘

wh ile the agnal is on the direct railway line from Ziirich past Wi
to Rorschach, and communicates by rail with Appenzell and with
Frauenfeld. In 1900. the tion of the canton was 250,285,
of whom 243,358 were Germangpeaking, 5300 Italian-speaking and
710 French-speaking, while there were 150,412 * Catholics * (whetber
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Roman or * Old "), 99,114 Protestants and 556 Jews (mostly in the
town of St Gall). Its up:ul is St Gall, the other most populous places

being Tablat (pop. 12,590), R 40), Aluuuen 724),
Straubenzell (8090), Gossau (6055) and %Vamvil (4971). In t
southern and more Alpine ion of the canton t inhabitants

mainly follow pastoral guumu. In 1896 the number of * alps ** or

int P , capable of sup-
porting 21,744 cows, and of an emmated tou value of nurly 14
million francs. ln the central and northern is

ST GALL—SAINT-GAUDENS

extensive collection of embroideries of all ages and dates. There
are a number of fine modern buildings, such as the Bourse.
The town is the centre of the Swiss muslin, embroidery and lace
trade. About 10,000 persons were in 1900 occupied in and near
the town with the embroidery industry. and about 49,000 in the
canton. Cold and fogs prevail in winter (though the town-is
d against the north wind), but the heat in summeris

)

generally d with tures.

The canton is one of the most industrial in Switzerland. Cotton-
8 -mmg is widely spread, h cloth: h.u lined But
the istic industry is the ure, most} b{e
of muslin, embroidery and lace. It is reckoned that the value of
the embroideries and lace exported from the canton amounts to
about one-seventh of the total value of the exports from Switzerland.
The canton is divided into fiftcen administrative districts, wi
comprise ninety-three communes.

The existing constitution dates from x89o. The legislature or
Grossras is elected by the c , each of 1500
inhabitants or less having a right to one member, and as many
‘more as the divisor 1500, or fraction over 750, justifies. Members
hold office for three years. For the election of the seven members
of the executive or Regierungsras, who also hold office for three
years, all the communes form a single electoral circle. The two
members of the federal Stdnderat are named by the legislature,
while the thirteen members of the federal Nationalrat are chosen
by a popular vote. The right of  facultative referendum ” or of
“ initiative ” as to legislative projects belongs to any 4000
citizens, but in case of the revision of the cantonal constitution
10,000 must sign the demand. The canton of St Gall was
formed in 1803 and was augmented by many districts that had
belonged since 1798 to the canton Linth or Glarus—the upper
Toggenburg, Sargans (held since 1483 by the Swiss), Gaster and
Uznach (belonging since 1438 to Schwyz and Glarus), Gams
(since 1497 the property of the same two members), Werdenberg
(owned by Glarus since 1517), Sax (bought by Zirich in 1615),
and Rapperswil (since 1712 under the protection of Zirich,
Bem and Glams)

" e d. Kant. St Gall (3 vols.,
hie d. schweis. Freistaates .
rt, 1868-1890); H. Fchr,
otzinger, Die romanischen
e am Rhyn,.Geschichte d.
Kanton St Gall, 1803-1903
Gullen (St Gall. 1903);
G. c‘cr von Kronau;
(pnbl by the Cantonal Hist.
manisc ksnamen wund
ider, Die Alpwirtschaft im
imann, Die ostschweiserische
ndenbuck d. Abtei St Gall,
1ann, ‘Dle gcschlchlhche
** (article in vol. xvi., 1868,
). and Franz Wndm:mn.
(1834). (W.A.B.

ST GALL, capital of the Swiss canton of that name, is sntualcd
in the upland valley of the Steinach, 2195 {t. above the sca-level.
It is by rail 9 m. S.W. of Rorschach, its port on the lake of

Constance, and 53 m. E. of Zirich. The older or central portion |

of the town retains the air of a small rural capital, but the ncwer
quarters present the aspect of a modern commercial centre.
Al cither extremity considerable suburbs merge in the neighbour-
ing towns of Tablat and of Straubenzell. Its chicf building is
the abbey church of the celebrated old monastery. This has been
a cathedral church since 1846. In its present form it was con-
structed in 1756~1765. The f: library is h d in the
former palace of the abbot, and is one of the most renowned in
Europe by reason of its rich treasures of early MSS. and printed
books. Other portions of the monastic buildings are used as the
offices of the cantonal authorities, and contain the extensive
archives both of this monastery and of that.of Pfifers. The
ancient churches of St Magnus (Old Catholics) and of St Lawrence
(Protestant) were restored in the 19th century. The town
library, which is rich in Réformation and post-Reformation MSS.
and books, is in the buildings of the cantonal school. The
museum contains antiquarian, historical and natural history
tollections, while the new museum of industrial art has an

nrely intense. In 1900 the population was 33,116 (having just
doubled since 1870), of whom almost all were German-speaking,
while the Protestants numbered 17,572, the Catholics (Roman
or “ Old ”) 15,006 and the Jews 419.

The town of St Gall owes its origin to St Gall, an Irish hermit,
who in 614, built his cell in the thick forest which then covered
the site of the future monastery, and lived there, with a few
companions, till his death in 640. Many pilgrims later found
their way to his cell, and about the middle of the 8th centurythe
collection of hermits’ dwellings was transformed Into a regularly
organized Benedictine monastery. For the next three centuries
this was one of the chief seats of learning and education in
Europe. About ¢s4 the monastery and its buildings were
surrounded by walls as a protection against the Saraccns, and
this was the origin of the town. The temporal powers of the
abbots vastly increascd, while in.the 13th century the town
obtained divers privileges from the emperor and from the abbot,
who about 1205 became a prince of the Empire. In 1311 St
Gall became a free imperial city, and about 1353 the gilds,
headed by thateof the cloth-weavers, obtained the control of the
civic government, while in 1415 it bought its liberty from the
German king Sigismund. This growing indcpendence did not
please the abbot, who struggled long against it and his rebellious
subjects in Appenzell, which formed the central portion of his
dominions. After the victory of the Appcnzellers at the battle
of the Stoss (1405) they became (1411) “ allies ”* of the Swiss
confederation, as did the town of St Gall a few months later,
this connexion becoming an * everlasting ” alliance in 1454,
while in 1457 the town was finally freed from the abbot. The
abbot, too, became (in 1451) the ally of Ziirich, Lucerne, Schwyz
and Glarus. In 1468 he bought the county of the Toggenburg
from the represcntatives of its counts, a family which had died
out in 1436, and in 1487 built a monastery above Rorschach
as a place of refuge against the turbulent citizens, who, however,
destroyed it in 1489. The Swiss intervened to protect the abbot,
who (1490) concluded an alliance with them- which reduced his
position almost to that of a * subject district.” The townsmen
adopted the Reformation in 1524, and this new cause of difference
further envenomed their relations with the abbots. Both abbot
and town were admittcd regularly to the Swiss dict, occupying
a higher position than the rest of the * allies ”’ save Bienne, which
was on the same footing. But neither succceded in its attempts
to be received a full member of the Confedcration, the abbot
being too much like a petty monarch and at the same time a kind
of *“ subject " already, while the town tould not help much in
the way of soldiers. In 1798 and finally in 1805 the abbey was
secularized, while out of its dominions (save the Upper Toggen-
burg, but with the Altstitten district, held since 1490 by the
Swiss) and those of the town the canton Siintis was formed, with
St Gall as capital. (W.A.B.C)

SAINT-GAUDENS, AUGUSTUS (3848-1007), American
sculptor, was born in Dublin, Ircland, of a French father (a
shocmaker by trade), and an Irish mother, Mary McGuinness,
on the 1st of March 1848, and was taken to America in infancy.
He was apprenticed to a cameo-cutter, studying in the schools
of the Cooper Union (1861) and the National Academy of Design,
New York (1865-1866). His earliest work in sculpture was a
bronze bust (1867) of his father, Bernard P. E. Saint-Gaudens.
In 1868 he went to Paris and becamc a pupil of Jouffray in the
Ecole des Beaux-Arts. Two years later, with his fcllow-student
Mercié, he went to Italy, where he spent three years. At Rome
he executed his statues * Hiawatha ” and “ Silence.” He then
settled in New York. In 1874 he made a bust of the statesman,
William M. Evarts, and was commissioned to cxecute a large
relief for St Thomas's Church, New York, which brought him
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into prominence. His statue of Admiral Farragut, Madison
Square, New York, was commissioned in 1878, exhibited at the
Paris Salon in 1880 and completed in 1881. It immediately
brought the sculptor widespread fame, which was increased by
his statue of Lincoln (unveiled 1887), for Lincoln Park, Chicago.
In Springfield, Mass,, is his * Deacon Chapin,” known as “ The
Puritan.” His figure of * Grief ”’ (also known as * Death " and
“The Peace of God ') for the Adams (Mrs Henry Adams)
Memorial, in Rock Creek Cemetery, Washington, D.C., has been
described as “ an idealization complete and absolute, the render-
ing of a simple, natural fact—a woman in grief—yet with such
deep and embracing comprehension that the individual is
magnified into a type.” His Shaw Memorial in Boston, a
monument to Robert G. Shaw, colonel of a negro regiment in the
Civil War, was undertaken in 1884and completed in 1897; it is a
relief in bronze, 11 ft. by 15, containing many figures of soldiers,
led by their young officer on horseback, a female figure in the
clouds pointing onward. In 1903 was unveiled his equestrian
statue (begun in 189:) to General Sherman, at soth street and
Fifth avenue, New York; preceding the Union commander is a
winged figure of chtory." This work, with others, formed a
group at the Paris Exposition of 1900. A bronze copy of " his
“ Amor Caritas ” is in the Luxembourg, Paris. Among his other
works are relief medallion portraits of Robert Louis S

Habert (1520-1574?), in a translation of the Sophomsbe of
Trissino which was represented (1554) before Catherine de
Medicis at Blois. Saint-Gelais was the champion of the style
marobigue and the eacliest of French sonncteers. He died in 1558

His GEwwres were edited in 1873 (3 vols., Bibl. elsévirienne) by
Prosper Blanchemain.

SAINT-GEORGES, GEORGES HENRI VERNOY DE (1799~
1875), French dramatist, was born in Paris on the 7th of
November 1799. Saini-Louis ou les deux duun (1823), a
vaudeville written in collab on with A dre Tardif,
was followed byaaemaofoperasand ballets. lnlszqhe
became manager of the Opéra Comique. Among his more
famous libretti are: Le Val d’Andorre (1848) for Halévy, and
La Fille du régiment (1840) for Donizetti. He wrote some fifty
pieces in ¢ollaboration with Eugéne Scribe, Adolphe de Leuven, or
Joseph Mazillier, and a great number in collaboration with other
authors. Among his novels may be mentioned Un Mariage de
prince. Saint-Georges died in Paris on the 23rd of December 1875.

SAINT-GERMAIN, CoxuTE DE (c. 1710-¢. 1780) called der
Wundermann, a celebrated adventurer who by the assertion of
Im dnscovery o( some extnwrdmary secrets of nature exercised

at courts, Of his
puenuac and ph.ee of birth nothmg is deﬁmtely known; the

(in St Giles’s Cathedral, Edinburgh) and the French painter
Jules Bastien-Lepage; Garfield Mcmonll Fairmount Park,
Philadelphia; G ! Logan, Chi

Memorial; and Charles Stewart Parnellin Dublm. Saint-Gaudens
was made an officer of the Legion of Honour and corresponding
member of the Institute of France. He died at Cornish, N.H.,
on the 3rd of August. xoo7 Hu monument of Phillips Brooks
for Boston was left practicall leted. Saint-Gaudens is
rightly regarded as the grutut sculplor d by Ameri

the Peter Cooper-

common is that he was a Portugucse Jew, but va.r!ous
surmises have been made as to his being of royal birth. It was
also stated that he obtained his money, of which he had abun-
da.na, from acting as spy to one of the European courts. But this
is hard to maintain. He knew nearly all the European languages,
and spoke German, English, Italian, French (with a Piedmontese
accent), Portugueseand Spanish. Grimm affirms him to have been
the man of the best parts he had ever known. He was a musical
composer and a capable violinist. His knowledge of history was

and his work had a most powerful influence on art in the United
States. In 1877 he married Augusta F. Homer and left a son,
Homer Saint-Gaudens. His brother Louis (b. 18s4), also a
sculptor, assisted Augustus Saint-Gaudens in some of his works.

Sce Cortissoz, A :g-un: Saint-Gaudens (1907) :Lorado Taft,
History of American plm (1908), conmmmg two chapters de-
voted to -Ga ox, Old Masters and New (1905) ;

C. Lewis Hind, Auudu: s-mu:cmm (1908).

ST GAUDENS, a town of south-western France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Haute-Garonne, 1 m. from
the left bank of the Garonne, 57 m.S.S.W. of Toulouse, on the
railway to Tarbes. Pop. (1906), town, 4535; commune, 7120.
The church, once collegiate, dates chiefly from the 1:th and 12th
centuries, but the main entrance is in the flamboyant Gothic
style. The town has sawing-, oil- and flour-mills, manufacturcs
woollen goods, and is a market for horses, sheep and agricultural
produce. St Gaudens derives its name from a martyr of the sth
century, at whose tomb a college of canons was afterwards
established. It was important as capital of the Nébouzan, as the

residence of the bishops of Comminges and for its cloth industry. |.

SAINT-GELAIS, MELIN DE (1487-1558), French poet, was
born at Angouléme on the 3rd of November 1487. He was the
matural son of Octavien de St Gelais (1466-1502), afterwards
bishop. of Angouléme, himself a poet who had translated the
Aeneid into French. Mehn, who had studied at Bologna and
Padua, had the reputation of being doctor, mrologer and
musician as well as poet. He returned to France in 1515, and
soon gained favour at the court of Francis I by his skill in light
verse. He was made almoner to the Dauphin, abbot of Reclus
in the diocese of Troyes and librarian to the king at Fontaine-
bleau. He enjoyed immense popularity until the appearance of
Du Bellay’s Deffense et illustration . . . in 1549, where St Gelais
was not ueepud lrom the scorn poured on contemporary poets.
He at d to the i by reading aloud the
Odes of Ronsard with burlesque emphasis before Henry II.,
when the king’s sister, Margaret of Valois, seized the book tnd
read them herself. Ronsard accepted Saint-Gelais's apology

comprehensive, and his accomplishments as a chemist, on which
be based his reputation, were in many ways real and considerable.
He pretended to have a secret for removing flaws from diamonds,
and to be able to trarsmute metals. The most remarkable of
his professed discoveries was of a liquid which could prolong
life, and by which he asserted he had himself lived 2000 years.
After spending sometime in Persia, Saint-Germain is mentioned
in a letter of Horace Walpole’s as being in London about 1743,
and as being arrested as a Jacobite spy and released. Walpole
says: “ He is called an'Italian, a Spaniard, a Pole; a somebody
that married a great fortune in Mexico and ran away with her
jewels to Constantinople; a priest, a fiddler, a vast nobleman.”
At the court of Louis XV., where he appeared about 1748, he
exercised for a time extraordinary influence and was employed
on secret missions by Louis XV.; but, having interfered in the *
dispute between Austria and France, he was compelled in June
1760, on account of the hostility of the duke of Choiseul, to
remove to England. He appcars to have resided in London for
one or two years, but was at St Petenburg in 1763, and -is
uun.cd to have played an important part in connexion with the
inst the emp Peter III. in July of that year,
a plot wluch placed Catherine II. on the Russian throne. He
then went to Germany, where, according to the Mémoires
authentiques of Cagliostro, he was the founder of fn:emuonry,
and initiated Cagliostro into that rite. He was again in Paris
from 3770 to 1774, and after hequentmg several of the German
courts he took up his residence in Schleswig-Holstein, where he
and the Landgrave Charles of Hesse pursued together the study
of the “secret ” sciences. He died at Schluwig in or about
17801783, although he is said to have been seen in Paris in 1789.
Andrew Lang in his Historical Mysteries (1904) discusses the career
of Saint-Germain, and cites the various authoritics for it Saint-
T olire: Bar ang, Obttingene Goof Soini-cormion (1848):
oltaire, a 1 .
?-‘; Balau, Gekeime Geschichten uff uhw&a e Menschen, lsan
(1850-1860); Lascelles Wraxall, Remar. Adventures (x863).
U. Birch in the Nineteenth Century (January 1908).
SAINT-GERMAIN, CLAUDE LOUIS, CoutE DE (1707-1778),
French general, was born on the 1s5th of April 1707, at the

for this incident, but Du Bellay satirized the offender in the
Poite comrtisan. In 1554 he collaborated, perhaps with Frangois

ChAteau of Vertamboz. Ed d at Jesuit schools, he intended
to enter the priesthood, but at the last minute obtained from
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Louis XV. an appointment as syb-licutenant. He left France,
according to the gossip of- the time, because of a duel; served
under the elector palatine; Ioughtforﬂunmmmthe
Turks, and on the outbreak of the war of the Austrian Suctession
(1740) joined the army of the elector of Bavaria (who later
became emperor under the name of Charles VIL.), displaying
such bravery that he was promoted to the grade of lieutenant
field-marshal. He left Bavaria on the death of Charles VII.,

and after brief service under Frederick the Great joined Marshal |

Sazxe in the Netherlands and was created a field-marshal of the
French army. He distinguished himself especially at Lawfeld,
Rancoux and Maastricht. On the outbreak of the Seven Years’
War (1756) be was appointed lieutenant-general, and although
he showed greater ability than any of his fellow-commanders
and was admired by his soldiers, he fell a victim to court intrigues,
professional jealousy and hostile criticism. He resigned his

commission in 1760 and accepted an appointment as field-marshal.

from Frederick V. of Denmark, being charged in 1762 with the
reorganization of the Danish army. On the death of Frederick
in 1766 be returned to France, bought a small estate in Alsace
near Lauterbach, and devoted his time to religion and farming.
A financial crisis swept away the funds that he had saved from
his Danish service and rendered him dependent on the bounty of
the French ministry of war. Saint-Germain was presented at
court by the reformers Turgot and Malesherbes, and was ap-
pointed minister of war by Louis XVI. on the 2sth of October
1775. He sought to lessen the number of officers and to establish
order and regularity in the service. His efforts to introduce
Prussian discipline in the French army brought on such oppésition
that he resigned in September 1777. He accepted quarters from
the king and a pension of 40,000 livres, and died in bis apartment
at the arsenal on the rsth of January x778. )

ST GERMAIN-EN-LAYE, a town of northern France, in the
department of Seine-et-Oise, 13 m. W.N.W. of Paris by rail.
Pop. (1906), town, 14,074; commune, 17,288. Built on a hill on
the left bank of the Seine, nearly 300 ft. above the river, and on
the edge of a forest 10,000 to 11,000 acres in extent, St Germain
has a bracing climate, which makes it a place of summer residence
for Parisians. The terrace of St Germain, constructed by
A.Lendtre in 1672, is 1} m. long and 100f{t. wide; it was planted
with lime trees in 1745 and affords an . extensive view over the
valley of the Seine as far as Paris and the surrounding hills: it
ranks noneoftheﬁnutpmmmdain Europe.

A n h ofStl' i bdwpo‘?nm.mbmlt
hlbe fotutolh g Robert. Louis VI. erected a castle

close by. Burned Enghlh. rebmlt by Lonu 1X., and again

Charles V., this cutle did not reach ull development till

time of Frnncu L, who may rded as the real founder

of the bulldu . A new castle was begun by Henry Il. and completed

Henry 1V.: it was subscquently , with the exception

o ke ued Henry IV. pavilion, where Thiers died in 1877. ' The

old castle has been “restored to the state in which it was under

Francis 1. The restoration is particularly skilful in the case of the

chapel, which dates from the first half ‘of the 13th century. In

the church of St Germain is 8 mausoleum emctea by George IV.
ngland (and restored by

of James Il. of England, who alter resided in the

castle for uvelve years and died In one of ‘the

Victom to the memory

St Germans is supposed to have been the original seat of the
Cornish bishopric. It was the see of Bishop Burhwold, who
died in 1027. Under Leofric, who became bishop of Crednon
and Cornwall in 1046, the sec was removed to Exeter. Bishop
Leofric founded a priory at St Germans and- bestowed: upon it
twelve of the twenty-four hides which in the tithe of the Confessor
constituted the bishops' manor of St Germans. There was then
a market on Sundays, but at the time of the Domesday Survey
this had been reduced to nothing owing to a market established
by the count of Mortain on the same day at Trematon castle. In
1302 the grant of infangenethef, assize of bread and ale, waif and
stray by Henry I1I. was confirmed to the bishop, who in 1311
obtained a further grant of a market on Fridays and'a fair at the
feast of St Peter ad Vincula. In 1343 the piior sustained his
claim to a prescriptive market and fair at' St Germans. After
the suppression the borough belonging to the priory remained
with the crown until 1610. Meanwhile Queen Elizabeth created
it a parliamentary borough. From 1563 to 1832 it returned two
members to the House of Commons. In 181§ John Eliot was
created earl of St Germans, and in 1gos the first sufiragan
bishop of Truro was consecrated bishop of St Germans,

ST GILLES, a town of southérn France, in the department of
Gard, on the canal from the Rhone to Cette, 124 m. S.S.E. of
Nimes by road. Pop. (rqo6) 5202. Inthe middle ages St Gilles,
the ancient Vallis Flaviana, was the seat of an abbey founded
towards the end of the 7th century by St Aegidius (St Gilles). It
dcquiréd wealth and power under the counts of Toulouse, who
added 'to their title that of counts of St Gilles. The church,
which survives, was founded in 1116 when the abbey was at
the height of its prosperity. The lower part of the front (12th
century) bas three bays decorated with columns and bas-reliefs,
and is the richest example of Romanesque art in Provence.
The rest of the church is unfinished, only the crypt (xath wntnry)
and part of the choir, containing a spiral staircase, being of
interest. Besides the church there is a Ro
serving as presbytery. The decadence of the abbey dates from
the early years of the 13th century when the pilgrimage to the
tomb of the saint became less popular; the monks also lost the
patronage of the counts of Toulouse, owing to the penance
inflicted by them on Raymond VI. in 1209 for the murder of the
papal legate Pierre de Castelnau. St Gilles was the seat of the
first grand priory of the Knights Hospitallers in Europe (12th
century) and was of special importance as their place of embarka-
tion for the East. In 1226 the countship of St Gilles was united
to the crown. In 1562 the Protestants ravaged the abbey, which
they occupied till 1622, and in 1774 it was suppressed.

8T GIRONS, a town of south-western France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Aridge, 29 m. W. of Foix
by rail. Pop. (1906) 5216. The town is situated on the Salat at
the foot of the Pyrenees. There are mineral springs at Audinac
in the vicinity, and the watering-place of Aulus, about 20 m. to
the S.S.E., is reached by road from St Girons. St Lizier-de-
Couunm (g.0.),an ancient episcopal town, is 1 m. N.N W.

8T GOAR, a town of Germany, in the Prussian Rhi
on the left bank of the Rhine, opposite St Gonnlumenlndjm
below the famous Lorelei, 12 m. above Boppard by the railway
from Coblenz to Mainz. Pop. (1905) 1475. It is in part sur-

blic squares is a statue of Thiers. At no tduum:e in the
u‘u Couvent des Loges, a branch of the cducm
Ete des Lngu (end

ment la‘:::‘olﬂmmr Denis). . The
olAuguua nmJo( )iloneo(themo‘popuhr
htbenagh

ST- GERMANS, a small town in the Bodmin parliamentary divi-
sion of Cornwall, England,pleasantly situated on the river Lynher,
9} m. W.by N. of Plymouth by the Great Westernrailway. Pop.
(1901) 2384. It contains a fine church dedicated to St Germanus.
The west {ront is flanked by towers both of which are Norman in
the lower parts,the upper part being In the one Early English and
in the other Perpendicular. The front itself is wholly Norman,
having three windows abovea porch with a beautiful ornate door-
way. Some Norman work remains in the body of the church,
but the most part u Perpendncuhr or Decorated. Port Eliot,a
neighbouring llent collection of pkt\m:,
notably several works of Sir]’odﬂn Reynolds.

rounded by the ruins of its old walls, and contains an Evangelical
church, with some Renaissance monuments, and a Roman
Catholic church with an image of St Goar of Aquitania, around
whose chapel the place originally arose. Below the town, high
on an eminence above the Rhine, stands Schloss Rheinfels, the
property of the king of Prussia, the most perfect of the feudal
castles on the banks of the river. In the later middle ages St
Goar was the capital of the county of Katzenelnbogen, and on
the extinction of this family it passed to Hesse-Cassel. It came
into the possession of Prussia in 181s.

ST GOTTHARD PASS, the principal route from northem
Europe to Italy. It takes its name (it is not known wherefore)
from St Gotthard, bishop of Hildesheim (d. 1038), but does
not seem to be mentioned before the early 13th century, perhaps
because the access to it lies through two very narrow Alpine
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‘walleys, much exposed to avalanches. The hospice on the
summit is first meationed in 1331, and from 1683 ocuwards was
in charge of two Capuchin friars. But in 1775 the buildings
near it were damaged by an a while in 1799~1800
everything was destroyed by the French soldiery. Rebuilt
in 1834, the bospice was burnt in March 190s. The mule path

the great tunnel (pierced in 1872-1880, 9} m. in length,
uuining.lheigbtofyuh.),thmghwhich

Reuss valley to pass through the tunnel and so gain, at Airolo,
the valley of the Ticino or the Val Leventing, which it descends,
spiral tunnels, till at Biasca (38 m. from
it reaches more level ground. Thence it runs past
Bellinzona to Lugano (304 m. from Biasca) and reaches Italian

tish

Atlanticin 15° 55° 26° S., 5° 42’ 30" W. (Ladder Hill Observatory).
It lies 700 m. S.E. of the island of Ascension (the nearest land),
1200 m. W. of Mossamedes (the nearest African port), 1695 N.W.
of Cape Town, and is distant from Southampton 4477 m. It
has an area of about 47 sq. m., the extreme length from S.W.
to N.E. being 10} m. and the extreme breadth 82. The island
is of volcanic formation, but greatly changed by oceanic abrasion
and atmospheric denudation. (Its principal feature, a semi-
i ridge of mountains, opén towards the south-east and
south, with the culminating summit of Diana’s Peak (2704 ft.)
is the northern rim of a great crater; the southern rim has
disappeared, though its débris apparently keeps the sea shallow
(from 20 to so fathoms) for some 2 m. S.E. of Sandy Bay, which
bypothetically forms the centre of the ring. From the crater
wall outwards water-cut gorges stretch in all directions, widening
as they approach the ses into valleys, some of which are 1000 ft.
deep, and measure one-eighth of a mile across at bottom and

across the top (Melliss). These valleys contain
small streams, bat the island has no rivers properly so called.
Springs of pure water are; however, abundant. Along theenclosing
hillsides caves have been formed by the washing out of the softer
rocks. Basalts, andesites and phonolites, represent the chief
flows. Many dikes and masses of basaltic rock seem to have been
injected subsequently to the last volcanic eruptions from the
central crater.
pinnacles standing out on the S.E. part of the crater ridge, and
the Chi

E

on the coast south of Sandy Bay, are formed out | their

Chimney

of such injected dikes and masses. In the neighbourhood of
Man and Horse (S.W. corner of the island), throughout an
area of about 40 acres, scarcely sosq. yds. exist not crossed by a
dyke. On the leeward (northern) side of St Helena the sea-face
is generally formed by dliffs from 600 to 1000 ft. high, and on
the windward side these heights rise to about 2000 ft., as at
Holdfast Tom, Stone Top abd Old Joan Point. The only
practicable landing-place is on the leeward side at St James’s
Bay—an open roadstead. From the head of the bay a narrow
valley extends for 1§ m. The greatest extent of level ground
is in the N.E. of the island, where are the Deadwood and Long-
wood plains, over 1700 ft. above the sea.

Climate.—Although it Lies within the tropics the climate, of the
island is healthy and temperate. This is due to the south-east
trade-wind, constant the year, and to the effect of the
cold waters of the South A current. As a result the tempera-
ture varies little, ra on the sea level from 68° to 84° in summer
and 57°to 70°in winter. higher regions are about 10° cooler. The
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rainfall varies considerably, being from 30 to 30 in. a year in the
Flora.—St Helena is divided into three vegetation zones:
B in lnhm“ofxm.wlim..fotmulyclmh(:t;
but now * dry, barren, soill i
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dm-ﬁilcl;ﬁ. t off the island tyeat are pect b 2
t A
tunay, bullseye, cavaliey, founder, bog. B4, mullet and skulpin.
Inkobitants—When discovered the island was uninhabited.

The majority of the population are of mixed European (British,
Dutch, Portuguese), East Indian and African descent—the
Asiatic strain perhaps predominating; the majority of the
early settlers baving been previously members of the crews of
ships returning to Europe from the East. From 1840 onward
for a considerable period numbers of freed slaves of West African
origin were settled here by mén-of-war engaged in suppressing
the slave trade. Their descendants form a distinct -element

* In the * Challenger " expedition reports, Botany, vol. L (1835)-
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fn the population. ~ Since the substitution of stumslngs for:

sailing vessels and the introduction of new methods of preserving
meat and vegeublel (wluch made it unnecessary for sailing vessels
to take fresh provisions from St Helena to avoid scurvy) the
population has greatly diminished. In 1871 there were 6444
inhabitants; in 1gog the civil population was estimated at 3553.
The death-rate that year, 6:4 per 1000, was the lowest on record
in the island. The only town, in which live more than half the
total population, is Jamestown. Longwood, where Napoleon
died in 1821, is 3§ m. E. by S. of Jamestown. In 1858 the
bouse in which he lived and dicd was presented by Queen
Victoria to Napoleon III., who had it restored to. the con-
dition, but' unfurnished, in which it was at the time of Bona-
parte’s du!h.

Agriculture ‘ndustries, &c.—Less than a third of the area of the
island is nmnble far farmmg. while much of the uﬂ which might be
(and formerly was) devoted I:o raum%l crops :o:d er

which are of v ualit
were chnﬂc;oplold !o shi, ery 3 4

ps—especially to
ln nw ly exponed to the Cape. Canle and Ag:tp were
n large numbers when a garrison was maintained, so that
dlﬁcultLhn been (ound in dupounz of surplus stock now that the
. The conditions' which
were Jtered’ by the substitution of
numen for nnlmg vesscls, vlnch caused a great decrease in the
number of ships callmg -at Jamutown. A mmedy was sought
in the e An P - in 1869~1872
to cul cinch ful. A was also

turned to the aloe (Fm.-ma 2if ). which grows vnld at mid
elevations, and the New Zecaland flax (Phormium lmax). an intro-
duced plant, for their utilization in the manufacture of fibre. From
1875 to 1881 a company ran & mill at which they turned out both

aloe and flax fibre, but the ‘In

seaman, Captain Kendall, visited St Helena in 1591, and in 1593
Sir James Lancaster stopped at the island on his way home from
the East. In 1603 the same commander again visited St Helena
on his return from the first voyage equipped by the East India
Company. The Portuguese had by this time given up calling
at the island, which appears to have been occupied by the Dutch
about 1645. The Dutch occupation was temporary and ceased
in 1651, the year before they founded Cape Town. The British
East India Company appropriated the island immediately after
lhzdmnmoﬂhenulcb and they were confirmed in possession
by a clause in their charter of 1661. The company buiit a fort
(1658), nanted after the duke of York (James I1.), and established
agarrisonin theisland. In 1673 the Dutch succeeded in obtaining
possession, but were ejected after a few months’ occupation.
Since that date St Helena has been in the undisturbed possession
of Great Britain, though in 1706 two ships anchored off James-
town were carried off by the French, In 1673 the Dutch had
beet expelled by the forces of the Crown,but by a new charter
granted in December of the same year the East India Company
were declared “the true and absolute Jords and proprictors”
of the island. At this time the inhabitants numbered about
1000, of whom nearly half were negro slaves. In 1810 the
company began the importation of Chinese from their factory
at Canton. During the company’s rule the island prospered,
thousands of homeward-bound vessels anchored in the road-
stead in a year, staying for considerable periods, refitting and
revictualling. Large sums of money were thus expended in
the island, where wealthy merchants and officials had their resi-

1907 the government, aided by a gr.lnt of 0 from the i ial
exchequer, started a mill at' Longwood for_the mnuhctuu of
phormium fibre, with encouraging results. Fuh curing and lace
making are also carried on to some extent.

Trade is chi d
town—nw or m istress. There is also some
trade ‘mh v.lnt ‘ pass '’ withou allmg " In thirty years

1877~ ‘Bo number of thip- “ ullm; at the port sank from

24 tonnue to §7 m“t:d 149,182 tonnage.. In the last-

e Yepecie) at £1787—but the e o
n| at {1787 s su; 0 ‘‘ passin,
vm;h‘ do not £ 4 hoe returns. In l?oD‘z:m and twp.(valu'ed
at L3557) mudded tot uporu,and 1 a good trade was
done with Ascension Helena is in* dnmt telegraphic
communication with Eumpe and Soudl Africa, and there is a regular
monthly mail steamship service.

Governmenl, Revenue, &c.—St Helena is a Crown colony. The
island has never had any form of local Iegmlnwe chamber, but the
gwernof (l'heo also acts as chief justice) is by an executive
council. overnor alone makes laws, called ordinances, but
islation can lln be effected by the Crown by order in council.

revenue, Ni{10.287 in 1908, fallen in 1909 to £87{Ie (including

a grant in ai , the expenditure in each five years

(1905 v‘m) bang in enm of the revenue. Elementary education

in government and pnvate schools. St Helena is the scat

ohn in 1859, Ascension Tristan
da Cunha are included in the diocese.

History.—The island was discovered on the 21st of May 1502
by the Portuguese navigator Joio de Nova, on his voyage
home from India, and by him named St Helena.. The
Portuguese found i! uninhabited, imported live stock, fruit-
trees and vegetables, built a chapel and one or two houses, and
left their sick there to be taken home, if recovered, by the next
ship, but they formed no permanent settlement. Its first known

nent resident was Fernando Lopez, a Portuguese in India,
who had turned traitor and had been mutilated by order of
Albuquerque. He preferred being marooned to returning to
Portugal in his maimed condition, and was landed at St Helena
in 1513 with three or four negro slaves. By royal command he
visited Portugal some time later, but returned to St Helena,

ndent upon the f;\v ships that call at James-"

dznoe. The phntauons were worked by the slaves, who were

d to very barbarous laws until 1792, when a new code

of ngul:uons ensured their humane treatment and prohibited

the importation of any new slaves. Later it was enacted that all

children of slaves born on or after Christmas Day :8:8 should

:ebu‘-tm' and between 1826 and 1836 all slaves wereset at
Y.

Among the governors appointed by the company to rule at
St ‘Helena was one of the Huguenot refugees, Captain Stephen
Poirier (1697~1707), who attempted unsuccessfully to introduce
the cultivation of the vine. A later governor (1741~1742) was
Robert Jenkin (¢.9.) of  Jenkin's ear ”” fame. Dampier visited
the island twice, in 1691 and 1701; Halley's Mount commemor-
ates the visit paid by the astronomer Edmund Halley in 1676~
1678—the-first of a number of scientific men who have pursued
their studies on the island.

In 1815 the British government selected St Helena as the place
of detention of Napoleon Bonaparte. He was brought to the
island in October of that year and lodged at Longwood, where
he died in May 1821. During this period the island was strongly
garrisoned by regular troops, and the -governor, Sir Hudson
Lowe, was nominated by the Crown. After Napoleon’s death
the East India Company resumed full control of St Helena
until the 22nd of April 1834, on which date it was in virtue of
an act passed in 1833 vested in the Crown. As a’port of call
the island continued to'enjoy a fair measure of prosperity until
about 1870. Since that date the great decrease in the number
of ls visiting J: has deprived the islanders of their
principal means of subsistence. When steamers began to be
substituted for sailing vessels and when the Suez Canal was
opened (in 1869) fewer ships passed the island, while of those
that still pass the greater number are so well found that it is
unnecessary for them to call (sec also § Inkabilants). The with-
drawal in 1906 of the small garrison, hitherto maintained by
the imperial government, was another cause of depression.
During the Anglo-Boer war of 1899-1902 some thousands of

where he died in 1546. In 1584 two Jag ambassadors to
Rome landed at the island. The first Englishman known to
have visited it was Thomas Cavendish, who touched there in
Junc 1588 during his voyage round the world. Another English

1 Calling " ships are those which have becn boarded by the
harbour master and given pratique. Since 1886 boatmen are allowed

to communicate with ships that have got pratique, and
these are known as ‘* pasaing ™ ships.

Boer pri were detained at St Helena, which has also served
as the place of exile of several Zulu chiefs, including Dinizulu.
BIBLIOGRAPHY.—]. C. Melliss, St Helena: @ Pkysical, Historical
aud Top;ﬂaﬁbn‘d mnplml of the Island, including us
Fauna, ( on, 1875); E. L. }ac
Helena (London. 1903); T Brooke, Humy
Helena . . . to 1823 (and ed., London, lsu) in ! u book are cited
many -rly accounts of the island; General A. gwemor
| of the island 1808-1813), Tracts Relative to lh Idud of

e
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ms) W!n- the St Helena Records 2o 183,

R. Janisch, sometime governor W s

oumumu d«m

acoount cmmlt (Sir)

the nlub Colonies (vol. iii.,
See l.ho Danvua
““'u. resent Bosiion

l‘rm-mnrketwnmdmunhpd,mty,mdpnhv
murybamuhoflmhn,ﬁndmd,um.ENE.ﬁom
Liverpool, on the London & North-Western and Great Central
nailways. Pop. (1891) 72,418; (1901) 84,410. A canal com-
municates ‘with the Mersey. The town is wholly of modern
t. Besides the town hall and otber public buildings
and institutions there may be mentioned the Gamble Institute,
erected and presented by Sir David Gamble, Bart., for a technical
educating some 2000 studeats, md lxbn.ry Among

il

pot
are collieries in the ndghbourhood
To the north of the town are a few ecclesiastical ruins, known.
as Windleshaw Abbey, together with a wcll called St Thomas’

ST HELIER, the chief town of Jersey, the largest of the Channel
Islands. Pop. (1g901) 27,866. It lies on the south coast of the
island on the eastern side of St Aubin’s Bay.
is flanked on the W. by a rocky ridge on which stands Elizabeth
Castle, and commanded on the east by Fort Regent on its lofty
promontory. The parish church is a cruciform building with
embattled tower, dating in part from the 14th century. It
contains a monument to Major Peirson, who on the occasion of
a French attack on Jersey in 1781 headed the militia to oppose
them, and forced them to surrender, but was killed as his followers
were at the point of victory. The French leader, Baron de
Rullecourt, is buried in the churchyard. The spot where
Peirson fell, in what is now called Peirson Place, is marked by
a tablet. A large canvas by John Singleton Copley depicting
the scene is in the National Gallery, London, and a copy is
mlhemnnbouseo(StHelm ‘This building (la Cohue),

in Royal Square, is the meeting-place of the royal court and
ddibmhve States of Jersey. Victoria College was opened
in 1852 and commemorates a visit of Queen Victoria and the
pnmemttothenhndinxu& A bouse in ‘Marine
Terrace is as the residence of Victor Hugo (1851~
18gs). Elizabeth Castle, which is connected with the main-
land by a causeway, dates from 1551~15Q0; and in 1646 and
1649 Prince Charles resided here. In 1649 he was pro-
claimed king, as Charles IL., in]e:uybythcroyllmxovmor
George Carteret. On u.tually coming to the throne he gave
the island the mace which is still used at the meetings of the
court and States. Close to the castle are remnants of & chapel
or cell, from which the rock on which it stands is known as the
Hermitage, dating probably from the gth or ioth century,
and traditionally connected with the patron saint Helerius.

SAINT-HILAIRR, AUGUSTIN FRANCOIS CESAR PROU-
VENCAL DB, commonly known as AUGUSTE DE (1709-1853),
French botanist and traveller, was born at Orleans on the 4
of October 1799. He began to publish memoirs on botanical
subjects at an early age. In 1816-1822 and in 1830 he travelled
in South America, ¢especially in south and central Brazil, and the
results of his study of the rich flora of the regions through which
bep-edappam!muva.lhoohmdnnmemnmndum

scientific journals. _The works by which he is best known are
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the Flora Brasiliae Meridionalis (3 vols., folio, with 192 coloured
plates, 1825-1832), published in eonjuncuon with A. de Jussien
and J. Cambessédes, Histoire des plantes les pius remargquables du
Brésil et de Paraguay (1 vol. 4to, 3o plates, 1824), Planles usuelles
des Brésiliens (1 vol. 4to, 70 plates, 1827-1828), also in con-
iunction with De Jussieu and Cambessédes, and Voyage dans
le district des diamants et sur le littoral du Brésil (2vols., 8vo, 1833)
His Legons de botanigque, comprenant pnnapakmnl mor pholo,
végiiale (1840), was a comprehensive_exposition of boumml
morphology and of its application to systematic botany. He
died at Orleans on the 3oth of September 1853.

ST HUBERT, a small town of Belgium in the of
Luxemburg and in the heart of the Ardennes. Pop. Yxgo4)
3204. It is famous for its abbey church containing the shrine
of St Hubert, and for its annual According to
tradition the church and a monastery attached to it were founded
in the 7th century by Plectrude, wife of Pippin of Herstal. The
second church was built in the 1ath century, but burnt bya
French army under Condé in the 16th century. The present
-building is its successor, but has been restored in modern times
and presents no special feature. The tomb of St Hubert—a
marble sarcophagus ornamented with bas-reliefs and having four

: :l:‘tueuu of other saints at the angles—stands in one of the side

pels. The legend of the conversion of St Hubert—a hunter
before he was a saint—by his meeting in the forest a stag with
a crucifix between its antlers, is well known,and explains how he
became the patron saint of huntsmen. The place where he is
supposed to have met the stag is still known as “ la converserie "’
and is almost § m. from St Hubert on the road to La Roche.
The pilgrimage of St Hubert in May attracts annually between
thirty and fifty thousand pilgrims. The buildings of the old
monastery have been utilized for a state training-school for
waifs and strays, which contains on an average five hundred
pupils. In the middle ages the abbey of St Hubert was one of
the most important in Europe, owning forty villages with an
annual income of over 80,000 crowns. During the French
Revoludon, when Belgium was divided into several departments,
the possessions of the abbey were sold for £75,000, but the bishop
of Namur was permitted to buy the church itself for £1350.

ST HYACINTHEB, 2 city and port of entry of Quebec, Canada,
4nd capital of St Hyacinthe county, 32 m. E.N.E. of Montreal,
on the left bank of the river Yamaska and on the Grand Trunk,
Canadian Pacific, Intercolonial, and Quebec Southern railways.
Pop. (1901) g210. It is the seat of a Roman Catholic blsbop,
and oon a classical college, dairy school, two monasteries
and several otber educational and charitable institutions. It
bas manufactures of organs, leather, woollens and agricultural
implements, and is an important distributing centre for the
surrounding district.

SAINTINE, JOSEPH XAVIER (17¢8-1865), French novelist
and dramatist, whose real surname was BONIFACE, was bom in
Paris on the.!oth of July 1798 In 1823 he produced a volume
of poetry in the manner of the Romanticists, entitled Poémes,
odes, éptires. In 1836 appeared Picciola, the story of the comte
de Chamney, a political prisoner in Piedmont, whosc reason was
saved by his cult of a tiny flower growing betwecn the paving
stones of his prison yard. This story is a masterpiece of the
sentimental kind, and has been trauslated into many European
languages. He produced many other novels, none of striking
individuality with the exception of Sesd (1857), which purported
to be the authentic record of Alexander Selkirk on his desert
island. Saintine was a prolific dramatist, and collaborated in
some hundred pieces with Scribe and others, usually under the
name of Xavier. He died on the 21st of January 186s.

ST INGBERT, a town of Germany, in the kingdom of Bavaria

th | on the Rohrbach, 14 m. by rail W. of Zweibrlicken. Pop. (1g0s)

15,521. It has coal-mines and manufactures of glass and
mi . ‘There are also large iron and steel works in the
town, and other industries are the making of powder, leather,
cigars, soap and cotton. St Ingbert is named after the Irish
saint, St Ingobert, and belonged for 300 years to the electorate

of Trier.
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ST IVES, a market town, municipal borough and seaport in the
St Ives parliamentary division of Cornwall, England, 10 m.

NNE.otPennnoe,onnbnnchoflheGthutmnﬂmy‘

Pop. (1901) 6699. It lies near the W. horn of St Ives Bay on
the N. coast. The older streets near the harbour are narrow and
irregular, but on the upper slopes there are modern terraces with
good houses. The small harbour, protected by a breakwater,
originally built by John Smeaton in 1767, has suffered from
the accumulation of sand, and at the lowest tides is dry.
The fisheries for pilchard, herrlng and mackere] are important.
Boat-building and sail-making are carried on. An eminence south
of the town is marked by a granite monument erected in 1782
by Jolm Knill, a native of the town, who intended to be buried
here; to maintain a quinquennial celebration on the spot he
bequeathed property to the town authorities. The borough is
under 8 mayor, 4 and 12 councillors. Area, 1890 acres.
2 The town takes name from St Hya, or Ia, an Irish virgin and
martyr, who is said to have accompanied St Piran on his
missionary journey to Cornwall in the ‘sth century, and to have
landed near this place. The Patent Rolls disclose an almost
continuous series of trials for piracy and plunder by St Ives
sailors from the beginning of the 14th to the end of the 16th
century. A mere chapelry of Lelant and the less important | ro-
member of the distant manor of Ludgvan Leaze, which in
Domesday Book appears as Luduam, it had no fostering hand
to minister to its growth. In order to augment the influence of the
Tudors in the House of Commons, Philip and Mary in 1558
invested it with the privilege of returning 2 members. . Its affairs

were at that time administered by a headwarden, who after
1598 appears under the name of portreeve, 12 chief burgesses
and 24 ordinary burgesses. The portreeve was elected by the
24; the 12 by the chief inhabitants. This body had control
over the fishing, the barbour and barbour dues, the fabric of the
church, sanitation and the poor. In 1639 a charter of incorpora-
tion was granted under which the portreeve became mayor, the
12 became aldermen, and the 24 were styled burgesses.
vision was made for four fairs and for markets on Wednesdays
and Saturdays, also for a grammar school. This charter was
surrendered to Charles I1. and a new one granted in 1685, the
latter reducing the number of aldermen to ‘10 and of burgesses
also to 10. It ratified the parliamentary franchise and the fairs
and markets, and provided a court of pie-powder; it also con-
tained a clause safeguarding the rights of the marquess of
Winchester, lord of the manor of Ludgvan Leaze and Porthia.
In 1835 a mayor, 4 aldermen and 12 councillors were invested
with the administration of the borough. In 1832 St Ives lost
one of its members, and in 1885 the other. Both markets are
now held, bu!onlyoneofthefun. Thhukuphoeonlhe
Satunhy nearest St Andrew’s day.”

- 8T IVES,amarket town and municipal borough in the northern
pulumenhry division of Huntingdonshire, England, mainly | an
on the left (north) bank of the Ouse, s m. E. of Huntingdon by
the Great Eastern railway. Pop. (1901) 2910. The river is
crossed by an old bridge said to have been built by the abbots of
Ramsey early in the 1sth century. A building over the centre
pier of the bridge was once used as a chapel. The causeway
(1827) on the south side of the river is built on arches 3o as to

assist the flow of the river in time of flood. The church of All

Saints is Perpendicular, with earlier portions. ' A curious custom
is practised annually in this church in connexion with a bequest

made by a certain Dr Robert Wilde in 1678: it is the distribution’

of Bibles to six boys and six girls of the town. The original
provision was that the Bibles should be cast for by dice on the
Communion table. Oliver Cromwell was a resident in St Ives
in 1634-1635, but the house which he inhabi Hall—
was demolished in the middle of the zgth century. St Ives has
a considerable agricultural trade. It is governed by a mayor,
4 aldermen and 12 councillors. Area 2326 acres.

- The manor.of “Slepe” is said to have been given by Zthelstan
¢ Mannessune ” to the abbot of Ramsey and confirmed to him
by King Edgar. It owed its change of name to the supposed
discovery of the grave of St Ive, a Persian bishop, in 1001,

ST IVES—ST JOHN, ]J. A.

and a priory was founded in the same year by Abbot Ednoth as
a cell to Ramsey. St Ives was chiefly noted for its fair, which
was first granted to the abbot of Ramsey by Henry L. to be held
on Monday in Easter week and eight days following. In the
reign of Henry III. merchants from Flanders came to the fair,
which had become so important that the king granted it to be
continued beyond the eight days if the abbot agreed to pay a
farm of £so yearly for the extra days. The fair, with a market
on Monday granted to the abbot in 1286, survives, and was

in 1874 by the corporation irom t.he duke. of
Manchester. The town was incorporated in 1874.

ST JEAN-D’ANGELY, a town of western France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Charente-Inférieure,
33 m. E. of Rochefort by rail. Pop. (1906) 6242. St Jean lies
on the right bank of the Boutonne, which is navigable for small
vessels, Tbepl.rhhchumhotSt]emnundnontbenteofm
abbey church of the 13th century, of which sonie remains are
left. In 1568 the monastery was destroyed by the Huguenots,
but much of it was rebuilt in the 17th and 18th centuries, to which

belong two lnd'.he‘,‘ ofmunﬁnnhedchurch

Stje-&om mluol;\eAt:thena mn forest of
Angéry (An, um). taine

established m Len«mn o ch mnn‘l.'z

+-+=42--~-1es8 the head of John the na;xl ist. This relic attracted

18; & tOWn grew Ldookthenameo!Stjund'Anged.
ly, was fortil

aft ) in 1131, and in 1204 received a
ch ?Inh Augustus. The possession of the plue was
di rench and English in the Hundred Ycars' War,
an athoheu and Protestants at a later date. In 1569 it
@ the duke of Anjou (afterwards Hm 111.). is
X! ok it from the Pmmnu in 1621 ved it of
m,. ad its very name, which he changed to Bourg-Louis. ;

- 8T JMMI-I.UZ, a coast town of south-western Funce,
in the department of Basses-Pyrénées, at the mouth of the
Nivelle, 14 m. S.W. of Bayonne on a branch of the Southern
nﬂw‘y. Pop. (1906) 3424. St Jean-de-Luz is situated in the
Buque country on the bay of St Jean-de-Luz, the entrance to

Pro- | which is protected by breakwaters and moles. It has a 13th-

century church, the chief features of which are the galleries
in the nave, wlm:h according to the Basque custom, are reserved
for men. The Maison Lohobiague, the Maison de I’Infante
(both r7th cent.), and the hétel de ville (1657) are plctuxaque
old buildings. St Jean is well known for its baunng and as &
wmtet mon. Fuhmg is a considerable industry. -

{e-Luz enjoyed a
g: ) veseels were u‘:

358, to t
de cﬁ:d mﬂ burned
th 80 veseels, which
su ¢ of Buckingham.'
In ean-de-Luz,’
an ta Maria Theresa.
an wmbered 1§,000.’
iy he loss of Canada,

1ses which contri-
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sT Joml. CHARLB vm.uu " GEORGE 7 (1809-1856),"
English paturalist and sportsman, son of General the Hon.'
Frederick St John, second son of Frederick, second Viscount'
Bolingbroke, was born on the 3rd of December 1809. He was
educated at Midhurst, Sussex, and about 1828 obtained a clerk-
ship in the trcasury, but resigned in 1834, in which year he
married a lady with some fortune. He ultimately settled in
the “ Laigh” of Moray, “ within easy distance of mountain
sport.” In 1853 a paralytic seizure deprived him of the use of his
limbs, and for the benefit of his health he removed to the south of
England. He died at Woolston, near Southampton, on the
22nd of July 1856. His works are Wild Sports and Natural
History of the Highlands (1846, and ed. 1848, 3rd ed. 1861);
Tour in Sutherland (1849, 2nd ed., with recollections by Captain
H. St John, 1884); Noles of Natural History and Sport in
Morayshire, with Memoir by C. Innes (1863, and ed. 1884). They
are written in a graphic style, and illustrated with engravings,
many of them from clever pen-and-ink sketches of his own. \

8T JOHN, JAMES AUGUSTUS (1801-1875), British author
and travellér, was born in Carmarthenshire, Wales, on the 24th
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of September 180r. He received private instruction in the
dn-a.udahowquuedpmﬁmncyml-‘mcb,lnlm Spanish,
Arabic and Persian. He obtained a connexion with a Plymouth
pewspaper, and when, in 1824, James Silk Buckingham started
the Oriental Herald, St John became assistant editor. In 1827,
together with D. L. Richardson, be founded the London Weekly
Review, subsequently purchased by Colburn and transformed
into the Conrt Journal. He lived for some years on the Continent
and went in 1832 to Egypt and Nubia, travelling mostly on
foot. The results of his journey were published under the titles
Egypt and Mokammed Ali, or Travels in the Valley of the Nile
(2 vols., 1834), Egypt and Nubia (1844), and Isis, as Egyptian
Pilgrimage (2 vols., 1853). On his return he settled in London,
and for many years wrote political * leaders”” for the Dasily
Tdegreph. In 1868 he published a Life of Sir Walter Raleigh,
buedonxueuchumtheuchvunhhdﬁdndduwhm.
He died in London on t.hezzndofSeptember 1815.

, _ Besides the works mx {
Journal of a d
Trasellers (1830) ; Anater d
Customs slk)}i;!:‘n H(O} ;
vols., 1
(x 35". Sir Cosm k
A " ch of Bea H
Phi at the Foet of i
%lass) : Ring and tke n
1857); History of the ¢;; and
Wesghed i the xce, & h notes,
various English )
- Of his four sons, all j andauthonolnmelnmrydu-
tinction—Percy Bohngbrolm (1831-1881% and
Horace Roscoe (1832-1888)—the second AYI.I ST Joun (1 833—
wherni only th

0 contnibuti to the
1869), began nibuting

gyhevrmean:ruofp.pmfor Frmunderthetitle
"Detevehnculan.orl(.‘mHmog " To the same
aliahed tn 155y Moniasgne the Evayist, o Bo "»"""““"‘u ey
in1 4 sayist, a Biogra in 4 volumes.
mdms:z:eo(mwnm s evrgefz Libyan Desert
(1849). e learnt Arabic and visited the oasis of

While i m E
On his ret ::ttkd for some time in Paris and published
Two Yun ma Lauhu Family (1850 lnd Vu-s in_the Oa.m of
Stwek (1850). After l second visit to t! published Village
Lu]c " Egp‘ (1852); P Tints of Pw. Chmukn and Manners
New E?n ('1854 The Lowore, or BwpaphJa Museum
(1855), ubalpine Kin; , or Ex, s and Studies in
) vadx an Arad Henhmu sn the Sowdan (18s4);
llunu-o. ure (l?b and Memoirs of the Duke o]
Sasns-Simon in gu of Louis (4 vols., 1857).

ST JOHN, OLIVER (c. 1508-1673), English statesman and
judge, was the son of Oliver St John. There were two branches
of the ancient family to which he belonged, namely, the St Johns
of Bletso in Bedfordshire, and the St Johns of Lydiard Tregoze
in Wiltshire, both descendants of the St Johns of Staunton St
John in Oxfordshire. Oliver St John was a member of the
senior branch, being great-grandson of Oliver St John, who was
created Baron St John of Bletso! in" 1559, and a distant cousin
of the 4th baron who was created earl of Bolingbroke in 1624, and
who took an active part on the parliamentary side of the Civil
War, being killed at the battle of Edgehill. Oliver was educated
at Queens’ College, Cambridge, and was called to the bar in 1626.
He appears to have got into trouble with the court in connexion
with a seditious publication, and to have associated himself with
the futm popuhr leaders John Pym and Lord Saye. In 1638
he d den on his refusal to pay Ship Money, on
which occasion he made a notable speech. In the same year he
married, as his second wife, Elizabeth Cromwell, a cousin of
Oliver Cromwell, to whom his first wife also had been distantly
related. The marriage led to an intimate friendship with
Cromwell. St John was member for Totnes in both the Short
and the Long Parliament, where he acted in close alliance with
Hampden and Pym, especially in opposition to the impost of Ship

II

took an active part in promoting the impeachment of Strafford
and in preparing the bills brought forward by the popular party
in the Commons, and was dismissed from office in 1643. On the
outbreak of the Civil War, he became as one of the
parliamentary leaders. In the quarrel between the parliament
and the army in 1647 he sided with the latter, and throughout
this period he enjoyed Cromwell’s entire confidence.

In 1648 St John was appointed chief justice of the common
pleas; and from this time he devoted himself mainly to his
judicial duties. He refused to act as one of the commissioners
for the trial of Charles. He had no hand in Pride’s Purge, nor
in the constitution of the Commonwealth. In 165z he went to
the Hague as one of the envoys to negotiate a union between
England and Holland, a mission in which he entirely failed;
but in the same year he successfully conducted a similar negotia-
tion with Scotland. After the Restoration he published an
account of his past conduct (The Case of Qliver St Jokn, 1660),
and this apologia enabled him to escape any more severe
vengeance than exclusion from public office. He retired to
his country house in Northamptonshire till 1662, when he
went to live abroad. He died on the 31st of December 1673.

By his first wife St John had two sons and two daughters.

. | His daughter Johanna married Sir Walter St John of Lydiard

Tregoze and was the grandmother of Viscount Bolingbroke.
By his second wife he had two children, and after her death he
married, in 1645, Elizabeth, daughter of Daniel Oxenbridge.
See die lbove- tioned Case of Oliver St Jokn (London, 1660),
and St John's Speech Lo the Lords, Jan. 7th, 1640, concerning Ship-
money 1640). See also erk oble Memoirs o) Pro-
tectoral Cmnnnll vol ii. (2 vols., London, 1787) nthonyl
Wood, Fc.m Ozxoniensis, ed by P. Bliss (. vols.. on. 181
Ed“rdFo-.Thc.Iudga‘{‘ gloudvolwz London, 184
S. R. Gardiner, H: 1 Great le Ww voh.. London, 1
; vols.,

m Lord Clarendon, n{ the Rebelison and
(Ed Odotd lsﬂ) T

Civil lWan [ Euglaad) urioe us‘:‘t.’y P(aikl-'l’
VoIs. OII, I

}-Imh (z w (h;“ blm Cromwell's

Lelters a C.H mh-m.thd o!Nal Bw voll

(l-ondon. 1897) i

ST JOHN, the capital of St John county, New Bnumnck,
Canada, in 45° 14’ N., and 66° 3’ W., 481 m. from Montreal by
the Canadian Pacific railway. Pop. (1901) 40,711. It is situated
at the mouth of the St John river on & rocky peninsula, With it
are incorporated the neighbouring towns of Carleton and (since
188¢9) Portland. The river, which is spanned by two bridges,
enters the harbour through a rocky gorge, which is passable
by ships for forty-five minutes during each ebb and flow of the
tide. The harbour level at high tide (see Funpy, Bay oF) is
6 to 12 ft. higher than that of the river, but at low tide about as
much below it, hence the phenomenon of a fall outwards and
inwards at every tide. St John is an important station of the
Intercolonial, Canadian Pacific, and New Brunswick Southern
railways, and shares with Halifax the honour of being the chief
winter port of the Dominion, the harbour being deep, sheltered
and free from ice. It is the distributing centrc for a large
district, rich in agricultural produce and lumber, and has larger
exports than Halifax, though less imports. It is also the centre
of fisheries which employ nearly 1000 men, and has important
industries, such as saw, grist, cotton and woollen mills, carriage,
box and furniture factories, boiler and engine shops. The beauty
of the scenery makes it a pleasant residential city.

St John was visited in 1604 by the Sieur de Monts (1560-<. 1630
and his lieutenant Champlain, but it was not until l%}]s that Char
de la Tour (d. 1666) es(abhshed a trading Fort St Jean

sce Parkman, The Régime in Cau a), which existed under
rench rule until 1758, when it passed into the hands of Britain.
In 1783 a body of United Empire Loyalists landed at St_John and

Money (¢.9.). In 1641, with a view of securing his support, the
king appointed St John solicitor-general. . None the less he

‘Thnlbuuillh‘dbythehm’lyhmﬂy‘ ded from the

hed a city, Parr Town until 1785, when it was in-
corporated with Comny (Carleton), under royal charter, as the
city of St John. It soon became and has remained the largest town
in "the ince, but for military reasons was not chosen as the

ist baron, said by Round to be the only peerage family
descended in the 4

hm[rommmhm‘mdnumeo
Domesday Book.

see FREDERICTON): Its growth has been checked by several

/ destructive ﬁln;u. K;:ully that of June 1877, when half ol it was
AW ) t ore
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ST JOHN, an island in the Danish West Indies. It lies 4 m. E.
of St Thomas, is 10 m. long and 2} m. wide; area 21 sq. m.
lthamuofmggedmounum,thehghestofwhmhh&mel
Mountain (12701t.). Although one of the best watered and most
fertile of the Virgin Group, it has little commerce. It is a free
port, and possesses in Coral Bay the best harbour of refuge in
the Antilles. The village of Cruxbay lies on the northern coast.
Pop. (1901) 935.

ST JOHN, a river of New Brunswick, Canada, rising in two
branches, in the state of Maine, U.S.A., and in the province
of Quebec. The American branch, known as the Walloostook,
flows N.E. to the New Brunswick frontier, where it turns S.E.
and for 80 m. forms the international boundary. A little above
Grand Falls the St John enters Canada and flows through New
Brunswick into the Bay of Fundy at St John. Its total Jength
is about 450 m. It is mavigable for large steamers as far as
Fredericton (86 m.), and in spring and early summer for
smaller vessels to Grand Falls (220 m.), where a series of
falls and rapids form a descent of 70 or 8o ft. Above the falls
it is navigable for 65 m. It drains an area of 26,000 sq. m.,
of which half is in New Brunswick, and receives numerous
tributaries. of which the chief are the Aroostook, Allagash,
Madawaska (draining Lake Temiscouata in Quebec), Tobique
and Nashwaak.

ST JOHN OF JERUSALEM, KNIGHTS OF THE ORDER OF
THE HOSPITAL OF (Ordo fratrum hospi i Hierosoly-
milanorum, Ordo mililice Sancti Jokannis Baplistae hospilalis
Hierosolymitani), known also later as the KNIGHTS or REoDES
and the SOVEREIGN ORDER or THE KNIGHTS or MartA. The
bistory of this order divides itself naturally into four periods:
(z) From its foundation in Jerusalem during the First Crusade
to its expulsion from the Holy Land after the fall of the Latin
kingdom in 1291; (2) from 1300-1310, when the order was
established in Rhodes, to its expulsion from the island in 1522;
(3) from 1529 to 1798, during which its headquarters were in
Malta; (4) its development, as reconstituted after its virtual
destruction in 1798, to the present day.

+ Early Developments.—Medieval legend set back the beginnings
to the days of the Maccabees, with King Antiochus as the
founder and Zacharias, father of the Baptist, as one of the first
masters; later historians of the order maintained that it was
established as a military order contcmporaneously with the
Latin conquest of Jerusalem, and that it had no connexion with
any earlier foundation (so P. A. Paoli, De origine). This view
would now to be disproved, and it is clear that the order
was connected with an earlier Hospilale Hierosolymitanum.!
Such a hospital'had existed in the Holy City, with rare interrup-
tions, ever since it had become a centre of Christian pilgrimage.
About 1023 certain merchants of Amalfi had purchased the site
of the Latin hospice established by Charlemagne, destroyed in
1o1o with the other Christian establishments by order of the
fanatical caliph Hakim Biamrillah? and had there founded a
hospital for pilgrims, served by Benedictines and later dedicated
to St John the Baptist.? When, in 1087, the crusaders surrounded
the Holy City, the head of this hospital was a certain Gerard or

1 1Cf. the bull of Pope Celestine 1I. to Raymond du Puy, in the
matter of the Teutonic order, which describes the Hospital as
* Hospitalem domum sancte civitatis ]emulem. que a longis retro
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Gerald.* who earned their gratitude by assisting in
way during the siege.* After the capture of the city he used
popularity to enlarge and reconstitute the hospital. If,
Le Roulx surmises, he had previously been affiliated to the
Benedictines, he now left them #d adopted for his order the
Augustinian rule. Donations and privileges were showered upon
the new establishment. Godfrey de Bouillon led the way by
granting to it in Jerusalem itself the casal Hessilia (Es Silsileh)
and two bakehouses® Kings, nobles and prelates followed suit,
not in the Holy Land only, but in Provence, France, Spain,
Portugal, England and Italy: in Portugal a whole province was
in 1114 made over to Gerard and his brethren (Cariwl. i. No. 34).
In 1113 Pope Paschal II. took the order and its possessions under
his immediate protection (bull of Feb. 1sth to Gerard, Cartud. i.
No. 30), his act being confirmed in 1119 by Calixtus II. and
subsequently by other popes. Gerard was indeed, as Pope
Paschal called him, the “institutor” of the order, if not its
founder. It retained, however, during his lifetime its purely
eleemosynary character. The armed defence of pilgrims may
have been part of its functions, but its organization as an aggres-
sive military force was the outcome of special circumstances—
the renewed activity of the.Saracens—and was the work of
Raymond du Puy, who succeeded as grand master on the death
of Gerard (3rd of September 1120).7

Not that Ra can be to have
anything of its Mrmmmmeommm
in his Rule® of the divi into k L
indced, there is no mention of any military duties whatever. It
merely lays down certain rules of conduct and discipline for the
brethren.  They are to be bound by the threefold vow of chastity,
poverty and obedience. They are to claim nothing for themselves
save bmd water and raiment; and this latter is to be of poor
quality, * * since our Lord's poor, whone servants we say we are, go
naked and sordid, and it is a d theuuvnnttobeuwd
when his master is humble.” nally, the brethren are to wear

crosses on the breast of their upe- n mndn, . ut Deuopenpmm
vexillum et

fidem et
Yet that Ra ndhladawn unlltuy gul or the breth
is certain. g:l ple is revaled by a bull of Pz
Alexander I1I. ldd (u( nlo) to the grand master R
Mouhm. in which he bids him, * according to the custom R:Ke
mond,” abstain from banng arms save w the standard of
Cross is mphyede:thu orthcddeoce the kingdom or in an
attack on a ' pagan " city.®

The statesmanlike qualities of Raymond du Puy rendered
his long mast: epoch-making for the order. When it was
decided to fortify Ibelin (Beit-Jibrin) as an outpost against
attacks from the side of Ascalon, it was to the Hospitallers that
the building and defence of the new castle were assigned; and
from 1137 onwards they took a regular part in the wars of the
Cross. It was owing to Raymond’s diplomatic skill, too, that
the order was enabled to profit by the bequest made to it by
Alphonso I. of Aragon, who had died childless, of a third of his
kingdom. To have claimed the literal fulfilment of this bequest
would have been to risk losing it all, and Raymond acted wisely
in transferring the bequest, with certain important reservations,
to Raymond Berenger 1IV., count of Barcelona and regeat of

¢ |n ite o( hu fame, nothlng is known of his origin. The sur-
name “Tunc ” or * Tonque " often given to him i as Le Roulx
points out, merely the result of a copyist's error for  Gerardus

tunc .
ng t lqend he joined the defenders on the vnlll

"to his order
is no mention
and :

A '.-
ones, hurled bread at the Christians, who

and, i
were short of mpphn. Halcd before the Mussulman governor, his

temporibus Christi pauperum unb\n
?uﬁmm)m Sarracenorum tempore . " (l..e Roulx. Cartulai o
o. I
'Tlm“lolunon of the much debated of the of

the Hospital with the Benedictine loundauon of Sancta Mam
Latina is worked out in much detail by M. Delaville Le Roulx in his
Les Hos, iers en TerreiSainte, chap. i.

3 Wilam of Tyre says that they erected in that place an altar
to St John Eleemon, patriarch of Alexandria, renowned for his
charities.  This mistake led to the widespread belief that this
saint, and not St John the Baptist, was the original patron of t
order. A passage in the bull addrund by Pope Paschal to Genld
(Cartulaire, No. 30) would seem to leave the dedication in doubt:
* Xenodochium, quod . . . juxta beati Johannis Bapnmeetlenam
instituistl.” The p-tromp of St ]ohn may thus have metdy
the result of this juxtaposition, as the Templars
from the site of the house.

s were when the incriminating loaves they
produced were duco\med to be turned mto ntonn.
¢ Fours.” So the c etolBald (Camll No. 20; of.
No. 225). In his Hospitaliers Le ‘‘tours,” e two
towers, probably a misprint.
T The existence of a certain Roger as grand master between
Gerard and Rax:\ond mnnumed by some hmorum. is finally

he | disproved per
sﬂm by obnumdonml Giraldi hctul servus pauperum
nm"(Ccrhl i Na. 46).
*The date of this can only be appronmtd assigned, in 80
far as it was d by P oﬁ L .whodndmllss.
® For text see Cartulaire, i. No. 70,
- ¥ Cortm. i. No. 527.
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Aragon (16th of September 1140).! It was probably also during
his sojourn in the West for the above purpose that Raymond
secured from Pope Celestine 11. the bull dated December 7th,

1143, subardinating to his jurisdiction the Teutonic hospice, | of the order,

founded in 1128 by a German pilgrim and his wife in honour of
the Blessed Virgin, which was the nucleus of the Teutonic Order
(g-0.). This order was to remain subordinate to the Hospitallers
actually for some fifty years, and nominally for some thirty
years longer? Raymond took part in the Second Crusade and
was present at the council of the leaders held at Acre,'in 1148,
which resulted in the ill-fated expedition against Damascus.
The failure before Damascus was repaired five years later by the
capture of Ascalon (19th of August 1153), in which Raymond
du Puy and his knights had a conspicuous share.

Meanwhile, in addition to its ever-growing wealth, the order

had received from successive popes privileges which rendered it, |.

like the companion order of the Temple, increasingly independent
of and obnoxious to the secular clergy. In 1135 Innocent II.
bad confirmed to Raymond the privileges accorded by Paschal I1.,
Calixtus 11. and Honorious 1]., and in addition forbade the
diocesan bishops to interdict the churches of the Hospitallers,
whom he also authorized, in case of a general interdict, to cele-
brate mass for themselves alone? In 1137 he gave them the
privilege of Christian burial during such interdicts and the right to
open interdicted churches once a2 year in order to say mass and
collect money.* These bulls were confirmed by Eugenius III.
in 1153° and Anastasius IV. in 1154, the latter adding the per-
mission for the order to have its own priest, independent of the
diocesan bishops.¢ In vain the patriarch of Jerusalem, attended
by other bishops, journeyed to Rome in 1155 to complain to
Adrian 1V. of the Hospitallers’ abuse of their privileges and to
beg him to withdraw his renewal of his predecessor’s bull.’

Far different was the eflect produced by Raymond du Puy’s
triumphant progress through southern Europe from the spring
ol 1157 onward. From the popes, the emperor Frederick I.,
kings and nobles, he received fresh gifts, or the confirmation of
old ones. After the 25th of October 1158, when his presence is
attested at Verona, this master builder of the order disappears
from history; he died some time between this date and 1160,
when the name of another grand master a;

During tbe thirty years of his rule the Hospital, which Gerard
had instituted to meet a local need, had become universal. In

I3

class to sons born in lawful wedlock of knights® or members of
knightly families, a rule which applied also to the donats.? For the
cant men-at-arms it sufficed that they should not be serfs.
Below these a host of servientes did the menial work of the houses
T, or worked as artisans or as labourers on the farms.
All the higher offices in the order were filled by the knights, except
ecclesiastical—which fell to the chaplains—and those of master
i and turcopolier (commander of the auxiliary light
ch were reserved for the serjeants-at-arms.  Each
lowed three horses, each serjcant two. The fratres
ed with the knights as eligible for certain temporal
ir bead was the * conventual prior” (clericorum
esie custos, prior clericorum Hospitalis).
ortant respects the Knights of St John differed from
The latter were a purely military organization; the
n the other hand, were at the outsct preponderatingly
h«hoodﬁo.daot;d. llhoug‘h this character was -g.nbordimrt:g
ter pe wmilitary importance, it never di
o be a rule of the order that in its mablishmu it
ick to give orders, for the brethren to obey. The
rgely occupied with the building, furnishing, and
of ho!gl.tlll. to which were attached Lmed ph‘yuciann
who had the privilege of ing with the knigh
of particular properties were charged with providing
thite bread) for the patients, and the various provinces
ith the duty of forwarding blankets, clothes, wine and
 use. The Hospitall , enc d the
romen to their order, which the monastic and purely
{ the Templars sternly forbade. So early as the First
1an lady named Alix or Agnes had founded at Jerusalem
vomen in connexion with the order of St n. Until
ey fled to Europe, the sisters had devoted themselves
sick-nursing. In Europe, however, they developed
‘ontemplative order.®
{ the order, both in peace and war, was originally a
b._:k cappa clansa (i.e. the long monastic bell-like cloak with a slit
on each side for the ;rmszl with a white, cight-pointed ** Maltese
cross on the breast. As this was highly inconvenient for fighting,
Innocent 1V. in 1248 authorized the brethren to wear in locss sus-
g:m a large super-tunic with a cross on the breast (Cariwl. ii.
No. 2479), and in 1289 Alexander IV. fixed the habit as, in peace
time, a k mantle, and in war a red surcoat with a white cross
(Cartul. ii. No. 2928).
unit of the ocganization of the order was the commandery
(preceptory), a small group of knights and serjeants living in com-
munity under the rule of a commander, or preceptor,! charged with
the supervision of several contiguous £:opemu. The commanderies
were grouped into priories, under the rule of a prior (styled
unofficially * grand prior,” magnus prior), and these again into
provinces corresponding to certain countries, under the authority
of grand commanders. These largest groups crystallized in the
14t eenturz as national divisions under the name of * langues "
(L ).12 At the head of the whole organization was the grand

soawrnog
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the East its growth was beyond calculation: kings, prel and
laity had overwhelmed it with wealth. Inthe West, all Europe
combined to enrich it; from Ireland to Bohemia and Hungary,
from Italy and Provence to Scandinavia, men vied with each
other to attract it and establish it in their midst. It was clear
that for this vast institution an elaborate organization was
needed, and this need was probably the occasion of Raymond's
presence in Europe. The priory of St Gilles already existed as the
nucleus of the later system; the development of this system took
place after Raymond’s death.

jent characteristics can losely analogous
to those of the Templars (¢.v.), whose statutes regulating the life
of the brethren, the terms of admission to the order, the maintenance
of discipline, and the scale of punish cul -in ex-
(pert de la maison), are, dis, closely paralleled
those of the Hospitallers. These, too, were early (probably in
Raymond's time) divided _i)ll!ou(’hm ) : knigh ralres mililes),
ins (fratres capellani), and serjeants (fratres servientes armigers),
affiliated breth (confy )nny‘“‘ ts" (domats, s.c.
regular subscribers, as it were, to the order in return for its privile
and the ultimate right to enter the ranks of its knights). Simi
too, was the aristocratic rule which confined admission to the first

' Cartad. i. No. 136.

wit

The arrangement was confirmed by the

pope in 1158 (Le Roulx, Hospilaliers, ).
The f b of the T 'O&r”na ganizati
was solemn! laimed in the palace of the Templars at Tyre
on the 5‘.t_h Jh’uﬂa 1198. Its rule was confirmed by Pope Innocent
I11. on Feb. 15th, 1198 (Cartal. i. No. 1072).

3 Cartud. i. No. 113. 4 Ib. i. No. 122.

$ Ib. i. No. 217. 8 Ib. i. No. 226.

7 This was dated 19th of December 1134 (/5. & No. 229).

master. grand master was elected, from the ranks of the
knights of justice, by the same process as the grand master of the
Templars (g.v.). Alone of the bailifis (bai/ivs), as the officials of the
order were generically termed. he held office for life. His authority

$The knights were ultimate
Justice ’ (chevaliers de justice) a
de grdce). The former were thos
birth, and were therefore knight
who were admitted * of grace " |
* An exception was made in fi

P nages (
» Thglilr premier hlou-e in Eurc
they still occupy. It was grant
ueen of Aragon, in 1184, the ¢
tkkre in 1188. Their rule, whicl
and dates from October 1188, is
No. 859. There is no word abx
most 1m,| nt house was Bu
survives in the Lutheran convent
a Stift for noble ladies, whose su
mn occasions a realistic wax .
ch:rxm' is still produced.
u der ( deor, dewr), with its Latin translation
frmﬂo'. came into use as the title of these officials somewhat late.
n wlmi docun;enu they are styled ospitalarius, bajulus (bailiff),
ma master).
Omitting the Anglo-Bavarian las,
s (in the 15th ccn!ury? were eight in number. were
(grand priories of St Gilles and Toulouse), (2) Auvergne
nd pnoz of Au . (.‘i) France (grand priories of France,
uitaine, Champaj ! ) ltaly nd priories of Lombardy,
Rome, Venice, Pisa, Capua, 5 eﬁm).}}s) on (castellany
of Am , grand priories of Catalonia and Navarre), (6) England
?I’lﬂ prionies of England—including Scotland—and lre!‘.lm;l).
IP Germany (grand priories of Germany or Heitersheim, Bohemia,
ungary, | Dacia—is. Scandinavie—and the Bailiwick (Baller) of

, created in 1782, the
o
1
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very t, but not ive and
conuollmg‘::wer was vested in the genml chapter ?the knights,
at the periodical meetings of which the Sut officers of the order
had to give an account of their steward and which alone had
the right ¢« —— -~ the order executive
e that of the great
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resigned the grand-mastership, probably in the autumn of r270,
Under the short rule of the grand master Jobert (d. 1177) the
question of a renewed attack on Egypt was mooted; but tha
con!uuon reigning in the Latin kingdom and, not least, the

in the nature of a dJegamn from the
its exercise by f¢ our couruuh (l)
x,a of !
2) a secret council, l'or criminal cases
council, to hear appeals from the two
rable chamber of the treasury ' for
:neral chapter at headquarters corre-
priories and the commanderies, which
<iors and commanders.

0 the grand master were the scven

r, known as the conventual balhﬂs
1, draper (Fr. drapier) or ﬂnd con-

:r, admiral, turcopolier.$
apter at the same time as the rand
master and s.., , was the li of the latter

in his absence, empoweted to seal for him and, in the event of his

capture the enemy, to act as vice-master. The functions of the

orer and t lier were tically identical
with those of the oﬁculs of the nme titles in the order of Knights
T t of h on the other hand was naturally
a charge ol uonal lmportance in the order of St John; he had
a eeal of hu wn, and was nsible for everything concerning the
hospitals of the order, the dispensing of hospitality, and of alms.
‘The admiral, a the nlme implies, was at sea what tl e marshal was
on land. The office when the knights, after

Wﬂ III l?%

their expulsion from t.he begun to organize their
new sea-power in Cyprus. As to the eqmpage and suites of the grand
master and the great dignitaries, these were tically on the same
scale and of the same nature as those described in the article TeEM-
PLARS for the sister order. The grand master had ot‘he right himself

to his and the
hal, i &c.), which, as Le Roulx
mu out, was such as to enable him to ﬁgure as the equal of the
gs and princes with whom he consorted.

The grand-mastership of Gilbert d’Assailly was signalized by
the participation of the Hospitallers in the abortive expeditions
of Amalric of Jerusalem into Egypt in 1162, 1168 and 1169.
On the 10th of August 1164 also they shared in the disastrous
defeat inflicted by Nur-ed-din at Harran on the count of Tripoli.
‘The important position occupied by them in the councils of the
kingdom is shown by the fact that the grand preceptor Guy de
Mauny was one of the ambassadors sent in 1169 to ask aid of the
princes of the West. Another important development was the
bestowal on the order by Bohemund III., prince of Antioch, in
1168, and King Amalric, as regent of Tripoli, in 1170, of con-
siderable territories on the north-eastern frontier, to be held with
almost sovereign power as a march against the Saracens (Carfu-
Iawc.t Nos. 301, 411). The failure of the expedition to Egypt,

, brought ble odium on Gilbert d’Assailly, who
Brundenbnr& (8) Castile (grand of Castile anc nd
Portugal), the grand priories the most ancient anc the
most important was that ol St Gilles, founded ith
century, the authority of which extended orij mlly ovt ole
of what is now France and a great part sth
century its seat was transferred to Arles. Ou( thu de the
langues of Auvergne, France. Aragon and Castile, witl 1b-
sidiary priories. The da the creation of the va nd
commanderies differs g'ru o‘y that of Italy was establi the
13th century, the langue of Germany in 1422, that of ras
split off from Aragon m 1462, The castellany of Ampos led
1187) nnked asa pnory The bailiwick of Bnndcnburg wun _ _ad
long tically independent of the grand rior of Ge: Germany,
obtamed right to elect m own bailiff (Hmnmmsler) in !ﬁSz.
subject to the approval of the ndpnof In the Holy Land
were no priors; comman duecﬂy under the i:n
master, and the ders (who d the style

bailivus) ranked with the grand priors clsewhere.

1 This seems to have consisted in practice ol the great dignitaries
of the order. See Le Roulx, Ha::f-lalm:. .

3 A peculiarity of the order of St g n wu the esgart des fréres
(espars, Lat. sguardium =court) which could be demanded by any
kmght who thoy, JM himself wronged by a decision of his superiors,
even of the grand master.

3 To be carefully distinguished from the regional gra

d qunrrels between the Templars and Hospnall:rs.
fendered all aggressive action impossible. In 1179 the growing
power of the two military orders received its first set back when,
at the instance of the bishops, the Lateran Council forbade them
to receive gifts of churches and tithes at the hands of laymen
without the conseat of the bishops, ordered them to restore all
“ recent "¢ gifts of this nature, and passed 2 number of decrees
in restraint of the abuse of their privileges.

A more potent discipline was to befall them, however, at the
hands of Saladin, sultan of Egypt, who in 1186 began his sys-
tematic conq of the kingd It was the Hospitallers who,
with the other religious orders, alone offered an organized
resistance to his victorious advance. On the 1st of May 1187
occurred the defeat of Tiberias, in which the grand master
Gilbert des Moulins fell riddled with arrows, and this was followed
on the 4th of July by the still more disastrous battle of Hittin.
The flower of the Christian chivalry was slain or captured;
the Hospitallers and Templars who fell into his hands Saladin
massacred in cold blood. On the 2nd of October Jerusalem fell.
Ten brethren of the Hospital were allowed to remain for a year
to look after the sick; the rest took refuge at Tyre. In these
straits Armengaud d’Asp was elected grand master (1188)
and the headquarters of the order were established at Margat
(Markab), near the coast some distance northwards of Tripoli.
In the interior the knights still held some scattered fortresscs;
but their great stronghold of Krak? was reduced by faminc in
September 1188 and Beauvoir in the following January.

The news of these disasters once more roused the crusading
spirit in Europe; the offensive against Saladin was resumed,
the Christians concentrating their forces against Acre in the
autumn of 1189. In the paigns that follawed, of which
Richard I. of England was the most conspicuous hero, and
which ended in the recovery of Acre and the sea-coast generally
for the Lnln hngdom, the Hospaullcn, under their grand

G de Nap $ (Neapoli), played a prominent
part. The grand-mastership of Geoffroy de Donjon, who suc-
ceeded Garnier in 1192 and ruled the order till 1202° was
signalized, not by feats of arms, since the Holy Land enjoyed a
precarious peace, but by a steady restoration and development
of the property and privileges of the order, by renewed quarrels
with the Templars, and in 1198 by the establishment—in face
of the protests of the Hospitallers—of the Teutonic knights as
a separate order. Under the grand-mastership of the pious
Alphonso of Portugal, and of Geoffrey le Rat, who was elected
on Alphonso’s resignation in 1206, the knights took a vigorous
part in the quarrel as to the succession in Antioch; under that
of Garin de Montaigu (elected 1207) they shared in the expedition
to Egypt (1218-1221), of which he had been a vigorous advocate
(see Crusapes: The Fifth Crusade). In 1222, at the instance
of the emperor Frederick II., the grand master accompanied
the king of Jerusalem and others to Europe to discuss the
preparation of a new crusade, visiting Rome, proceeding thence
to Paris and London, and returning to the Holy Land in 1225.
The expedition failed of its object so far as the organization of

$See Le Roulx, Hupnlalw:. . The resignation led to
blt(er dlvmons in the order. It vu ur.::'l that the resi tion was
the of the pope;

and a temporary schism was the result. Gilbert was drowned in
1183 cmu:( from [l)ieppe to England, whither he had gone at the

invitation Hzn

¢ The w derno " were d by Pope
::‘Ie;nnder 111, :;lahbu‘il o:c:.lhe 15t o‘Juﬁe 1 uvmhm ten years

the opemn e cou

! ‘ndous ruins of Iénk-du—Chm iers (at Kerak, S.E. of
the Dead &) attest the wealth and power of knights (for a
mtontmn ne CAS'I’LI, fig. S l_ The castle had been given to the

or gnnd commanders, and also from t‘:e Tnd commndcr
, who represented the grand master mt West generally.
K otheseth nd baxhﬂ (German, langue $me
(Castile) were added later.

Guillaume du Crac in 1142. In 1193 it was m in

thcnr hands, nnd was sul uently greatly enla and stren,

It wzu ﬁnally tured by t e Egyptians under Bibarsin 1271.
cf been prior of and later of anu.

' So Roulx, p. 119.
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s general crusade was concerned; but the Hospital received
everywhere enormous accessions of property.! Garin de
Montaigu died in 1228, after consolidating by his statesmanlike
attitude the ponuon and power of his order, on the eve of
Frederick II.’s crusade. In this crusade, conducted in spite
of a papal excommunication, the Hospiuﬂus took no part,
being rewarded with the-approval of Pope Gregory IX., who,
hAumnzzo,mndnbnﬂtothepnmcho(Jermkm
ing him to maintain the jurisdiction of the Hospital over
the Teutomic knights, who had dared to assist the German
emperor® In 1233, under the grand master Guerin, the
Hospitallers took a leading part in the successful attack on the
principality of Hamah. The motive of this, however—which
was no more than the refusal of the emir to pay them the tribute
due—seems to point to an increasing secularization of their
spirit. In 1236 Pope Gregory IX. thought it necessary to
threaten both them and the Templars with excommunication,
to prevent their forming an alliance with the Assassins? and
in 7238 issued a bull in which he inveighed agninst the
scandalous lives and relaxed discipline of the Hospitallers.*
Events were soon to expose the order to fresh tests. Under
the mndmntenlnp of Pierre de Vieille Bride®* occurred the
brief * crusade ” of Richard of Cornwall (11th of October 1240
to 3rd of May 1241). The truce concluded by Richard with the
sultan of Egypt was accepted by the Hospitallers, rejected by
the Templars, and after his departure something like a war
broke out between the two bodies. In the midst of the strife
of parties, in which Richard of Cornwall had recognized the
fatal weakness of the Christian cause to lie, came the news of
the invasion of the Chorasmians. On the 23rd of August the
Tatar horde took and sacked Jerusalem. On the 17th of October,
in alliance with the Egyptians under Bibars, it  overwhelmed
the Christian host at Gaza. Of the Hospitallers only sixteen
escaped; 325 of the knights were slain; and among the prisoners
was the grand master, Guillaume de Chiteauneuf® Amid
the general ruin that followed this defeat, the Hospitallers held
out in the fortress of Ascalon, until forced to capitulate on the
15th of October 1247. Under the vice-master, the grand pre-
ceptor Jean de Ronay, they took part in 1249 in the Egyptian
expedition of St Louis of France, only to share in the crushing
defeat of Mansurah (r3th of February 1250). Of the knights

I5

submit their disputes in Syria, Cyprusand Armenia to arbitration,
a decision which bore fruit in 1260 in the settlement of their
differences in Tripoli and Margat. The satisfactory arrangement
was possibly affected by the result of a combined attack made
in 1259 on the Hospitallers by the Templars and the brethren
of St Lazarus and St Thomas, which had resulted in the practical
extermination of the aggressors, possibly also by the crushing
defeat of the Templars and the Syrian barons by the Turcomans
at Tiberias in 1260. However achieved, the concord was badly
needed; for Bibars, having in 1260 driven back the Tatars and
established himself in the sultanate of Egypt, began the series
of campaigns which ended in the destruction of the Latin
kingdom. In 1268 Bibars conquered Antioch, and the Christian
power was confined to Acre, Chateau Pélerin, Tyre, Sidon, and
the castles of Margat, Krak and Belda (Baldeh), in which the
Hospitallers still held out. The respite afiorded by the second
crusade of St Louis was ended by his death at Tunis in 1270.
On the 3oth of March 1271 the great fortress of Krak, the key
to the county of Tripoli, surrendered after a short siege. The
crusade of Prince Edward of England did little to avert the
ultimate fate of the kingdom, and with it that of the Hospitallers
in the Holy Land. This was merely delayed by the preoccupa-
tions of Bibars elsewhere, and by his death in 1277. In 1280
the Mongols overran northemn Syria; and the Hospitallers
distinguished themselves by two victories against enormous
odds, one over the Turcomans and one over the emir of Krak
(February 1281). The situation, however, was desperate, and
the grand master Nicolas Lorgne, who bad succeeded Hugues
de Revel in 1277, wrote despairing letters of appeal to Edward I.
of England. On the 25th of May 1285, Margat surrendered
to the sultan Kalaun (Mansur Saifaldin). Not even the strong
character and high courage of Jean de Villiers, who succeeded
Nicolas Lorgne as grand master in 1285, could do more than
stave off the ultimate disaster. The Hospitallers assisted in the
vain defence of Tripoli, which fell on the 26th of April 1289.
On the 18th of May 1291 the Mussulmans stormed Acre, the last
hope of the Christians in the Holy Land. Jean de Villiers,
wounded, was carried on board a ship, and sailed to Limisso
in Cyprus. which became the headquarters of the order. For
the remaining two years of his life Jean de Villicrs was occupied
m lttemplmg the reorganization of the shattered order. The

lization in the East was, however, too profound to admit

present all were slain, except five who were taken pri
the vice-master and one other? At the instance of st
Louis, after the conclusion of peace, 25 Hospitallers, together
with the grand master Guillaume de Chiteauneuf, were
relecased ®

- On the withdrawal of St Louis from the Holy Land (April
1254), a war of aggression and reprisals broke out between
Christians and Mussulmans; and no sooner was this ended by a
precarious truce than the Christians fell to quarrelling among
themselves. In the war between the Genoese and Venetians
and their respective partisans, the Hospitallers and Templars
fought on opposite sides. In spite of so great a scandal
and of the hopeless case of the Christian cause, the posses-
sions of the order were largely increased during Guillaume de
Chiteauneuf’s mastership, both in the Holy Land and in

Earope.

Under the grand-mastership of Hugues de Revel, elected
probably in 1255, the menace of a new Tatar invasion led to
serious efforts to secure harmony in the kingdom. In 1258
the Templars, Hospitallers, and Teutonic knights decided to

! Detailed by Le Roulx, Hospilaliers,

* Cartal. ii. No. u)u The Teutom’? kng.hti&nlund to obeZ.
In January 1240 called on _them to explain their insul
ag:anzm (No. 2247 and in March 1241 again ordered them to
submit

n.No :l 4 Cartul. ii. No. 2186,

'NotVillzbnd— name is a corruption of Vieille Brioude
(Le Roulx, Hosp. p. 1 l’)

4 h bas been generally su , on the authority of the chkronica

of Matthcvo( Pam wv. 307-31 1), that the grand-master was

at
7See the y letter, Ce

8 Cartal. ii. Nos. 2540-2541.

, ii. No. 2521.

aready cure. The knights, npmented by the grand dignitaries,
addressed a petition to Pope Boniface VIIL. in 1295 asking for
the appointment of a permancnt council of seven difinilores
to control the grand master, who had become more and moye
autocratic. The pope did not consent; but in a severe letter
to the new grand master, Eudes de Pin, he sternly reproved
him for the irregularities of which he had been guilty.? In 1296
Eudes was succeeded by Guillaume de Villaret, grand prior of
St Gilles, who for three years after his election remained in
Europe, regulating the affairs of the order:. In 1300, in response
to the urgent remonstrances of the knights, he appeared in
Cypms. In 1299 an unnatural alliance of the Christians and
M gavea ary prospect of re, the Holy Land;
in :300 the Hospitallers took part in the raid of King Henry II.
(de Lusignan) of Cyprus in Egypt, and gained some temporary
successes on the coast of Syria. Of more advantage for the
prestige of the order, however, were the immense additions of
pfoperty and privileges which Guillaume de Villaret had secured
in Europe from the pope and many kings and princes,” and the
reform of the rule and drastic reorganization of the order
promulgated in a series of statutes between 1300 and 1304,
the year of Guillaume’s death™ Of these changes the most
significant was the definition of the powers and status of the
admiral, a new great dignitary created in 1299.

The grand-mastership of Foulques de Villaret, Guillaume’s

? Cartulaire, iii. Nos. t 2 4293; cf. the letter of the chapter
genml to Guillaume de |lhm. iit. No. 4310,
* Le Roulx, Hospilgliers, p. 2, qhe
1 These statutes are prin Cartulaire, iii. Nos. 4515
iv. Nos. 4549 4574, 4612.
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nephew and successor,! was destined to be eventful for the order.
On the sth of June 1305 Bertrand de Got became pope as Clement
V. The new pope consulted the grand master of the Templars
and Hospitallers as to the organization of a new crusade, and
at the same time raised the question of the fusion of the military
orders, a plan which had already been suggested by St Louis, dis-
cussed at the council of Lyonsin 1274, and approved by the pope’s
patron Philip IV, of France. The proposal broke down on the
opposition of Jacques de Molay, grand master of the Temple;
but the desired result was obtained by other and more question-
able means. In October 1307 Philip IV. caused all the Templars
in France, including the grand master, to be arrested on charges
of heresy and gross immorality; Pope Clement V., a creature of
the French king, reluctantly endorsed this action, and at his
instance the other sovereigns of Europe followed the example of
Philip. The famous long-drawn-out trial of the Templars followed,
ending at the council of Vienne in 1314, when Pope Clement
decreed the dissolution of the order of the Temple and at the
same time un;ned the bulk of its property to the Hospital?
(See TempLARS, KNT

Meanwhile an event had occurred which marks an epoch in.
the history of the order of the Hospital. In 1306 Foulques de
Villaret, anxious to find a centre where the order would be
untrammelled by obligations to another power as in Cyprus,
came to an agreement with a pirate named Vignolo de’
Vignoli for a concerted attack on Rhodes and other islands
belonging to the Greek emperor. The exact date of their com-
pleted conquest of the island is uncertain;? nor is it clear that
the grand master took a personal part init. By command of the
pope he had left Cyprus for Europe at the end of 1306 or the
beginning of 1307, and he did not return to the East till late in
1309. He returned, however, not to Cyprus but to Rhodes,and
it is with 1310, th o , when its head ters were established
in the latter island, that the second penod of the history of the
order of the Hospxul opens.!

The Knights in Rhodes.—The history of the order for the next
fifty yearsis very obscure. Certain changes, however, took place
which profoundly modified its character. The most important
of these was its definitive division into “ langues.” The begin-
nings of this had been made long before; but the system was only
legalized by the general chapterat Montpellierin r3so. Hitherto
the order had been a cosmopolitan society, in which the French
element had tended to predominate; henceforth it became a
federation of national societies united only for purposes of com-
merce and war. To the headship of each “ langue ”” was attached
ofle of the great dignitaries of the order, which thus came to
represent, not the order as a whole but the interests of a section.®
The motive of this change was probably, as Prutz suggests,®

1 M. Le Roulx dates his election between the 23rd of November
x and the d:d of November :ﬁos (Hvsp p. 268). and Mai

d to the

who tnndernd some of it to the native military orders. Nor did
the Hospitallers n:ce:ve by any means all of the rest. Philip lV

charged the | ital an bill for exp
in the trial of the Templars, including, as one item, those for torturing
the knights. In France at least the Hospitallers complai that
they were actually out of pocket. See Finke, Papstium und Uukr
gong des Tempelherrenordens, i. ad fin. None less, the
accession of territorial property

great regional Junsdn:nons. noubly that of the priory of St Gilles,
mto new grand priories.

3 The question is dncuned in detail by M. Le Roulx, Hospilalsers,
pp- 278 sqg. He himsel| datn the surrender of the castle es
in 1308. Cf. Hnns Pruu Anuﬁﬁe der Hospitaliter auf Rhodos * in
Sitzungsber. der K sssenschaften (1

).LAbhandlung
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fear of the designs of Philip IV. of France and his successors
to which point had been given by the fate of the Templars, and
the consequent desire to destroy the preponderance of the French
element.?

The character and aims of the order were also profoundly
affected by their newly acquired sovereignty—for the shadowy
overlordship of the Eastern emperor was soon forgotten—and
above all by its seat. The Teutonic order had established its
sovereignty in Prussia, in wide and ill-defined spheres beyond the
north-eastern marches of Germany. The Hospitallers ruled an
island too narrow to monopolize their energies, but occupying
a position of vast commercial and strategic importance. Close
to the Anatolian mainland, commanding the outlet of the
Archipelago, and lying in the direct trade route between Europe
and the East, Rhodes had become the chief distributing point
in the lively commerce which, in spitc of papal thunders, Christian
traders maintained with the Mahommedan states; and in the
new capital of the order representatives to every language and
religion of the Levant jostled, haggled and quarrelied® The
Hospitallers were thus divided between their duty as sovereign,
which was to watch over the interests of their subjects, and their
duty as Christian warriors, which was to combat the Infidel.
In view of the fact that the crusading spirit was everywhere
declining, it is not surprising that their policy was henceforth
directed less by religious than by political and commercial
considerations. Not that they altogether neglected their duty
as protectors of the Cross. Their galleys policed the narrow seas;
their consuls in Egypt and Jerusalem watched over the interests
of pilgrims; their hospitals were still maintained for the service of
the sick and the destitute. But,side by side with this, seculariza-
tion proceeded apace. In 1341 Pope Clement VI. wrote to the
grand master denouncing the luxury of the order and the misuse
of its funds; in 1355 Innocent VI. sent the celebrated Juan
Fernandez de Heredia, castellan of Amposta and grand com-
mander of Aragon, as his legate to Rhodes, armed with a bull
which threatened the order with dissolution if it did not reform
itself and effect a settlement in Turkey. In 1348, indeed, the
Hospitallers, in alliance with Venice and Cyprus, had captured
Smytna; but the chief outcome of this had been commercial
treaties with their allies. Such treaties were, in fact, a matter of
life and death; for the igland was not sclf-supporting, and even
towards the Infidel the attitude of the knights was necessarily
influenced by the fact that their supplies of provisions were
mainly drawn from the Mussulman mainland. By the 1sth
century their crusading spirit had grown so weak that they even
attempted to negotiate a commercial treaty with the Ottoman
sultan; the project broke down on the refusal of the knights to
accept the sultan’s suzerainty.

The earlier history of the Hospitallers bristles with obscure
questions on which modern scholarship (notably the labours of
Delaville Le Roulx) has thrown new light. From 1355 onward,
however, the case is diffcrent; the essential facts have been
established by writcrs who were able to draw on a mass of
well-ordered materials.

Their history during the two centuries of the occupation of
Rhodes, so far as its general interest for Europe is concerned,
is that of a long series of naval attacks and counter-attacks; its
chief outcome, for which the European states owed a debt of
gratitude but ill acknowledged, the postponement for some two
centuries of the ap ce of the Ot as a first-rate
naval power in the Mcditerranean. The seaward advance of
Osman the Turk was arrested by their victories; in 1358 they
successfully defended Smyrna; in ‘1365 under. their grand
master Raymond Béranger (d. 1374), and in alliance with the
king of Cyprus, they captured and burned Alexandria. The
Ottoman peril, however, grew ever more imminent, and in 1395,
under their grand muler Philibert de Naillac, the Hospitallers

T Philip IV. d the ch or this reason,

Pruu.Dle ichen Rulmmicn 358sqq. Co Pare thcdwmonol
the councils of Basel and Constance into * nations.”
the | lations made, soon after the capture of the island,

in tbe Capitsla Rods, a {ragment of a code, published by Ewald in
Neues Archiv iv. pp. 265-269
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shared in the disastrous defeat of Nicopolis. The invasion
followed of Timur the Tatar, invited to his aid by the Eastern
emperor Sultan Bayezid, the victor of Nicopolis, was over-
thrown, but Timur turned against the Christians and in 1402
captured Smyrna, putting the Hospitallers who defended it to
the sword. It was after this disaster that the knights built, on
a narrow promontory jutting from the mainland opposite the
island of Kos, the fortress of St Peter the Liberator. The castle,
which still stands, its name corrupted into Budrun (from Bedros,
Peter), was long a place of refuge for Christians flying from
slavery! Some years later the position of the order as a Mediter-
ranean sea-power was strengthened by commercial treaties with
Venice, Pisa, Genoa, and even with Egypt (1423). The zenith of
its power was reached a few years later, when, under the grand
master Jean Bonpar de Lastic, it twice defeated an Egyptian
attack by sea (1440 and 1444). A new and more imminent peril,
however, arose with the capture of Constantinople by the Turks
in 1453, for Mah d II. had ed his intention of
making Rhodes his next objective. The attack was delayed
for twenty-seven years by the sultan's wars in south-eastern
Europe; and meanwhile, in 1476, Pierre d'Aubusson (g.9.), the
second great hero of the order, had been elected grand master.
Under his inspiration, when in June 1480 the Turks, led by three
rencgades, attacked the island, the knights made so gallant a
resistance that, in July, after repeated and decisive repulses, the
Turks retreated. In 1503 Pierre d’Aubusson was succeeded by
Aymar d'Amboise, who directed a long series of naval battles.
In 1521 the famous Philippe de Villiers de I'Isle d’Adam was
elected grand master, just as the drcaded sultan Sulei the
Magnificent directed his attack on Rhodes. In 1522 he besieged
the island, reinforcements failed, the European powers sent no
assistance, and in 1523 the knights capitulated, and withdrew
with all the honours of war to Candia (Crete). The emperor
Charles V., when the news was brought to him, exclaimed,
“ Nothing in the world has been so well lost as Rhodes!” But
he refused to assist the grand master in his plans for its recovery,
and instead, five years later (1530), handed over to the Hospi-
tallers the island of Malta and the fortress of Tripoli in Africa.
The Knights in Malta.—The settlement of the Hospitallers
in Malta was’ contemporaneous with the Reformation, which
profoundly affected the order. The master and knights of the
bailiwick of Brandenburg accepted the reformed religion, without,
however, breaking off all ion with the order (see below).
In England, on the other hand, the refusal of the grand prior
and knights to acknowledge the royal supremacy led to the
confiscation of their estates by Henry VIIL., and, though not
formally suppressed, the English “ langue " practically d
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Turkish attack. On the 18th of May 1565 the Ottoman fleet,
under Dragut, appeared before the city, and one of the most
famous sieges in history began? It was ultimately raised on
the 8th of September, on the app e of a large relieving
force despatched by the Spanish viceroy of Sicily, after Dragut
and 25,000 of his followers had fallen. The memory of La
Vallette, the hero of the siege, who died in 1568, is preserved
in the city of Valletta, which was built on the site of the struggle.

In 1571 the knights shared in the victory of Lepanto; but
this crowning success was followed during the 17th century by
a long period of depression, due to internal dissensions and cul-
minating during the Thirty Years’ War, the position of the order
being seriously affected by the terms of the peace of Westphalia
(1648). The order was also troubled by quarrels with the popes,
who claimed to nominate its officials (a claim rcnounced by
Innocent XII. in 1697), and by rivalry with the Mediterranean'
powers, especially Venice. In Malta itself there were four rival
claimants to independent jurisdiction: the grand master, the
bishop of Malta, the grand inquisitor, whose office was instituted
in 1572, and the Society of Jesus, introduced by Bishop Gargallo
in 1592. The order, indeed, saw much fighting: e.g. the
frequent expeditions undertaken during the grand-mastership
of Alof de Vignacourt (1601-1622); the defence of Candia—
which fell after a twenty years’ siege in 1669—under Nicholas
Cottoner, grand master from 1665 to 1680; and, during the
grand mastership of Gregorio Caraffa (1680~1690), a campaign
(1683) with John Sobieski, king of Poland, against the Turks
in Hungary, and the attack in alliance with Venice on the Morea
in 1687, which involved the Hospitallers in the dcfeat at Negro-
pont in 1689. The decline of the order was hastened by the
practice of electing aged grand masters to ensure frequent
vacancies; such were Luiz Mendez de Vasconcellos (1622-1623)
and Antonio da Paula (1623-1636) and Giovanni Paolo Lascaris
(de Castellar), in 1636, who died twenty-one years later at the
age of ninety-seven. The character of the order at this date
became more exclusively aristocratic, and its wealth, partly
acquired by commerce, partly derived from the contributions
of the commanderies scattered throughout Europe, was enormous.
The wonderful fortifications, planned by French architects
and improved by every grand master in turn, the gorgeous
churches, chapels and auberges, the great library founded in
1650, were the outward and visible sign of the growth of a
corresponding luxury in the private life of the order. Neverthe-
less, under Raymond Perellos de Roccaful (1697-1720) and
Antonio Manoel de Vilhena (1722-1736), the knights restored
their prestige in the Mediterranean by victories over the Turks.
In174: E le Pinto de Fonseca, a man of strong character,

to exist.? The knights of Malta, as they came to be known,
none the less continued their vigorous warfare. Under Pierre
du Pont, who succeeded Villiers de I'Isle d'Adam in 1534, they
took a conspicuous part in Charles V's attack on Goletta and
Tunis (1535). In 1550 they defeated the redoubtable corsair
Dragut, but in 1551 their position in Tripoli, always precarious,
became untenable and they capitulated to the Turks under
Dragut, concentrating their forces in Malta. In 1557 Jean
Parisot de la Vallette (1494-1548) was elected grand master,
and under his vigorous rule strenuous efforts were made to put
the defences of Malta into a fit state to resist the expected

1 There is a reduction of a photograph of the castle in Bedford
and Holbeche's Order of the Hospital, p. 20. The building matcrials
were largely taken from the Mausoleum of Halicarnassus.

2 The great priory church at Clerkeawell in London was almost
wholly destroyed by the Protector Somerset, who used the materials
for his palace in the Strand. Only the great gateway, spanning St
ohn Street, now survives above ground of the priory buildings.

is the bead: s of the revived English * langue.’ Sir John

inh the ters of the order in

became grand master. He expelled the Jesuits, resisted papal
encroachments on his authority and, refusing to summon the
general chapter, ruled as a despot.

Emanuel, prince de Rohan, who was elected grand master in
succession to Francesco Jimenes de Texada in 1775, made
scrious efforts to revive the old spirit of the order. Under
him, for the first time since 1603, a general chapter was convoked;
the orders of St Anthony and St were incorporated,
and the statutes were revised and codified (1782). In 1782 also
Rohan, with the approval of George III. established the new
Anglo-Bavarian “Jangue.” The last great expedition of the
Maltese galleys was worthy of the noblest traditions of the
order; they were sent to carry supplies for the sufferers from the
great earthquake in Sicily. They had long ceased to be effec-
tive fighting ships, and survived mainly as gorgeous state barges
in which the knights sailed on ceremonial pleasure trips.

The French Revolution was fatal to the order. Rohan made
no secret of his sympathy with the losing cause in France, and
Malta became a refuge-place for the émigrés. In 1792 the vast

jons of the order in France were confiscated, and six

Rawson, prior of Kil quarte
land, pted the royal sup y and was created Lord Cloritarf,
a1 the duke of Ormonde d the p hospital on the
ste thenncitnt%’l‘be, ptory of Torphichen, head-
quarters of the order in Scotland, was surrendered in 1547 b{ the
or Sir James Sandilands of Calder, who was created
ichen. "As *‘ Lord of St John " he had had precedence of all
the barons of Scotland, and this right—originally exercised as a
iritual ined by him and his successors.
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;un later the Directory resolved on the forcible seizure of Malta

3In Protestant England public prayers were offered for the
success of the knights.  Yect a few ycars later Queen Elizabeth was
seeking the alliance of the sultan uﬁmpst Spain, on the ground of
their |~-- as inst ** the idol "
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itself. Roban had died in 1797, and his feeble successor, Baron
Ferdinand von Hompesch,! though fully warned, made no
preparations to resist. In the early summer of 1798, after a
siege of only a few days, he surrendered the island, with its
impregnable fortifications, to Ronaparte, and retired ignomini-
ously to Trieste, carrying with him the precious relics of the
order—the hand of St John the Baptist presented by the sultan
Bayezid, the miraculous image of Our Lady of Philermq, and
a fragment of the true cross.

With this the history of the order of St John practically ends.
Efforts were, however, made to preserveit. Many of the knights
had taken refuge at the court of Paul I. of Russia, with whom
in 1797 Hompesch had made an alliance. In October 1798
these elected the emperor Paul grand master, and in the following
year Hompesch was induced to resign in his favour. The half-
mad tsar took his new functions very seriously, but his murder
in 1801 ruined any hope of recovering Malta with Russian
assistance. A chapter of the order now granted the right of
nomination to the pope, who appointed Giovanni di Tommasi
grand master. From his death in 1805 until 1879, when Leo
XIII. restored the title of grand master in favour of Fra Giovanni
Ceschi a Santa ‘Croce, the heads of the order received only the
title of lieutenant master. In 1814 the French knights summoned
a chapter general and elected a permanent commission for the
government of the order, which was recognized by the Italian
and Spanish knights, by the pope and by King Louis XVIII.
In the Italian states much of the property of the order was
restored at the instance of Austria, and in 1841 the emperor
Ferdinand founded the d ﬁoty oi Inmbudo-Venehl.

Present Constitution

the
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derive their origin from
Jvhannucrwdn and the Enﬂ;h Older ol St ]ohn of Jerunlem

.umu- ean de Jtnunkn (uoo-lslo). fo!io Thu gives (l) all
gmcumenn :;ltehr;or to ll all those m&aﬁ from the gtnt
unu t those emanat popes, em:
eror tonu. (4) those 'nh(.ch fix the dned

Of these the Prussian order interesting history. At | perors, kings and put l

the Rdormanon the master and kmghud the btlhwu:k of Branden- | the fonndlnon of particular (s) those muhtmg the
burg ad d the new ike other | relations of the Hospitallers mth the hy and eeclshn authorities
Rilterstifter, to enjoy their corporate rights; they even 'continued | and with the other military orders, (6) the rules, statutes and
to acknowledge the jurisdiction of the grand of the Gemnu customs of the order. Hitherto unpublished documents (from the
lapgue, ‘in so far as the conﬁmndon of hives of Malta and elsewhere) are publnhed m full those alrudy

, and to send their tothe fundd rublidwd , and the place where they may be fou m“ na
n proper sequence. Based on the Camllam

. 1 He was the only German in the list of grand masters.
* So because the dignitaries wore a larger cross than the
generality of the knights.

'SeeBedfotd and Holbeche, Appendix D.
¢ The medieval vows are, of course, not taken.
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Hospitalis Terre Sainte et Pari , an invaluable
-ﬂ'ﬂ' ':‘ht‘: ::y mm:.'ma’f."mm( mfn:ql?:) .wn“ u:.d,

may menti ‘Taaffe’s History of the Order
1853); J. M. Kemble's Historical introduction to The Knsghls
0! s gland (Camden Soc., London, 1857); W. Porter,
Malia {2 vols. 1858, new ed. 1883); Bedford

g sn En
Hist. l'? the Km’% z'
and Holbeche, der of the Hospital of St Jokn of Jerusalem
(1902), for the modern order. LA P.
ST JOHNS, the capital of Newfoundland, situated on the east
coast of the island, in the peninsula of Avalon,in 47° 33°54°N.,
and §2° 40" 18” W. It is the most easterly city of America, only
1700 m. from Queenstown in Ireland, and 2030 from Liverpool.
It stands on rising ground on the north side of a land-locked
harbour, which opens suddenly in the lofty iron-bound coast.
The entrance, known as The Narrows, guarded by Signal Hill
(520 ft.) and South Side Hill (620 ft.), is about 1400 ft. wide,
narrowing to 6oo ft. between Pancake and Chain Rocks. At
the termination of the Narrows the harbour trends suddenly to
the west, thus completely shutting out the ocean swell. Vessels
of the largest tonnage can enter at all periods of the tide. There
is good wharf acc dation and a well-equipped dry dock.
St Johns practically polizes the c ¢ of the island (see
NEWZOUNDLAND), being the centre of the cod, seal and whale
fisheries. The chief industries are connected with the fitting out
of the fishing vessels, or with the disposal and manufacture
of their catch. Steamship lines run to Liverpool, New York,
Halifax (N.S.) and Saint Pierre. Nearly all the commerce of the
island is sea-borne, and well-equipped steamers connect St Johns
with the numerous bays and outports. It is the castern terminus
of the government railway across the island to Port-aux-Basques,
whence there is [ jon with the mainland at Sydney.

The finest buildings in the city are the Anglican and Roman,

Catholic cathedrals. Education is controlled by the various
religious bodies; many of the young men complete their studies
in Canada or Great Britain. St Johns is not an incorporated
town. A municipal council was abolished after having largely
increased the debt of the city, and it is now governed by com-
missioners appointed by the governor in council.

St Johns was first settled by Devonshire fishermen early in
the 16th century. It was twice sacked by the French, and
captured by them in the Seven Years’ War (1762), but recaptured
in the same year, since when it has remaincd in British possession.
Both in the War of American Independence and in that of 1812
it was the headquarters of the British fleet, and at one time the
western end of the harbour was filled up with American prizes.
The old city, built entircly of wood, was twice destroyed by fire
(18161817 and 1846). Half of it was again swept away in 1892,
but new and more substantial buildings have been erected.

The population, chiefly of the Roman Catholic faith and of
Irish descent, increases slowly. In 1gor the electoral district
of St Johns contained 39,994 inhabitants, of whom 30,486 were
within the limits of the city.

ST JOHNS, a town and port of entry of Quebec, Canada, and
capital of St Johns county, 27 m. S.E. of Montreal by rail, on
the river Richelicu and at the head of the Chambly canal. Pop.
(1901) 4030. A large export trade in lumber, grain and farm
produce is carried on, and its mills and factories produce flour,
silk, pottery, hats, &c. Three railways, the Grand Trunk,
Canadian Pacific and Central Vermont, enter St Johns. On the
opposite bank of the river is the flourishing town of St Jean
d'Iberville (usually known simply as Iberville), connected with
St Johns by several bri

SAINT JOHNSBURY, a township and the county-seat of
Caledonia county, Vermont, U S.A., on the Passumpsic river,
about 34 m E.N E. of Montpelier Pop. (1890) 6567; (1900)
g010; (1970) 8098; of the village of the same name (1900)
5666 (1309 foreign-born); (1910) 6693. Area of the township,
about 47 sq. m. Saint Johnsbury is served by the Boston &
Maine and the Saint Johnsbury & Lake Champlain railways.
The farms of the township are devoted largely to dairying. In
the village are a Y.M.C.A. building (1885); the Saint Johnsbury
Academy (1842), the Saint Johnsbury Athemaeum (1871), with
& library (about 18,000 volumes in 190g) and an art gallery;
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the Fairbanks Museum of Natural Science (1891), founded by
Colonel Franklin Fairbanks; St Johnsbury Hospital (189s);
Brightlook Hospital (1899, private); the large scales manu-
factory of the E. & T. Fairbanks Company (see FAIRBANKS,
*Ezastus), and also manufactories of agricultural implements,
steam hammers, granite work, furniture and carriages. There
are two systems of water-works, onc being owned by the village.

The township of Saint Johnsbury was granted to Dr Jonathan
Amold (1741-1793) and associates in l7§6; in the same year a
settlement was established and the place was named in honour of
Jun Hector Saint John de Crévecceur (|7'u-|8|;). who wrote

Lellers of am American Farmer (1782), a glowing description of
America, which brought thither many immigrants, and who intro-
duced potato planting into France. e township government was
ofganized in 1790, and the vi was incorporated in 1853.

ST JOHN’S WORT, in botany, the general name for species of
Hypericum, especially H. perforatum, small shrubby plants with
slender stems, sessile opposite leaves which are often dotted with
pellucid glands, and showy yellow flowers. H. Androsacnium
is Tutsan (Fr. fout saine), so called from its healing properties.
H. calycsnum (Rose of Sharon), a creeping plant with large almost
solitary flowers 3 to 4 in. across, is a south-east European plant
which has become naturalized in Britain in various places in
hedges and thickets.

. SAINT JOSEPH, a city and the county-seat of Berrien county,

Michigan, U.S.A., on Lake Michigan at the mouth of the Saint
Joseph river, near the S.W. corner of the state. Pop. (1890)
3733, (1900) stss, of whom 1183 were foreign-born, (1910
U S. census) 5936. It is served by the Michigan Central and the
Pére Marquette railways, by electric interurban railway to South
Bend, Indiana, and by a steamboat line to Chicago. Benton
Harbor, about 1 m. S.W., with which St Joseph is connected by
electric line, is a terminus of the Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago
& St Louis railway. The U.S. government has deepened the
harbour channel to 18 ft.; and the St Joseph river has been
made navigable for vessels drawing 3 ft. from St Joseph to
Berrien Springs (25 m. by river). A canal, 1 m. long, extends
from the upper part of the harbour to Benton Harbor. St
Jaseph has a public library. The city is a summer and health
resort; it has mineral (saline sulphur) springs and a large
mineral-water bath house. The general offices and the hospital
(1902) of the Michigan Children’s Home Society are here. The
city has an important trade in fruit,and has various manu-
factures, including paper, fruit packages, baskets, motor boats,
gasolene launches, automobile supplies, hosiery and knit goods,
air guns and sashes and blinds. The municipality ownsand
operates its water-works and electric-lighting plant.

On or near the site of the present city La Salle built in 1679 Fort
Miami. In the same county, on or near the site of the nt city
of Niles (pop. 1910, 5156), French Jesuits established an Indian
mission in 1690, and the French government in 1697 erected Fort

oscph, which was captured fram the English by the Indians
in 176,25 and in 1781 was seized by a Spanish party from St Louis.
Fort Miami has often been confused with this Fort St Joseph, 60 m,
farther up the river St Joseph was scttled in 1829, incorporated”
as a village in 1836 and first chartered as a city in 1

SAINT JOSEPH, a city and the county-seat of Buchanan
county, Missouri, U.S.A., and a port of entry, situated in the
north-western corner of the statc on the E. bank of the Missouri
river. It is the third in size among the cities of the statc. Pop.
(1880) 32,431; (1890) 53,324; (1900) 102,979, of whom
8424 were forcign-born and 6260 were negroes; (1910 census)
77,403. St Joseph is a transportation centre of great import-
ance. It is scrved by six railways, the Atchison, Topeka &
Santa Fé, the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy, the Chicago Great
Western, the Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific, the Missouri
Pacific, and the St Joseph & Grand Island; in addition there
are two termifal railways. A steel bridge across the Missouri
(built in 1872; rebuilt in 1906) connects the city with Elwood,
Kansas (pop. 1910, 636), and is used by two railways. The
city is laid out on hills above the bluffs of the river. The site
was completely remade, howcver (especially in 1866-1873),
and the entire business portion has been much graded down.
The principal public buildings are the Federal building, the
court house, an auditorium scating 7000, a Union Station and 3
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public library. There are six city parks, of which the largest
are Krug Park (30 acres) and Bartlett Park (20 acres). The
State Hospital (No. 2) for the Insane(opened 1874) is immediately
E. of St Joseph; in the city are the Ensworth, St Joseph and
Woodson hospitals, a Memorial Home for needy old people and
the Home for Little Wanderers. South St Joseph, a manu-
facturing suburb, has a library and so has the northern part
of the city. The great stock-yards of South St Joseph arc sights
of great interest. In 1909 the state legislature provided for a
commission form of government which took effect in April
1910; & council of five, elected by the city at large, has only
Izg:shnve powers; the mayor appoints members of a utilities
commission, a park commission and a board of public works,
and all officers except the city auditor and treasurer; and the
charter provides for the initiative, the referendum and the
recall. The city maintains a workhouse (1882), also two market
houses, and owns and manages an electric-lighting plant. Natural
gas is also furnished to the city from oil-fields in Kansas. A
private company owns the watcr-works, first built in 1879 and
since greatly improved. The water is drawn from the Missouri,
3 m. above the city, and is pumped thence into reservoirs and
settling basins. Beside the local trade of a rich surrounding
farming country, the railway facilities of St Joscph have enabled
it to build up a great jobbing trade (especially in dry goods),
and this is still the greatest economic intercst of the city.
Commerce and transport were the only distinctive basis of the
city’s growth and wealth until after 18go, when there was a
great increase in manufacturing, especially, in South St Joseph,
of the slaughtering and meat-packing industry in the last three
years of the decade. In 19oo the manufactured product of the
city and its immediate suburbs was valued at $31,690,736, of
which $19,009,332 were credited to slaughtering and packing.
In the decade of 18901900 the increase in the value of manu-
factures (165:9%) was almost five times as great in St Joseph
as in any other of the largest four cities of the state, and this
was due almost entirely to the growth of the slaughtering and
mcat-packing business, which is for the most part located outside
the municipal limits. In 190g the census reports did not include
manufactures outside the actual city limits; the total value of
the factory product of the city proper in 1905 was $11,573,720;
besides slaughtering and packing the other manufactures in
1905 included men's factory-made clothing (valued at $1,556,655)
flourand grist-mill products (valued at $683,464),saddlcry and har-
ness (valued at $524,918), confectionery (8437,096), malt liquors
($407,054), boots and shou (8 so,ih) and hrm ir-'

In 1826 Joseph Robidou:

a trading post on the site oi St Joseph. Fol|owm
from the Indians of the country, now known as the |
in 1836 g --*+'-—=-=* === -1p about this trading pc
of bia'pe
and in lp;
centre of
and othe:
coast. D
but local
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f: °s’=°f§mw 1909, at
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ST JUNIEN, a town of west-central France in the department
of Haute-Vienne, on the right bank of the Vienne, 26 m. W. by
N. of Limoges on the railway from Limoges to Angouléme.
Pop. (1906) town, 8484; commune, 11,400. The 12th century
collegiate church, a fine example of the Romanesque style of
Limousin, contains a richly sculptured tomb of St Junien, the
hermit of the 6th century from whom the town takes its name
Another interesting building is the Gothic chapel of Notre-Dame,
with three naves, rebuilt by Louis XI., standing close to a
medieval bridge over the Vienne. The town, which ranks second
in the department in population and industry, is noted for
leather-dressing and the manufacture of gloves and straw paper.

SAINT-JUST, ANTOINE LOUIS LEON DE RICHEBOURG
PB (2767-1794), French revolutionary leader, was borp at
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Decize in the Nivernais on the 2sth of August 1767. At the
outbreak of the Revolution, intoxicated with republican ideas,
he threw himsclf with enthusiasm into politics, was elected an
officer in the National Guard of the Aisne, and by fraud—he
being yet under age—admitted as a member of the electoral
assembly of his district. Early in 1789 he had published twenty
cantos of licentious verse, in the fashion of the time, under the
title of Organt au Vatican. Henceforward, however, he assumed
a stoical demeanour, which, united to a policy tyrannical
and plulasly thorough, became the characteristic of his life.
He d into cor e with Robespierre, who, flattercd
by his worship,admitted him to his friendship. Thus supported,
Saint-Just became deputy of the department of Aisne to the
National Convention, where he made his first speech on the
condemnation of Louis XVI.—gloomy, fanatical, remorseless
in tone—on the 13th of November 1792. Inthe Convention,
in the Jacobin Club, and among the populace his relations with
Robespierre became known, and he was dubbed the “ St John
of the Messiah of the People.” His appointment as a member
of the Committee of Public Safety placed him at the centre of
the political fever-heat. In the name of this committec he was
charged with the drawing up of reports to the Convention upon
the absorbing themes of the overthrow of the party of the Gironde
(report of the 8th of July 1793), of the Hérbertists, and finally,
of that denunciation of Danton which consigned him and his
followers to the guillotine. What were then called :cports were
rather appeals to thc passions, in Saint-Just's hands they
furmshcd the occasion for a dlsplay of fanatical daring, of gloomy
e, and of und ed genius; and—with the shadow of
Robespnerre behind him—they served their turn. Camille
Desmoulins, in jest and mockery, said of Saint-Just—the
youth with the beautiful countenance and the long fair locks—
‘“ He carrics his head like a Holy Sacrament.” “And I,”
savagely replied Saint-Just, “ will make him carry his like a
Saint Denis.” The threat was not vain. Dcsmoulins accom-
panied Danton to the scaffold. The same ferocious inflexibility
znimated Saint-Just with reference to the external policy of
France. He proposed that the National Convention should
itself, through its committees, direct all military movements
and all branches of the government (report of the xoth of October
1793). This was agreed to, and Saint-Just was despatched to
Strassburg, in company with another dcputy, to superintend
the military operations. It was suspected that the enemy
without was being aidcd by treason within. Saint-Just's remedy
was direct and tcrrible: he followed his expericnce in Paris,
“ organized the Terror,” and soon the heads of all suspects sent
to Paris were falling under the guillotine. But there were no
executions at Strassburg, and Saint-Just reprcssed the excesses
of J. G. Schncider (g.v ), who as public prosccutor to the revolu-
tionary tribunal of the Lower Rhine had ruthlessly applied the
Terror in Alsace. Schneider was sent to Paris and guillotined
The conspiracy was defeated, and the armies of the Rhine and
Moselle having been inspirited by success—Saint-Just himself
taking a fearless part in the actual fighting—and having effected
a junction, the frontier was dclivered and Germany invaded.
On his return Saint-Just was made president of the Convention
Later, with the army of the North, he placed before the generals
the dilemma of victory over the encmics of France or trial by
the dreaded revolutionary tribunal; and before the eyes of the
army itself he organized a force specially charged with the
slaughter of those who should seck refuge by flight. Succcss
again crowned his efforts, and Bclgium was gained for France
(May, 1794). Meanwhile affairs in Paris looked gloomicr than
ever, and Robespierre recalled Saint-Just to the capital. Saint-
Just proposed a dictatorship as the only 1cmedy for the con-
vulsions of society. At last, at the famous sitting of the oth
Thermidor, he ventured to present as the report of the com-
mittees of Gencral Security and Public Safety a document
expressing his own views, a sight of which, however, had been
refused to the other members of committee on the previous
evening. Then the storm broko. He was vehemently inter-
rupted, and the sitting ended with an order for Robespierre’s
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arrest (see Roszseizarx). On the following day, the 28th of

21

its climate is cool and dry (temperature between 78° and 8s° F.;
average annual rainfall 38 in.). The circle of land formed by
the skirts of the mountains, and the valley of Basseterre con-
stitute nearly the whole of the cultivated portion. The higher
slopes of the hills afford excellent pasturage, while the summits

July t794, twenty-two men, nearly all young, were were guillotined.
Saint-Just maintained his proud self- jon to the last.

. Sce Buvves de Saint-Just, une notice hislorique sur s
we (Paris, l:;trlsm: E. Ty, s révolutionnaires (2 vols.,

g, wia ok il Fleary (Poasy palligacs. o ressnisonnasrer)
E. Han'd. Histoge & Saint-Just (1859), which bmnlht s fine to the
r u,i&:.-::'“'*., A od o, Pari, 1905 The
com dited with notes by

pnrlamh:ydavmo(ComunEndnd 7% m. by road W.
of Penzance. Pop.olurhnduum(noox)m This is the
most westerly town in England, lying in a wild district 1 m.
Comwall, which is 4 m. N. of Land’s End.
Tbemhndnuiahsnnmotﬁ”mmdinduduthe
small industrial colonies near some of the most important mines
The Levant mine is the chief, the workings extend-
Traces of ancient workinpndnvenl
i seen. The church of St Just is Per-
pendicular, with portions of the fabric of earlier date. There are
minso(mmtorydedmudw&ﬂdmonCcpeComwnﬂ.
8T city of Bourke county, Victoria, Australia,
3 m.bynils.ol,u.ndmbmhn to, Melbourne. Pop. (1901)

ST KILDA (Gaelic Hirla, * the western land ”'), the largest
of a small group of about sixteen islets of the Outer Hebrides,
Inverness-shire, Scotland. It is included in the civil parish of
Harris, and is situated 40 m. W. of North Uist. It measures
s m. from E. to W. and 2 m. from N. to S., has an area of about
3500 acres, and is 7 m. in circumference. Except at the landing-
place on the south-east, Lbechﬂsnlelheuwto(deepntet,
and on the north-east side the eminence in the island,
Conagher, Iormupudpkeu:oh high. Stxﬂdlhprobubly
volcano, but, besides volcanic rocks, contains
i stratification is distinct. The

(110 in 1851 and 77 in 1901), cultivate about 40 acres of land
(potatoes, oats, barley), keep about 1000 sheep and a few head
of cattle. They catch puffins, fulmar petrels, guillemots, razor-
bnds,lhnxsbarwummdlohn(eueboth(onhdroﬂmd
for food. Fishing is generally neglected. Coarse tweeds and
blanketing are manufactured for home use from the lheeps

of ** sea messages,” which are despatched in boxes when a strong

west wind is blowing, and generally make the western islands
uminhndofScothndmaweek.

'nnnlmdhabatnin of the Macleods for hundreds

In1: thecllidol that day sold it, but in 1871 Macleod

dﬁ lendbozztnbu:k it is stated, for £3000. In 1724 the popu-

htmmteducedbymﬂpaxtothmymh They a rw
caatch what is called the * boat-cold undbytbeamval
bmu.andatoneumthechﬂdmml wvcrelyfromaformo(
hclz)a'knovna!he ldl 3

See works by Donal udtlnldeo(lsss)
Martin (1 ).R:v K.Mauuhy 1764).R-Connel (1887); Mise
Goodrich-Freer, n,
WubN-McnlcCam(l

'| bred. Primary education is compulsory.

are cr d with dense woods. Sugar, molasses, rum, salt,
coffee and tobacco are the chief products; horses and cattle are
‘The principal towns
are Old Road, Sandy Point and the capital Buetcne, which
lies on the S.W. coast (pop. about xo,ooo) One good main road,
macadamized throughout, encircles the island. The locll
legislature consists of 6 official and 6 unofficial members nomin-
ated by the Crown. St Kitts was discovered by Columbus in
1493 and first settled by Sir Thomas Wamner in 1623. Fiveyears
later it was divided between the British and the French, but at
the Peace of Utrecht in 1713 it was entirely ceded to the British
Crown. Population, mostly negroes, 29,782.

SAINT-LAMBERT, JEAN FRANCOIS DE (17:16-1803), French
poet, was born at Nancy on the 26th of December 1716. He
entered the army and, when Stanislaus Leszczynski was estab-
lisbed in 1737 as duke of Lorraine, he became an official at his
court at Lunéville. He left the army after the Hanoverian
campaign of 1756~57, and devoted himself to literature, producing
a volume of descriptive verse, Les Saisons (1769), now never
read, many articles for the Encyclopédie, and some miscellaneous
worlu. He was admitted to the Academy in 1770. His fame,
however, comes chiefly from his amours. He was already high
in the favour of the marquise de Boufflers, Stanislaus’s mistress,
whom he addressed in his verscs as Doris and Thémire, when
Voltaire in 1748 came to Lunéville with the marquise de Chatelet.
Her infatuation for him and its fatal termination are known to
all readers of the life of Voltaire. His subsequent liaison with
Madame d’Houdetot, Rousscau’s Sophie, though hardly less
disastrous to his rival, continued for the whole lives of himself
and his mistress. Saint-Lambert's later years were given to
philosophy. He published in 1798 the Principe des mawurs ches
loutes les nalions om catéchisme wunmiversel, and published his
Ewvres philosophiques (1803), two years be(ote his death on the
oth of February 1803. Madame d’Houdetot survived until the
28th of January 1813.

See G. Maugras, La Conr de Lunéoille (1 and La Marguise de
Bow:(lm).ahotheh tundém) with Rousseau and

ST LAWRENCB. The river St Lawrence, in North America,
with the five fresh-water inland seas (see GreAT LAXES), Superior,
Michigan, Huron, Erie and Ontario, forms one of the great river
systems of the world, having a length, from the source of the river
St Louis (which rises near the source of the river Mississippi and
falls into the head of Lake Superior) to Cape Gaspé, where it
empties into the Gulf of St Lawrence, of 2100 m. The ﬁvel' is
here considered as rising at the foot of Lake Ontario, in 44° 10’ N.,
76° 30’ W., where the name St Lawrence is ﬁm applied to it.

The river. to the point where it crosses 45° N. in its north-
westerly course, forms the boundary line between the state of
New York and the province of Ontario; thence to the sea it is
wholly within Canadian territory, running through the province
of Quebec. At Point des Moats, 260 m.. below Quebec, it is
36 m. wide, and where it finally merges into the Gulf of St
Lawrence, 150 m. farther on, it is go m. wide, this stretch being
broken by the large island of Anticosti, lying fairly in the mouth,
The character of the river banks varies with the geological
formations through which it runs. Passing ever the Archacan
rocks of the Laurentian from Kingston to Brockville the shores

are very in-eguhr, and the river is broken up. by pmtmsions of
glaciated summits of the granites and gneisses into a large
number of plcturuque islands, ‘ The Thousand Islands,”
greatly fi as a summer resort. From Brockville to

total length 23 m., area 63 sq. m. Mountains traverse the central
part from N.W. to SE., the greatest height being Mount Misery
(3771 ft.). The island is well watered, fertile and healthy, and

Montreal the river runs through flat-bedded Cambro-silurian

; | limestones, . with rapids at several points, which are all run by

light-draught passenger boats. For the up trip the rapids are
avoided by canalization. From Montreal to Three Rivers the
course is through an alluvial plain over-lying the limestones,
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the river at one point expanding into Lake St Peter, 20 m. long
by 10 m. wide, with a practically uniform depth of 10{t. Below
Three Rivers the banks grow gradually higher until, after passing
Quebec through a cleft in slate rocks of Cambrian age, the river
widens, washing the feet of the Laurentian Mountains on its
north shore; while a more moderately hilly country, terminating
in the Shickshock Mountains of the Gaspé Peninsula, skirts its
south shore.

From Kingston, at the head of the river, to Montreal, a
distance of 170 m., navigation is limited to vessels of 14 ft.
draught by the capacity of the camals. From Montreal to
Quebec, 160 m., & ship channel has been dredged to a depth of
30 ft.; below Quebec the river is tidally navigable by vessels
of any draught. The canals on the St Lawrence above Montreal
have been enlarged to the capacity of the Welland canal, the
improved system having been opened to commerce in the autumn
of 1899. Instead of enlarging the Beauharnois canal, on the south
side of the river, a new canal, the ,”’ was built from
Coteau Landing to Cascades Point, on the north side, the Beau-
harnois canal still being used for small barges. The locks of the

canals are all 45 ft. wide, with an available depth of
14 ft. and a minimum length of 270 ft. The following table
shows the canalized stretches in this portion of the river:—

ST LAWRENCE

to Liverpool via New York involves rail or 7-ft. canal transport
of 496 m. and an ocean voyage of 3034 mautical miles. Via
Montreal there is a 14-ft. transport of 348 m. and river and
ocean voyage of 2772 nautical miles. From Quebec to Liverpool
by Cape Race is 2801 nautical miles, while the routc by Belle
Isle, more nearly a great circle course, usually taken between
July and October, is only 2633 nautical miles. On the other
hand the St Lawrence is not open throughout the year; the
average time between the arrival of the first vessel at Montreal
from sea and the departure of the last ocean vessel is seven
months. From Kingston to Quebec the river freezes over every
winter, except at points where the current is rapid. Below
Quebec, although there is heavy border ice, the river never
freezes over, Fora few winters, while the bridge accommodation
at Montreal was restricted to the old single-track Victoria
bridge, railway freight trains were run across the ice bridge on
temporary winter tracks. Efforts have been made to lengthen
the season of navigation by using specially constructed steamers
to break the ice; and 1t is claimed that the season of navigation
could be materially lengthened, and winter floods prevented
by keeping the river open to Montreal. Winter ferries are
maintained at Quebec, between Prince Edward Island and
Nova Scotia, and between“Newfoundhnd and Sydney, Cape

T In the winterof 1898-1899
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In the stretch between Montreal and Quebec the ship channel,
begun by the Montreal Harbour Commissioners, has been assumed
by the Dominion government as a national work, and improve-
ments, involving extensive dredging, have been undertaken
with the aim of securing everywhere a minimum depth of
3o ft. with a minimum width of 450 ft. The whole river
from Kingston to the sea is well supplied with aids to navi-
gation. In the dredged portions lights are arranged in pairs
of leading lights on foundations sufficiently high and solid
to resist the pressure of ice movement, and there is an elabo-
rate system of fog alarms, gas-lighted and other buoys, as well
as telegraphic, wireless and telephonic communication, storm
signal, weather and ‘ice reporting stations and a life-saving
service.

Montreal, at the head of ocean navigation, the largest city
in Canada, is an important distributing centre for all points in
western Canada, and enjoys an extensive shipping trade with
the United Kingdom, the sea-going shipping exceeding 1,500,000
tons, and the inland shipping approximating 2,000,000 tons,
annually. Quebec is the summer port used by the largest
steamers in the Canadian trade.
towns on both banks of the river, from Kingston, a grain trans-
ferring port, to the sea. Large quantities of lumber, principally
spruce (fir) and paper pulp, are manufactured at small mills
along the river, and shipped over sea directly from the place
of production. The mail steamers land and embark mails
at Rimouski, to or from which they are conveyed by rail along
the south shore.

The importance to Canada of the river St Lawrence as a
national trade route cannot be over-estimated. As a natural
highway between all points west of the Maritime Provinces and
Europe it is unique in permitting ocean traffic to penetrate
1000 m. into the heart of a country. It is, moreover, the shortest
freight route from the Great Lakes to Europe. From Buffalo

There are numerous flourishing | {

) . impounding reservoirs for the ual
distribution of all overflows in the west. At Montreal, soon aiter the
river freezes over each winter, there is a local rise of about 10 ft. in
the level of the water in the harbour, caused by restriction of the
channel by anchor ice; and in the spring of the year, when the volume
of the water is d, this ob i

leads to a further rise, in
1886 reaching a height of 27 ft. above ordinary low water. To
gmeut ng of lower of the city a dike was in 1887

uilt along the river front, which prevented a scrious flooding in
1

enter the Gulf of St Lawrence from the Atlantic chi

through Cabot Strait (between Cape Breton and Newfoundland},
which is 75 m. wide and 250 fathoms deeﬁ. ‘The tide entering throu,
Belle Isle Strait, 10 m. wide and 30 fathoms deep, is com, tivm{
litele fele. The tidal undulation, in passing through the iul?,a:pa s
0 wide}!r as to be almost inappreciable in pl.ue? u;wor example,
at the Magdalen Islands, in the middle of the gulf, where the range
amounts to about 3 ft. at springs, becoming effaced at neaps. There
is also little more tide than this at some points on the north shore

Prince Edward nd. The greatest range is attained in North-
umberland Strait and in Chaleur Bay, where it amounts to 10 ft.
At the entrance to the estuary at Anticosti it has again the oceanic
range of about 6 ft., and proceeds up the estuary with an ever-
increasing range, which attains its maximum of 19 ft. at the lower
end of ns Island, 650 m. from the ocean at Cabot Strait. This
must-be consid the true

of the estuary. At Quebec, 30 m.

arther up, the rangs s parly, b frea but ac 4o m. shove Divcbe
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from the ocean.

The St Lawrence provides ample water-power, which is being
increasingly used. Its rapids have long been used for milling and
factory purposes; a wing dam on the north side of Lachine Rapids
furnishes electricity to Montreal; the falls of Montmorency light
Quebec and run electric street cars; and from Lake Superior to
the gulf there are numerous points on the tributaries to the St
Lawrence where power could be used.

Nearly all the rivers flowing into the St Lawrence below
Quebec are stocked with salmon (Salmo salar), and are preserved
and leased to anglers by the provincial government. In the salt
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water of the gulf and lower river, mackerel, cod, herring, smelt,
sea-trout, striped bass and other fish are caught for market.

The St Lawrence is spanned by the following railway bridges:
(1) A truss bridge built near Cornwall in 1goo by the New York
& Ottawa railroad, now operated by the New York Central
railroad. (2) A truss bridge with a swing, built in 1890 by the
Canada Atlantic railway at Coteau Landing. (3) A cantilever
bridge built in 1887 by the Canadian Pacific railway at Caugh-
pawaga. (4) The Victoria Jubilee bridge, built as a tubular
bridge by the Grand Trunk railway in 1860, and transformed
into a truss bridge in 1897-1898. The new bridge rests on the
piers of the old one, enlarged to receive it, is 6592 ft. long by
67 ft. wide, has 35 sp.ns, double railway and trolley tracks,
dr and si s, and was erected without interruption
of traffic. (s) A very large cantilever bridge, having a central
span of 1800 ft., crosses the river at a point 7 m. above Quebec.
The southern half of the superstructure, while in course of
erection in Augun 1907, fell, killing 78 men, and necessitating a
serious dehy in the completion of the work.

The river St L was diso d by Ji Cartier,
commissioned by the king of France to explore and trade on the
American coast. Cartier entered the'strait of Belle Isle in 1534;
but Breton fishermen had previously resorted there in summer
and penetrated as far as Brest, elcven leagues west of Blanc
Sablon, the dividing line bet ween Quebec and Labrador.  Cartier
circled the whole gulf, but missed the entrance to the river. On
his second voyage in 1536 he named a bay on the north shore
of the gulf, which be entered on the 1oth of August, the feast
of St Lawrence, Baye Sainct Laurens, and the name gradually
extended over the whole river, though Cartier himself always
wrote of the River of Canada. Early in September, he reached
“ Canada,” now Quebec, and on the 2nd of October reached
Hochelaga, now Montreal. No permanent settlement was then
made. The first, Tadousac, at the mouth of the Saguenay, was
established by Champlain in 1603, and Quebec was settled by
him in 1608. Between that time and 1616 Champlain explored
the whole river system as far west as Lake Huron, reaching it
by way of the Ottawa tiver, and taking possession of the country
in the name of the king of France. It became British by the
treaty of Paris, in 1763.
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ST LEGER, SIR ANTHONY (c. 1496-1559), lord deputy of
Ireland, eldest son of Ralph St Leger, a gentleman of Kent, was
educated abroad and at Cambridge. He quickly gained the
favour of Henry VIII., and was appointed in 1537 president of a
commission for inquiring into the condition of Ireland. This
work be carried out with ability and obtained much useful
knowledge of the country. In 1540 he was appointed lord
deputy of Ireland. His first task was to repress disorder, and
be at once proceeded with severity

gainst the K ghs, per- | C
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was created ead of Tyrone; and administrative council was
instituted in the province of Munster; and in 1544 a levy of
Irish soldiers was raised for service in Henry VIIL's wars.
St Leger's personal influence was proved by an outbreak of
disturbance when he visited England in 1544, and the prompt
restoration of order on his return some months later. St Leger
retained his office under Edward VI., and again effectually
quelled attempts at rebellion by the O’Conors and O’Byrnes.
From 1548 to 1550 he was in England. He returned charged
with the duty of introducing the reformed liturgy into Ireland.
His conciliatory methods brought upon him the accusation that
he lacked zeal in the cause, and led to his recall in the summer
of 1551. After the accession of Mary he was again appointed
lord deputy in October 1§53, but in consequence of a charge
against him of keeping false accounts he was recalled for the
third time in 1556, While the accusation was still under investi-
gation, he died on the 16th of March 1559.

By his wife Agnes, daughter of Hugh Warham, a niece cf
Archbishop Warham, he had three sons, William, Warham and
Anthony. William died in his father’s lifetime leaving a son,
Sir Warham St Leger (d. x600), who was father of Sir William
St Leger (d. 1642), president of Munster. Sir William took part in
“ the flight of the earls "’ (see O’'NESLL) in 1607, and spent several
years abroad. Having received a pardon from James I. and
extensive grants of land in Ireland, he was appointed president
of Munster by Charles 1. in 1627. He warmly supported the
arbitrary government of Strafford, actively assisting in raising
and drilling the Irish levies destined for the service of the king
against the Parliament. In the great rebellion of 1641 he bore
the chief responsibility for dealing with the insurgents in Munster;
but the forces and lupphu placed at his duponl wete utterly
inad te. He d martial law in his province with the
grutut severity, hanging large numbers of rebels, often without
much proof of guilt. He was still struggling with the insurrection
when he died at Cork on the 2nd of July 1642. Sir William’s
dxuzhter Margaret married Murrough O'Brien, 1st eatd of Inchi-
quin; his son John was father of Arthur St Leger, created
Viscount Doneraile in 1703.
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8T I.DDNABDS. EDWARD BURTENSHAW SUGDEN, ist
BARON (1781-1875), lord chancellor of Great Britain, was the son
of a hairdresser of Duke Street, Westminster, and was born on
the 12th of February 1781. After practising for some ycars as a
conveyancer, he was called to the bar at Lincoln’s Inn in 1807,
having already published his well-known treatise on the Law
of Vendors and Purchasers (14thed., 1862). In 1822 he wasmade
king'’s counsel and chosen a bencher of Lincoln’s Inn. He was
returned at different times for various boroughs to the House of

will be found in Athenae

mitting them, however, to retain their lands, on their accepting
feudal tenure on the English model. By a similar policy he
exacted obedience from the O’Mores, the O’Tooles and the
0’Conors in Leix and Offaly; and having conciliated the O’Briens
in the west and the earl of Desmond in the south, the lord deputy
carried 3n act in the Irish parliament in Dublin conferring the
title of king of Ireland on Henry VIIIL. and his heirs. Conn
O’Neill, who in the north had remained sullenly hostile, was
brought to submission by vigorous measures. For the most
part, however, St Leger's policy was onc of moderation and
conciliation—rather more so, indeed, than Henry VIII. approved.
He recommended The O’Brien, when he gave token of a sub-
missive disposition, for the title of earl of Thomond; O'Neill

, where he made himself prominent by his opposition to
the Reform Bill of 1832. He was uppomted whcntor-geneul in
1829, was d lord ¢ llor of Ireland in 1834, and again
filled the same office from 1841 to 1846. Under Lord Derby’s
first administration in 1852 he became lord chancellor and was
raised to the peerage as Lord St Leonards. In this position be
devoted himself with energy and vigour to the reform of the law;
Lord Derby on his return to power in 1858 again offered him the
same office, which from considerations of health he declined.
He continued, however, to take an active interest especially in the
legal matters that came before the House of Lords, and bestowed
his particular attention on the reforn: of the law of property.
He died at Boyle Farm, Thames Ditton, on the 2gth of January
1875,
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After his death his will was missing, but his daughter, Miss
Charlotte Sugden, was able to recollect the contents of 2 most
intricate document, and in the action of Swgden v. Lord St
Leonards (L.R. 1 P.D. 154) the court accepted her evidence
and granted probate of a paper propounded as containing the
provisions of the lost will. This decision established the pro-
position that the contents of a lost will may be proved by

ST LIZIER-DE-COUSERANS—ST LOUIS

city is more than 415 ft.; and the recorded extremes of low and
high water on the river are 379 and 438 ft. (both established in
1844). The higher portions of the city lie about 200 ft. above
the river level, and in general thesite is s0 elevated that there
can be no serious interruption of business except by extraordinary
floods. The natural drainage is excellent, and the sewerage
system, long very imperfect, has been made ldcqulte The street
plan is approximately rectilinear. The stone-paved wharf or
river-front, known as the Levee or Front Street, is 3-7 m. long.
Market Street, running E. and W., is regarded as the central
thoroughfare; and the numbering of the streets is systematized
with refs to this line and the river. Broadway (or Fifth

secon evidence, even of a single witness.
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8T uzmn-nx-coumum. a village of south-western
France in the department of Ariége on the right bank of the
Salat, 1 m. N.N.W. of St Girons. Pop. (1906) 615; commune
1295. St Lizier, in ancient times one of the twelve cities of
Novempopulania under the name of Lugdunum Consoranorum,
was later capital of the Couserans and seat of a bishopric (sup-
pressed at the Revolution) to the holders of which the town
belonged. It has a cathedral of the 12th and 14th centuries with
a fine Romanesque cloister and preserves remarkable remains of
Roman ramparts. The old episcopal palace (17th century)
and the adjoining church (14th and 17th centuries), once the
cathedral with its fine chapter-hall (12th century), form part
of a lunatic asylum. The Salat is crossed by a bridge of the
12th or 13th century. The town owes it§ name to its bishop
Lycerius, who is said to have saved it from the Vandals in the
7th century. The chief event in its history was its devastation
in 1130 by Bernard III., count of Comininges, a disaster from
which it never completely recovered.

ST L0, a town of north-western Frarice, ¢apital of the depart-
ment of Manche, 474 m. W. by S. of Caen by rail. Pop. (1906)
town 9379; commune, 12,181. St L& is situated on a rocky
hill on the right bank of the Vire. Its chief building is the
Gothic church of Notre-Dame, .dating mainly from the 16th
century. The (acade, flanked by two lofty towers and ricbly
decorated, is impressive, despite its lack of harmony. There is
a Gothic pulpit outside the choir. In the hotel-de-ville is the
o Tongm marble,” the pedestal of an ancient statue, the in-
scriptions on which relate chiefly to the annual assemblies of the
Gallic deputies held at Lyons under the Romans. The modern
church of Sainte-Croix preserves a Romanesque portal which
belonged to the church of an ancient Benedictine abbey. St Ld
is the seat of a prefect and has tribunals of first instance and of
commerce, a training -college for masters, a school of drawing,
a branch of the Bank of France, a chamber of arts and manu-
factures, and a government stud. The town has trade in grain,
fat stock, troop-horses and farm produce, and carries on tanning,
wool-spinning and bleaching and the manufacture of woollen
and other hbncs.

ed Briovera in the Gallo-Roma:
name to St LO (Lludus) bishop of Couunm

iod, owes its present
?68) In the middle

ages St an important fortress as well as a centre for the
weaving industry. sicges, the last mly.
when the town, vhxch had embraced Calvmum. was st

the Catholics and many of its inhabitants massacred. In 1800 the
town was made capital of its dcpartment in place of Coutances.

ST LOUIS, the chief city and a port of entry of Missouri, and
the fourth in population among the cities of the United States,
situated on the W. bank of the Mississippi river, about 20 m.
below its confluence with the Missouri, 200 m. above the influx
of the Ohio, and 1270 m. above the Gulf of Mexico, occupying
a land area of 61:37 sq. m. in a commanding central position
in the great drainage basin of the Mississippi system, the richest
portion of the continent. Pop. (1880) 350,518, (1890) 451,770,
(1900) 575,238, (1910) 687,029.

The central site is marked by au abrupt terraced rise from the
river to an easily sloping tableland, 4 or s m. long and somewhat
less than 1 m. broad, behind which are rolling hills. The length
of the river-front is about 19 m. The average elevation of the

Street, from the river) and Olive Street are the chief shopping
centres; Washington Avenue, First (or Main) and Second Streets
aredevoted to wholesale trade; and Fourth Street is the financial
centre. The most important public buildings are the Federal
building, built of Maine granite; the county court house (1839~
1863, $1,199,872),—2a semi-classic, plain, massive stone structure,
the Four Courts (1871, $755,000), built of cream-coloured Joliet
stone, and a rather effective city hall (1890-1904, $2,000,000),
in Victorian Gothic style in brick and stone. The clief slave-
market before the Civil War was in front of the Court House. The
City Art Museum, a handsome semi-classic structure of original
design, and the Tudor-Gothic building of the Washington
University, are perhaps the most satisfying structures in the city
architecturally. Amongothernoteworthy buildingsare the Public
Library, the Mercantile Library, the Mercantile, the Mississippi
Valley, the Missouri-Lincoln, and the St Louis Union Trust Com-
pany buildings; the Gemln-Relwumce home of the Mercantile
Club; the florid building of the St Louis Club; the Merchants’
Exchange; the Missouri School for the Blind; the Coliseum,
built in 1897 for conventions, horse shows, &c., torn down in

.1907 and rebuilt in Jefferson Avenue, and the Union Station,

used by all the railways entering the city. This last was opened
in 1894, and cost, including the site, $6,500,000; has a train-shed
with thirty-two tracks, covers some eleven acres, and is one of
the largest and finest railway stations in the world. The city
owns a number of markets. In 19o7 a special architectural
commission, appointed to supervise the construction of new
municipal buildings, purchased a site adjacent to the City
Hall, for new city courts and jail, which were begun soon
afterwards. .

The valley of Mill Creek (once a lake bed, “ Chouteau Pond,”
and afterwards the central sewer) traverses the city from W.
to E. and gives entry to railways coming from the W. into the
Union Station. The terminal system for connecting Missouri
with Illinois includes, in addition to the central passenger station,
vast centralized freight warechouses and depots; an elevated
railway along the levee; passenger and freight ferries across
the Mississippi with railway connexions; two bridges across
the river; and a tunnel leading to one of them under the streets
of the city along the river front. The Merchants’ Bridge (1887~
1890, $3,000,000), used solely by the railways, is 1366-5 ft.
long in channcl span, with approaches almost twice as long.
The Eads Bridge (1868-1874; construction cost $6,536,730,
total cost about $10,000,000) is 3 m. farther down the river;
it carries both wagon ways and railway tracks, is-1627 ft. clear
between shore abutments, and has three spans. Built entirely
of steel above the piers, it is a happy combination of strength
and grace, and was considered a marvel when erected.

St Louis has exceptionally fine residential streets that are
accounted among the handsomest in the world. The most notable
are Portland Place, Westmoreland Place, Vandeventer Place;
Kingsbury Place, &c., in the neighbourhood of Forest Park:
broad parked avenues, closed with ornamental gateways, and
flanked by large houses in fine grounds. The park system of
the city is among the finest in the country, containing in 1910
26415 acres (cost to 1909, $6,417,745). Forest Park (1372
acru), maintained mainly in a natural, open-country state,
is the largest single member of the system. In one end of it
was held the Louisiana Purchase Exposition in 19o4. Tower
Grove Patk (277 acres) and the Missouri Botanical Gardens
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(45 acres), probably the finest of their kind in the country,
were gifts to the city from a public-spirited citizen, Henry
Shaw (1800-1889), who also endowed the botanical school of
Washington University. Cmndelcl (180 acres), O’Fallon (158
acres),and Fairground(z29acres, i dinga 65-acreathletic field)
are the finest of the other parks. King'’s H:ghvuy is a boulevard
(partly completed in 1910) from the Mississippi on the S. to the
Mississippi on the N., cmsun‘ the western part of the city.
In accord with a in Ameri
the 1gth century, St Louis madea beginning in the provision of

small ** neighbourhood parks,” intended primarily to better the
lives of the city’s poor, and vacation playgrounds for clnldren.

The first

have been successfully used as civic centres, The cit
has an u:;l_lent educational museum, material from which is a

and for this purpose five blocks of ts were C

by the city. In the different parks and public places are statues
of Columbus, Shakespeare (Tower Grove Park) and Humboldt
(Tower Grove Park), by Ferdinand von Mueller of Munich;
a replica of the Schiller monument at Marbach in Germany,
and - of Houdon's Washington (Lafayette Park); statues of
Thomas Hart Benton (Lafayette Park; by Harriet Hosmer),
of Francis Preston Blair (W. W. Gardner) and Edward Bates
(J. W. McDonald), both in Forest Park, and of General Grant
(R. P. Bringburst) in the City Hall Park; all of these being in
bronze. In the cemeteries of the city—of which the largest are
Bellefontaine (350 acres) and Calvary (415 acres)—there are
potable monuments to Henry Shaw, and to Nathaniel Lyon,
Sterling Price, Stephen W. Kearny and W. T. Sherman, all
closely associated with St Louis or Missouri. There are various
lake, river and highland pleasure-resorts near the city; and
about 12 m. S. is Jefferson Barracks, a national military post
of the first class. The old arsenal within the city, about which
centred the opening events of the Civil War in Missouri, has
been mainly abandoned, and part of the grounds given to the
municipality for a park.

The 1 fair, or exposition, was held in the autumn of each
year—except in war time—from 1855 to 1902, ceasing with the
preparations for the World's Fair of 1904. One day of Fair
Week (“ Big Thursday ) was a city holiday; and one evening
of the week was given over after 1878 to a nocturnal illuminated
pageant known as the Procession of the Veiled Prophet, with
accompaniments in the style of the carnival (Mardi Gras) at
New Orleans; this pageant is still continued.
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In trade, industry and wealth St Louis is one of the most
substantial cities of the Union. Its growth has been steady;
but without such * booms ”” as have marked the history of many
western cities, and especially Chicago, of which St Louis was for
several decades the avowed rival. The primacy of the northern
city was clear, however, by 1880. St Louis has borne a reputa-
tion for conservatism and solidity. Its manufactures aggregate
three-fifths the value of the total output of the state. In 1880
their value was $114,333,375, and in 1890 3428,700,000; the
value of the factory product was $193,732,788 in 1900, and in
1 267,307,038 (increase 19oo-1 8
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University had 1045 students. In 1905 the department of arts
and sciences and the law school were removed to the outskirts of
the city, where a group of buildings of Tudor-Gothic style in red
Missouni granite were erected upon grounds, which with about
$6,000,000 for buildings and endowment, were given to the univer-
sity. Louis Umvemy had its beginnings (1818) as a Latin

, became a in 1820,and was incorporated as a
mvenlty in 1832. Onc the Mmiwrm“ collegu of the United
Seates, it is the -school of six ot! prommznt osuit eollef
in the Middle In 1910 it com, hool of phil
and science (1832), dnvmlty -:hool (x . a med.mlcchoo! (183 ).
law school (1843), 2 dental school (1 lege, three academics
and a ment; and its enrolmem was 1181, It is
the dn.fd largest, the Christian Brothers’ College (1851), also
Roman Catholic, is the fourth 8& educational institution in the
state. The Chnstian Brothers’ College had in 1910 30 instructors

students, most of whom were in the preparat

BugtheDmmtySchoololStLouuUm , t are three

vangelical College (German E: lnl Synod of f~? %
n vange orth

Amgnu. laso) and Kennck lotlul eminary (Rmny m‘(inl\ohc.

Col

(1896)
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-on through bills of lading, and are not net receipts handled

the largest in the d
Aside from traffic in its own products, the central position of the
city in the Mississippi Valley gives it an immense trade in the pro-

ducts of that tributary on, am::g which grains, cotton, tobacco,

lumber, live stock and t| ucts are the staples. In
addition, it is a jobb eenue of in distribu-

:’mn g«;l;d otlml P'e test lines of n&";‘h'“".eﬁ md;ozre
ry s, millinery and notions: groceries ai mes. ts

and shoes; tobacco; shell and heavy h

supplics; street and railway cars; foundry and a.llv.-d Producu.

drugs, chemicals and proprictary
agricultural implements; hides; paints; palnt oils and white lead;

e ectnal supplies; stoves, ranges and furnaces; and furs—the

value of these different items ranging from 70 to 10 million dollars
f;:;he; f to thl:nSt I'L&“e“ Bol:«:’ of dee.ms):lgouu u' the
primary fur market o world, drawing su even from
northern Canada. As a wool market Boston alone surpasses it,
and as a vehicle market it stands in the second or third place. In
the other industries just named, it claims to stand first among the
cities of the Union. It is one of the greatest interior cotton markets
of the country—drawing its supplies mainly from Arkansas, Texas
and Oklahoma—but nf- part of its receipts are for d“% ment

y

its

under
tle.dmnm&m (z 1880) of William T. Hlml.nnd for many
years has been recognized as one of the best in the United States.

¢ "l'::;e are amnged in the order nhownbythed:nalsum‘
ot 1
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own factors. The gross cotton {{ i
z?'&"’“"'”'&""b":“m e el Aa 2 graim s ok
veston at on t a al stoc!
i of Kanas City and St

St Louis has felt the competition

River and railway transportation built up iu turn the command-
ing commercial position of the city. The enormous growth of
river traffic in the decade before 1860 gave it at the opening of
the Civil War an incontestable primacy in the West. In 1910
about twenty independent railway systems, great and small
(including two terminal roads within the city), gave outlet and
inlet to commerce at St Louis; and of these fifteen are among the
greatest systems of the country: the Baltimore &-Ohio South-
Western, the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy, the Chicago &
Alton, the Cleveland, Cincinnati, Chicago & St Louis, the St
Louis & San me, the Illinois Central, the Missouri, Kansas
& Texas, the Missouri Pacific, the Penmylvum. the St Louis
South-Western, the Southern, the Wabash, the Louisville &
Nuhville the Mobile & Ohio, mdtheTokdo St Louis & Western.

‘The construction of the stoun Pacific Rnlway system was
begun at St Loujs in 1850, and various other roads were started
in the next two years. For several decades railway develop-
ment served only to incréase the commercial primacy of the
city in the southern Mississippi Valley, but in more recent years
the concentration of roads at Kansas City enabled that place
to draw from the west and south-west an immense trade once
held by St Louis. River freighting is of very slight imporunoe.
St Louis is a pott of entry for foreign commerce; its imports
in 1907 were valued at $7,442,067; in 1909 at $6,363,770.

The population of St Louis in 1840 was 16,469; in 1850 it
was 77,860 (seventh in size of the cities of the oountry); in 1860,
160,773; in 1870, 310,864 (third in size); in 1880, 350,518;
in 1890, 451,770; in 1900, 575,238; and in 1910, 687,029.
Since 18go it has been fourth in popuhtion among the cities of the
United States. Of the population in 1900 (575,238) 111,356 were
foreign-born and 35,516 were negroes. Of the foreign-born in
1900, §8,781 were Germans, 19,421 were Irish, s800 were
English, 4785 Russian. In 1900, 154,746 inhabitants of St
Louis were children of parents.

Under the state constitution of 1875 St Louis, as a ity of
100,000 inhabitants, was authorized to frame its own charter,
md also to separate from St Louis county. These rights werc
exercised in 1876. The General Assembly of the state holds the
same powers over St Louis as over other cities. The electorate
may pass upon proposed amendments to the charter at any
election, after due precedent publication thereof. The mayor
holds office for four years. In 1823 the mayor was first elected
by popular vote and the municipal legislature became unicameral.
‘The bicameral systcm was again adopted in 1839. The municipal
assembly consists of a Council of 13 chosen at large for four
years—half each two years—and a House of Delegates, 28 in
number, chosen by wards for two years. A number of chicf
executive officers are elected for four years; the mayor and
Council appoint others, and the appointment is made at the
middle of the mayor's term in order to lessen the immediate
influence of municipal patronage upon elections. Single com-
missioners control the parks, streets, water service, harbour and
wharves, and sewers, and these constitute, with the mayor, a
board of public xmpmvemt. Under an enabling act of 1907
the muniupal assembly in.19og created a public service com-
mission,” of three members, appointed by the mayor. The

measure of control exercised by the state is important, the

governor appointing the excise (liquor-licence) commissioner,
the board of election commissioners, the inspector of petmlenm
and of tobacco, and (since 1861) the police board. St Louis is
normally Republican in politics, and Missouri Democratic.
Taxes for state and mumdpll purposes are collected by the nty
‘The school board, as in very few other cities of the country, bas
independent u.xin; power. The city owns the steamboat landings
and draws a small revenue from their rental. The heaviest
expenses are for streets and parks, debt payments, police and
education. The bonded debt in 1910 was $27,815,312, and the
assessed valuation of property in

ST LOUIS
but | The city maintains hospitals, a poor-house, a reformatory

work-house, an industrial school for children, and an asylum
for the insane.
The of tbe Is dedved f the Mississi and
water-supply city rom ppl,

is basins and acosgu-

‘lant cbemiﬂl ¥l9°4) are_used '.o punly the water be{on

distributi tefdn completion of the Chicago drainage

the state o‘ to pel its on

gmundthlnt nudtheMl isaippi; but it blished to the
of ¢l of the United States that the back-

flush from Lake M.Jnm m the he contrary effect upon the |llinois
river, and therefore upon the Mi m (g?:‘edlmcnt the
ntet-w‘mly is not impnn or ob)ect o public utilities,
except ter-works, markets and public .grain_elevators, are
o'nedby';l;euty The street railways arc controlled—since a state
law 1 Pgmntud one corporation,

h 'Tl::“ rate is in general opera-

tion. Au?k corpontim I\.n eontro the pn service (rom |846

to 1013 1890,
has not the right of tdme.

Sthuhmmdedu- uudmgpootlnu&byl’iurehdéde
Liguest (1724-1778), representative of a company to which the
anchuvmhndmtedlmongolydthetndeofthe
Missouri river country. When, by the treaty of Paris of 1763,
!heponmnollauxdauE.o!theMmhnpplmeededby
France to Great Britain, many of the French inhabitants of the
district of the Illinais removed into the portion of Louisiana W.
of the river, which bad passed in 17632 under Spanish sovereignty;
and of this lessened territory of upper Louisiana St Louis became
the seat of government. In 1767 it was a log-cabin village of
perbaps soo inhabitants. Spanish rule became an actuality in
1770 and continued until 1804, when it wis momentarily sup-
planted by French authority—existent theoretically since 1800—
and then, after the Louisiana Purchase, by the sovereigaty of the
United Sutes. In 1780 the town was attacked by Indian allies
of Great Britain. Canadian-French h and trappers and
boatmen, a few Spaniards and other Europeans, some Indians,;
more half-breeds, and a iderable body of Ameri and
negro slaves ‘made up the motley population that became
inhabitants of the United States. The fur trade was growing
rapidly. Under American rule there was added the trade of a
military supply-point . for the Great West, and in 1817-1819
steamship traffic was begun with Louisville, New Orleans, and
the lower Missouri river. Meanwhile, in 1808, St Louis was
incorporated as a town, and in 1823 it became a city. The city
charter became effective in March 1823. The early ’thirties
marked the beginning of its great prosperity, and the decade
1850~1860 was one of colossal growth, due largely to the river
trade. All freights were being moved by steamship as early as
1825. The first railway was begun in 1850. At the opening
the Civil War the commercial position of the city was most
commanding." Its prosperity, however, was dependent upon the
prosperity of the South, and received a fearful set-back in the war.
When the issue of secession or adherence to the Union had been
made up in 1861, the outcome in St Louis, where the fate of the
state must necessarily be decided, was of national importance.
St Louis was headquarters for an army department and con-
tained a great national arsenal. - The secessionists tried to
manceuvre the state out of the Union by strategy, and to seize
the arsenal. The last was prevented by Congressman Francis
Preston Blair, Jr., and Captain Nathaniel Lyon, first & sub-
ordinate and later commander at the arsenal. The garrison
was strengthened; in April the president entrusted Blair and
other loyal civilians with power to enlist loyal citizens, and put
the city under martial law if necessary; in May ten regiments
were ready—made up largely of German-American Republican
clubs (* Wide Awakes ), which had been at first purely political,
then—when force became necessary to secure election rights to
anti-slavery men—semi-military, and which now were quickly
made available for war; and on the 1oth of May Captain Lyon
surrounded and made prisoners a force of secessionists yuartered
in Camp Jackson on the outskirts of the city. A street riot
followed, and 28 'persons: were killed by the volleys of the
military. St Louis. was: held by the Union forces throughout

that year was $550,207,640. | the war.
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During a quarter century following 1857 the city was the centre
of an idealistic philosophical movement that has had hardly any
counterpart in American culture except New England trans-
cendentalism. Its founders were William T. Harns (¢.s.) and
Henry C. Brockmeyer (b. 1828), who was licutenant-governor
of the state in 1876-1880. A. Bronson Alcott was one of the
early lecturers to the group wlhich gathered around these two,

a group which studied Hegel and Kant, Plato and Aristotle.

Brockmeyer published excellent versions of Hegel's Unabridged
Logic, Phenomenology and P:yddou. Harris became the
of American expc of Hegel. Other members of the
gmup were Thomas Davidson (1840~1900), Adolph E. Kroeger,
the translator of Fichte, Anna Callender Brackett (b. §p36),
who published in 1886 an English version of Rosenkranz’s
of Edwucation, Denton Jaques Snider (b. 1841), whose best wotk
has been on Froebel, and William McKendree Bryant (b. 1843),
egel’s Philosophy of Art (1879) and Hegdl’s Educa-
tional Ideas {1896). This Philosophical Societ,
1893) at St Louis The Journal of Speculative Phluom, the first
periodical of the sort in English.
&mthemtbenty:hmoryhubemdgmlbedchhﬂyby
ecopomic development. A period in this was
mxgoqbythehnldlmofl'oddsmnoeelebn theoenlennul
of the purchase from France, in 1803, of the Louisiana territory—
since then divided into 13 states, and containing in 1900 some
13,500,000 inhabitants. Preparations for this Louisiana Purchase
Exposition began in 1898. It was the largest world's fair held
to date, the site covering 1240 acres, of which 250 were under
roof. The total cost, apart from individual exhibitions, was
about $42,500,000, of which the national government contributed
$5.000,000 and the city of St Louis and its citizens Sxo.eoo,ooo.
Altogether 12,804,616 paid admissions were coll (total

y published (1867~
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1900 and in 1905 East St Louis ranked sixth among
the United States in this industry; its p:

valued at $27,676,818 (out of a total l all !ndmriu
$32,460,057), and in 1905 the product of the
-packing establishments in and near the lnniu
Louis was valued at $39,072,245, in the same year
all industries within the te limits bdng
,198. The city has a large horse -nd mule market.
was laid out about 1818, incorporated as a town
chartered as a city in 1865
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11} m. above the mouth of the Senegal river, near the right
bank, there separated from the sea by a narrow strip of sand
called the Langue de Barbarie. This strip of sand is occupied
by the villages of N'dar Toute and Guet N'dar. Three bridges

admissions 19,694,8ss) during the seven months that it was
open, and there was a favourable balance at the close of about
$1,000,000.

Up to 1848 St Louis was controlled in politics almost absolutely
by the Whigs; since then it has been more or less cvenly con-
tested by the Democrats against the Whigs and Republicans.
The Republicans now umlly have the advantage. As men-
tioned before, the state is lnbmnlly Democratic; “ boss "' rule
in St Louis was particularly vicious in the late ’nineties, and
corruption was the natural result of ring rule—the Democratic
bosses have at times had great power—and of the low pay—
nnly $25 mouthly—of the city’s delmte. and councilmen. But

mnmame,mdmthxusuon;m t for independent
voting. Fire, floods, epidemics, and wind have repeatedly
attacked the city. A great fire in 1849 burned along the levee
and adjacent streets, destroying steamers, buildings, and goods
worth, by the estimate of the city assessor, more than $6,000,000.
Cholera broke out in 1832-1833, 1849~1851, and 1866, causing
in three months of 1849 almost 4000 deaths, or the death of a
twentieth of all inhabitants. Smallpox raged in 1872-187s.
These epidemics probably reflect the one-time lamentable lack
of proper sewerage. Great floods occurred in 1785, 1811, 1826,
1844, 1872, 1885 and 1903; those of 1785 and 1844 being the
most remarkable. There were tornadoes in 1833, 1852 and
3871 and in 1896 a cyclone of 20 minutes' duration, accom-

by fire but followed fortunately by a tremendous rain,

destroyed or wrecked 8500 buildings and caused a loss of property
valued at more than $10,000,000.

East St Lous, a city of St Clair county, Illinois, US.A.,
on the E. bank of the Mississippi, lies opposite St Louis, Miuonrl.
Pop. (1880), 918s; (1890), 15,169; (1900), 29,655, of whom
3920 were foreign born (mostly German and Irish); (1910
census) $8,547. It is one of the great railway centres of the
country. Into it enter from the east sixteen lines of

ct the town with the villages; and the Pont Faidherbe,
2132 ft. long, affords communication with Bouetville, a suburb
on the left bank, and the terminus of the railway to Dakar.
The houses of the European quarter have for the most part
flat roofs, balconies and terraces. Besides the governor's
residence the most prominent buildings are the cathedral, the
great , the court-house, the barracks and military offices,
and the docks. The round beehive huts of Guet N'dar are
mainly inhabited by native fishermen. N'dar Toute consists
of villas with gardens, and is a summer watering-place. There
is a pleasant public garden, and N’dar Toute is approached by
a magnificent alley of palm-trees. The low-lying position of
St Louis and the extreme heat render it unhealthy, whilst the
sandy nature of the soil causes intense inconvenience. The
mouth of the Senegal being obstructed by a shifting bar of sand,
the ltuml.hipl of the great European lines do not come up to
St Louis; passengers embark and land at Dakar, on the eastern
side of Cnpe Verde. Ships for'St Louis bave often to wait outside
or inside the bar for days or weeks, and partial unloading is
frequently necessary. From July to the end of September—
that is during flood-time—the water over the bar is, however,
deep enou&h to enable vessels to reach St Louis without difficulty.
St Louis is believed to have been the site of a European sett settlement
nmce the 15th century, but the town was ded in 1626
{ Dieppe merchants known as t Cmnpu ie normande. It is the
ofdest colonial establishment in Africa belongmg to ance (-ee
SENEGAL). Its modern development dates from lssh
ehtvena, inveapect "?‘éﬁ»‘:‘““""’"m, Froms 189§ %0 16 ’&'
citi 1 r, can om
Louis was not only the capital of Senegal, but the resid 5 9:?
gwemor-gﬂmzl of French West Africa. In November of the last-
1 removed to Dakar. Small forts
end Loun rom the E nd side—the surrounding country, the
Cavor, being inhabited by a warlike race, which y to
buildmg (luz-lsas) of the St Louis-Dakar rail

'way was a continual

source of trouble.
town umes on a very active trade with all the countrics
1and the mlddle Ni St Louis is eonnectcd

which cross to St Louis by the celebrated steel arch brldge
and by the Merchants’ Bridge. It is also served by three inter-
urban electric railways. The site of East St Louis is in the
“ American Bottom,” little above the high-water mark of the
river. This “ bottom  stretches a long distance up and down
the river, with a breadth of 10 or 12 m. It is intersected by many

the
with Bret:ty bye: direct cable, and with via the Canary Islands.

ST LUCIA, the largest of the British Windward Islands,
West Indies, in 14° N., 61° W., 24 m. S. of Martinique and 21 m.
N.E. of St Vincent. hs area h 233 8q. m., length 42 m., maximum
breadth 12 m., and its coast-line is 150 m. long. Itis considered

one of u:ekwelisto!dlthe West Indian islands. It isa mass
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of mountains, rising sheer from the water, their summits bathed
in perpetual mist. Impenetuble forests alternate with fertile
plains, and deep ravines and frowning precipices with beautiful
bays and coves. Ev::gwlme there is luxuriant vegetation.

a- Pitons (zz:o and 2680 ft.) are the chief natural l’eature—-t'o
immense pyramids of rock mmg abruptly from their slopes,
inclined at an angle of 60°, being clad on three udu
verdure. No eonnexmn been traced between d;em and the
mountain system of the island. In the S.W. also is the volcano
ol Soul‘rlére (about 4000 ft. ). whose crater is 3 acres in size and

and ‘The cl is humid, the rain~

[all varyil lrom 0 t0 120 in. per with an
ture of F. e soil is deep and nch the main productt are
logwood. coﬂ'ee. nutmegs, mace, kola-nuts and vanilla,
ull ofwhnchmupon ‘'obacco hgmwmbutnot(otexpoﬂ.
‘The usine or there being four
t supr-mllls.

governmen ket. f rmerly ptmlent. have been
almost exterminated by the in of t! Only

about a third of the island is culnvated. the rut being crown hnd
under virgin forest, abounding in timber suitable for the finest
cabinet work. The main import trade up to 1904 was from Great
Britain; since then, owing to the increased coal poru from the
Unitcd States, the imports are chiefl
majority of the exports go to the nited States and to
In the ten years 1898-1907 the im ingu 22,000 & year;
the exports {1 s,ooonyur Bui eoal(onmn rgeitemboth
in imports ai Coal, sugar, cocda and logwood form the
chief exports,
Educatic - *- ¢

1
S
is 4
I!n'.:ry —St Luda is’ supposed to’ have been discovered -by
Columbus in 1502, and to have been’ d by the Spaniard

all
cn:olu [

from other countries. The |.

.|9os). and the works there cited; also the

ST MACAIRE—ST MALO

harbours were a rendezvous for the British squadrons and Gros
Ilet Bay was Rodney’s starting-point before his victory over
the Comte de Grasse (April 1782). The peace of Versailles (1783)

 restored St Lucia to France, but in 1794 it was surrendered to

‘Admiral Jervis (Lord St Vincent). ‘Victor Hugues, 2 partisan
of Robespierre, aided .by: insurgent slaves, made a strenuous
resistance and recovered the island in June 179s. Sir Ralph
Abercromby and Sir John Moore, at the head of 12,000 troops,
‘were sent in 1796 to reduce the island, but it was not until 1797
that the revolutionists laid down their arms. By the treaty
of ‘Amiens St Lucia was anew declared French. Bonaparte
intended to make it the capital of the Antilles, but it once more
capitulated to the British (June 1803) and was finally ceded to
Great Britain in x814. In 1834, when the slaves were emandci-
pated, there were in St Luciz over 13,000 negro slaves, 2600 free
men ot eoloux and 2300 whites. The development of the island—
half ruined by the revolutionary war—has been retarded-by
epidemics of cholera and smallpox, by the decline of the sugar-
cane industry and other causes, such as the low level of education.
The depression in the sugar trade led to the adoption of cocoa
cultivation. Efforts were also made to plant settlers on the
crown lands—with a fair nmount of success. The colony success-
fully sur d the fi nnngency caused by the with-
dmwnl of the imperial troops in 190!

Pigeon Island, formerly an impomnt military port, Lies off
the N.W. end of St Lucn. by Gros Ilet Bay.

See I‘C cas, Historical Gcogmphymlkﬁﬂlu Colonies,
" The Wut Indics " (2nd ed. revised by C, Atchley, Oxfmd.

umud reports on St

Lucia issued by the Colonial Office.

ST MACAIRE, a town of south-western France, in the depart-
ment of Gironde, on the Garonne, 29 m. S.E. of Bordesux by’
rail. Pop. (1906), 2085. St Macaire is important for its medieval
remains, which include & triple line of ramparts with old gate-
ways. There are also several houses of the 13th and 14th
centuries. The imposing church of St Sauveur (r1th to. 1sth
centuries) has a doorway with beautiful .13th-century carving
and interesting mural paintings. St Macaire (anc. Ligena) owes
its name to the saint whose rclics were preserved in the monastery
of which the church of St Sauveur is the principal remnant. .
- ST MAIXENT, a town of western France, in the department
of Deux-Sévres, on the Sévre Niortaise, 1§ m. N.E. of Niort by
rail. Pop. (1906), 4102. The town has a fine abbey church
built from the 12th to the xsth century, but in great part
destroyed by the Protestants in the 16th century and rebuilt
from 1670 10 1682 in the flamboyant Gothic style. The chief
to this date are the nave, which is Romnesque,

wol. ii., *

after the saint on whose day it was discovered.’ It was inhabited
by Caribs, who killed the majority of the first white people
(Enghshmen) who attempted to settle on the island (z605).
For two centuries St Lucia was claimed both by Franceand by
England. In 1627 the famous Carlisle grant included St Lucia

British p , while in 1635 the king of France
granted it to two of his subjects. In 1638 some 130 English
from St Kitts formed a settlement, but in 1641 were killed or
driven away by the Caribs. The French in 1650 sent settlers
from Martinique who concluded a treaty of peace with the
Caribs in 1660. Thomas Wamer, natural son of the governor
of St Kitts, attacked and overpowered the French settlers in
1663, but the peace of Breda (1667) restored it to France and it
became nominally a dependency of Martinique. The British
still claimed the island as a dependency of Barbadoes, and in
1722 George L. made a grant of it, to the duke of Montague.

parts

and a lofty 1sth-century tower over the west front. The
contains the torb of Saint Maxentius, second abbot of lhe
monastery, which was founded about 460. The town has a com-
munal college, a chamber of arts and manufactures, and an
infantry school for non-commissioned officers preparing for the
rank of sub-lieutenant. It was the birthplace of Colonel Denfert-
Rochereau, defender of Belfort in 1870~1871, and has a statue
to him. The industries include dyeing and -the manufacture of
hosiery, mustard and plaster. The prosperity of the town was
at its height after the promulgation of the edict of Nantes,
when it numbered 12,000 inhabitants.

ST MALQO, a seaport of western France, capital of an arrondisse-
ment in thedepartment of llle-et-Vilaine, s1 in.N.N.W. of Rennes
by rail. . Pop. (1906) town, 8727; commune, 10,647. St Malo
is situated on the Channel on the nght bank of the
estuary of the Rance at its mouth. It is a garrison town sur-

The year following French troops from Martinique pelled
the British settlers to evacuate the island. In 1748 both France
and Great Britain recognized the island as “neutral.” In
1762 its inhabitants surrendered to Admiral Rodney and G 1

parts which include portions dating from the
14th, 1 sth and 16th centuries, but as a whole were rebuilt at
the end of the 17th century according to Vauban'’s plans, and
d in the 1g9th century. The most important of the gates

Monckton. By the treaty of Paris (1763), however, the British
acknowledged the claims of France, and steps were taken to
develop the resources of the island. French planters came from
St Vincent and Grenada,cotton and sugar plantations were formed,
and in 1772 the island was said to have a population of 15,000,
largely slaves. In 1778 it was captured.by the British; its

are that of St Vincent and the Grande Porte, defended by two
massive 1sth-century towers. The granite ‘island on which
St Malo stands icates with the mainland on the north-
cast by a“tauseway known as the * Sillon ” (furrow), 6so ft.
long, and at one time only 46 ft. broad, though now three times
that breadth. In the sea round about lie other granite rocks,
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which have been turned to account in the defences of the coast;

on the islet of the Grand Bey is the tomb (1848) of Francois | S

Auguste, vicomte de Chateaubriand, a native of the town. The
rocks and beach are continually changing their appearance,
owing to the violence of the tides; spring-tides sometimes
rise so ft. above low-water level, and the sea sometimes washes

over the ramparts, The harbour of St Malo lies south of the

ARC GIRARDIN—SAINT-MARTIN
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1711, but also lent him large sums for carrying on the war of the

panish Succession. In June 1758 the English sent a third
expedition against St Malo under the command of Charles
Spencer, third duke of Marlborough, and inflicted great loss on the
royal shipping in the harbour of St Servan. But another expedi-
tion undertaken in the following September received a complete
check. In 1778 and during the wars of the Empire the St Malo

town in the creek separating it from the neighbouring town
of St Servan. Including the contiguous and connected basins
belonging more especially to St Servan, it comprises an outer
basin, a tidal harbour, two wet-docks and an inner reservoir,
affording a total length of quayage of over 2. m. The vlet-docks
havea minimum depth of 13to 1§ ft.on sill, but the tidal harbour
is dry at low water. The vessels entered at St Malo-St Servan
in 1906 numbered 1004 of 279,217 tons; cleared 1023 of 298,720
tons. The great bulk of trade is with England, the exports
comprising large quantities of fruit, dairy-produce, early potatoes
and other vegetables and slate. The chief imports are coal and
timber. The London and South-Western railway maintains a
regular service of steamers between Southa.mplon and St Malo.
The port carries on shipbuilding and equips 2 fleet for the
Newfoundland cod-fisheries. The industries also include iron-
and copper-founding and the manufacture of portable forges
and other iron goods, cement, rope and artificial The

pri resumed their activity. In 1789 St Servan was
separated from St Malo and in 1801 St Malo lost its bishopric.
Duringthekeipo(‘remrtheton was the scene of sanguinary
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SAINT-MARC GIRARDIN (:801-1873), French politician and
man of letters, whose real name was GIRARDIN, was born
in Paris on the 2and of February 1801. After a brilliant uni-
versity career in Paris he began in 1828 to contribute to the
Journal des Débats, on the staff of which he remained for nearly
half a century. At the accession of Louis Philippe he was
appointed professor of history at the Sorbonne and master of
requests in the Conseil d’Etat. Soon afterwards he exchanged
his chair of history for one of poetry, con!.inuing to contribute
political articles to the Débals, and sitting as deputy in the

town is the seat of a sub-prefect and has tribunals of first instance
and of commerce. Communication between the quays of St
Malo and St Servan is maintained by a travelling bridge.

St Malo is largely frequented for sea-bathing, but not so.much

chamber from 1835 to 1848. He was charged in 1833 with a
mmion to study German methods of education, and issued a
report advocating the necessity of newer methods -nd of technical
instruction. In 1844 he was elected 8 member of the Academy..
During the revolution of February 1848 Girardin was for a

as Dinard, on the opposite side of the Rance. The town p
a tortuous maze of narrow streets and small squares lined with
high and sometimes quaint buildings (e.g. the 16th-century
bouse in which René Duguay-Trouin was born). Above all rises
the stone spire (1859) of the cathedral, a building begun in the
12th century but added to and rebuilt at several subsequent
periods. The castle (15th cent.), which defends the town
towards the “ Sillon,” is flanked with four towers, one of which,
the great keep, is an older and loftier structure, breached in 1378
by the duke of Lancaster. St Malo has statues to Chateaubriand,
Duguay-Trouin and the privateer Robert Surcouf (1773-1827),
natives of the town. The museum contains of the
ship “ La Petite Hermine,” in which Jacques Cartier sailed to

the St Lawrence (¢.v.), and a natural history collection.
In the 6th century the island on which St Malo stands was the
mmtofAbbotAuon.vbopve ylum in his t
Malo (Maclovius or Malovius), a Cambrian priest, who came

ister, but after the establishment of the republic
he was not re-elected deputy. After the war of 1870~71 he was
returned to the Bordeaux assembly by his old department—the.
Haute Vienne, His Orleanist tendencies and his objections to
the republic were strong, and though be at first supported Thiers,
he afterwards became a leader of the opposition to the president.
He died, however, on the 1st of April 1873 at Morsang-sur-Seine,
be!ore’l‘hxcnmlctua.ll drivenfrom power.
His chief work is his JH" de littérature 7 (lm—l“ ),
nmollectumbettetdumbedbyluueo title De /' in
passions dans le drame. Tlm-uu.m the passi
the mode in which d in ancient and mod:

against t
fa‘clt.dntonl the best of ancient literature has come down-
Against the Romanticists he

waged untiring war. Among his
works may bem(md&uudc‘?dul& ‘(zvoll.la“ mndeup
lemagne

y to | chiefly of contnbuuom to the Débats, his Notices sur
’ll and many 1 of s, , &c., on
ué:n g events. Hu latest works of lit

hither to escape the episcopal dignity, but afterwards b
bishop of Aleth (now St Servan); the see was transferred to St
Malo only in the 12th century. Henceforth the bishops of St
Malo cl d the cignty over the town, a claim
which was resolutely dtsputed by the dukes of Brittany. The
policy of the citizens themselves, who thus gained substantial
P of self-go t, was directed by consistent hostility
lnEuhndmdeomequcnuytotheduku. They took the side
of Bishop Josselin de Rohan and his successor in their quarrel
with dukes John IV. and John V., and it was not till 1424 that
John V., by the agency of Charles VI. of France and with the
sanction of the pope, finally established his authority over the
town. In 1488 St Malo unsuccessfully resisted the French
troops on behalf of the duke. During the troubles of the League
the citizens hoped to establish a republican government, and on
the 11th of March 1590 they exterminated the royal garrison
and imprisoned their bishop and the canons. But four years
hater they surrendered to Henry IV. of France. During the
following century the maritime power of St Malo attained
some importance. In November 1693 and July 1695 the English
vainly bombarded it. The people of St Malo had in the course of
a single war captured upwards of 1500 vessels (several of them
laden with gold and other t ) and b d 2 considerabl
namber more. Enriched by these successes and by the wealth
they drew from the New World, the shipowners of the town not
only supplied the king with the means necessary for the famous
Rio-de Janeiro expedition conducted by Duguay-Trouin in

i La Fontaine et les Fabulistes
mmml:nums (1870) wl'uch had appeared i g“”iﬁ.‘?«

See Ch. Lub:tte. * Saint-Marc Girardin,” in the Revwe des dexx

mondes (Feb. 1 ; Tamisier, Saml-llan Girardin; &ude littéraire
(nsm ”}41). % und Meunier, Les Critiques Jitiroires du X1X+

SAINT-MARTIN, LOUIS CLAUDE DE (: 743-1803), French
philosopher, known as * le philosophe inconnu,” the name under
which his works were published, was born at Amboise of a poor
but noble family, on the 18th of January 1743. By his father’s
desire he tried first law and then the army as & profession. While
in garrison at Bordeaux he came under the influence of Martinez
de Pasquales, usually called a Portuguese Jew (although later
research bas made it probable that be was a Spanish Catholic),
who taugbt a species of mysticism drawn from cabbalistic
sources, and endeavoured to found thereon a secret cult with
magical or theurgical rites. In 1771 Saint-Martin left the army
to become a preacher of mysticism. His conversational powers
made him welcome in Parisian salons, but his zeal led bim to
England, where be made the acquaintance of William Law (g.v.),
the English mystic, to Italy and to Switzerland, as wellasto the
chief towns of France. At Strassburg in 1788 ‘he met Charlotte
de Boecklin, whoinitiated him into the writings of Jacob Bochme,
and inspired in his breast a semi-romantic attachment. His
later years were devoted almost entirely to the composition of his
chief works and to the translation of those of Boechme. Although
he was not subjected to any persecution in consequence of his



30

opinions, his property was confiscated after the Revolution
because of his social position. He was brought up a strict
Catholic, and always remained attached to the church, although
his first work, Of Errors and Truth, was placed upon the Index.
He died at Aunay, near Paris, on the 23rd of October 1803.

His chief works are—. 3 un ami sur la Révolution Frangaise;
Eclair sur Iassociation humaine; De lesprit des choses; Ministére
de I'homme-esprit. Other treatises agpnred in his Exvres posthumes
(1807). Saint-Martin regarded the French Revolution as a sermoa
in action, if not indeed a miniature of the last judgment. His ideal
society was “ a natural and spiritual theocracy,” in which God would
raise up men of mark and endowment, who would regard themselves
strictly as ** divine commissioners "' to guide the people. All ecclesi-
astical organization was to disa r, giving place to a purely
spiritual Christianity, based on assertion of a faculty su
to the reason—moral sense, from which we derive knowledge of God.
God exists as an eternal personality, and the creation is an over-
flowing of the divine love, which was unable to contain itsell. The
h soul, the h intellect or spirit, the spirit of the universe,
and the elements or matter are the four stages of this divine emana-
tion, man being the immediate ion of , and nature in turn
a reflection of man. Man, however, has fnl}en from his high estate,
and matter is onc of the consequences of his fall. But divine love,
united to humanity in Christ, will work the final regeneration.

See J. B. Gence, Notice bwg.opln'qn (1824); L. I. Moreau, Le
Philosophe M. Caro,

doctrine de

snconnu (1850); i sur la vie et la
Saint-Martin (1852); Sunte-l?g'uve. lCal}un'a dy lunds,

ST MARTIN—SAINT MARYS

was in the manor of Tyburn, which takes name from the Tyburn,
a stream which flowed south to the Thames through the centre
of the present borough. The church was called St Mary at the
Bourne. The name Tyburn (g.v.) was motorious chiefly as
applied to the gallows which stood near the existing junction of

Road and Oxford Street (Marble Arch). The manor
at the Domesday Survey was in the p ion of the 'y
at Barking, but the borough includes several estates, such as the
manor of Lyllestone in the west, the name of which is preserved
in Lisson Grove. From 1738 to 1776 Marylebone Gardens (which
had existed under other names from the close of the 17th century)
became one of the most favoured evening resorts in London.
They extended east of High Street as far as Harley Street, but
by 1778 the ground was being built over. Another historic site
is Horace Street near Edgware Road, formerly Cato Street, from
which the conspiracy which bore that name was directed against
the ministry in 1820.

The borough includes almost the whole of Regent’s Park, with a
portion of Primrose Hill north of it, These have altogether an area
of 472 acres. The p-vn;lz originally Marylebone Park, was enclosed by
James 1., and recei its modern name from the Prince Regen
afterwards George IV. It contains the Zoological Gardens, one of
the most noteworthy institutions of its kind, attracting numerous
vulgon l:‘lu splendid collections of living animals. Here are also the

x. 190; A. J. Matter,
A. Franck, La Philoso,
sidcle (1866); A.E.

Sasnt- Martin, le p (1862);
hie mystique en France & la fin du dix-huitidme
aite, ;Ae'gje of Lousis Claude de Saint-Martin
glqu). There are English translations of The Ministry of Man the
piris (1864) and of Correspondence (1863) by E. B. Penny.
- ST MARTIN, an island in the West Indies, about § m. S. of
the British island of Anguilla in 18° N. and 63° W. Itis38sq.m.
in area and nearly triang; in form, posed of conical hills,
culminating in Paradise Peak (1920 ft.). It is the only island in
the Antilles owned by two European powers; 17 sq. m. in the
N., belonging to France, form a dependency of Guadeloupe,
while the rest of the island, belonging to Holland, is a dependency
of Curagao. Sugar, formerly its staple, has been succeeded by
salt. The chief town of the French area is Marigot, a free port
on the W. coast; of the Dutch, Philipsburg, on the S. St Martin
was first occupied by French freebooters in 1638,but ten years
later the division between France and Holland was peaceably
made. The inhabitants, mostly English-speaking negroes,
number about 3000 in the French part, and in the Dutch the
population in 1908 was 3817.

ST MARY (Santa Maria), an island in the Atlantic Ocean,
belonging to Portugal and forming part of the Azores (g.v.).
Pop. (1900), 6383; area, 40 3q. m. St Mary is the southernmost
and easternmost of the Azores, lying south of the larger island
of St Michael’s, through the mediam of which its trade is con-
ducted, as it has no good harbours of its own. It produces wheat
in abundance, of which a considerable quantity is exported.
Various volcanic rocks are the predominant formations, but beds
of limestone also occur, giving rise to numerous stalactite grottoes
all over the island. The chief town is Villa do Porto (2506).

ST MARYLEBONE (commonly called MARYLEBONE), & north-
western metropolitan borough of London, England, bounded
N.by Hampstead, E. by St Pancrasand Holborn, S. by the City
of Westminster, and W. by Paddington. Pop. (1901), 133,301.
It is mainly a rich residential quarter; the most fashionable part
is found in the south,in the vicinity of Cavendish and Portman
Squares, but there are numerous fine houses surrounding Regent’s
Park and in the north-western district of St John’s Wood.
Oxford Street, with its handsome shops, bounds the borough on
the south, crossing Regent Street at Oxford Circus; Edgware
Road on the west; Marylebone Road crosses from east to west,
and from this Upper Baker Street gives access to Park,
Wellington, and Finchley Roads; and Baker Street leads south-
ward. Poor and squalid streets are found, in close proximity
to the wealthiest localities, between Marylebone Road and
St John's Wood Road, and about High Street in the south, the
site of the original village. The formation of the Great Central
Railway, the Marylebone terminus of which, in Marylebone
Road, was opened in 1899, caused an extensive demolition of
streets and houses in the west central district. St Marylebone

-

gar the Royal Botanic Society, incorporated in 1839. They
are enclosed and beautifully laid out, and contain hot-houses and a
museum. Exhibitions are each year. The Toxophilite Souﬁe.
founded in 1781, bas also occupied grounds here since 188,
icturesque lake is supplied b{ﬂtbe ancient Tyburn. The Regent's
nal skirts the north side of ¢ rk. Another [amous enclosure is
Lord's Cricket Ground, St John's Wood Road. The founder, Thomas
Lord (1814), at first lished a cricket diathep Dorset
Square, but it was soon moved here. Lord’s, as it is called, is the
headquarters of the M.C.C.(Marylebone Cricket Club), the govemi:s
bodLo‘ the game; here are played the home matches of this club a
of the Mi County Cricket Club, the Oxford and Cambridge,
Eton and Harrow, and other well-known fixtures. The Wallace
Collf.;cuonlnHmlord House, Manchester Square, was b hed
_IHKSu' Richard Wallace to the nation on the death of his wife in 1897.
k exhibition na; after M. d, who fou:
it in Paris in 1780, occupies buildings in Marylebone Road.
The Parkes Museum of the Sanitary Institute is in Margaret Street.
The Queen’s Hall, Langham Place, is used for concerts, including a
notable annual series 3[ orcllestr'al promenade concerts. St Marylebone

a t p among which are the Middiesex,
Mortimer Street; ‘Throat Hospital and Dental Hol?iul a b
Great Portland Street; Lying-in and Ophthalmic Hospitals, Maryle-
bone Road; Samaritan Hospital for women, Seymour Street; Con-
sumption u-iospiul. Ma, Street; and the Home for incurable
;hil ren, St John's W, Road. There are aiso scveral industrial

omes.

Harley Street, between Marylebone Road and Cavendish
Square, is noted as the resid of medical practiti Educa-
tional institutions include the Trinity and the Victoria Colleges of
Music, in Manchester Square and Berners Street respectively; the
Bedford College for women, and the Regent’s Park Baptist (.yollegr.
The parliamentary borough of Ma: haseast and west divisions,
each returning one b b gh il ists of a
mayor, 10 aldermen and 60 councillors. Area, 14728 acres.

SAINT MARYS, a city of Auglaize county, Ohio, U.S.A., on
the Saint Marys river and the Miami & Erie canal, about 85 m.
W.N.W. of Columbus. Pop. (1910) §732. Saint Marysis served
by the Lake Erie & Western, the Western Ohio (electric), and the

oledo & Ohio Central railways. About @ m. west is & feeding
reservoir of the canal covering about 17,600 acres. Saint Marys
is in the Ohio oil region. The city occupies the site of a former
Shawnee village, in which a trading post was established in
1782 by James Girty,! from whom the place was for some years

1 James Gi 1 1817) was one of the notorious Girty brothers,
dn{mu of Sann:n(\ &?rst-y (d?ZPI). an Irish immigrant. "lr'tb?e brothers
‘were taken pris by the French and Indian force which in 1756
captured Fort Granville, in what is now Mifflin county, Pennsylvania.
James was adopted by the Shawnees and lived among them for three
years, after which he acted as an interpreter and trader; he fre-
quently jed the Indi inst the English settlers, and
exhibited the greatest feroci e cond d a profitabl ding
business with the Indians at St Marys in 1133-:-3'4. when he with-
drew to Canada upon the approach of General Wayne, and again
from 1795 until just before the Warof 1312, when he again withdrew
to Canada, where he died. His brother Simon (1741-1818), who lived
with the Senecas for several years after his capture, was even more
bloodthirsty; he served against the Indians in Lord Dunmore’s
War, and Yn 1776, during the War of 1 , en! the




ST MARY’S LOCH—ST MICHAEL'S

called Girty’s Town. Fort St Marys was built in 1784 or 1785
by a detachment of General Anthony Wayne’s troops, and in
1812 Ft. Barbee was erected at the instance of General W. H.
Harrison by Colonel Joshua Barbee. During the War of 1812
the place was for some time the headquarters of General
Harrison’s army. St Marys was laid out as a town in 1823, and
became a city in 1903 under the general municipal code which
came into effect in that year.

ST MARY’S LOCH, 2 fresh-water lake of Selkirkshire, Scotland.
It lies in the high land towards the western border, and is visited
from Selkirk (16 m. E. by N.) or Moffat (15 m. S.W.). It is
814 ft. above the sea, is from 80 to go ft. deep, 3 m. long, about
1 m. wide at its widest, and has a shore-line of 74 m. A parrow
isthmus divides its head from the small Loch of the Lowes
(about 1 m. long), which is believed to have been once part of it,
the difference of level being only 15 in. St Mary’s is emptied by
the Yarrow, and its principal feeder is Megget Water, a noted
angling stream. It takes its name from St Mary’s Kirk, the ruins
of which lie near the northern shore. From the 13th century,
when the church is first mentioned, till its destruction in 1557,
it was variously known as the Forest Kirk (in which William
Wallace was clected Warden of Scotland), St Mary’s of Farmaini-
shope, an old name of the adjoining lands of Kirkstead, St Mary
of the Lowes, and the Kirk of Yarrow. It had been partly
restored, but gradually fell into decay, its place being taken by
the church of Yarrow farther down the vale. In the graveyard
was buried John Grieve (1781-1836), the Edinburgh hatter,
a poet of some capacity, patron of James Hogg, the Ettrick
Shepherd. At the head of the lake is the celebrated inn opened
by Tibbie Shiel (Mss Richardson, d. 1878), which was visited by
many distinguished men of letters.

ST MAUR-DES-FOSSES, a south-eastern suburb of Paris,
on the right bank of the Mame, 7 m. from the centre of the city.
Pop. (1906), 28,016. St Maur and the residential district sur-
rounding it cover a peninsula formed by a loop in the Marne,
the neck of which is croseed by the canal of St Maur. In the
reign of Clovis 1I. the monastery of Les Fossés was founded;
the amplification of the name came when the body of St Maurus
was brought there by the monks of St Maur-sur-Loire. About
the same time was inaugurated the pilgrimage of Notre-Dame
des Miracles, which still takes place annually. In 1465 a treaty
of peace, putting an end to the *“ War of the Public Weal,”
was concluded between Louis XI. and his revolted barons at
St Maur.

ST MAUR-SUR-LOIRE, a village of western France in the
department of Maine-et-Loire on the Loire about 15 m. below
Saumur. Here St Maurus towards the middle of the 6th century
founded the first Benedictine monastery in Gaul. About the
middle of the gth century it was reduced to ruins by the Normans;
in anticipation of the disaster the relics of the saint were trans-
ferred to the abbey of Fossés (afterwards St Maur-des-Fossés:
sce above). St Maur-sur-Loire was afterwards restored and
fortified; the extant remains consist of a part of the church
(s2th and 17th centuries) and buildings of the 17th and 18th
centuries.

ST MAWES, a small seaport in the St Austell parliamentary
division of Cornwall, England, beautifully situated on an arm
of Falmouth Harbour. Pop. (19ot), 1178. The inlct admits only
small vessels to the little harbour, but there is a considerable
fishing industry. A large circular castle, vis-d-vis with that of
Pendennis near Falmouth, and dating from the same period
(Henry VII].), guards the entrance. Near the shore of the inlet
opposite St Mawes is the small church of St Anthony in Roseland,
an exccllent example of Early English work, retaining a good
Norman doorway.

British service as an interpreter, and after the war instigated Indian
attacks on the frontier and fought with the Indians a;a’;:m ]
Arthur St Clair and General Anthony Wayne. Another brother,
George Gir:Lo(lus-c. 1812), lived among the Delawares for several

rs, was a trader and interpreter, and was likewise a2 de.
ﬁmﬂs (1739-1820), though he associated much with the Indians,
did not participate in their wars. See W. Butterfield's Hislory of the
Giértys (Cincinnati, 1890).
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. ‘The history of St Mawes is simple. The saint of that name
is said to have made the creek of the Fal a halting-place in the
sth century. The chapel of St Mawes, pulled down in 1812,
was licensed by the bishop in 1381, and both chapel and village
were situated within the manor of Bogullos, which in the 16th
century belonged to the family of Wydeslade. In the 16th
century John Leland speaks of the castle as lately begun and
describes St Mawes as “ a quarter of a mile from the castle, a
pretty village or fishertown with a pier called St Mawes and there
is a chapel of the saint and his chair of stone and hard by his
well.” The number of houses half a century later did not exceed
twenty, and John Wydeslade, as lord of the manor of Bogullos,
owned the village. For the part which he took in the rebellion
of 1549 Wydeslade was hanged and his lands forfeited, and in
1562 the manor was granted by Queen Elizabeth to Sir Reginald
Mohun of Hall. In the same year St Mawes was incorporated
and invested with the right of returniig two members to the
House of Commons, a privilege which it enjoyed until 1832,
In 1607 the portion of the manor of Bogullos which embraced
St Mawes was sold by Sir Thomas Arundell, who had married
a daughter of Sir William Mohun, to Thomas Walker, and by
the latter it was resold to Sir George Parry, who represented
the borough in perliament from 1640 to 1642. Sir George Parry
sold St Mawes to John Tredenham, whose sons, Sir William and
Sir Joseph, and Sir Joseph’s son, John Tredenham, became
successively its parliamentary representatives. On the death of
the last named St Mawes passed by sale to John Knight, whose
widow married Robert Nugent, afterwards Earl Nugent, and
until the Reform Act of 1832 the Nugents controlled the elections
at St Mawes. The corporation, founded in 1562, which consisted
of a mayor, or portreeve, and other officers elected by about
twenty free tenants, was dissolved under the Municipal Cor-
porations Act in 183s. Its silver mace now belongs to the
corporation of Wolverhampton, to whom it passed after the
great sale of the effects of the duke of Buckingham at Stowe
in 1848, the duke having obtained it as the beir of the Earls

Nugent. .

ST MICHAEL'S (S30 Miguel), the largest island in the
Portuguese archipelago of the Azores. Pop. (1900), 121,340;
area, 297 5q. m. The east end of St Michael’s rises from a head-
land 1400 fi/ high to the inland peak of Vara (3573 ft.), whence
a central range (2000 to 2500 ft.) runs westward, terminating
on the south coast in the Serra da Agoa do Pau, about half-
way across the island. The range gradually declines in approach-
ing its last point, where it is not more than 100 ft. high. The
middle part of the island is lower, and more undulating, its
western extremity being marked by the conspicuous Serra
Gorda (1572 ft.); its shores on both sides are low, broken and
rocky. The aspect of the western portion of the island is that
of a vast truncated cone, irregularly cut off at an elevation of
about 800 ft., and falling on the north, south and west sides
to a perpendicular coast between 300 and 8oo ft. high. In the
highest parts an undergrowth of shrubs gives the mountains
a rich and wooded appearance. Like all volcanic countries,
the island has an uneven surface with numerous ravines, and
streams of semi-vitrified and scoriaceous lava which resist all
atmospheric influences and repel vegetation. Heavy rains
falling on the mountains afford a constant supply of water
to four lakes at the bottom of extinct craters, to a number of
minor reservoirs, and through them, to small rapid streams
on all sides.

Hot springs abound in many parts, and vapour issues from
almost every crevice. But the most remarkable phenomena
are the Caldeiras (“Cauldrons”), or Olhos (“‘Eyes™), i.e.
boiling fountains, which rise chiefly from a valley called the
Furnas (* Furnaces ), near the western extremity of the island.
The water rises in columns about 12 ft. high and dissolves in
vapour. The ground in the vicinity is entirely covered with
native sulphur, like hoar-frost. At a small distance is the Muddy
Crater, 45 ft. in diameter, on a level with the plain. Its contents
are in a state of continual and violent ebullition, accompanied
with a sound resembling that of a tempestuous ocean. Yet they
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never rise above its level, unless occasionally to throw to a small
distance a spray of the consistence of melted lead. The Furnas
abounds also in hot springs, some of them of a very high tempera-
ture. There is almost always, however, a cold spring near the
hot one. These bave long been visited by sufferers from palsy,
theumatism, scrofula and similar maladies. Bath-rooms and
other buildings bave been erected.

The plains of St Michael's are fertile, producing wheat,
Indian corn; vines, oranges and other fruit trees
on the sides of the mountains. plants are to spring even
from the i ices of the volcanic rocks, which are sometimes
blasted to receive them. Raised in this manner, these fruits are of
superior_quality; but the expense of such a mode of cultivation
necessarily restricts it. The western Po‘(:hepi:{::&yi(eldc)hm}&
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ST MICHAEL'S MOUNT, a lofty pyramidal island, exhibiting
a curious combination of slate and granite, rising 400 yds.
from the shore of Mount’s Bay, in Cornwall, England. It is
united with Marazion by & natural causeway cast up by the sea,
and passable only at low tide. If its identity with the Mictis
of Timaeus and the Ictis of Diodorus Siculus be allowed, St
Michael's Mount is one of the most historic spots in the west
of England. It was possibly held by a body of religious in the
Confessor's time and given by Robert, count of Mortain, to
Mount St Michael, of which Norman abbey it continued to be &
priory until the dissolution of the alien houses by Henry V.,
when it was given to the abbess and Convent of Syon. It was
a resort of pilgrims, whose devotions were encouraged by an in-
dulgence granted by Pope Gregory in the 11th century. The
Mount was captured on behalf of Prince John by Henry Pomeroy
in the reign of Richard I. John de Vere, earl of Oxford, seized
it and held it during a siege of twenty-three weeks against 6000
of the king’s troops in 1473. Perkin Warbeck occupied the
Mount in 1497. Humphry Arundell, governor of St Michael’s
Mount, led the rebellion of 1549. During the reign of Queen
Elizabeth it was given to Robert, earl of Salisbury, by whose
son it was sold to Sir Francis Basset. Sir Arthur Basset, brother
of Sir Francis, held the Mount against the parliament until
July 1646. It was sold in 1659 to Colonel John St Aubyn
and is now the property of his descendant Lord Levan. The
chapel is extra-diocesan and the castle is the residence of Lord
SL , chiefl nd f

Many relics, chiefly armour and antique furniture, are
in m"!mn? The c‘apel of St Mich::l. a beautiful 15th-centu:
building, has an embattled tower, in one angle of which is a small
turret, which served for the guidance of ships. Chapel rock, on the
beach, marks the site of a shrine dedicated to the Virgin Mary,
where pilgrims p d to hi ore ding the Mount.
A few houses are built on the hillside facing Marazion, and a
spring supplies them with water. The harbour, widened in 1823
to :llﬁw veseels of 500 tons to enter, has a pier dating from the
2sth century, and subsequently enlarged and d. Pop.
(1901), 111.

ST MIHIEL, a town of north-eastern Frarice, in the department
of Meuse, on the right bank of the Meuse and the Canal de I'Est,
23 m. S. by E. of Verdun by rail. Pop. (1906) of the town,
5943 (not including a Jarge garrison), of the commune, 9661.
St Mihiel is famous for its Benedictine abbey of St Michael,
founded in 709, to which it owes its name. The abbey buildings
(occupied by the municipal offices) date from the end of the r7th
century and the beginningof the 18th century, and the church from
the 17th century. The latter contains a wooden carving of the
Virgin by the sculptor Ligier Richier, born at St Mihiel in 1506.
Other interesting buildings are the church of St Etienne, chiefly
in the flamboyant Gothic style, which contains a magnificent
Holy Sepulchre by Ligier Richier, and several houses dating
from the 15th, 16th and 17th centuries. On the road to Verdun
are seven huge rocks, in one of which & sepulchre (18th century),
containing a life-sized figure of Christ, has been hollowed. St
Mihiel formerly possessed fortifications and two castles which
were destroyed in 1635 by the royal troops in the course of a
quarrel between Louis XIII. and Charles IV., duke of Lorraine.
‘The town is the seat of a court of assizes, and has the tribunal
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of first instance belonging to the arrondissement of Commercy
and & communal college.

ST MORITZ (in Ladin, San Muressan), the loftiest (6037 ft.)
and the most populous village of the Upper Engadine in the
Swiss canton of the Grisons. It is built above the north shore
of the lake of the same name (formed by the Inn), and is by rail
56 m. from Coire by the Albula railway, or by road 48} m. from
Martinsbruck (the last village in the Engadine), or by road 3om.,
over the Maloja Pass, from Chiavenna. In 1900 it had a popula-
tion of 1603, 475 being German-speaking, 433 Ladin-speaking,
and so4 (railway workmen) Italian-speaking, while 837 were
Protestants and 743 Catholics. The village is about 1 m. north
of the baths, an electric tramway connecting the two. Both are
now much frequented by foreign visitors. The baths (chalybeate,
sparkling with free carbonic acid) were known and much resorted
to in the 16th century, when they were described by Paracelsus;
they were visited in 1779 by Archdeacon W. Coxe. They are
frequented chiefly by non-Bnglish visitors in summer, the
English season at St Moritz being mainly the winter, for the sake
of skating and tol i (W.A.B.C)

ST NAZAIRB, a town of western France, capital of an arron-

dissement in the department of Loire-Inférieure, 40 m. W.N.W.
of Nantes by rail and 29 m. by river. Pop. (1906), 30,345. St
Nazaire, situated on the right bank of the Loire at its mouth,
is a modern town with straight thoroughfares crossing one
another at right angles. It possesses nothing of antiquarian
interest except a2 granite dolmen 10 f{t. long and s ft. wide resting
horizontally on two other stones sunk in the soil, above which
they rise 6} ft. The only noteworthy building is 8 modern church
in the Gothic style of the 14th century. The harbour, which
constitutes the outport of N and is accessible to ships
of the largest size, is separated from the estuary by a narrow
strip of land, and comprises an outer harbour and entrance,
two floating docks (the old dock and the Penhou¥t dock), three
graving docks, and the extensive shipbuilding yards of the Loire
Company and of the General Transatlantic Company whose
steamers connect St Nazaire with Mexico, the Antilles and the
Isthmus of Panama. Ships for the navy and the mercantile
marine are built, and there are important steel-works, blast-
furnaces, forges, and steam saw-mills. The town is the seat of a
sub-prefect, and has a tribunal of first instance, a board of trade-
arbitration, an exchange, & chamber of ¢ ¢, a com 1
college, and schools of navigation and industry. Next to British
and French, Spanish, Norwegian and Swedish vessels most
frequent the port. In the decade 1898-1907 the value of imports
greatly fluctuated, being highest in 1898 (£2,800,000) and lowest
in 1904 (£1,688,000), the average for each of the ten years being
£2,280,000. The value of the exports in the same period varied
bétween 3,724,000 in 1899 and £1,396,000 in 1906, the average
being £2,035,200. Imports include coal and patent fuel, iron
ore pyrites, timber, rice and hemp; exports include iron
ore,.coal and patent fuel, pit wood, sugar, garments and woven
goods, preserved fish, and wine and spirits.
According to remains discovered on excavating the docks, St
Ni °  esems to occupy the site of the ancient Cordilo, by
St the more important maritime towns of Gaul. At the
h century the site of Corbilo was occupied by Saxons,
version to Christianity being effected one or two hun-
er by St Felix of Nantes, the place took the name of
It was still only a little “ bourg "' of some 3000 in-
n under second empire it was chosen as the site
rbour for Nantes, because the ascent of the Loire was
‘e and more difficult. In 1868 the sub-prefecture was
St Nazaire from Savenay.

ST NECTAIRE (corrupted into S terre and S terre),
the name of an estate in Auvergne, France, which gave its name
to a feudal house holding distinguished rank in the 13th century.
The eldest branch of this family beld the marquisate of La
Ferté (¢.9.), and produced a heroine of the religious wars of the
16th century, Madeleine de St Nectaire, who married Guy de St
Exupéry, seigneur de Miremont, in 1548, and fought successfully
at the head of the Protestants in her territory against the troops
of the League. To the same house belonged the branches of the
marquises of Chiteauneuf, the seigneurs of Brinon-sur-Sauldre
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and St Victour, and the seigneurs of Clavelier and Fontenilles,
all of which arc now extinct. (M. P.%)
ST NEOTS (pronounced St Neets), a market town in the
southern parliamentary dlvision of Huntingdoashire, England,
on the right (east) bank of the Ouse, st} m. N. of London by
the Great Northern railway. Pop. of urban district, (1901)
3880. A stone bridge crosses the river, built in 1589 from the
mmo(nfomrpmry.ThepamhchurcbotSt Mary isa
fine P:lpendmuhr building of the later 1sth century. The
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interest, among them St Sepulchre (14th century), which has a
beautiful stone spire and stained-glass windows. A fine collection
of records, a picture-gallery, and a theatre are all accommodated
in the town hall, built of the materials of the abbey of St Bertin.
There are several houses of the 16th and 17th centuries; of
the latter the finest is the Hbtel Colbert once the royal bd,gmg,
and now occupied by an arc um. A the
hospitals the military hospital is of note as occupying the well-
known oolle;e opened by the English Jumu in 1592. The old

original oak roof is noteworthy. Among other buildings may
be mentioned the Victoria museum (1887), the library and
literary institute, and the enduwed school (1760). Paper-mills,
breweries, flour-mills,and engineering works furnish the chief
industries of the town.

The name of St Neots is derived from the monastery founded
in the adjoining parish of Eynesbury in the reign of Klng Edgar
(967-975). St Neot, a priest of Glastonbury Abbey in S
became a recluse at a place which he named Neotstoke, near
Bodmin in Cornwall, where he died about the end of the gth
century. His shrine at Eynesbury being threatened by the
incursion of the Danes early in the 11th century, the relics were
conveyed to Crowland Abbey, in Lincolnshire, of which he
became one of the patron saints. But in 1112 the monastery
was refounded from that of Bec in Normandy. An Anglo-Saxon
enamelled mosaic in the Ashmolean Museum at Oxford is
supposed to contain a portrait of St Neot. In 1648 a troop of
Royalists under the command of Villiers, dukc of Buckingham,
was routed in St Neots by the Parliamentarians.

ST NICOLAS, a town of Belgium in the province of East
Flanders, about 12 m. S.W. of Antwerp. Pop. (1904), 32,767.
1t is the principal town of Waes, formerly a district of bleak and
barren downs, but now the most productive part of Belgium.
St Nicolas is the centre and distributing point of this district,
being an important junction on the direct line from Antwerp
to Ghent; it has also many manufactures of its own. The
principal church dedicated to St Nicolas was finished in 1696,
but the other public buildings are only of the rgth century.

ST NICOLAS, or St NicoLas bu PoRrT, a town of north-eastern
France, in the department of Meurthe-et-Moselle, on theleft bank
of the Meurthe, 8 m. S.E. of Nancy by rail. Pop. (1906), 4796.
The town has a fine Gothic church dating from the end of the

] palace ud)oimng the cathedral is used as a coun-houe.
The chief statue in the town is that of Jacqueline Robin (sec
below). St Omer is the seat of a sub-prefect, of a court of assizes,
of tribunals of first instance and of commerce, of a chamber
ot commerce, and of 2 board of trade arbitration. Besides the
Iyoee there are schools of music and of art. The industries
the facture of linen goods, sugar, soap, tobacco-
pipes, and mustard, the distilling of oil and liqueurs, dyeing,
salt-refining, mnlting and brewing. The suburb of Haut Pont
to the north of St Omer is inhabited by a special stock, which has
remained faithful to the Flemish tongue, its original costume
and its peculiar customs, and is distinguished by honesty and
industry. The ground which these people cultivate has been
reclaimed from the marsh, and the légres (i.c. the square blocks
of land) communicate with each other only by boats floated on
the ditches and canals that divide them. At the end of the marsh,
on the borders of the forest of Clairmarais,are the ruins of the
abbey founded in 1140 by Thierry d’Alsace, to which Thomas
Becket betook himself in1165. To the south of St Omer, on a
hill commanding the Aa, lies the camp of Helfaut, often called
the camp of St Omer. On the Canal de Neuf-Fossé, near the
town, is the Ascenscur des Fontinettes, a hydraulic lift enabling
canal boats to surmount a difference of level of over 40 ft.
Omer, bishop of Thérouanne, in the 7th century established
the monastery of St Bertin, from which that of Notre-Dame
was an offshoot. Rivalry and dissension, which lasted till
the Revolution, soon sprang up between the two monasteries,
becoming especially virulent when in 1559 St Omer became a
bishopric and Notre-Dame was raised to the rank of cathedral.
In the gth century the village which grew up round the mona-
steries took the name of St Omer. The Normans laid the place
waste about 860 and 880, but ten years later found town and

1sth and the first half of the 16th century, and a
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finger-joint of St Nicolas formerly the object of piigrimages.

which were themselves the origin of well-known fairs. The
latter became less important after 1635, when the Swedes sacked
the town. There are important salt-workings in the vicinity;
cotton spinning and weaving are carried on. Its port, shared
with Varangéville on the opposite side of the river, has an active
trade.

ST OMER, a town and fortress of northern France, capital
of the department of Pas-de-Calais, 42 m. W.N.W. of Lille on
the railway to Calais. Pop. (1906), 17,261. At St Omer begins
the canalized portion of the Aa, which reaches the sca at Grave-
lines, and under its walls it connects with the Neuffossé canal,
which' ends at the Lys. The fortifications were demolished
during the last decade of the 19th century and boulevards and
new thoroughfares made in their place. There are two harbours
ouwdc and one within the city. St Omer has wide streets and

spacious squares, .but little animation. The old cathedral
btlongs almost entirely to the 13th, 14th and 1sth centuries.
A beavy square tower finished in 1499 surmounts the west portal.
The church contains interesting paintings, a colossal statue of
Christ seated between the Virgin and St John (13th century,
originally belonging to the cathedral of Thérouanne and presented
by the emperor Charles V.); the cenotaph of St Omer (13th
century) and numerous ex-votos. The richly decorated chapel
in the transept contains a wooden figure of the Virgin (12th
century), the object of pilgrimages. Of St Bertin, the church of
the abbey (built between 1326 and 1520 on the site of previous
churches) where Childeric III. retired to end his days, there

remain some arches and a lofty tower, which serve to adorn a-

public garden, Several other churches or convent.chapels are of

sur ded by walls and safe from their attack.
Situated on the borders of territories frequently disputed by
French, Flemish, English and Spaniards, St Omer long continued
subject to siege and military disaster. In 1071 Philip I. and
Count Amulf III. of Flanders were defeated at St Omer by
Robert the Frisian. In 1127 the town received a communal
charter from William Clito, count of Flanders. In 1493 it came
to the Low Countries as part of the Spanish dominion. The
French made futile attempts against it between 1551 and 1596,
and again in 1638 (under Richelieu) and 1647. But in 1677, after
seventcen days’ siege, Louis XIV. forced the town to capitulate;
and the peace of Nijmwegen permanently confirmed the con-
quest. In 1711 St Omer, on the verge of surrendering to Prince
Eugene and the duke of Marlborough, owing to famine, was
saved by the daring of Jacqueline Robin, who risked her life in
bringing provisions into the place. St Omer ceased to be a
bishopric in 1801.

See L. Deschamps de Pas, Hist. de la ville de Saint-Omer (2nd ed.,
Arras, 1881). Fora Iull bibliography of other works see U. Chzvahcr.
Répertoire des sources hist. to tographie (Montbéliard, 1903),
ii. 2743 seq.

SAINTON, PROSPER PHILIPPE CATHERINE (1813-1890),
French violinist, was the son of a merchant at Toulouse, where
he was born on the sth of June 18:3. He entered the Paris
Conservatoire under Habeneck in 1831, and became professor
of the violin in the Conservatoire of Toulouse. In 1844 he made
his first appearance in England, at a Philharmonic concert
directed by Mendelssohn. Settling in London, he was in 1845
appointed professor at the Royal Academy of Music. In the
early organizations for chamber music which culminatedin the
establishment of the Popular concerts, Sainton bore an important
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part; and when the Royal Italian Opera was started at Covent
Garden, he led the orchestra under Costa, with whom he migrated
to Her Majesty’s Theatre in 1871. From 1848 to 1855 he was
leader of the Queen’s Band, and in 1862 he conducted the music
at the opening of the International Exhibition. In 1860, he
marricd the famous contralto singer, Miss Charlotte Dolby (see
below). He was leader of the principal provincial festivals for
many years, and gave a farewell concert'at the Albert Hall in
1883. He died on the 17th of October 18go. His method was
sound, his style artistic, and his educational work of great value,
the majority of the most successful orchestral violinists having
been his pupils.

SAINTON-DOLBY, CHARLOTTE HELEN (1821-1885), English
contralto Singer, was born in London on the 17th of May 1821,
studied’ at the Royl.l Audemy of Music from 1832 to 1837,
Crivelli being her principal In 1837 she was
elected to 2 king's schohnhip, and first appeared at a Phil-
barmonic concert in 1841. In October 1845 she sang at the
Gewandhaus, Leipzig, through the influence of Mendelssohn,
who had been delighted by her singing in St Paxl. The contralto
music in his Elijak was written for her voice, but she did not
appear in that work till the performance at Exeter Hall on the
16th of April 1847. She married M. Sainton in 1860, and in
1870 she retired from the career of a public singer, but two years
afterwards started a “ vocal academy” in London. She made
various successful at as a c and the cantatas
¢ The Legend of St Dorothea” (1876), “The Story of the Faithful
Soul ”’(1879), and “ Florimel ” (1885), enjoyed considerable
success. Her last public appearance was at her husband’s
farewell concert in June 1883, and she died on the 18th of
February 188s. A scholarship in her memory was founded at
the Royal Academy of Music. Her voice was of mod power

SAINTON-DOLBY—ST PAUL

ing N. to the boundary of the county of London. Pop. (1901)
235,317, In the south it includes a residential district, contain-
ing boarding-houses and private hotels. In the centre are
Camdcn Town and Kentish Town, and in the north, where part
of Highgate is included, are numerous villas, in the vicinity of
Parliament Hill, ad)ommg Hampstead Heath. A thorough-
fare called lumnively Tottenham Court Road, Hampstead
Road, High Street Camden Town, Kentish Town Road, and
Highgate Road, runs from south to north; Euston Road
crosses it in the south,and Camden Road and Chalk Farm Road
branch from it at C Town. Besides the g part of
Parliament Hill (267 scres), purchased for the public use in
1886, the borough includes a small part of Regent’s Park (mainly
in the borough of St Marylcbone) and Waterlow Park (29 acres)

‘on the slope of Highgate Hill. It also contains the termini,

King's Cross, St Pancras, and Euston, of the Great Northern,
Midiand, and London and North Western railways, with extensive
goods depdts of these companies. The parish church of St
Pancras in the Fields, near Pancras Road, has lost its ancient
character owing to reconstruction, though retaining several
early monuments. The new church in Euston Road (1822) is
aremarkableadaptation of classical models. Amonginstitutions,
University College, Gower Street, was founded in 1826, and
provides education in all branches common to universities
excepting theology. With the department of medicine is con-
nected the University College Hospital (1833) opposite the
College. There are several other hospitals; among them the
Royal Free Hospital (Gray’s Inn Road), the North-west London
hospital, Kentish Town, and, in Euston Road, the British
(Forbes Winslow memorial) hospital for mental disorders,
Bnush hospllal for skin duuses, and New hospital for women,

d by ysicians. St Katherine’s Hospital,

and of fine quality, but it was her dignified and artistic style that
gave her the high place she held for so many years both in
oratorio and ballads.

SAINTONGE, one of the old provinces of France, of which

Saintes (¢.v.) was the capital, was bounded on the N.W. by | pat:

Aunis, on the N.E. by Poitou, on the E. by Angoumois, on the
S. by Guienne, and on the W. by Guienne and the Atlantic.
It now forms a small portion of the department of Charente and
the greater part of that of Charente Inféricure. In the time of
Caesar, Saintonge was occupied by the Santones, whose capital
was Mediolanum; afterwards it was part of Aquitania Secunda.
The civilas Santonum, which formed the bishopric of Saintes,
was divndcd into two pagi: Sanmmu (whence Sanctonia,
) and Ali , later Alni (Aunis). Halved by
the tmty of 1259, it was wholly ceded to the king of England
in 1360, but reconquered by Du Guesclin in 1371. Up to 1789
it was in the same gouvernement with Angoumois, but from a
judiciary point of view Saintonge was under the parlement
of Bordeaux and Angoumois under that of Paris.
assiou, Histoire polit: civile et religieuse de la Sainlon,
P it (6 vols., :s;se‘:'s?'gf'znd od., 1845); B, D. Rainguer,
ngmplm nmm%msz See also the pubbunom lle
la Sasntonge et de I' Aunis (1874 fol.).
ST OUEN, an industrial town of northern France, in the
department of Seine, on the right bank of the Seine 1 m. N.
of the fortifications of Paris. Pop (1906) 37,673. A chiteau of
the early xgth century occupies the site of a chiteauof the
17th century bought by Madame de Pompadour in 1745, where
in 1814 Louis XVIII. signed the declaration promising a con-
stitutional charter to France. Previously there existed a chiteau
built by Charles of Valois in the early years of the r4th century,
where King John the Good inaugurated the short-lived order of
the Knighu of.* Notre Dame de la noble maison,” called also
the“ ordre de I'étoile.” The industries of St Ouen include
metal founding, engineering and mulnne construc!um and the
manufacture of government uniforms, pi
&c. It has important docks on the Seine anda uce-coune
ST PANCRAS, a northern metropolitan borough of London,
England, bounded E. by Islington, S.E. by Finsbury, S. by
Holboyn, and W. by St Marylebone and Hampstead, and extend-

a plcturesque bunldmg overlooking Regent's Park, with a chapel
containing some relics of antiquity, was settled here (1825) on
the formation of the St Katherine’s Docks near the Tower of
London, wherc lt was founded by Queen Matilda in 1148. Its

ronage been iated with and here
was established the Queen Victoria Home for Nurses of the poor,
founded out of the women's gift of money to the Queen at her
jubilee (1887). Other institutions are the London School of
Medicine for women, the Royal Veterinary College and the
Aldenham technical institute. The Passmore Edwards Settle-
ment, taking name from its principal benefactor, was founded
largely through the instrumentality of Mrs Humphry Ward.
Near Regent’s Park is Cumberland Market. The parliamentary
borough of S5t Pancras has north, south, east and west divisions,:
each returning one member. ‘l'lle bdmugh council consists of
a mayor, 10 aldermen and 6o councillors. Area, 2694-4 acres.

St Pancras is mentioned in Domesday as belongn:i to the chapter
of St Paul's Cathedral, in which body the lordship of the manors of
Cantelows (Kentish Town) and Totenhall (Tottenham Court) .was
also invested. mden Town takes name (rom Baron Camden
(d. s lefﬁ‘)' Jord chancellor under George I11. King’s Cross was so

rom a statue of George 1V, erected in ls%nsmtly ridiculed
and removed in 1845, but an carlier mme. Bnt ge. tradition-
ally derived from the stand of
or from one of Alfred's contests wnlh the Danes. Somen Tow
between King's Cross and Cai Town, was formerly mhabut;l
by refugees from the French Revolution, many of whom were bu
in St Pancras churchyard. In the locality of Somers Town tbm
were formerly to be traced earthworks of un n age, which William
Stukeley ar[ued had belonged to aRmnan camp of Julius Caesar.
Attached to the former manor-house of Totenhall was one of the
famous pleasure resorts of the 17th and 18th cemunu. and from
¢ I'{.&) to the middle of the 19th century the gardens at Bagnigge

(ng'-CrouRond)mgmty avoured; there were here,

ST le.. 3 volunic hhnd in the southern Indian Ocean,
in 38° 42° 50" S, 77° 32’ 29" E., 60 m. S. of Amsterdam Island,
belonging to France. The two islands belong to two separate
eruptive areas characterized by quite different products;and
the comparative bareness of St Paul contrasts with the dense
vegetation of Amsterdam. On the north-east of St Paul, which
bas an area of 2} sq. m., is a land-locked bay, representing the
old crater, with its rim broken down on one side by the sea.
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‘The highest ridge of the island is not more than 820 ft. above
the sea. On the south-west side the coasts are inaccessible.
According to Vélain, the island originally rose above the ocean
as a mass of rhyolitic trachyte similar to that which still forms
the Nine Pin rock to the north of the entrance to the crater.
Next followed a period of activity in which basic rocks were
produced by submarine eruptions—lavas and scoriae of anorthitic
character, palagonitic tuffs, and basaltic-ashes; and finally
from the crater, which must have been a vast lake of fire like
those in the Sandwich Islands, poured forth quiet streams of
basaltic lavas which are seen dipping from the centre of the
island towards the cliffs at angles of 20° to 30°. The only remain-
ing indications of volcanic activity are the warm springs and
emanations of carbon dioxide.
See C. Vé#ain, Passage de Vénns sur le soleil (9 décembre 1874).
L (Pam. 1877).
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Description presqu'tle &' Aden . .s
Pasl :‘24 Ty (Pani, 1878). and an article in Amlc: de
géogra

ST PAUL the capital of Minnesota, U.S.A., and .the county-
seat of Ramsey county, situated on the Mississippi river, about
2150 m. above its mouth, at the practical head of navigation,
just below the Falls of St Anthony. It is about 360 m. N.W.
of Chicago, lllinois, and its W. limits directly touch the limits
of Minneapolis. Pop. (1880) 41,473; (1890) 133,156; (1900)
163,632, of whom 46,819 were foreign-born (12,035 Germans,
9852 Swedes, 4892 Irish, 3557 English-Canadians, 2900
Norwegians, 2005 English, 1488 Austrians, 1343 Bohcemians,
1206 Danes, and tors French-Canadians), 100,509 of foreign
parentage (ic. both parents foreign born), and 2263 negroes;
(1910 census) 214,744. Land area (1906) s2-28 sq. m. St
Paul is served by the Chicago, Burlington & Quincy, the Chicago
Great Western, the Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific, the Northern
Pacific, the Minneapolis, St Paul & Sault Ste Marie, the Chicago
& North-western, the Chicago, Milwaukec & St Paul, the Great
Northern, and the Minneapolis & St Louis railways. Five
bridges span the Mississippi, the largest of which, known' as
High Bridge, is 2770 ft. long and 200 L. high. Four interurban
lines connect with Minneapolis.

St Paul is attractively situated 670-880 ft. gbove sea-level,
on a series of lofty limestone terraces or bluffs, formerly huvnly
wooded. It lics on both sides of the river, but the principal part is
on the east bank. In its park system the numerous lakes within
and near the city have becn utilized. Of the parks, Como Park
(425 acres; including Lake Como and a fine Japanesc garden
and alily pond),and Phalen Park (6oo acres, more than 400 of
which are water area), are the largest. There are also 47 smaller
squares and “‘ neighbourhood parks ” aggregating 560 acres.
In Indian Park (135 acres), at the crest of the bluffs (Dayton's
Bluffs), in the east central part of the city, are burial-mounds
of the Sioux. Summit Avenue Boulevard, 200 ft. wide and

extending for 2§ m. along the heights, is a fine residential street.

Boulevards along the bluffs on euhet side of the river connect
with the Mi park Harriet Island, in the
Mississippi river opposne the business centre of the city, is
attractively parked, and on it are public paths. Adjoining the
city on the south-west, at the junction of the Minnesota and
Mississippi rivers, is the Fort Snelling U.S. Government Military
Keservation, with a round gtone fort, built in 1820. The principal
public building is the State Capitol, completed in 190s. It was
designed by Cass Gilbert (b. 1859),is of Minnesota granite and
white Georgia marble with & massive central white dome, and
has sculptural decorations by D. C.French and interior decora-
tions by Jobn La Farge, E. H. Blashfield, Elmer E. Garnsey
(b. 1862), and Edward Simmons (b. 1852). Other prominent
bu:ldings are the City Hall and Court House, a Gothic greystone
struclure; the Federal building, of greystone, opposite Rice
Park; a Young Men’s Christian Association building; the
Metropolitan Opera House; the Auditorium, which was built by
public subscription; the St Paul armoury (19os), with s drill
hall; the Chamber of Commerce; and the Union railway station.
Among the principal churches are the Roman Catholic Cathedral,
and the People’s, the Central Presbyterian, the Park Cangre-
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gational, and the First Baptist churches. The wholesale district
is in the lower part of the city near the Union railway station;
the retail shops are mostly in an area bounded by Wabasha,
Seventh, Fourth and Roberts strcets.

St Paul has an excellent public school system, which included
in 19og three high schools, a teachers’ training school, a manual
training bigh school, forty-eight grade schools, and a parental
school. Among other educational institutions are the Freeman
School; St Paul Academy; Barnard School for Boys; St
Paul College of Law (1900); the College of St Thomas (Roman
Catholic, 1885); St Paul Seminary (Roman Catholic, 1894),
founded by James J. Hill as the provincial seminary of the
ecclesiastical province of St Paul with an endowment of $500,000,
40 acres of land,anda library of 10,000 volumes; Luther
Theological Seminary (1885); Hamline University (co-educa-
tional; Methodist Episcopal), chartered in 1854, with'a medical
school in Minneapolis (chartered 1883; part of Hamline since
1895), and having in the college and preparatory school, in 1go8-
1909, 17 instructors and 384 students; Macalester College
(Pmsb) terian; co-educational), founded as Baldwin Institute
in 1853, reorganized and renamed in 1874 in honour of 'a bene-
factor, Charles Macalester (1798-1873) of Philadelphia; and the
School of Agriculture (1888) and the Agricultura)]

Station (1887) of the University of Minnesota, in St Anthony
Park, west of Como Park and south of the fair grounds. ‘Among
the hbnnu are the City Public Library, the State Law Library
and the Minnesota Historical Society Library. The Minnesota
Historical Society, orgamud in 1849, bas an archaeological
collection in the east wing of the Capitcl. Intheprivateresidence
of James J. Hill is a notable art gallery, containing one of the
largest and best collections of the Barbizon School in existence.
The principal newspapers are the Dispaick (Independent, 1878)
and the Pamer—l’nx:, the latter established by James M.

.Goodhue (1800-1852) in 1849. Among the hospitals and charit-

able institutions are the City and Cwnly, St Joseph’s and
St Luke’s hospitals, all having nurses’ training schools; the
Swedish Hospital, the Scandinavian Orphan Asylum, the Home
for the Friendless, the Magdnlcn Home and the Women’s
Christian Home. Within the city limits (east of Indian Mounds
Park) is the Willowbrook (nate) Fish Hatcbery second to none
in the United States in comp of p ; and adjoin-
ing the city on thé north-west are the extensive gmundx (200
acres) and buildings of the State Agricultural Society, where
fairs are held annually.

Although as a manufacturing city St Paul, not possessing
the wonderful water-power of its sister city, does not equal
Minneapolis, yet as a commercial and wholesale distributing
centre it is in some respects superior, and it is the principal
jobbing market of the North-west. Situated at the natural
head of navigation on the Mississippi, it has several competing
lines of river steamboats in addition to the shipping facilities
provided by its railways and the lines of the Minnesota Transfer
Co., a belt line with 62 m. of track encircling St Paul and Minne-
apolis. St Paul is the port of entry for the Minncsota Customs
District, and imports from Canada and from the Orient via the
Pacific railways constitute an important factor in its commercial
life, its imports and exports werc valued at $6,154,289 and
$0,009,040 respectively in 19o9. Coal and wood, grain, farm
produce and dairy products are important exports. St Paul
is the principal market in the United States for the furs of the
North-west, and there are extensive stock-yards and slaughtering
and packing houses in the neighbouring city of South St Paul
(pop. in 1910, 4510), St Paul ranks second to Minneapolis
among the cities of the state as a manufacturing centre. The
total value of its factory products in 1905 was $38,318,704,
an increase of 27-5% since 1900. The following were among
the largest items: fur goods; printing and publishing—book
(cspmnlly hw bool) and job, newspapers and periodicals;
malt 1 H ilway car building and repairing; bonts
and shoa loundry and machmc shop products; lumber and
planing- rmll products; men's clothing; tobacco, cigars and
cigarettes; and saddlery and harness.
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St Paul is governed under a charter of 19oo, which may be
ded by popular vote on proposals made by a permanent
charter commission. The mayor, comptroller and city treasurer
are elected for two years. The mayor has the veto power and
appoints the members of boards of police, parks, library, fire,
watér-supply and education. The legislature is bicameral,
consisting of an assembly of nine members elected on a general
city ticket and a board of aldermen chosen one from each of the
twelve wards. The water-supply is pumped through 275 m. of
water mains from a group of lakes north of the city, and ‘the
system has a capacity of 40,000,000 gallons per day.
History.—The earliest recorded visit of a European to the
site of St Paul was that of the Jesuit Louis Hennepin in 1680.
The traders Pierre Le Sueur and Nicholas Perrot visited the
region between 1690 and 1700, and apparently established a
temporary trading post somewhere in.the neighbourhood. The
first man of English descent to record his visit was Jonathan
Carver, who, according to his journal, spent some time in the
vicinity in 1767-1768. - In 1805 Lieut. Zebulon M. Pike con-
cluded a treaty with the Sioux. The first steamboat made
its way up the river in 1823. The site of St Paul was opened to
settlement by the treaty of Prairie du Chien, negotiated by
Governor Henry Dodge of Wisconsin with the Chippewasin
1837. Two years later (1839) the first permanent settlement
was made by Swiss and Canadian refugees from Lord Selkirk’s
Red River colony. In 1841 Father Lucien Gaultier erected a
log mission chapel, which he named St Paul’s; from this the
settlement was named St Paul’s Landing and finally St Paul.
On the erection of Minnesota Territory in 1849, St Paul was
incorporated as a village and became the Territorial capital. Its
population in 1850 was only 1112. It was chartered as a city
in 1854, and continued as the capital of the new state after its
admission (1858). The first railway connecting St Paul and
Minneapolis was completed in 1862, at which time St Paul’s
population exceeded 10,000 and in 1869 through railway con-
nexion with Chicago was effected. The city of West St Paul
was annexed in 1874. The growth of the city had been com-
paratively slow until 1870, in which year the population was
20,030; but the rapid railway construction and the settlement
and clearing of the Westerp farm lands increased its commercial

ST PAUL’S CATHEDRAL

was a magnificent monument of these styles, and of the early
Decorated. Perpendicular additions were not extensive, and the
cathedral remained with little alteration until x561, when
lightning struck the spire and fired the church. The spire
was never rebuilt. In the time of James L the fabric had so
far decayed that the king was prevailed upon to make a personal
examination of it, and Inigo Jones was entrusted with the work
of i In dance with the architectural tendencies
of his time he added a classical portico to the west front, and
made similar alterations to the ts. Again, however, in

‘1666 the bad state of the fabric necessitated extensive repair,
scheme

and Dr (afterwards Sir) Christopher Wren furnished a

including a central dome. All his plans were complete in August
of that year, but in September the great fire of London almost
destroyed the building, and rendered what was left unsafe and

be*ond restoration
i of the d of the old cathedral differ, Stow
making the extreme length ﬁo ft., but modern investigations give
596 ft. The internal ht of the choir was 101 ft., and that of-the
nave, which was of twelve bays, 93 ft., and the extreme breadth
of the building was 104 ft. The summit of the wondcrful was
ft. above the ground. The present building is wid:t.&:i the
old, and its orientation is more northerly, but its northern, eastern
a hern pproxi ly correspond with those
old St Paul's, the west front of which, h , with its flanki
towers, lay nearly 100 {t. west of Wren's front. It should be noticed
that the eastern part of the old cathedral incorporated the original
parish church of St Faith after 1255, when part of the new crypt
was allotted to tt,l;e g;:mh in return, Monove&dn ancient church
ptachpet hedral on

of St Gregot¥ Paul y

south-west. In the angle west of the south transert lay a cloister,
in the midst of which was the octagonal chapter housé, dating from
1332. To the north-east of the cathedral stood Paul’s Cross, in an
open devoted to public meetings; it included a pulpit, and
here religious disputations were held and papal bulls promulgated.
In 1643 it was but a new cross, erected under the will of
H. C. Richards, K.C., M.P., was unveiled in 1910.

The formal provision for the rebuilding of the cathedral was
made in 1668, and the foundation stone was laid in 1675. The
first service was held in it in 1697, and the last stone was set in
placein 1710. The cost is curiously estimated, but was probably
about {850,000, the greater part of which was defrayed by a
duty on sca-borne coal. The material is Portland stone. Wren
had to face many difficulties. He naturally insisted on the style

and industrial importance as it did that of its sister city, Minne-
apolis. In 1884 the city limits were extended to the Minneapolis
line.

See F. C. Bliss, St Paul, ils Past and Present (St Paul, 188\82;
C. C. Andrews, Hislory 01',71 Paul, Minnesota (Syracuse, N.Y.,
1890); Warner and Foote, History of Ra: County and the City o]
St Pauwl (Minneapolis, 1881); C. (elt%r!y’l‘mdenndTﬁdcn
in St Paul,” and A. L. Larpenteur, ‘‘ Recollections of the City and
People of St Paul,” both in the Minnesota Historical Society's
Collections, vol. ix. (1901).

ST PAUL’S CATHEDRAL, the cathedral church of the diocese
of London, England, standing in the heart of the City, at the
head of Ludgate Hill. (For plan, &c., see ARCHITECTURE:
Renaissance in England.) The name of a bishop of London,
Restitutus, is recorded in 314, but his individuality and even
his existence are somewhat doubtful, and nothing is known of
the existence of a church until Bede’s notice that early in the
7th century one was built here by ZEthelberht of Kent at the
instance of the missionary Mellitus, who became bishop. Tradi-
tion placed upon the site a Roman temple of Diana. The church
was dedicated to St Paul, and, after passing through many
vicissitudes, was removed in 1083, when Bishop Maurice, with
the countenance of William the Conqueror, undertook the
erection of a new cathedral. The building was not pressed
forward with vigour, and in 1735 much of it was damaged by
fire. The tower was completed in 1221; an Early English
choir followed shortly after, and was enlarged after 1255 when
Bishop Fulk brought great energy to bear upon the repair and
elaboration of the building. At the close of the century the
cathedral was regarded as finished; but a new spire was built
early in the 14th century. Much of the Norman work, purticu-
larly in the nave, had been left untouched by the Early Engli
builders (who in other parts merely encased it), and the cath:

of the R e, and his first design was for a building in the
form of a Greek cross, but the general desirc was that at least
the ground-plan of the old English cathedrals should be followed,
and the form of a Latin cross was forced upon him. He offered
various further designs, and one was accepted, but Wren set
the broadest construction upon the permission granted him to
alter its ornamental details, and luckily so. The extreme length
of the building is 513 ft., the breadth across the transepts 2481t.,
of the nave 122 ft., of the west front 179 ft. The length of the
nave is 223 ft., and of the choir 168 ft., leaving 122 ft. beneath
the dome at the crossing. The cross at the top of the lantern
above the dome is 363 ft. above the ground.

The cathedral is approached on the west from an open pavement,
on which stands a statue of Queen Anne. There is also an inscription
marking the spot on which Queen Victoria returned thanks gn the
occasion of her Diamond Jubilee (1897). A broad flight o?nn
leads up to the west front, of two orders, flanked by towers. In ﬂ:
north tower is a chime of bells; in the south the clock, with the old
great bell (1716), tolled on the death of certain high personages,
and the new t bell, placed in 1882, weighing about 17 tons.
The nave is of four bays, with aisles, and chapels of one bay width
immediately east of the western towers. transepts are of two
bays, and are entered by north and south porches approached by
circular flights of steps.” On the pediment of the south h is
sculptured a phoenix with the inscription Resurgam (1 m rise
l‘tilg;;n llusion to a f: pisode. Wren, planning his site
and desiring to mark in the ground the point of the centre of his
dome, ¢ workman bring a piece of stone for the purpose.
He picked up at hazard a fragment of an ancient tombstone bearing
this single word, which Wren adopted as a motto. The choir of four
bays terminates in an apse, but the rich and lofty modern reredos
stands forward, and the apse is thus divided off from the body of
the church and forms the Jesus chagel. The choir stalls are a fine
example of the work of Gnnling Gibbons. The dome is supported

the four vast piers in the angles of the cross, within which are:
small chambers, and by eight inner piers. The spandrels between the
arches which stand upon these piers are or d with :




ST PAUL’S ROCKS—ST PETERSBURG

mtddumdc I-'W-tuudothen.mwdby&lmﬁ.

37

T PORT, the chief town of Guemsey, one of the

Ly

in mosr’ = fesee “'"""rn of thi- === ~qg enu‘uuea to Sir
W. B. llery known as
the Wt r can be easily
heard f e are pil
with sq ur intervening
xwu: »ntedin mono-
rome ts completion;
but the he atmosphere
:l:i x e m‘l;le'l; wall of
npennx
Gallery , extendin
102 Pos..  atr avuve sie top of Lo ... ciual p:lauen. rn

this point upward the dome is of mple connmcuon, conmun (1)
he:’;:erdomeolb k, at the top to render fant
visible from below; (2) a brick cont. ‘the principal member of the
structure, bearing the hn visible from without,
of lrad on a wooden f! ’i‘hegoldengalkryatthebnno‘the
lantern (top of the ouw dome) is about 65 ft. above the top of the
inner dome.

The monuments in St Paul’s are numerous, though not to be
compared with those in Westminster Abbey. The most nouble is
that in the nave to the duke of Wellington (d. 1852) by Alfred
Stxven; In the crypt, which extends beneath the entire building,

are many tombs and memorials—that of Nelson in_ the centre
beneath the dome, t! many famous artists in the so-cal
l’aunm Corner, ll‘ld in the ooutb choir aisle that of Wren himself,
hose grave is wsked only by a plain slab, with the w(ellil'moh:n
nucnpuon ending Si monumenium requiris, circums, * If thou
.a monument, look about thee”). Above t"h:‘mth-wut
chapel in the nave is the chapter library, with man mtmmg
inted books, MSS. and drawings relating to the cat| For
Paul’s School, established by John Colet, dean, and lormerly
adjacent to the cathednl see the article on HAIISRSIIN!. whither
it was subsequently removed.
Au-ruolm;.:'—hmldw or Mem: (of Sir Chnstopher Wren),

X

completed Ci now published b{ hss Grandson,
Stephen Wren (London, 175 Sn- William Dugdale, H: of St
Paxl’s (1818); Dun Milman, Annals of St Pawul's (1868); nl iam
Longman, The Three Cathedrals dedicated to St Paul (1873) Docyu-

ments illwuliu lhe Hﬂ:lo" of St Pawl's (Camden Soclely. 1880);

Rev. W. Sparrow-Simpso Ck;fun in the History of Old St Pawl's
(1881); Glump lrom Old St Paul's ﬁ’sy). and St Pawl's and Old
City l’l (l cv A. Dimock, St s

s’n Bell's ** Cathedral *
“w Canon Benham, Old St Paul's (1902). In this
and else\vhen are shown the valunble drawm of Wen-

1 Hollar, sh g the old ore the
great fire.

ST PAUL’S ROCKS, a number of islets in the M.Ia.nuc, nearly
1° N. of the equator and 540 m. from South America, in 29° 1§’
W. The whole space occupied does not exceed 1400 ft. in length
by about half as much in breadth. Besides sea-fowl the only
land creatures are insects and spid Fish are abundant, seven
species (one, Holocentrum sancti pauli, peculiar to the locality)
being collected by the * Challenger " during a brief stay. Dar-
win (On Volcanic I:laud:) decided that St Paul's Rocks were
not of volcanic origin; later investigators maintain that they
probably are eruptive.

See Reports of the Veyage of H.M.S. Challenger: Narrative of the
Cnmc wvol. i.

ST PETER, a cty and the county-seat of Nicollet county,
Minnesota, U.S.A,, on the Minnesota river, about 75 m. S.W. of
Hmnupobs. Pop (1903, state census) 4514 (875 forclgn-bom)
(1910) 4176. It is served by the Chicago & North-Western
railway and by steamboat lines on the Minnesota river, which
is navigable for light draft steamboats to this point. The
neighbouring lakes with their excellent fishing attract many
summer visitors. The city has a Carnegie library, and is the seat
of the Minnesota Hospital for the Insane (1866), and of Gustavus
Adolphus College (Swedish Evangelical Lutheran, co-educa-
tional), which was founded in 1862 and hasa college,an Academy
and School of Pedagogy, a School of Commerce and a School
of Music. St Peter is an important market for lumber and grain;
it has stone quarries and various manufactures. Settled about
4852, St Peter was incorporated as a village in 1865, and was
chartered as a city in 1891. In 1857 the legislature, a short time
before its adjournment for the session, passed a bill to remove
the capital of Minnesota to St Peter, but the bill was not pre-
sented to the governor for his signature within the prescribed
time, and when the legislature re-convened a similar bill could
pot be passed.

Ch 1 Island Pop (x901) 18,264. It lies picturesquely on a
steep slope above its harbour on the east coast of the island.
The harbour is enclosed by breakwaters, the somtbern of which
connects with the shore and continués beyond a rocky islet on
which stands Castle Cornet. It dates from the 12th century
and retains portions of that périod. Along the sea-front of the
town there extends a broad sea-wall, which continues north-
ward nearly as far as the small port of St Sampson’s, connected
with St Peter Port by an electric tramway. To the south of
the town Fort George, with jts barracks, stands high above the
gea. On the quay there is a bronze statue of Albert, Prince
Consort (1862), copied from that on the south side of the Albert
Hall, London. St Peter Port was formerly walled, and the sites
of the five gates are marked by stones. St Pcter’s, or the town
church, standing low by the side of the quay, was consecrated
in 1312, but includes little of the building of that date. It has,
however, fine details of the 14th and 15th centuries, and is, as a
whole, the most ncteworthy ecclesiastical building in the islandg.
‘The other principal buildings are the court house, used for the
meetings of the royal court and the states, the Elizabeth College
for boys, founded by Queen Elizabeth, but occupying a house
of the year 1825, and the Victoria Tower, commemorating a
visit of Queen Victoria in 1846. Hauteville House, the residence
of Victor Hugo from 1856 to 1870, is preserved as he left it, and
is open to the ‘public. The harbour is the chief in the island,
and a large export trade is carried on especially in vegetables,
fruit and flowers. The construction of the harbour was ordered
by King Edward L. in 1275.

ST PETERSBURG, a government of north-western Russia,
at the head of the Gulf of Finland, stretching for 130 m. along
its south-east shore and the southern shore of Lake Ladoga, and
bordering on Finland, with an area of 17,221 sq. m. It is hilly
on the Finland border, but flat and marshy elsewhere, with the
exception of a small plateau in the south (Duderhof Hills), 300
to sso ft. high. It has a damp and cold climate, the average
temperatures being: at St Petersburg, for the year 39° F., for
January 15° for July 64°; yearly rainfall, 18-7 in.; at Ser-
maks, at the mouth of the Svir on the E. side of Lake Ladoga
(60° 28’ N.), for the year 37°, for January 13° for July 62°
ycarly rainfall, 20-8 in. Numerous parallel ridges of glacier
origin intersect the government towards Lake Peipus and north
of the Neva. Silurian and Devonian rocks appear in the south,
the whole covered by a thick glacial deposit with boulders
(bottom moraine) and by thick alluvial deposits in the valley
of the Neva. The bays of Kronstadt, Koporya, Luga and
Narva afford good anchorage, but the coast is for the most part
fringed with reefs and sandbanks. The chief river is the Neva.
The feeders of Lake Ladoga—the Volkhov, the Syas, and the
Svir, the last two forming part of the system of canals connecting
the Neva with the Volga—are important channels of commerce,
as also is the Narova. Marshes and forests cover about 45%
of the aréa (70% at the end of the 18th century). The popula-
tion, which was 635,780 in 1882, numbercd 873,043 in 1897,
without the capital and its suburbs, including the latter it was
2,103,065. Of this latter number 466,750 were women and
160,499 lived in towns. The estimated pop. in 1906 was 2,510,100.
The average density was 121 per sq. m. The population is chiefly
Russian, with a small admixture of Finns and Germans, and
according to religion it is distributed as follows: Greek Orthodox,
78%; Nonconformists, 1-6%; Lutherans, 17%; and
Roman Catholics, 2:4%. A remarkable feature is the very slow
natural increase of the population. During the 25 years 1867 to
1891 the natural increase was only 867. The government is
divided into eight districts, the administrative headquarters
of which, with their populations in 1897, are: St Petersburg
(g.v.), Gdov (2254 inhabitants), Luga (s687), Novaya Ladoga
(4144), Peterhof (11,300), Schliisselburg (5285), Tsarskoye Selo
{22,353) and Yamburg (4166). Most of the towns are summer
resorts for the population of the capital. Till the latter part
of the 1oth century education stood at a very low level, but
progress has since been made, and now three-qumen of .n who
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enter the army from this government are able to read. The
semstvo (provincial council) has orp.nized village libraries and
lectures on a wide scale. Many improvements have been
made, especially since 1897, in sanitary organization. Generally
speahng agriculture is at a low ebb. The principal crops are
cereals (rye, oats and barley), potatoes and green crops, the
total arca under cultivation being only 313%. These crops,
which are often ruined by heavy rains in the late summer, are
insufficient .for the i Flax is cultivated to some
extent. Nearly 21% of the area consists of meadows and
pasture. Dairy-farming is developing. Timber, shipping, stone-
quarrying and ing are important industries; the chief
factories are cotton, tobacco, machinery, sugar, rubber and
pap::‘ mills, chemical works, distilleries, breweries and printing
worl

ST PETERSBURG, the capital of the Russian empire, sitiated
at the head of the Gulf of Finland, at the mouth of the Neva,
in 59° 56’ N., and 30° 20’ E., 400 m. from Moscow, 696 m. from
Warsaw, 1400 m. from Odessa (via Moscow), and 1390 m. from
Astrakhan (also via Moscow). The Neva, before entering the
Gulf of Finland, forms a peninsula, on which the main part of
St Petersburg stands, and itself subdivides into several branches.
The islands so formed are only 20 or 11 ft. above the average
level of the water. Their areas are rapidly increasing, while the
banks which continue them seaward are gradually disappearing.
The mainland is not much higher than the islands. As the river
level rises several feet during westerly gales, extensive portions
of the islands and of the mainland are flooded every winter.
In 1777, when the Neva rose 10-7 ft., and in 1824, when it rose
138 ft., nearly the whole of the city was inundated, and the
lower parts were again under water in 1890, 1897 and 1898,
when the floods rose 8 ft. A ship canal, completed in 1875-1888
at a cost of [t,o57,ooo, has made the capital a seaport. Be-
ginningat Kronstadt, itterminatesat Gutuyev Island ina harbour
capable of accommodating fifty m-gomg ships. Itis 23 ft. deep
and 174 m. long. The Neva is crossed by three permanent
bridges—the Nicholas, the Troitsky or Trinity (1897-:903) and
the Alexander or Lnemyi, all three fine specimens of archi-
tecture. One other bridge—the Palace—across the Great Neva
connects the left bank of the mainland with Vasilyevskiy or
Basil Island; but, being built on boats, it is removed during the
autumn and spring. Several wooden or floating bridges connect
the islands, while a number of stone bridges span the smaller
channels. In winter, when the Neva is covered with ice 2 to 3 ft.
thick, temporary roadways for carriages and pedestrians are made
across the ice and artificially lighted. In winter, too, thousands
of peasants come in from the villages with their small Finnish
horses and sledges to ply for hire.

The Neva continues frozen for an average of 147 days in the
year (25th November to 21st April). It is unnavigable, however,
for some time longer on account of the ice from Lake Ladoga,
which is sometimes driven by easterly winds into the river at the
end of April and beginning of May. The climate of St Petersburg
is changeable and unhealthy. Frosts are made much more
trying by the wind which accompanies them; and westerly
gales in winter bring oceanfc moisture and warmth, and melt the
snow before and after bard frosts. Thesummer is hot, but
short, lasting barely more than five or six weeks; a hot day, bow-
ever, is often followed by cold weather: changes of temperature
amounting to 35s° Fahr., within twenty-four hours are not un-
common. In autumn a chilly damp lasts for 1 weeks,
and in spring cold and wet weather alternates with a few warm
days.

January.| July. |The Year.
Mean tempentun, Fahr. . .| 15%0 *.0 386
Rainfall, mches e o e . %? 2-6 18-8
anallm&' S.W. g .
Average daily mged temptn
ture, Fahr. 2%2 10%2 7°7

Topography.—The greater part of St Petersburg is situated
on the mainland, on the left bankof the Neva, including the best
mu.thehrgutslwps the b and markets, the palaces,

ST PETERSBURG

cathedrals and theatres, as well as all the railway stations,
except that of the Finland rulvuy From lhe Liteinyi bnd;e
to that of Nicholas a granite embank: dered by

and large private houses, lincs the left bank of the Nevn. " About
midway, behind & range of fine houses, stands the Admiralty,
the very centre of the capital. Formerly a wharf, oh which Peter
the Great caused his first Baltic ship to be built in, 1706, it is
now the seat of the ministry of the navy and of the hydrographical
department, the new Adrmnlty building standing farther down
the Neva.on the same:.bank. A broad square, partly laid out as
8 garden (Alexander Garden), surrounds the Admiralty on the
west, south and east. To the west, opposite the senate, stands the
fine memorial to Peter the Great, erected in 1782, and now
backed by the cathedral of St Isaac. A bronze statue, a nnstcr-
piece by the French sculptor Fal s the f

of the city on horseback, at full gallop ucendmg a rock and
pointing to the Neva. South of the Admiralty is the ministry
of war and to the east the imperial winter palace, the work of
Rastrelli (1764), a fine building of mixed style; but its admirable
proportions mask its huge dimensions. It communicates by a
plk-ry with the Hermitage Fine Arts Gallery. A broad semi-

circular square, adorned by the Alexander I. column (1834),
separates the palace from the buildings of the.general staff and
the foreign ministry. The range of palaces and private houses
facing the embankment above the Admiralty is interrupted
by the macadamized “ Field of Mars,” formerly a marsh, but
transformed at incredible expense into a parade-ground, and the
Lyetniy Sad {sammer-garden) of Peter the Great. The Neva
embankment is continued to a little below the Nicholas bridge
under the name of “ English embankment,” and farther down
by tbe new Admiralty buildings.

The topography of St Petersb g is very simple. Three long
streets, the main arteries of thcuplu.l radiate from the Admiraky
—the Prospekt Nevskiy(Neva Prospect), the Gorokhovays, and
the Prospekt Voznesenskiy (Ascension Prospect). Three girdles
of canals, roughly speaking concentric, intersect these thiee
streets—the Moika, the Catherine and the Fontanka; to these
a-number of streets run parallel, The Prospekt Nevskiy is a
very broad street, running straight east-south-east for 3200 yds.
from the AJmlully to the Moscow railway station,.and thence
1650 yds. farther, bending a little to the south, until it again
reaches the Neva at Kaluhmkov Harbour, near the vast com-
plex of the Al d ,(1713) the seat of the
metropolitan of St Petersburg. The part of the street first
mentioned owes its pmurelque aspect to its width, its atrractive
shops, and still more its animation. But the buildmp which
border it are architecturilly poor. Neither the cathedral of the
Virgin of Kazan (an ugly imitation on a small scale of St Peter's
in Rome), nor the still uglier Gostiniy Dvor (a two-storied
quadrilateral building divided into .second-rate shops), nor the
Anichkov Palace (which resembles immense barracks), nor even
the Roman Catholic and Dutch churches do anything to embellish
it. About midway between the public library and the Anichkov
Palace an elegant square hides the old-fashioned a
theatre; nor does a profusely adorned ial (1873) to
Catherine II. beautify it much. The Gorokhovaya is narrow
and badly paved, and is shut in between gloomy houses occupied
mostly by artizans. ‘The Voznesenskiy Prospekt, on the con-
trary, though as narrow as the last, has better houses. On the
north, it passes into a series of large squares connected with
that in which the monument of Peter the Great stands.
One of them is occupied by the cathedral of St Isaac (of
Dalmatia), and another by the memorial (18s9) to Nicholas I.,
the gorgeousness and bad tast¢ of which contrast strangely
with the simplicity and significance of that of Peter the
Ggeat. The general aspect of the cathedral is imposing both
without and within; but on the whole this architectural
monument, built between 1819 and 1858 according to a plan
of Montferrant, under the personxl direction of Nicholas I.,
does not cither with its costliness (£2,431,300) or
with the efforts put forth for its decoration by the best Russian
artists.
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nemtandnmitydemmdkthemtnof
commercial activity; the stock exchange is situated there as
well as the quays and storebouses. The remainder of the island
is occupied chiefly by scientific and educational institutions—
the academy of ecience, with a small observatory, the university,
the philological institute, the academy of the first corps of cadets,
the academy of ¥rts, the marine academy, the mining institute
and the central physical observatory, all facing the Neva.
Petersburg Island contains the fortress of St Peter and St Paul
(1703-1740), oppoaite the Winter Palace; but the fortress is
now & state prison. A cathedral which stands within its walls
is the burial-place of the emperors and the imperial family.
'l'bemmtmdanu}ﬂlerymusmmmdﬂositmtedwithintho

i Its northern pirt, separated from the main island
by a narrow channel, bears the name of Apothecanes’ Island,
and oecupiedbyahunialwdo{nulndmubcvdue
and several fine private gardens and parks. Krestovskiy,
Elagin and Kamennyi Islands, as also the opposite (right) bank
of the Great Nevka (one of the branches of the Neva) are occupied
by public gardens, parks and summer residences. The mainland
on the right bank of the Neva above its delta is known as the
Viborg Side, and is connected with the main city by the Liteinyi
bridge, closely adjoining which are the buildings of the military
y of medicine and hospitals. The small streets
of them unpaved), with numerous wooden houses, are
inhabited by students and workmen; farther north are great
téxtile and iron factories. Vmorchudsnndtheyud:o“be
antillery laboratory stretch north-eastwards, while the railway
and the high road to Finland, running north, lead to the park
of the Forestry Institute. The two villages of Okhta, on the
right bank, are suburbs; higher up, on the left bank, are several
factories (Alexandrovsk) which formerly belonged to the crown.
The true boundary of St Petersburg on the south is the Obvodnyi
ing parallel to the three canals alieady mentioned
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loadingtheboats. Russizns numbered 828;354 in 1807, 0r 73:1%
of the population; Germans 43,798, or 3-9%; -Poles 22,307,
or 1-9%; Finns, 16,731, or 1.5%; and Jews 10,353, or 0:9%.
The various religions are represented by 84:9% Orthodox
Greeks, 9.9 Protestants, and 3-3 Roman Catholics, The pro-
portion of illegitimate children is ten times higher than in the
rest of Russia, namely 250 to 286 per thousand births. It is
thus nearly the same as in Paris, but lower than in Moscow
(292 per thousand) and Vienna (349 per thousand). The mortality
varies very much in different parts of the city—from 12 per
thousand in the best situated, the admiralty quarter, to 16 in
othermudptns.md:sudnm theontlymgqnanm
The mortality has, however, notably d as it ag
36 per thousand in the years 1870 to 1874, and only 27 from 1886
to 1895, and 24 in 1897. Infectious i.e. turberculosis,
diphtheris, inflammation of the lungs, typhoid, scarlet fever
and measles, are the cause of 37 to 38% of all deaths. The
high mortality in certain quarters is largely due to overcrowding
and bad water.

An interesting feature of the Russian capital is the very high
proportion of people living on their own earnings or income
(“independent ") as c d with those who live onthe earnings
orin¢ f lse (“ dependent )  Onlya fewindustrial
establishments employ more than twenty workmen, the average
being less than ten and the figure seldom falling below five.
The large factories are beyond the limits of St Petersburg.
Although 36% of the population above six years old are unable
to read, the workmen are amongst the most intelligent classes
in Russia.

Education, Science and Art. —Notvhhmmhn' the hardships and

utions to which it is penodm y subjected, the umveruty
zmrly 4000 m:de ts] life of
Petersburg.  The medical hcnky forms a xp‘nle mdcmy.
under Ilullmx ’unadncnon. with about 1500 nudznn. There are,
ki 008 lnsmute,n lorutry
aca

(Ortl
military acad and a high school of law. Higher instruction for
’ demy, a {rce y, four

ln cngineeri der
Greek and Romn Cnhohc). an mdem of arts, five

running
and forming a sort of base to the Neva p la; but num
cemeteries and factories, and even unoccupied spaces,
are included within the city boundaries in that direction, though

%

thqmbungnp-dlyeovuedmthbuﬂdm Except in a few R

streets, which are paved with wood or asphalt, the
pavement is usually of granite setts. There are two government
dockyards, the most important of which is the new admiralty
yard in the centre of the city. Atthnyudlhenmtbm
building slips end a large experimen
for trials with models of vessels. Tbecakmylshnd
yard is a little lower down the river, and is devoted entirely to
construction. There are two building slips for large vessels,
besides numerous workshops, storehouses and so forth. The

,E

Baltic Yard is near the mouth of the Nevs, and was taken over | Orenbu;

by the ministry of marine in 1894. Since that time the establish-
ment has been enlarged, and 2 new stone bulldm; slip, s30 ft.

tal basin, some 400 ft. in Vi

is_provic
other lnnmmom lwagM eduauon. nnd a school of agnculxure
The scientific i in

Russian savants, while opening them too widely to German ones, is
not without foundation. The Pulkovo astronomical observatory,

the chief physical (met 1) observatory (with branches
throughout Russia and &bern , the astronomical observatory at
Ina, the | and | observatory at Peking, and
the botanical garden, are all anu:hed to the academy of sciences.
The Societ: anunluug Physical and Chemnl Society
!uv'e’| mmut' v-lu:dlole bepubhunon‘l. The s lcnmmm':
is a ng forward t survey of the country; t
M'm’;u':m %o:nty was fwndcd in 1817. The r’[')hml
Society, with branch societies for West lnd Siberia, Caucasu:
rg, the north and south provmm

European Russia, is well known for its valuable work, as is also the
Entom Society. There are four medical societies, and an

Y
arcl al society (since 1846), an historical society, an economical

in length, completely housed in, has been finished society, gardening, forestry, technical and navigation societies. The
Population —The population of St P etenbuu proper at the oon-tl?vntory o‘n‘mun:. with l new bunldln“(|891-1896). give:
censuses specified was as follows:— superior musical instruction. gom( is worth y
Pr won of Men holanchn c:lodlhe oti:r lnnd hu not fm.d itsell from the
"otal. 'omen. oporti o met! at the d nmmc
Year.| To Men. | W to every 100 Women. nometm uel: to r:medy this dnv(nck, and are the true cradle of
the
1869 | 667207 | 377.380 | 289,827 130 The impenial pquc library Tuable collections of boob
1881 861,303 | 473.2 ::;4 122 (1,000,000) and MSS. The hbnry of the academy of sciences
1890 oso-g; 12,71 441,682 116 tains more ‘Wm volumes, 13,000 MSS., rich tollectmm of
1897 | 1.133. 16.855 | 515.822 19 wo;‘k‘:‘ on oncn' lan, and val u!ahble t&kcno:: of penodu-al
. . tions mt m t t wor
A furtber i was led by the pal census of 1000, | muscums of the Russian. N"l

when the popuhtion of the city was 1,248,739, having thus
increased 30-9% in ten years. In 19os the total population
was estimated to number 1,429,000. The population of the
suburbs was 134,710 in 1897, and 190,635 in 1900. Including

St Petersburg is the fifth city of Europe in point of
size, coming after London, Paris, Berlin and Vienna. The large
mmdmnnxumuhtmaduemthlmthtmn
numbers come from other parts of Russia to work during the

winter in the textile factories, and during the summer at un- | of the

those of Europe. That of the Aademy ol §mnees, of the Nazmof
Indlmnal Art (1896), of the Mmenlomul Society, of the K
of Arts, the Asiatic (1901),
pictures by- Vereshchagin, t.be I museum and several othm
are of great u:mmﬁc value. Art Galkry mnins a
first-rate collection of the l"lemuh -: of the
Russian school, good lpecmmu of the ulun. nuh and old
French Greek and  Scythian

tiquit nd good collection of zoo,ooo engravil ol
Ei:&'&ﬁn; old .Rumn arts mmwell represented nﬁheﬁmmo
Academy of Arts. The New Michael Palace was in 1895-1898
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converted into a museum of Russian art—the Russian museum; it
is one of the handsomest buildings in the dgy.
In the development of the Russian drama Puenburg has phyzd
a far less important part than Moscow, and the
reached the same nhad:rd excellence as that

drama, and one lor the French and German drama.

Industries and Tradse.—St Petersburg is much less of 2 uhnnlmur—
than Mo-nmv or Berlin. The period 1880 to lazo
cmn?m Lbe istory of d:!ewnonbem un%ml With t develop-

and south M provi

more rapidly than the upper Volgl
Petersburg began to lose its relative importance in
llvour of the Baltic of Riga and Libau, and its rapid
since the Crimean War seemed in danger of bemg arrest The
danger, however, away, and in last decade of the 19th
century the uty continued its advance with vigour. A
great influx of (unctionaries of all sorts, consequent upon the state
ulnnzmomha the ailwars. s, spirits, &c.,
wi t! on

Tesulted in the rapid growth of the population hile
ways of thé grea of t industries, attracted to St Peterﬂwrga

of a cheap railway tariff, and the
other wa

s, nd d the growth its
arger i :.: blish RS! ynﬂ is now one lh:
I provinces in Russia, its returns i

diatel d and before P'mrkbwy in Poland.

chief factories are cottons and other textiles, metal and mu:hinery
works, tobacco, paper, soap and candle factories, breweries, dis-
tilleries, sugar nmh. ship-bmldmg yards, mntlm
mmu. rriage works, pastry conf and

trade ol St Petenburg is chuﬂy n (especially rye
and oats), ﬂwtandbﬂ oil seeds, oil cakes, naphtha, eggs, flax a nd
timber. very t fluctuations, varying in
with the the rlnxel {rom £8,000,000 to [l(?,ooo‘,%oo,
exports are t entirely to western rope sea (from
to £6,500,000), and to r.ﬁum (£, ‘m im-
ports eon.mt chiefly of coal, r
coffee and tea, better.

annually.

Six railways meet at St 'ﬂ{ run westwards along
both shores ol the Gulf of Finhnd to Hangdudd and to Port Baltic
respectively; two lines connect Oranienbaum, opposite
Kronstadt and Tsarskoye Selo (with Paviovsk) with the capital;
and three great trunk lines run—souch-west to Warsaw iwlth

to Riga and Smolensk), south-east to Moscow (with
bnnche' to Novgomd and Rybil ), and cast to Vologda Vyatka
and P The Neva is thepfinctpalchannd(mt trade of St
Pelznburg with the rest of Russia, by means of the Volga and its

tributaries.

Administration.—The mnnidp‘l affairs of the cil m in the hands
of a municipality, ele:ted by three categories
practically a department of the chief of the police. The
:‘ npaute lun , whose authority, like that the chief

ice, is unlimi

iroms.—St Pelenburg is sunwnded by several fine residences,
mostly imperial palaces with la iful parl T
Selo, 15 m. to the -omh')‘-euthe an Puerhol on the Gulf of Finland,

Paviovsk, 17 m. S. of the
my. has a fine palace and rks, where summer concerts attract
thousands

of people. There is another imperial palace at Gathnl.
;g m. S. Oranienbaum, 25 m. W. on the south shore of the Gulf of

inland, is a rather neglected place. Pulkovo, on a hill 9 m. S. from
St Petersbui , is well known lor its ol tory; wi xle several
villages north of the capital, such nP:rgolo and Murino, are
visited in summer by the less wealthy inhabitants,

History.—The region between Lake Ladoga and the Gulf of
Finland was inhabited in the gth century by Finns and some
Slavs. Novgarod and Pskov made efforts to secure and maintain
dominion over this region, so important for their trade. and in
the 13th and 14th centuries they built the forts of Koporya
(in the present district of Peterhof), Yam (now Yamburg), and
Oryeshek (now Schltisselburg) at the point where the Neva
issues from Lake Ladoga. They found, however, powerful
opponents in the Swedes, who erected lhe fort of Landskrona
at the junction of the Okhta and the Neva, and in the Livonians,
who had their fortress at Narva. Novpmd and Moscow
successively were able by continuous fighting to maintain their
supremacy over the region south of the Neva throughout the
16th century, but early in the 17th century Moscow was com-
pelled to cede it to Sweden, which erected a fortress on the Neva
at the mouth of the Okhta. In 1700 Peter the Great began his
wars with Sweden. Oryeshek was taken in 1702, and in the
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following year the Swedish fortress on the Neva. Two months
later (29th June 1703) Peter laid the foundations of a cathedral
to St Peter and St Paul, and of a fort which received his own
name (in its Dutch transcription, * Piterburgh” ). Next year
the fort of Kronslott was erected on the island of Kotlin, as also
the Admiralty on the Neva, oppoute the fortress. The empem
took most severe and almost barb for ir
his newly founded city, which was built on marshy ground the
buildings resting on piles. Thousands of people from all parts
of Russia were removed thither and died in erecting the-fortress
and building the houses. Under Elizabeth fresh compulsory
measures raised the pnpuhnon to 150,000, and this figure was
nearly doubled during the reiga of Catherine II. (:162—:796)
The chief embellishments of St Petersburg were effected during
the reigns of Alexander I. (1801<1825) and Nicholas I. (1825~
1855). From the earliest years of Russian history trade had taken
this northern direction. Novgorod owed its wealth to this fact;
and as far back as the 12th century the Russians had thcir forts
on Lake Ladoga and the Neva. In the 14th and 1sth centuries
they exchanged their wares with the Danzig merchants at Nu
or Nil—now Vasilyevskiy Island. By founding St Petersburg
Peter the Great only restored the trade to its old channels. .The
system of canals for connecting the upper Volga and the Dnieper
with the great lakes of the north completed the work; the
commercial mouth of the Volga was thus transferred to the
Gulf of Finland, and St Petersburg became the export harbour
for more than half Russia. Foreigners hastened thither to take
possession of the growing export trade, and to this the Russian
capital is indebted for its cosmopolitan character. The develop-
ment of the railway system and the colonization of southern
Russia now operate, however, adversely to St Petersburg,
while the rapid increase of population in the Black Sea region
is tending to shift the Russian centre of gravity; new centres
of commercial, industrial, and intellectual life are being developed
at Odessa and Rostov. The revival of Little Russia is another
influence operating in the same direction. Since the abolition
of serfdom and in consequence of the impulse given to Russian
thought by this reform, the provinces are coming more and more
to dispute the right of St Petersburg to guide the political life
of the country. It has been often said that St Petersburg is
the head of Russia and Moscow its heart. The first part at least
of this saying is true. In the development of thought and in
mluuhung in Rusxu the resulu of west European culture and
hilosophy St b has played a prominent part. It
has helped grully to familiarize the public wlth the teachings
of west European science and thinking, and to give to Russian
literature its liberality of mind and freedom from the trammels

"of tradition. St Petersburg has no traditions, no history beyond

that of the palace conspiracies, and there is nothing in its past
to attract the writer or the thinker. But, as new centres of
intellectual life and new currents of thought develop again at
Moscow and Kiev, or arise ancw at Odessa and in the eastern
provinces, these places claim the right to their own share in
the further development of intellectual life in Russia.

(P.A. K, J. T.Br)

SAINT-PIERRE, CHARLES IRENEE CASTEL, (Assf o
(165817 3), French writer, was born at the chiteau de Saint-
Pierre-1' near Cherbourg on the 18th of February 16s8.
His father was bailli of the Cotentin, and Saint-Pierre was
educated by the Jesuits. In Paris he frequented the salons of
Madame de la Fayette and of the marquise de Lambert. He was
presented to the abbacy of Tiron, and was elected to the
Academy in 169s. In the same year he gained a footing at court
as almoner to Madame. But in 1718, in consequence of the
political offence given by his Disconrs sur la polysynodic, he wae
expelled from the Academy. He afterwards-founded the club
of the Entre sol, an independent society suppressed in 1%31.
He died in Paris on the 29th of April 1743.

Saint-Pierre’s works are almost entirely occupied with an
acute though generally visionary criticism of politics, law and
social ihstitutions. They had .a great influence on Rousseau,
who left elaborate examinations of some of them, and reproduced
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Mafe'dthdrldnsmhsmmk His Projes de paix
perpéiuelle, which was destined to exercise considerable influence
onthd"dopmenloh.bevmnbmfumnngnmvmd
peace which culminated in the Holy Alliance, was published in
1713 at Utrecht, where he was acting ulecuurytothe French
plenipotentiary, the Abbé de Polignac, and his Polysynodie
contained severe strictures on the government of Louis XIV.,
with pm)ecufortheudmnmn.uonoll-‘nmebya'ynemof
m.ncnls for each dzptu‘tmt of government. His works include
a of Is and proj for stopping duelling,
equalizing taxation, treating mendicancy, reforming education
and spelling, &c. It was not, however, for his suggestions for
the reform of the constitution that he was disgraced, but because
in the Palysynodic he had refused to Louis XIV. the title of e
Grand. Unlike the later reforming abbés of the philosophe
pmod Saint-Pierre was a man of very unworldly character and
quite destitute of the Frondeur spirit.

His works were published at Mmdam in 1712)%-!]40 and his

Anngles in Londen in 1757.

with 8 e to sccuring & just estimation of the bigh value of bs
ai s given

o &u‘c-XVIII'n’ﬂa Loy Projets de Pabbé de Saint-

Contemporain
Prerre, 1658-1743 (Paris, 1900).
SAINT-PIERRE, JACQUES HENRI BERNARDIN DB (1737-
1814), French man of letters, was born at Havre on the 19th of
January 1737. He was educated at Caen and at Rouen, and
became an engineer. According to his own account he served
in the army, taking part in the Hesse campaign of 1760, but
was dismissed for insubordination, and, after quarrelling with
his family, was in some difficulty. He appears at Malta, St
Petersburg, Warsaw, Dresden, Berlin, holding brief commissions
as an engineer and rejoicing in romantic adventures. But he
came back to Paris in 1765 poorer than he sct out. He came
into of a small sum at his father's death, and in 1768
he set out for the Isle of France (Mauritius) with a government
commission, and remained there three years, returning home
in 1771. These wanderings supplied Bernardin with the whole
of his stock-in-trade, for he never again quitted France. On
his return from Mauritius he was muoduetd to D’Alembert
and his friends, but he took no great pl in the comp
of any literary man except J. J. Rwssenu.olvhommhulut
years be saw much, and on whom he formed both his character
and bis style. His Voyage & I'lle de France (2 vols., 1773) gai
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(Paris, wx&-wzo), afterwards increased seven volumes of
(1826). Pasl et Vsrginie,

Sece also Arvide

indienne, &c. hlve otten been separately reprinted.
Barin's Bernardsn de Sasns Pierre (l89|¥

ST PIERRE and MIQUEBLON, two islands 10 m. off the south
coast of Newfoundland, united area about 91 8q. m. Both are
rugged masses of granite, with a few small streams and lakes, a
thin covering of soil and scanty vegetation. Miquelon, the larger
of the two, consists of Great Miquelon and Little Miquelon, or
Langlade; previous to 1783 these were separated by a navigable
channel, but they have since become connected by a
mudbank. St Pierre has a sheltered harbour with about 14 ft. of
water, and a good roadstead for large vessels. Their importance
is due to their proximity to the great Banks, which makes
them the centre of the French Atlantic fisheries. These are kept
up by an elaborate system of bounties by the French government,
which considers them of great importance as training sailors
for the navy. Fishing lasts from May till October, and is carried
on by nearly five hundred vessels, of which about two-thirds
are fitted out from St Pierre, the remainder coming from St
Malo, Cancale and other French coast towns. The resident
population, which centres in the town of St Pierre, is about 6500,
swelled to over 10,000 for a time each year by extra fishing hands
from France, but is steadily declining owing to emigration into
Canada. Owing to the low rates of duty, vast quantities of goods,
especially French wines and liquors, are imported, and smuggled
to Newfoundland, the United States and Canada, though of
late years this has been checked by a’ gradual rise in the
scale of duties, and by the presence since 1904 of a British
consul. St Pierre is connected with Halifax (N.S.) and St Johns
(Newfoundland) by a regular packet service, and is a station
of the Anglo American Cable Co. and the Compagnic francasse
des cdbles ttlégraphiques. Excellent facilities for primary and
secondary education are given, but the attraction of the fisheries
prevents their being fully used.

‘The islands were occupied by the French in 1660, and fortified
in 1700. In 1702 they were captured by the British, and held
till 1763, when they were given back to France as a fishing
station. They are thus the sole remnant of the French colonies
in North America. Destmyed by the English in 1778, restored
to France in 1783, again upt\ued and depopulated by the English
;:: 1703, recovered by France i in 1802 and lost in 1803, the islands

him a reputation as a champion of innocence and religion, and
in consequence, through the exertions of the bishop of Aix,
a pension of 1000 livres a year. It is soberest and therefore
the least characteristic of his books. The Etudes de la mature
(3 vols., 1784) was an attempt to prove the existence of God from
'umhn of pature; he set upa philosophy of unument to
oppaethem:t ies of the Encyclop
His Paul et Virginie, appeared in 1789 in a supple-
mentary volume of the Efudes, and his second great success,
much less sentimental and showing not a little humour, the
Chasmiére indienne, not till 1790. In 1792 he married a very
young girl, Félicité Didot, who brought him a considerable
. For a short time in 1792 he was superintendent
of the Jardin des Plantes, and on the suppression of the office
Teceived a pension of 3000 livres. In 1795 he became a member
of the Institute. After his first wife’s death he married in 1800,
when be was sixty-three, another young girl, Désirée Pelleport,
and is said to have been very happy with her. On the 21st of
January 1814 he died at his house at Eragny, near Pontoise.

Pdd Vis udy in style and unhnll
Pmul!«mnlin is not r..ﬂy'?o b! by this hmo':z

3 m vhi:h the exuberant sensibility of t nme ﬁnd- equally
His merit lies in his breaking away from the
which more than a century of classical writing ha
rance, in his for the b
nature, and in his atm& to describe them faithfully. _Aflter
Rousseau, and even n Rousseau, Bernardin was in French
Et:l'l&ﬂ! :huponh ol the return to nnuu. though both in him and

in undisputed French possession since 1814
(Treaty of Paris).

See Henrique, Les Colonies mngma.t ii. (Paris, 1
La France, t ii. (Paris, 1893); née coloniale,
contains statistics and a complete blblmgraphy.

New England

people.

ST POL, COUNTS OF. The countship of St Pol-mr-’l‘emoue in
France (department of Pas-de-Calais), belonged in the 1rth
and 12th centuries to a family surnamed Candave Elizabeth,
heiress of this house, carried the caunulnp to her husband,
Gaucher de Chatillon, in 1205. By the marriage of Mahaut de
Chatillon with Guy VL. of Luxemburg, St Pol passed to the house
of Luxemburg. It was in possession of Louis of Luxemburg,
constable of France, who was beheaded in 1475. The constable’s
property was confiscated by Louis XI., but was subsequently
restored in 1488 to his granddaughters, Marie and Frangcoise of
Luxemburg. Marie (d. 1542) was countess of St Pol, and married
Frangois de Bourbon, count of Vendéme. Their son, Frangois de
Bourbon, count of St Pol (1491-1545), was one of the most devoted
and courageous generals of Francis I. Marie, daughter of the
last-mentioned count, brought the countship of St Pol to the
house of Orleans-Longueville. In 1705 Marie of Orleans sold it to
Elizabeth of Lorraine-Lillebonne, widow of Louis de Melun,

) ; Levasseur,

P

Mccmm
Magazine (May 1903) describes the da(w life of the

%1 | prince of Epinoy, and their daughter married the prince of

Rohan-Soubise, who thus became count of St Pol. (M. P.?)
ST POL-DE-LEON, a town of north-western France, in the

department of Finistére, about 1 m. from the shore of the

English Channel, and 133 m. N. of Morlaix by the railway to

it there is still much mannerism
Auaélhmn of Bernardin ; mdt d husband of his | R
second wife, pul a complete edition of his works in 18 volumes

fi. Pop. (1906). town, 3353; commune, 8140. St Pol-de-
Léon is a quaint town with several old houses. The cathedral is
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largely in the Norman Gothic style of the 13th and early z4th
centuries. The west front has a projecting portico and two
towers 180 ft. high with granite spires. Within the church there
are beautifully carved stalls of the 16th century and other works
of art. On the right of the high altar is a wooden shrine con-
taining the bell of St Pol de Léon, which was said to cure beadache
and diseases of the ear, and at the side of the main entrance
is a huge baptismal font, popularly regarded as the stone
coffin of Conan Mériadec, king of the Bretons. Notre Dame de
Kreizker, dating mninly from the second half of the 14th century,
has a celebrated spire, 252 ft. high, which crowns the central
tower. The north porch is a fine speci of the flamb
style. In the cemetery, which has a chapel of the 15th owtury.
there are ossuaries of the year 1500.

In the 6th century a Welsh monk, Paul, became bishop of
the small town of Léon, mdlmdollhedomnnlnmvmmty,
whlchpusedlohulumnwdmmuuledbythem
In 1793 the town was the centre of a serious but unsuccessful
rising provoked by the recruiting of the C ion.

SAINT PRIEST, FRANCOIS EMMANUEL GUIGNARD,
CHEVALIER, then COMTE DE (1735-1821), French statesman, was
born at Grenoble on the 12th of March 1735. He was admitted
a knight (ckevalier) of the Order of Malta at “five ynno(ue.
and at fifteen entered the army. He left active service in 1763
with the grade of colonel, and for the next four years represented
the court of France at Lishon. He was sent in 1768 to Constanti-
nople, where he remained with one short interval till 178s,
and married Wilhelmina von Ludolf, daughter of the Neapolitan
ambassador. His Mémoires sur Vambassade de France en
Turquie et le commerce des Francais dans le Levant, prepared

during a visit to France, were only published in 1877, when they and

were edited by C. Schefer. After a few months spent at the court
of the Hague, he joined the ministry of Necker as minister without
a portfolio, and in Necker’s sccond cabinet in 1789 was secretary
of the royal household and minister of the interior. He became
a special object of the popular hatred b he was alleged to

7-1848). He was clected to the Academy in January
Man:lﬁe he had departed lmln the itimist tllldltloﬂ of his
amily to become a warm friend to ns monarchy, which
he served betmn 1833 and 1838 uunbundor in Brazil, at Lisbon
audnCoi = died, while on a visit to Moscow, on the 29th
tember 1 5!

SAllI'I' PRIVAT, a village of Lorraine, 7 m. N.W. of Metz.
The village and the slopes to the west played a great part in
the battle of Gravelotte (August 18, 1870). (See Mr1z and
FRANCO-GERMAN WaR)) . At St Privat occurred the famous
repulse of the Prussian Guard by Marshal Canrobert's corps.

ST QUENTIN, a manufacturing town of northern France,
capital of an arrondissement in the department of Aisne, 32 m.
N.N.W. of Laon by rail. Pop. (1906) 49,305. The town stands
on the right bank of the Somme, at its junction with the St
Quentin Canal (which unites the Somme with the Scheldt)
and the Crozat Canal (which unites it with the Oise). The port
carries on an active traffic in building materials, cosl, timber,
iron, sugar and agricultural produce. Built on a slope, with a
southern exposure, the town is dominatéd by the collegiate
church of St Quentin, one of the finest Gothic buildings in the
north of France, erected during the rath, 13th, 14th and zsth
centuries. The church, which has no west facade, terminates
at that end in a tower and portal of Romanesque architecture;
it has double transepts. Its length is 436 ft. and the height
of the nave 124 ft. The choir (13th century) has a great re-
semblance to that of Reims; like the chapels of the apse it is
decorated with polychromic paintings. There are remains of a
choir-screen of the 14th century. Under the choir is a crypt of
the r1th century, rebuilt in the 13th century, and containing the
tombs of St Quentin (Quintin) llld his fcllow-martyrs Victoricus
Gentianus. The Champs Elysées, an extensive pmmenade,
lies east of the cathedral. 'ne hétel-de-ville of St Quentin is a
splendid building of the 14th, rsth and 16th centuries, witha
flamboyant facade, adorned with curious sculptures. The
council-room is a fine hall with a double wooden ceiling and
a huge chunneypime partly Gothic partly Renaissance. A

have replied to women beggms for bread, * You had ugh
while you had only one king; demand bread of your twelve
bundred sovereigns.” Nevertheless he held office until Deceraber
1790. Shortly after his resignation he went to Stockholm, where
his brother-in-law was Austrian ambassador. In 1795 be ) )om

es the siege of 1557 (see below), and
ano!herdaetothenmthepnnpllyedbythetownin 1870
and 1871. A building of the 20th century is appropriated to the
law court, the learned societies, the museum and the library.
St Quemm is the seat of a sub-prefect, of tribunals of first instance
and of , and

the comte de Provence at Verona as minister of the househ
He accompanied the exiled court to Blankenburg and Mittau,
retiring in 1808 to Switzerland. After vainly seeking permission
to return to France he was expelled from Switzerland, and
wandered about Europe until the Restoration. Besides the
memoirs already mentioned he wrote an Examen des assemblées
provinciales (1787).
His eldest son, Gml.umlixnxun(lns-lslae beumemnion-
mﬂmt Russian service, and served in t
nder I. against Napoleon. He died at Laon in l!u. 'l'he
second, Anunm EMMANUEL CHARLES (1782-1863), became uvﬁ
of Odessa, and married Princess Sophie Galitzin.
Ell\’nrd. ExuanueL Louts Muu GUIGNARD, vicomte de Saint Prim
(l78§;:88!). was a godson of Marie Antoinette. Like his elder
he took part in the invasion of France in 1814 At the
Restoration he was attached to the service of the duke of nﬁ:
and during the Hundred Days tried to raise Dauphiné in tl mynl
cause. He with distinction in Spain in 1823, when he was
oted lieutenant-general.  After two years at Berlin he
me:’ch ambassador at Madrid, where he negomted in 1828 the settle-
ment of the Spanish debt. Wlun the July lled

of a board of trade-arbitration, and has
an exchange, achamberofoommmmdlyeéu for both sexes.
Thetownisthe centreof an industrial district which manufactures
cotton and woollen fabrics. St Quentin produces dlidly piqué
and window-curtains, and carries on the spinning and

processes and the bleaching and finishing. Other industries are
the making of embroideries by machinery and by hand, and
the manufacture of iron goods and machinery. Trade is in
grain, flax, cotton and wool.

St Quentin (anc. Awgusta Veromandworum) stood at the
meeting-place of five military roads. In the srd century it was
the scene of the martyrdom of Gaius Quintinus, who had come
thither from Italy as a preacher of Christianity. The date of
the foundation of the bishopric is uncertain, but about s§32
it was transferred to Noyon. Towards the middle of the 7th
century St Eloi (Eligius), bishop of Noyon, establisheda eolle.nte
dmplet at St Quentin’s tomb, which became a famous place of

. The town thus gained an importance which was
i d during the middle ages by the rise of its cloth manu-

his retirement, Frederick VII. made him a ofnndee ol Spsm. with
the title of duke of Almnan. in ition of his services. Het
ancd the circle of the d uchu-mmg‘erry at Naples, and arranged
r escapade in Provence in 1832 Sunt Priest was arrested,
was only relcased after ten mont! Havi
for an asylum in Austria for the duct t
he was one of the leaders of legitimist society until
occurred at Saint Priest, near &on:‘ on the 26th of February 1881.
ALEXIS GUIGNARD, comte t
son of Armand de Saint Priest and Princess Galitzin. ucated in
Russia, he returned to France with his father in 1822, and soon made
his mark in literary circles. His most important were Histoire
de la uk!mndhkdavumm ines jusgu'a la des
princi I‘Ewpc vol-.. 1843) torre de la
chule des kaa (18«) Histoire de la congulie de ﬂu (4 vols.,

facture. After it had been thrice ravaged by the Normans, the
town was surrounded by walls in 883. It became under Pippin,

Sad | grandson of Charlemagne, one of the principal domains of the

counts of Vermandois, and in 1080 received from Count Herbert
IV. a charter which was extended in 1103 and is the earliest of
those freely granted to the towns of northern France. From
1420 to 1471 St Quentin was occupied by the B

In 1557 it was taken by the Spaniards (see below). Philip
commemorated the victory over the relieving force

Constable Montmorency by the foundation of the Escurial.
Two years later the town ‘was restored to the French, and
in 1560 it was assigned as the dowry of Mary Stuart. The
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fortifications erected under Louis XIV. were demolished
between. 1810 and 1820. During the Franco-Prussian War
St Quentin repuised the German attacks of the 8th of October
1870; and in January 1871 it was the centre of the great
battle fought by General Faidherbe (below).

1. Battle 1557.—An of Spaniards under Emmanuel
nma&'wﬁfﬂwn.‘ﬁ:iu from the Meuse, joined an allied
Mm.ﬂ;lEWuvxu'thnll-olSt tin, which was
then b_o;i‘d' miral Coligny threw on to the

and the old C ble M y prepared to relieve it.
Lawrence’s Day, 10th August, the relieving columa reached
difficulty, but time was wasted drawing off the
"henilohkeolumn.ud;h;:’bwuz “I:e m?‘m;mnued
Toe b mmﬁ""‘"ﬁﬁm‘“"“‘d

t! j : t,
posts, but .=°J‘.e"‘.;'&-'.}i}m

i
i

¥

i
|

%

Essigny-le-Grand.
s with forty-two guns.
the cavalry broke in and

his highly trained soldados in ineffective fighting,
qmt&nh&wb«).": ded the temporary regi
dispersed the permanent corps in winter quarters.

2. The Bastle of 1871 was [ htbgwemthecamnl.my
nder General von Goeben and ti

[T French commanded by General

B o e st S S T SR
A took up a ve n on t!

% The G though inferior in b were

mly p in discipli mdtmnins.;ndaemllvoncoeben

y decided to attack both wings of the French together on the

1 The at took the customary en ing form. After

| hours’ fighting it was brought to a , but Goeben,

ing his reserves in erly fashion, drove a wedge into the centre

of ¢ Fmdﬁuhnwntheunﬂaudthe&lﬂl:ly.lnd(dmd

t!

this up with another blow on the other bank canal, along the
was the signal for a decisive attack by the whole

the French off strenuous

it was not until four o’clock that General Faidherbe
retreat. By skilful dispositions and orderly

i all but six of his guns were
of the army was cut off by the
ns, and the defeat, the last actina
sufficiently decisive to deny to the
he field again without an interval of
he general armistice was

SAINT-REAL, CESAR VICHARD DE (1630-1692), French
historian, was born in Savoy, but educated in Paris by the
Jesuits. Varillas gave him his taste for history and served as
bis model; he wrote bardly anyt.ing but historical novels.
‘The only merit of his Dox Carlos (1673) is that of having furnished
Schiller with several of the in his drama. In the
following year he produced the Conjuration des Espagnols contre
ls République de Vemise em 1618, which had a phenomenal
success, but is all the same merely a literary pasticke in the
style of Sallust. This work and his reputation as a free-thinker
brought him to the notice of Hortense Mancini, duchesse de
Mazarin, whose reader and friend he became, and who took
him with her to England (1675). The authorship of the duchess’s
M émoires has been ascribed to him, but without reason. Among
bis authentic works is included a short treatise De la critigue
(1691), directed against Andry de Boisregard's Réflezions sur
la longme fromcoise. His (Ewvres compldtes  were published
in 3 volumes (1745); a second edition (1757) reached 8 volumes,
but this is due to the inclusion of some works falsely attributed
to bim. Saint-Réal was, in fact, a fashionable writer of his
period; the demand for him in the book-market was similar
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to that for Saint-Evremond, to whom he was inferior. He
wrote in an easy and pleasant, but mediocre style.

See Pére Lelong, Bidlio Aistorigue de la France, No. 48, 122;
Barolo, Memoris spetianti alla vila di Saimi-Réal (1780; Saint-Réal
was an associate of the Academy of Turin); Sayous, Hisloire de la
litsérature frangasse & Vétranger.

ST , a town of south-eastern France in the department
of Bouches-du-Rhone, 15 m. N.E. of Arles by road. Pop. (1906),
town, 3668; commune, 6148. It is prettily situated to the
north of the range of hills named the Alpines or Alpilles in a
valley of olive trees. The town has a modern church with a
lofty 14th-century spire. About a mile to the south are Gallo-
Roman relics of the ancient Glanum, destroyed about 480.
They comprise a triumphal arch and a fine three-storied
mausoleum of uncertain date. Near by is the old priory of St
Paul-de-Mausole with an interesting church and cloister of
Romanesque architecture. In the vicinity of St Rémy there
are quarries of building stone, and seed-cultivation is an
important industry.

ST RIQUIER, a town of northern France, in the department
of Somme, 8 m. N.E. of Abbeville by rail. Pop. (1906) 1158.
St Riquier (originally Centula) was famous for its abbey, founded

the | about 625 by Riquier (Richarnis), son of the governor of the town.

It was enriched by King Dagobert and prospered under the
abbacy of Angilbert, son-in-law of Charlemagne. The buildings
(18th century) are occupied by an ecclesiastical seminary. The
church, a magnificent example of flamboyant Gothic architecture
of the 15th and 16th centuries, has a richly sculptured west
front surmounted by a square tower. In the interior the fine
vaulting, the Renaissance font and carved stalls, and the frescoes
in the treasury are especially thy. The t Y,
among other valuable relics, possesses a copper cross said to be
the work of St Eloi (Eligius). The town has a municipal belfry
of the 13th or 14th centuries. In 1536 St Riquier repulsed an
attack by the Germans, the women especially distinguishing
themselves. In 1544 it was burnt by the English, an event
which marks the b:'gmnlnﬁ of its decline.

See Hénocque, * Hist. de I'abbaye ct de la ville de St Riquier,” in
lg:). soc. anlig. Picardie. Documents inédils, ix-xi. (Pans, 1880~
1888).

SAINTS, BATTLE OF THE. This battle is frequently called
by the date on which it took place—the 12th of April 1782,
‘The French know it as the battle of Dominica, near the coast
of which it was fought. The Saints are small rocky islets in
the channel between the islands of Dominica and Guadaloupe
in the West Indies. The battle is of exceptional importance in
naval history; it was by far the most considerable fought
at sea in the American War of Independence, and was to Great
Britain of the nature of a deliverance, since it not only saved
Jamaica from a formidable attack, but after the disasters in
North America went far to restore British prestige. The comte
de Grasse,with 33 sail of the line, was at Fort Royal in Martinique.
His aim was to effect a combination with a Spanish force from
Cuba, and invade Jamaica. A British fleet (36 sail of the line),
commanded by Sir George, afterwards Lord Rodney (g.0.), was
anchored in Gros Islet Bay, Santa Lucia. On the 8th of April
the British lookout frigates reported that the French were
at sea, and Rodney immediately sailed in pursuit. Light and
variable sea or land b made the m s of both fleets
uncertain. Some of the ships of each might have a wind, while
others were becalmed. On the gth of April eight ships of the
British van, at some distance from the bulk of their fleet, and
nearly opposite the mountain called the Mome au Diable in
Dominica, were attacked by fifteen of the French. The comte
de Grasse, whose own ships were much scattered and partly
becalmed, and who moreover was hampered by the transports
carrying soldiers and stores, did not press the attack home.
His chief wish was to carry his fleet through the channel between
Dominica and Guadaloupe, while Rodney was anxious to force a
battle. During the night of the 11th-rath the greater part
of the French had cleared the channel, but a collision took place
between two of their ships by which one was severely damaged.
The crippled vessel was seen and pursued by four ships of the
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British van. The comte de Grasse recalled all his vessels, and
bore down towards the British. Rodney ordered the last of his
ships to lead into action, the others following her in succession,
and the detached ships falling in behind as they returned from
the pursuit. The two fleets in line of battle passed one another,
the French steering in a southerly, the British in a northerly
direction. Both were going very slowly. Fire was opened
about 8 o’clock, and by 10 o'clock the leading British ship had
passed the last of the French. While the action was in progress,
one of the variable winds of the coast began to blow from the
sou!h while the nonhem extremities of the fleets were in an

ly breeze. C was produced in both forces, and
a great gap was created in the French line just ahead of the
“ Formidable” (100), Rodney’s flagship. The captain of thefleet,
Sir Charles Douglas, called his attention to the opening, and
urged him to steer through it. The fighting instructions then
in force made it i bent on an admiral to preserve the order
in which he began the action unchanged. Rodney hesitated to

obtained for him a world-wide celebrity. These admirable
exank;pln of * programme music "’ count among his best known
works.

At last, through the influence of Liszt, his Biblical opera Samson
et Dalila was brought out at Weimar in 1877. This work, gener-
ally accepted as his operatic masterpiece, had been begun as far
back as 1869, and an act had been heard at one of Colonne’s
concerts in 1875. Notwithstanding its great success at Weimar,
its first performance on French soil took place at Rouen in 1890.
The following year it was given in Paris at the Eden Theatre, and
finally in 1892 was produced at the Grand Opéra, where it has
remained one of the most attractive works of the répertoire. Its
Biblical subject stood in the way of its being performed on the
London stage until 1909, when it was given at Covent Garden
with great success. None of his works is better calculated
to exemplify the dual tendencies of hisstyle. The first act, with
its somewhat formal choruses, suggests the influence of Bach and
Handel, and is treated rather in the manner of an oratorio. The

depart from the traditional order, but after a few
of doubt accepted the suggestion. The * Formidable” was
steered through the opening, followed by six of those immediatcly
behind her. The ships towards the rear passed through the
disordered French in the smoke, which was very thick, without
knowing what they had done till they were beyond the enemy.
About 1 o’clock the British had all either gone beyond the French
or were to the east of them. The French werc broken into
three bodies, and were completely disordered. The comte de
Grasse, in his flagship the * Ville de Paris,” with five other
vessels, was isolated from his van and rear. Rodney directed his
attack on these six vessels, which were taken after a very gallant
resistance. It was the general belief of the fleet that many more
would have been captured if Rodney had pursued more vigorously,
but he was content with the prizes he had taken. Two more
of the French were captured by Sir Samuel Hood, afterwards
Lord Hood, in the Mona Passage on the 1gth of April.

See Beatson, Naval and Mililary Memoirs (London, 1804), vol. 5;
and a careful analysis from the French side by Chevalier, Histosre
de la marine frangasse pendant la guerre de I'indépendance américaine
(Paris, 1877). (D. H.)

SAINT-SAENS, CHARLES CAMILLE (1835~ ), French
composer, was born in Paris on the 3rd of October 1835. After
having as a child taken lessons on the piano, and learned the
el of ¢ ition, he d the Paris Conservatoire in
the organ class, then presided over by Eugéne Benoist, obtaining
the second prize in 1849, and the first two years later. For a
short time he studied composition under Halévy, and in 1852,
and again in 1864, competed without success for the Grand Prix
de Rome. Notwithstanding these unaccountable failures, Saint-
Sa¥ns worked indefatigably. In 1853, when only eighteen, he
was appointed organist at the Church of St Merry, and from
1861 to 1877 was organist at the Madeleine, in succession to
Lefébure-Wély. An overture entitled * Spartacus,” which has
remained unpublished, was crowned at a competition instituted
in 1863 by the Société Sainte Cécile of Bordeaux. The greatest
triumph of his early career was, however, attained in 1867, when
the prize was unanimously awarded to him for his cantata “ Les
Noces de Prométhée " in the competition organized during the
International Exhibition of that year—a prize competed for by
over two hundred musicians.

Though he had acquired a great hame as a pianist, and bad
made successful concert tours through Europe, he had not
succeeded in reaching the ears of the larger public by the produc-
tion of an opera, which in France counts for more than anything
else. After the tragic events of 1870, when Saint-Sa#ns did his
duty as a patriot by serving in the National Guard, the oppor-
tunity at last offered itself, and a one-act opera from his pen,
La Princesse jaune, with words by Louis Gallet, was produced
at the Opéra Comique with success on the 12th of June
1872. Le Timbre dargml a four-act opera performed at the
Théatre Lyrique in 1877, was scarcely more successful. In the
meanwhile his * symphonic poems” ‘ Le Rouet d’Omphale,”
* Dans¢ Macabre,” “ Phaéton ” and “ La Jeunesse d’Hercule "

e

thore d ic portions of the opera are not uninfluenced by
Meyerbeer, while in the mellifluous strains allotted to the
temptress therc are occasional suggestions of Gounod. Of
Wagner there is but little trace, save in the fact that the com-
poser has divided his work into scenes, thus avoiding the old-
fashioned denominations of * air,” “ duet,” * trio,” &c. The
score, however, is not devoid of individuality. The influences
mentioned above, possibly excepting that of Bach in the earlier
scenes, are rather of a superficial nature, for Saint-Saéns has
undoubtedly a style of his own. It is a composite style, certainly,
and all the materials that go towards forming it may not be
absolutely his; that is, the eclecticism of his mind may lead him
at one moment to adopt an archaic form of expression, at another
to employ the current musical language of his day, and sometimes
to blend the two. It is perhaps in the latter case that he shows
most individuality; for although his works may denote the
varied influences of such totally imilar masters as Bach,
Beethoven, Liszt and Gounod, he ever contrives to put in some-
thing of his own.

After the production of Samson e Dalila Saint-Sa¥ns stood
at the parting of the w:ys—looked at askance by the reactionary
section of the French musicians, and suspected of harbouring
subversive Wagnerian ideas, but ready to be welcomed by the
progressive party. Both sides were doomed to disappointment,
for in his subsequent operas Saint-Saéns attempted to effect a
compromise between the older and the newer forms of opera.
He had already cntertained the idea of utilizing the history of
France for operatic purposes. The first and only result of this
project has been Etienne Marcel, an opera produced at Lyons in
1879. Although of unequal ment, owing pan.ly to its want of
unity of style, this work contains much music of an attractive
kind, and scarcely deserves the neglect into which it has fallen.
Fomkmg the history of France he now composed his opera
Henry VIII., produced at the Paris Grand Opéra in 1883, The
librettists had concocted a piece that was sufficiently well knit
and abounded in dramatic contrasts. While adhering to his
system of compromise by retaining certain conventional operatic
features, Saint-Saéns had in this instance advanced somewhat
by employing leit motivs in a more rigorous fashion than hitherto,
although he had not gone so far as to discard airs cut after the
old pattern, duets and quartets. Henry VIII., which was given
at Covent Garden in 1898, occupies an honourable place among
the composer’s works. Proserpine, a lyrical drama produced at
the Paris Opéra Comique in 1887, achieved a succds d’estime and
no more. A not much better fate befcll Ascamio, an opera
founded on Paul Meurice's drama Benvenufo Cellini, and brought
out at the Grand Opéra in 18go. Phryné, however, a two-act
trifle of a light description, produced at the Opéra Comique in
1893, met with success. In 1895 Frédégonde, an opera begun by
Emest Guiraud and completed by Saint-Saéns, was produced in
Paris. The * lyrical drama " Les Barbares, given at the Grand
Opéra in 1901, was received with marked favour.

Saint-Saéns worked successfully in every ﬁeld ol hisart. Besides
the operas above alluded to, he composed the following oratorios
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nt!um * Oratorio
Psalm * Coehmnt" * Le Dély;

three lynphpms lour symehmuc s (“ Le
“ Phaéton.” 0 .P"'" d"' le ); five
piancoforte coneenor three violin wnumn. two suites, mn:l\et.
and other works for orchestra; the ballet Zavolte; music to the
drama Déjanire, given at the open-air theatre of Bémn. a quintet
for piano and strings,a quartet for piano and strings,two for
piano and strings, quartet, a septet, lo sonata, two
vwlm sonatas; a Mmmum. besides a quantity of piano and
o:pn music, and mn{{nong‘, duetsand choruses. Healso published
hree books, entitled

Pnbl&nn o of X M of poems, ets
Immry&nu Doctm' usic was eonlen‘d u y
Cambtdg! University in 1893. poa

SAINTSBURY, GEORGE EDWARD BATEMAN (:345- ),
English man of letters, was born at Southampton on the 23rd
of October 1845. He was educated at King's College School,
London, and at Merton College, Oxford (B.A,, 1868), and spent six
years in Guernsey as senior classical master of Elizabeth College.
From 1874 to 1876 he was headmaster of the Elgin Educational
Institute. He began his literary career in 1875 asa critic for the
Academy, and for ten years was actively engaged in journalism,
becoming an important member of the staff of the Satwrday
Review. Some of the critical essays contributed to the literary
journals were afterwards collected in his Essays im Englisk
Literature, 17801860 (2 vols., 1890-189s), Essays om French
Nozelists (1891), Miscellancous Es:ays (1892), Corrected Impres-
sions (1895). His first book, A Primer of Fremch Lilerature
(1880), and his Skort History of French Lilerature (1882; 6th
ed., Oxford, 1901), were followed by a series of editions of French
classics and of books and articles on the history of French litera-
ture, which made him the most prominent English authority on
the subject. His studies in English literaturc were no less
comprebensive, and included the valuable revision of Sir Walter
Scott’s edition of Dryden’s Works (Edinburgh, 18 vols., 1882—
1893), Dryden (1881) in the * English Men of Letters " series,
History of Elisabethan Literature (1887), History of Nineteenth
Cesury Literature (1896), A Short History of English Literature
(1898, 3rd ed. 1903), an edition of the Minor Caroline Poets of

Caroline Period (2 vols., 1905-1906), a collection of rare poers
d great value, and cdmons of English classics. He edited the
series of * Periods of European Literature,” contributing the
volumes on The Flourishing of Romance and the Rise of Allegory
(1897), and The Earlier Renaissance (1901). In 1895 he became
professor of rhetoric and English literature at Edinburgh univer-
sity, and subsequently produced two of his most important
works, A History of Criticism (3 vols., 1900~1904), with the
companion volume Loci Critici, Passages Illustrative of Crilical
Theory and Practice (Boston, U.S.A., and London, 1903), und
A History of Englisk Pro:dy jmm the 12th Cenmlury lo the
Presens Day (i, 1906; ii., 1908; iii., 1910); also The Later
Nineteenth Century (1909).

ST SERVAN, a town of western France, in the department of
Tlle-et-Vilaine, on the right bank of the Rance, south of St Malo,
from which it is separated by the Anse des Snblonl, a creek
t m. wide (see St Maro). Pop. (1906) 976s. It is not enclosed
by walls, and with its new houses, straight wide streets and
pumercus prdem forms a contrast to its neighbour. North of
the town there is a wet-dock, 27 acres in extent, forming part
of the harbour of St Malo. The creek on which it opens is dry at
low water, but at high water is 30 to 40 ft.deep. The dock is
used dneﬂy by coasting and fishing vessels, a fleet starting
annually for the Newfoundland c6d-fisheries. Two other ports
on the Rance, south-west of the town at the foot of the tower
of Solidor, are of small importance. This stronghold, erected
towards the close of the 14th century by John IV., duke of
Brittany, for the purpose of contesting the claims to the temporal
sovereignty of the town of Josselin de Rohan, bishop of St Malo,
consists of three distinct towers formed into a triangle by loop-
holed and machicolated curtains. To the west St Servan termi-
nates in a peninsula on which stands the * cité,” inhabited by
work-people, and the “ fort de la cité”; near by is a modern
chapel which bas replaced the cathedral of St Peter of Aleth,
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the seat of a bishopric from the 6th to the 1ath century. The
parish church is modern (1742-1842). St Servan has a com-
munal college. It carries on num-uwmg, boat-building, rope-
nukmq and the manufacture of ship’s biscuits.

Cité " occupies the site of city of Aleth, which at the
clooeoftheRomanemp:nsu nted Corseul as the capital of the
Curiosolites. Aleth was a bulwark of Druidism in those regions and
was not Christianized till the 6th century, when St Mtlo became its

first On the removal of the bishopric to St Malo Aleth
declined and was almost d byStLouumu;s.thehoum
d stand 150 new community,

nating from St Malo, which plued tself under the patronage of

St n, apostle of the Orkneys. It was not till the Revolution
that commune from St Malo with a

hmm a separate
municipality and police of its own.
8T SEVER, a town of south-western France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Landes, 11 m. S.S.W. of
Mont de Marsan on the Southern railway between that town
and Bayonne. Pop. (19o6) town, 2508; commune, 4644. St
Sever stands on an eminence on the left bank of the Adour in
the district of the Chalosse. Its streets, bordered in places by
old houses, are narrow and winding. The promenade of Morlanne
laid out on the site of a Roman camp called Palestrion com-
mands a fine view of the Adour and the pine forests of the
Landes. The church of St Sever, a Romanesque building of the
12th century, with seven apses, once belonged to the Bene-
dictine abbey founded in the 1oth century. The public in-
stitutions of the town include the sub-prefecture, a tribunal of
first instance, and a practical lchool of agriculture and viticulture
which pies a former D . ‘There is trade in
the agricultural products of the Chalosse, especially geese.

SAINT-SIMON, CLAUDE DE ROUVROY, Duc pE (1607~
1693), French courtier, was born in August 1607, being the second
son of Louis de Rouvroi, seigneur du Plessis (d. 1643), who had
been a warm supporter of Henry of Guise and the League. With
his elder brother he entered the service of Louis XIII. as a page
and found instant favour with the king. Named first equerry
in March 1627 he became in less than three years captain of the
chAteaux of St Germain and Versailles, master of the hounds,
first gentleman of the bed-chamber, royal councillorand governor
of Meulan and of Blaye. On the fall of La Rochelle he received
lands in the vicinity valued at 80,000 livres. About three
years later his scigniory of Saint-Simon in Vermandois was
erected into a duchy, and he was created a peer of France. He
was at first on good terms withi Richelieu and was of service on
the Day of Dupes (11th of Novembet 1630). Having suffered
disgrace for taking the part of his uncle, the baron of Saint-
Léger, after the capture of Catelet (xsth of August 1636), he
retired to Blaye. He fought in the campaigns of 1638 and 1639,
and after the death of Richelieu returned to court, where he was
coldly received by the king (18th of February 1643). Thence-
forth, with the exception of siding with Condé during the Fronde,
he took small part in politics. He died in Paris on the 3rd of
May 1693. By his first wife, Diane de Budos de Portes, a
relative of Condé, whom he married in 1644 and who died in
1670, he had three daughters. By his second wife, Charlotte
de 1'Aubespine, whom he married in 1672, he had a son Louis,
the * author of the memoirs ”’ (sec below).

SAINT-SIMON, CLAUDE HENRI DE ROUVROY, CoMTE DE
(1760~1825), the founder of French socmhsm wu born i in Pam
on the 17th of October 1760. He belong
of the family of the duc de Saint-Simon (above) His education
was directed by D’Alembert. At the age of nineteen he assisted
the American colonies in their revolt against Britain. From
his youth Saint-Simon felt the promptings of an eager ambition.
His valet had orders to awake him every morning with the
words, “ Remember, monsieur le comte, that you have great
things to do.” Among his early schemes was one to unite the
Atlantic and the Pacific by a canal, and another to construct
a canal from Madrid to the sea. Although he was imprisoned
in the Luxembourg during the Terror, he took no part of
any importance in the Revolution, but profited by it to
amass a little fortune by land speculation—not on any selfish
account, however, as he said, but to facilitate his future projects.
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Accordingly, when he was nearly forty years of age he went
through a varied course of study and experiment, in order to
enlarge and clarify his view of things. One of these experiments
was an unhappy marriage—undertaken merely that he might
bave a salon—which, after a year’s duration, was dissolved by
mutual consent. The result of his experiments was that he
found himself completely impoverished, and lived in penury
for the remainder of his life. The first of his numerous writings,
Letires d’un habilant de Genéve, appeared in 1802; but his early
writings were mostly scientific and political. In 1817 he began
in a treatise entitled L'Industric to propound his socialistic
views, which he further developed in L’Organisatexr (1810), a

periodical on which Augustin Thierry and Auguste Comte
collaborated. .The first b d a sensation, but it brought
few converts. In 1821 appeared Du systéme industriel, and in
18231824 Catéchisme des industricls. The last and most im-
portant expression of his views is the Nowvean Christianisme
(1825), which he left unfinished. For many years before his
death in 1825 (at Paris on the 19th of May), Saint-Simon had
been reduccd to the greatest straits. He was obliged to accept
a laborious post, working nine hours a day fqr {40 a year, to
live on the generosity of a former valet, and finally to solicit
a small pension from his family. In 1823 he attempted suicide
in despair. in his career that he

It was not till very late in
attached to himself a few ardent disciples.

As a thinker Saint-Simon was entirely deficient in system,
clearness and consecutive strength. But his great influence
on modern thought is undeniable, both as the historic founder
of French socialism and as suggesting much of what was after-
wards elaborated into Comtism. Apart from the details of his
socialistic teaching, which are vague and unsystematic, we find
that the ideas of Saint-Simon as to the reconstruction of socicty
are very simple. His opinions were conditioned by the French
Revolution and by the feudal and military system still prevalent
in France. In opposition to the destructive liberalism of the
Revolution he insisted on the ity of a new and positive
reorganization of society. So far was he from advocating fresh
social revolt that he appealed to Louis XVIII. to inaugurate
the new order of things. In opposition, however, to the feudal
and military system, the former aspect of which had been
strengthened by the restoration, he advocated an arrangement
by which the industrial chiefs should control society. In place
of the medieval church the spiritual direction of society should
fall to the men of science. What Saint-Simon duimd, therefore,
was an industrialist state directed by modern science in which
universal association should suppress war. In short, the men
who are fitted to orgtnm society for pnoducuve hbour are
entitled to bear rule in it. The social aim is to produce things
useful to life. The contrast between labour and capital so much
emphuud by later socialism is not present to Saint-Simon,
but it is assumed that the industrial chiefs, to whom the control
of production is to be committed, shall rule in the interest of
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Olinde Rodrigues, the favoured disciple of Saint-Simon, and
Barthélemy Prosper Enfantin (¢.v.), who together had received
Saint-Simon’s last instructions. Their first step was to establish
a journal, Le Productenr, but it was discontinued in 1826. The
sect, however, had begun to grow, and before the end of 1828,
had meetings not only in Paris but in many provincial towns.
An important departure was made in 1828 by Amand Bazard,
who gave a * complete exposition of the Saint-Simonian faith
in a long course of lectures at Paris, which were well attended.
His Expa.mwu de la docirine de St Simon (2 vols., 1828-1830),
which is by far the best account of it, won more adherents. The
second volume was chiefly by Enfantin, who along with Bazard
stood at the head of the society, but who was superior in meta-
physical power, and was prone to push his deductions to
extremities. The revolution of July (1830) brought a new freedom
to the socialist reformers. A proclamation was issued demanding
the community of goods, the abolition of the right of inheritance,
and the enfranch of . Early next year the school
obtained possession of the Globe through Pierre Leroux (¢g.v.),
who had joined the school, which now numbered some of the
ablest and 'most promising young men of F rance, many of the
pupils of the Ecole Polytechnique having caught its enthusiasm.
The members formed th lves into an association arranged
in three grades, and eonsmuun; a society or family, which lived
out of a common purse in the Rue Monsigny. Before long,
however, dissensions began to arise in the sect. Bazard, 2 man
of logical and more solid temperament, could no longer work in
harmony with Enfantin, who desired to establish an arrogant
and fantastic sacerdotalism with lax notions as to marriage and
the relation of the sexes. After a time Bazard seceded and many
of the strongest supporters of the school followed his example.’
A series of extravagant entcrtainments given by the society
during the winter of 1832 reduced its financial resources and
greatly discredited it in character. They finally removed to
Ménilmontant, to a property of Enfantin, where they lived in a
commuanistic society, distinguished by a peculiar dress. Shortly
after the chiefs were tried and condemned for proceedings .
prejudicial tq the social order; and the sect was entirely broken
up (1832). Many of its members became famous as engineers,
economists, and men of business.
In the school of Saint-Simon we find a great advance on the v
and confused v-mo?hhe naster t‘blem e(w‘] ph o(uhuwry hey
s of two cri or negative
rmn?::rmmmve. The ormef. in which l;)ﬁlou"plly is the
dominming force, is ch and
latter, which is controlled by nhzlon. is marked by the spmt of
ion. The two spirits of anngomlm
and association are the two great social principles, and on the d
of prevalence of the two depends the character of an e
spirit of association, however, tends more more t0 pt!vall over,
its opponent, extending from the family to the city, from the city to
the nation, and from the nation to the federation.” This principle of
association is to be the keynote of the social development of the
future. Um-lel:e the present em the industrial chief exploits the

society. Later on the cause of lhe poor receives g atten-

tion, till in his greatest work, The New Christianity, it takes | 365t

the form of a religion. It was this development of his teaching
that occasioned his final quarrel with Comte. Previous to the
publication of the Nouveau Christianisme, Saint-Simon had not
concerned ‘himself with theology. Here he starts from a belief
in God, and his object in the treatise is to reduce Christianity to
its snmple and essential elements. He does this by clearing it
of the dogmas and other excrescences and defects which have
gathered round the Catholic and Protestant forms of it. He
propounds as the ¢ hensive formula of the new Christianity
this precept—** The whole of society ought to strive towards
the amelioration of the moral and physical existence of the
poorest class; society ought to organize itself in the way best
adapted for atta.imng this end.” This principle became the
watchword of the entire school of Saint-Simon.

During his lifetime the views of Saint-Simon had very little
influence; and he left only a few devoted disciples, who
continued to advocate the doctrines of their master, whom they
cevered as a prophet. Of these the most important were

which, though nominally free, must

his terms under pain of starvation. e only y for this
is the abolition of the law of inheritance, and the union of all t

lmtmmenu o( labour in a nocul fund, which shall be exploited hy

us sole prietor, intrusting to

social groupu and social functionaries the management of the various

ies. The right of mcmmon is transferred from the family

to the state. The school of Saint-Simon insists strongly on the
claims ql merit; they & a social hif y in whic each man
shall be placed to his y and rded

his work:. This is, indeed, & most |pccul and pronounced feature of
the Saint-Simon socialism, whose theory of government is a kind of
spiritual or scientific autocracy, degenerating into the fantastic
sacerdotalism of Enfantin. With rq;;rd to the family and the relation
of the scxes the school of Saint-Simon advocated the complete
emancipation of woman and her entire equality with man. The
* social individual " is man and who are d in the
exercise of the triple function of religion, the state and the family, In'
its official declarations the school maintained the sanctity of the
Christian law of mmage Connected with these doctrines was their
i ouphie heory.of the school. which wes & species of B "&".‘:3.‘5
i ic theory , which was a species an!

rhougl\ they diated the ume On this theory they rejected the

80 muc ‘g. Christianity in its penances
and mortifications, and held that the body should be restored to its
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doe place of honour. ltka of which the ethical
character depends on the mmlu?: nu.:‘le“ was variously inter-
dmlhe-:boolols.mtg ltwueenmnlynmmonla
into a kind of sensual
m)ﬂhm. a system of free love with a religious sanction.
works of Saint-Simon and Enfantin
rublnhad by the survivors of the sect (47 vols., Pam. 1865—
x57s See, in addition to the works cited above, L. Reyb-ud.
les réformateurs contemporains (7th edition, Paris, 1864);
l’aul jam. Saint-Simon et le Saint-Simonisme (Paris, 1878); A.
h, Saini-Simon and Saint-Simowism , 1871); Gcorge-
Weill, "Un Précxrsexr du socialisme, Soint-Simon el son awvre (|
1394). md a history of the Scmfumm. by

Puil.

aut mas, Psychologie messics .nbnya
St S )éo-le (:lws) E.” Levasscur's Eludes sociales sous la
Rcmm, contains a gopd section on Sunt-&mmk LT.5%

SAINT-SINON, LOUIS DE ROUVROY, Duc ok (1675-1755),
French soldier, diplomatist and writer of memoirs, was born at
Versailles on the 16th of Januaty 1675. The peerage granted
to his father, Claude de St Simon (g.0.), is the central fact in his
history. The French peerage under the old régime was a very
peculiar thing, difficult to comprehend at all, but quite certain
to be miscomprehended if any analogy of the English peerage
is imported into the consideratiorr. No two things could be more
different in France than ennobling 2 man and making him a
peer. No one was made a peer who was not ennobled, but men
of the noblest blood in France and representing their houses
might not be, and in most cases were not, peers. Derived at
least traditionally and imaginatively from the dowse pairs of
Charlemagne, the peers were suppoud to represent the chosen
of the nobl and dually, in an indefinite and constantly
disputed faslnon, became associated with the parlement of Paris

as a quasi-legislative (or at least law-registering) and directly.

judicial body. But the peerage was further complicated by the
fact that not persons but the holders of certain fiefs were made
peers.  Strictly speaking, neither Saint-Simon nor any one
eclse in the same case was made a peer, but his estate was raised
to the rank of § duché pairie or a comté pairic as the casemight
be. Still the peers were in a way a standing committee repre-
sentative of the entire body of nobles, and it was Saint-Simon’s
lifelong ideal, and at times his practical effort to convert them
into a sort of great council of the nation.

His mother, Charlotte de I’Aubespine, belonged to a-family not
of the oldest nobility but one which had been distinguished
in the public service at least since the time of Francis I. Her
son Louis was well educated, to a great extent by herself, and
he had had for godfather md godmother Louis XIV. md the
queen. After some tuition by the Jesuits (especially by Sanadorr,
the editor of Horace), he joined the mousquetaires gris in 1692.
He was present at the siege of Namur, and the battle of Neer-
winden. _But it was at this very time that he chose to begin
the crusade of his life by instigating, if not bringing, an action
on the part of the peers of France against Luxembourg, his
victorious general, on a point of precedence. He fought, how-
ever, another campaign or two (not under Luxembourg), and in
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moreover, to combine attachment to the duke of Burgundy with
that to the duke of Orleans. Both attachments weré no doubt
all the more sincere because of his undying hatred to “ the
bastards,”. that .is to say, the illegitimate sons of Louis XIV.
It does not appear that this hatred was founded on moral

or on any real fear that these bastards would be intruded into -
the succession. The true cause of -his wrath was that they had
precedence of the peers.

The death of Louis seemed to give Saint-Simon a chance of
realizing his hopes. The duke of Orleans was at once acknowledged
regent, and Saint-Simon was of the council of regency. But no
steps were taken to carry out his favourite vision of a France
ruled by the nobles for its good, and he had little real influence
with the regent. He was indeed gratified by the degradation of
“ the bastards,” and in 1721 he was appointed ambassador to
Spain to arrange for the marriage (not destined to take place)
of Louis XV. and the infanta. His visit was splendid; he received
the grandeeship, and, though he also caught the smallpox,
he was quite satisfied with the business. After his return he had
little to do with public affairs. His own account of the cessation
of his intimacy with Orleans and Dubois, the latter of whom
had never been his friend, is, like his own account of some other
events of his life, obu:um and rather suspicious. But there can
be little doubt that he was practically ousted by the favourite.
He survived for more than thirty years; but little is known of
his life. His wife died in 1743, his eldest son a little later; he
had other family troubles, and he was loaded with debt. When
hedied, at Paris on the 2nd of March 1755, be had almost entirely
outlived his own generation (among whom he had been one of
the youngest) and the prosperity of his house, though not its
notoriety. This last was in strange fashion revived by a distant
relative born five years after his own death, Claude Henri,
comte de Saint-Simon (g.v.).

It will have been observed that the actual events of Saint-Simon's
life, long as it was and high as was his position, are neither numerous
nor noteworthy. He is, however, an almost unique example of a
man who has acquired great literary fame entirely by posthumous
publications. He was an indefatigable writer, and he
early to set down in black and white all the fossip he mumvﬁ

of and a vast mass of

unclnnﬁed and almost unclaluﬁ.ll;le mnet Most of his manu-
scripts came into the of tl it was
long before their contents were publshed in anything like fulness.
Pmly in the form of notes on Dangeau’s Journal, partly in that of
original and mdependent memoirs, put(l{ in scattered and multi-
farious tracts and he ha to paper an
But the mere mass of these productions
is their least noteworthy feature, or rather it is most remarkable as
oontrutmg with their charactet and style: Snint Simon, though
and among the most
striking memoir-writers og France, the country nchelt in memoirs
of any in the world. His to his
Knvate enemics and to those who espoused public parties with wlnch
did not agree, the bitterness which allows him to give favourable
mu of ﬁan{ly any one, his omnivorous appetite for gossip, his

ion and perspective, are all lost sight of in admiration

of hu utramdmnry ltmul lor historical narrative and character-
ng of a sort. He has been compared to Tacitus, and

1695 married Gabriclle de Durfort, daughter of the échal
de Lorges, under whom he htlerly served.. He seems to have
regarded her with a respect and affection not very usual between

ded

for once the comparison is just. In the midst of his enormous mass

of writing phruu scarcely inferior to Roman's occur frequently,
and here and there are of sustained description equal, for

of light llld life, to thoee of Tacitus or of any

busband and wife at the time; and she sometimes
in modifying his aristocratic ideas. But as he did not receive
the promotion he desired he flung up his commission in 1702.

Louis took a dislike to him, and it was mthdxﬁcully that he was characte

able to keep a footing at court. He was,

other historian. As may be from the vast extent of his

work, it is in the highest degree degree unequal. But heisat the same time
not a writer who can be “ as his most
eristic phrammmunnoccurm ﬁunud-tol Iongnmcbeu

interested in all the transactions of Versullu and by dint of &
most heterogtneous collection of instruments, ranging from
dukes to servants, he nmianaged to obtain -the extraordinary
secret information which he has handed down. His own part
appears to have been entircly subordinate. He was appointed
ambassador to Rome in 1705, but the appointment was cancelled
before he started. At last he attached himself to the duke of
Orleans and, though this was bardly likely to conciliate Louis’s
goodwill to lnm. it gave dim at least the status of belonging
1o a definite party, and it eventually placed him in the position
of tried friend to the acting chief of the state, He .was able,

of quite im,
ho-eofSunt&Beuve,mthebuuolmuch if not most,
that has been written about him. Yet no one is-olmletobeuken
at second-hand. Even his most m such as the
account of the death of the dmplnn or of th ustice where
his encmy the duke of Maine was ve a fair idea
of his talent. These are his gﬂm hu grut machines,” as
French art slang calls them: more noteworth; uwellumore
frequent are the oudden touches which he gives. e bishops are
** cuistres violets *’; M. de Caumartin ** porte sous son manteau toute
la fatuité que M. de Villeroy étale sur son baudrier '; another
litician has a * mine de chat faché.” In short, the mtefut of the

emoirs, ind t of the large addition of positive knowledge
which they make, is one of constant surprise at tg“novel and adnm
use of word and phrase. Some of Macaulay's most brilliant portraits
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sketches of incident are adapted and sometimes almost literall, mber than cultivate about m?hth of the island. They
{:Admhted from Snmt-&m.; i known as * cn:uvu * and use a Negro-Port “lingua de S
The first edmon o( Saint-Simon (some scattered pieces may have | Thomé.” (2) On the south-west coast -m me $000 in
been printed before) appeared in 1788. It was a mere in of two ves wrecked at Sete
Pedm in1 Tb:y uum their Bunda and customs, and

three volumes and was much cut down before it was allowed to
appeu' Next year four more their and
a new edition, still further i d. The vbole or rather

in 1791
not ti

hole, ted in 1829-18, nd some
o reaorea ;?Sm:?-&n{:n..ufuualuﬂandeuct

years later. The real creat.

text is concerned, was M. Chcmel. whose edition in aovolume-dne-
from 1856, and was reissued again revised in 1872. So immense,
l\mvu'. n the mass of SumStmmu MSS. still_another

iven by M. de Boislisle in 1882, with M. Chéruel’s
umunne. a newer edition, yet once more from the
MS., was bqun in 1 It must, however, be admitted that the
mnels;e other tha:;:le emoirs is gf; nltog:thct ;;:(emr interest and
ma; pretty lected any one but eseed anti-
qu:nn and 1 studs R on Saint-Simon there
is nothing better than Sunt&Beuve s two sketches in the 3rd and
1sth volumu of the Causeries d Iunds. The latter wu tten to
accompany M. Chéruel’s first edition. In English
(n (g‘xﬁ)wrd

accurate treatment isina essa E.
and London, 1885). prize exay by

ST THOMAS, an incorporated city and port of entry of Ontario,
Canada, capital of Elgin county, on Kettle creek, 13 m. S. of
London and 8 m. N. of Lake Erie. Pop. (1901) 11,485. Itis
an important station on the Grand Trunk, Michigan Centnl
hkeErie&Deumtvaer,nd“ dian P:

It has llegiate institute, and Alma ladies’
college. The Michigan Centnl railway shops, car-wheel foundry,
flour, flax and planing mills are the principal industries.

ST THOMAS (SAio THOME), a volcanic island in the Gulf of
Guines immediately north of the equator (o® 23’ N.) and in
6° 40’ E. With the island of Principe (Prince’s Island), it forms
the Portuguese province of St Thomas. From the Gabun, the
nearest point of the mainland of Africa, St Thomas is distant
166 m., and from Cameroon 297 m. The extreme length of the
island is 32 m. the breadth W. to E. 21 m.; the area is about
400 8q. m.,

Fmtbemthehndﬁmtwmlﬂoftymdantmmum

n 1891, before the t dev cocoa
fm{um-y the popu?uan was only z'::oo A

St Thomas was discovered on the 215t of December 1470 by
the Portuguese navigators Joio de Santarem and Pero de
Escobar, who in the beginning of the following year discovered
Annobom (* Good Year ””). They found St Thomas uninhabited.
The first attempts at colonization were Jodio de Paiva’s in 148s;
but nothing permanent was accomplished till 1493, when a body
of criminals and of young Jews taken from their parents to be
baptized were sent to the island, and the present capital was
founded by Alvaro de Carminha. In the middle of the 16th
century there were over 8o sugar mills on the island, which
then had a population of 50,000; but in 1567 the settlement
was attacked by the French, and in 1574 the Angolares began
raids which only ended with their subjugation in 1693. In
1595 there was a slave revolt; and from 1641 to 1644 the Dutch,
who had plundered the capital in 1600, held possession of the
island. The French did great damage in 1709; the sugar
trade had passed to Brazil and internal anarchy reduced St
Thomas to a deplorable state. It was not until the later half
of the 19th century that prosperity began to return.

The greatly increased demand for cocoa which arose in the
last decade of the century led to the establishment of many
additional plantations, and a very profitable industry was
developed. Planters, however, were handicapped by the scarcity
of labour, for though a number of Cape Verde islanders, Krumen
and Kabindas sought employment on short-term agreements,
the “ natives ” would not work. The difficults was met by the
recruitment of indentured natives from Angola, as many as
Gooo being brought over in one year. The mortality among these

(St Thomas over 7000 ft.). Az great and

mall, d d the h deep-cut ravines, many of
th:m lornung beautiful mu:rhlh, luch as those ol Blu-blu on the
Agua Grande. The

island durin| Crtm by t Nethcrhndl
acquired the name of *“ The D {:rd he death-
rate is still very high. Malaria is common in the lower A bu!

the unhealthiness of the istand is largely due to the absence of h;
precautions. During the dry season (J une to Septmbu
temperature ranges in the lower parts between 66-2° and 80-6° F.

was great, but they were very well treated on the
plantations. No provision was, however, made for their repa-
triation, while the great majority were brought by force from
remote parts of Central Africa and had no idea of the character
of the agreement into which they were compelled to enter.
From time to time governors of Angola endeavoured to remedy
the abuses of the system, which both in Portugal and Great
Britain was denounced as indistinguishable from slavery, not-
withstanding that slavery had been y abolished in the
Portuguese dominions in 1878. In March 1909 certain firms,
British and German, as the result of investigations made in
Angola and St Thomas, refused any longer to import cocoa
from St Thomas or Principe Islands unless the recruitment of

and in the Higher parts bet §73 and 68°; mtlmmn .enon
it ranges between ween 69-8° and 89-6 mthelo\vet
64-4° and 80-6° unheh her parts. ount zssh)the
mean of ten £ lthe mmmumgos minimum
47:3°. The |s p the The
nmhlluvcryhuvznveont coast.
Thcm’luexeeu nglyl tndn derable area is densely | |
forested. Among t figs,
and in the lower dnncu the vine. pinnpple guava and banana.
The first object of European cultivation was sugar, and to this the
island its_prosperity in the 16th century; r has been

displaced by coffee and, principally, cocoa, introd

ivel ; ind in 179§ and
lsnmgen y. In 1907 the ex|

of cocoa (includin; r&tlut from
was over 24,000 tons, about a sixth of the world's supply.
The cocoa zone lies between 650 and 2000 ft. above the sea. Vanill
and ci bark both d well, the latter at altitudes of from
1800 to 3300 ft. Rubber, and the
kola-nut are also pmdueed. but since Iqu—'vlml the production was
under 3000 tons—cocoa has been almost exclusively grown. About
175 £ . m. were in a;%lmndu 7oscumva:§35 -nfav:ll ho: the imports
was {175,000 in 1 ,000'in t! the exports was
£398,000 in 1896 and £1,760,000 in 1 trade (1
wvessels of 490,000 !OIIILIII 1908) is chiefly in the humlﬁ the P on?:
‘The revenue (1909-1910) was £195,000, the expendi-
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ture £162,000.
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int of a railway 9 m. long, wl ldxcmmecumththe

starting
Decauvil
from the Europeans, consist (1) of d dants of the

railways on the cocoa b l rt | S Thomé

for the plantations was made voluntary. Repre-
sentations to Portugal were made by the British government,
and the Lisbon authorities stopped recruitment entirely ‘rom
July 1909 to February 1gro, when it was resumed under new
regulations, British consular agents were stationed in Angola
and St Thomas to watch the vlorking of these regulations. (See
statement by Sir E. Grey reported in The Times, July and, x910).
As one means of obviating the dxﬁculues encounlemd in Angola
the recruitment of lab from ) que was begun in
1908, the men going out on a yearly contract.

PrINCIPE ISLAND lies go m. N.E. of St Thomas, has an arca
of 42 3q. m. and is also of volcanic origin. Pop. (1900) 4327.
The tsetse fly (which is not found in St Thomas) infests the
wooded part of the island, and through it sleeping sickness bas
been spread among the inhabitants. The principal industry
is the cu]tivaﬁm: of cocoa. The chief settlement is St Amonio.

(Lubon 139 ; and f‘c Su Tlum ('lg:n? m?) C Gram
Mission minuﬁque A Ille de San T ! Nows, Avch. Miss.

Scuul t. xv. (Paris, 1 quluA PmtodeandaGutdu "V'm;ioem
** in B.S. boa (1902) pp. 299-357; E. de Campos

were convicts from Portugal, slaves and others from Bnal and
negroes fram the Gabun lnd other parts of the Guinea coast.
number about 8000, are a bro race, and occupy

1 Amord to Aug, Chevalier (in 0. Occidente, May zoth. 1910) the
populal Thomn and Principe combined in Dec. 1909 was
63.331,:& ** natives ' being given at over 23,000,



ST THOMAS—ST VINCENT, EARL OF

“S. Thomé ™ B.S.G. Lisboa ( 908) lls-l.u. . A. Cadbu

Laboxr sn Porty Wul Africa ndon l9lo A
de S Thomé (Lisbon, 196{ ) gI‘ P)am
(Edinburgh, |907). and Briti éonwlar

ST THOMAS, an island in the Danish West Indies. It belongs
to the Virgin Island group, and lies 40 m. E. of Porto Rico,
in 18° 20" N. and 64° 55’ W. Pop. (1901) 11,012, mostly negroes.
Itis 13 m long, varies in width from 1 m. to 4 m. and has an
areaof 33 m. It consists of a single mountain ridge, the peaks of
a submerged range, culminating 1n West Mountain (1555 ft.).
St Thomas stands on 3 prolongation of the range which supports
the Greater Antilles, and is built up of much disintegrated eruptive
rock (porphyry and granite). The climate is tropical, varying
in temperature between 70° F. and 80° F., modified, however, by
the sea breezes. The average yearly rainfall is about 45 in.,
earthquakes are not unknown, and hurricanes at times sweep
over the island. The only town, Charlotte Amalie (pop. 8540),
lies in the centre ot the S coast, at the head of one of the finest
harbours in the West Indies. This consists of an al land-
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Saint-Victor, who ceased to use the title of count as being out
of keeping with his democratic principles, began as a dramatic
critic on the Pays in 1851, and in 1885 he succeeded Théophile
Gautier on the Presse. In 1866 he migrated to the Liberté,
and in 1869 joined the staff of the Moniteur universel. In 1870,
during the last days of the second empire, he was made inspector-
general of fine arts. Almost all Saint-Victor’s work consists of
articles, the best known being the collection entitled Hommes
ef dieux (1807). His death interrupted the publication of
Les Deux Masques, in which the author intended to survey the
whole dramatic literature of ancient and modern times. Saint-
Victor’s critical faculty was considerable, though rather one-
sided. He owed a good deal to Théophile Gautier, but he carried
ornateness to a pitch far beyomd Gautier’s. Saint-Victor died
in Paris on the oth of July 1881.

Sce also Deljant, Paul de Saini-Viclor (1887).

8T VINCENT, JOHN JERVIS, EazL or (1735-1823), British

locked basin, about § m. across, ‘varying in depth from 27 to
36 ft., and entered by a narrow, channel only 300 yds. wide.
It is equipped with a floating dock, which can accommodate
ships up to 3ooo tons, a patent slip for smaller vessels and a
repairing yard. Danish is the official language, but English
predominates,”while French, Spanish and Dutch are also spok

dmiral, was the d son of Swynfen Jervis, solicitor to the
admiralty, and treasurer of Greenwich hospital. He was born
at Meaford in Staffordshire on the gth of January 1735, and
entered the navy on the 4th of January 1749. He became
licutenant on the 1gth of l-'cbruary 1755, and served in that
rank till 1759, taking part in the conquest of Quebec. He was
made der of the * Scorpion ” sloop in 1759, and posl

St Thomas was once the greatest distributing centre in the West
Indies, but the introduction of stcamships and cables led to its
decline, and the removal of the Royal Mail Steamship Company’s
beadquarters to Barbados in 1885 was the final blow. The pro-
duction of sugar, which decayed gradually after the abolition of
slavery, is practically extinct. Aloes, fibrous plants and fruit
are grown. St Thomas is the seat of government for the Danish
West Indies (St Thomas, St John and St Croix), a crown colony
administered by a governor. who is assisted by a colonial council.
The governor resides for half the year in St Thomas, and in St
Croix for the rest. The chief importance of St Thomas lies in
the fact that it is a coaling station for ships plying to and from
the West Indies.

The island was discovered by Columbus in 1493, and first
colonized by the Dutch in 1657. After their departure in 1667
the island came into the hands of the British, and it was
held by them till 1671, when it passed into the hands of the
Danish West India Company, which was succeeded in 1685
by the so-called Brandenburg Company, the sharcholders of
which were mainly Dutch. The king of Denmark having taken
over the island in 1754, declared it a free port, and during the
European wars of the 18th century the neutrality of Denmark
gave a great impetus to the trade of St Thomas. It was during
this period that the distributing trade of the island grew up. It
was held by the British in 1801 and again from 1807 to 1815,
during which it was the great rendezvous of British merchant
vessels waiting for convoy. In 1867, when the islands were
governed at a loss to the mother country, a treaty was concluded
under which the United States agreed to buy them for 74 million
dollars, but, although the suggestion first emanated from the
United States, its Scnate refused to ratify the treaty. In 1902
another treaty of cession was signed by which the United States
was to buy the islands for s million dollars, but the Danish
parliament rejected it. The importance of the islands to the
United States consists in their suitability as a West Indian naval
base.

ST TROND, a town of Belgium in the province of Limburg
about 18 m. N.W. of Liége. Pop. (1904) 15,116. It occupies
an important strategical position with regard to the N.E. frontier
of Belgium, and General Brialmont recommended its fortifica-
tion. In the middle ages it was a fortified town belonging to
the bishops of Llége and Charles the Bold captured it in 1467.
In 1566 the A of Ci met at St Trond.

SAINT-VICTOR, PAUL BINS, CoxtE DE (1827-1881). known
as Paul de Saint-Victor, French author, was born in Paris on
the 1rth of July 1827. His father Jacques B. M. Bins, comte
de Saint-Victor (1772-1858), is remembered by his poem
L'Espérance, and by an excellent verse translation of Anacreon.
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captain in 1760. During the peace he commanded the * Alarm ”
32 in the Mediterrancan, and when he was put on half pay he
travelled widely in Europe, taking professional notes everywhere.
While the War of American Independence lasted, he commanded
the * Fourroyant ” (80) in the Channel, taking part in the battle
of Ushant on the 27th of July 1778 (see KEPPEL, VISCOUNT)
and in the various reliefs of Gibraltar. His most signal service
was the capture of the French * Pégase "’ (74) after a long chase
on the 1g9th of Apnl 1782, for which he was made K.B. In
1783 he entered pa ber for L and in
the general election of 1784 as membct for Yarmouth. In politics
he wasa strong Whig. On the 24th of September 1787 he attained
flag rank, and was promoted vice-admiral in 1793. From
1793 till 1795 he was in the West Indies co-operating with the
army in the conquest of the French islands. On his return he
was promoted admiral. In November 1795 he took command
in the Mediterranean, where he maintained the blockade of
Toulon, and aided the allies of Great Britain in Italy.

But in 1796 a great change was produced by the progress of
the French armies on shore and the alliance of Spain with France.
The occupation of Italy by the French armies closed all the ports
to his ships, and Malta was not yet in the possession of Great
Britain. Then the addition of the Spanish fleet to the French
altered the balance of strength in the Mediterranean. The
Spaniards were very inefficient, and Jervis would have held his
ground, if one of his subordinates had not taken the extraordinary
course of returning to England, because he thought that the
dangerous state of the country required that all its forces should
be concentrated at home. He was therefore obliged to act on
the instructions sent to him and to retire to the Atlantic, with-
drawing the garrisons from Corsica and other places. His
headquarters were now on the coast of Portugal, and his chief
duty was to watch the Spanish flect at Cadiz. On the uth of
February 1797 he gained a most « lete victory ag:
heavy odds (see ST VINCENT, BATTLE OF). The determination
to fight, and the admirable discipline of his squadron, which was
very largely the fruit of his own care in preparation, supply
the best proof that he was a commander of a high order. For
this victory, which came at a very critical time, he was made
an earl and was granted a pension of {3000. His qualities as
a disciplinarian were soon to be put to a severe test. In 1797
the grievances of the sailors, which were of old standing, and bad
led to many mutinies of single ships, came to a head in the great
general mutinies at Spithead and the Nore. Similar movements
took place on the coast of Ireland and at the Cape of Good
Hope (see the article Navy: History). The spirit spread to
the fleet under St Vincent, and there was an undoubted danger
that some outbreak would take place in his command. 'l;hc

1
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peril was averted by his foresight and severity. He had always
taken great care of the health of his men, and was as strict with
the officers as with sailors. It must in justice be added that he
was peculiarly fitted for the work. We have ample evidence
from his contemporaries that he found a pleasure in insulting
officers whom he disliked, as well as in hanging and flogging
those of his men who offended him. He carried his strictness
with his officers to an extent which aroused the actual hatred
of many among them, and exasperated Sir John Orde (1751-
1824) into challenging him to fight a duel. Yet he cannot be
denied the honour of having raised the discipline of the navy to
a higher level than it had reached before; he was always ready
to promote good officers, and the efficiency of the squadron
with which Nelson won the battle of the Nile was largely due
tohim. His health broke down under the strain of long cruising,
and in June 1799 he resigned his command.

When the earl's health was restored in the following year he
took the command of the Channel fleet, into which he introduced
his own rigid system of discipline to the bitter anger of the
captains. But his method was fully justified by the fact that
he was able to maintain the blockade of Brest for 121 days with
his fleet. In 1801 he became first lord and held the office till
Pitt returned to power in 1803. His administration is famous
in the history of the navy, for he now lppllcd himself to the very
necessary task of reforming the corruptions of the dockyalds
Naturally he was fiercely attacked in and out of parli

ST VINCENT—ST VINCENT, BATTLE OF

The capital of the island is Kingstown, beautifully situated on
the mth-west coast near the foot of Mount St Andrew (2600 ft.).
hnon of the island in 1891 was 41,054 (2445 white,
H rtd 31,055 black); in 1906 it was estimated at 44.000.
were about 3300 East Indian coolies, a large number of whom
were introduced in 1861 and following years, but on the expiry of
their indentures mostly returned home: there were also a few
Canln of mixed blood, the majority of lhe aboriginal Caribs having
dcported to British Honduras in 1797. Kingstown has a
populatm of about 4000. The principal products of the island are
sugar (but the su*nr-mdlmry as here, as elsewhere, un one
and rum; and the cultivation of Sea
Island aonon. mlroduccd about 1903, ‘has been succesafully de-
veloped by the govcrnmcnl. which established a ginnery at Kings-
town. Other articles of export arc cacao. cotton, spices, fruit,
vegetables, live stock and Itry. The average annual value of
exports in 1896-1906 was £63,157 (in 1903-1 the year following
that of the smt eruption, it was £38,174, and in 1905-1906 it was
£53,078) and of imports, {80.467. In 1905-1906 the value of im-
ports {from the Umtcd Kingdom was £25.471, and that of exports
to the United Kingdom £24.405.

The present constitution dates from 1877, when the legislative
oouncil, mnnnmg of four official and four nominated unofficial
lncmben. was fol In 1899 an important scheme was cntcred
upon, by means of a grant of {15,000 from the Imperial treasury. for
settling the labouring population, distressed by the failures of the
sugar lnduury. in the position of peasant proprietors. Estates were
acquired rnvne owners for this purpose, and besides this a
number of smal holdmr on crown lands éﬂmh are muated mainly
in the high-lying central parts of the island) have been Educa-
tion is carried on in 27 nnmuded schools, and there n! at Kings-

His peremptory character led him to do the right thing with the
maximum of dictation at Whitehall as on the quarter-deck of
his flagship. He also gave an opening to his critics by devoting
himself so wholly to the reform of the dockyards that he neglected
the preparation of the fleet for war. He wculd not recognize
the possibility that the peace of Amiens would not last. Pitt
made himself the moulhplece of St Vincent’s enemies, mainly
because he considered him as a d ber of the party
which was weakening the posluon of England in the face of
Napoleon. When Pitt’s second ministry was formed in 1803,
St Vincent refused to take the command of the Channel fleet at
his request. After Pitt’s desth he resumed the duty with the
temporary rank of admiral of the fleet in 1806, but held it only
till the following year. After 1810 he retired to his house at
Rochettsin Essex. The rank of admiral of the fleet was conferred
on him in 1821 on the coronation of George IV., and he died on
the 14th of March 1823. Lord St Vincent married his cousin
Martha Parker, who died childless in 1816. There is a monument
to the earl in St Paul’s Cathedral, and portraits of him at different
periods of his life are The earldom granted to Jervis
became extinct on his death, but a viscounty, created for him
in 1801, passed by special remamdu' to Edward Jervis Ricketts
(1767—1857), the second son of his sister Mary who had married
William Henry Ricketts, of Longwood, Hmpshu'e The and
viscount took the name of Jervis, and the title is still held by
his descendants.

See Life by J. S. Tucker (2 vols.), whose l’ather had been the
admiral's seci (ma by excessive eul Thc hfe by
in the

in Brenton is rather inaccurate. The
John Markham
i d a uwarm of plmphleu Mlny

His
mentions of him will be (ound in the correspondence of Ne(lll)onH )

8T VINCENT, one of the British. Windward Islands in the
West Indies, lying about 13° 15’ N., 61° 10’ W., west of Barbados
and south of St Lucia. It is about 18 m. long by 11 in extreme
width, and has an area of 140 sq. m. A range of volcanic hills
forms the backbone of the island; their slopes and spurs are
beautifully wooded, and the valleys between the spurs are
fertile and picturesque. The culminating point is the volcano
called the Soufri¢re (3500 ft.) in the north, the disastrous eruption
of which in May 1902 devastated the most fertile portion of the
island, a comparatively level tract lying to the north, called the
Carib Country (see below). The climate of St Vincent is fairly
healthy and in winter very pleasant; the average annual rainfall
exceeds 100 in., and the temperature ranges from 88° F. in August
to0 66° in December and January. Hurricanes are not uncommon.

town a school and an qncultuul -:hool The Angli man.
Wesleyan and R Catholic hes are well
there are some Presbyterians.

St Vincent is generally stated to have been discovered on
St Vincent’s day, the 22nd of January 1498 by Columbus. Its
Carib inhabitants, however, remained undisturbed for many
years. In 1627 Charles I. granted the island to the earl of
Carlisle; in 1672 it was re-granted to Lord Willoughby, having
been previously (1660) declared neutral. In 1722 a further
grant of the island was made, to the duke of Montague, and now
for the first time a serious effort at colonization was made, but
the French insisted on the maintenance of neutrality, and this
was confirmed by the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle (1748). In 1762,
however, General Monckton captured the island; the treaty of
Paris in 1763 confirmed the British possession, and settlement
proceeded in spite of the refusal of the Caribs to admit British
sovereignty. Recourse was had to arms,and in 1773 a treaty
was concluded with them, when they were granted lands in the
north of the island as a reserve. In 1779 the island was sur-
rendered to the French, but it was restored to Britain by the
treaty of Versailles (1783). In 1795 the Caribs rose, assisted
by the French, and were only put down after considerable
fighting by Sir Ralph Abercromby in 1796, after which the
majority of them were deported. The emancipation of negro
slaves in the island took place in 1838; in 1846 the first Portu-
guese labourers were .introduced, and in 186r the first East
Indian coolies. St Vincent suffered from a terrific hurricane
in 1780, and the Soufriére was in eruption in 1821. Severe
distress was occasioned by the hurricane of the 11th of September
1898, from which the island had not recovered when it was visited
by the eruption of the Soufriére in 19o2. This eruption was
synchronous with that of Mont Pelé in Martinique (¢.9.). There
had been signs of activity since February 1gor, but the most
serious eruption took place on the 6th/7th of May 1902. There
were earthquakes in the following July, and further eruptions
on the 3rd of September and the 15th of October, and on the
22nd of March 19o3. Many sugar and arrowroot plantations were
totally destroyed, and the loss of life was estimated at 2000.
A Mansion House Fund was at once started in London for
the relief of the sufferers, and subscriptions were sent from all
garts of the civilized world, and notably from the United

tates.

ST VINCENT, BATTLE OF, fought on the 14th of February
1797, between the British and Spanish fleets, the most famous
and important of many encounters which have taken place at
the same spot. The battle of 1797 is of peculiar significance in
British naval history, not only because it came at a vital moment,




ST VITUS'S DANCE

but because it first revealed the full capacity of Nelson, which
was well known in the navy, to all his countrymen. In the course
of 1796 the Spanish government had made the disastrous
alliance with the French republic, which reduced its country
to the level of 2 pawn in the game against England. The Spanish
fleet, which was in a complete state of neglect, was forced to sea.
It consisted of 27 sail of the line under the command of Don José
de Cérdoba—fine ships, but manned in haste by draftsof soldiers,
and of landsmen forced on board by the press. Even the flagships
had only about eighty sailors each in their crews. Don José
de Cérdoba, who had gone out with no definite aim, was in
reality drifting about with his unmanageable ships in two
confused divisions separated from one another, in light winds
from the W. and W.S.W., at a distance of from 25 to 30 m. S.W.
of the Cape. While in this position he was sighted by Sir John
Jervis, of whose nearness to himself he was ignorant, and who
had sailed from Lisbon to attack him with only 15 sail of the
line. Jervis knew the inefficient condition of the Spaniards,
and was aware that the general condition of the war called for
vigorous exertions. He did not hesitate to give battle in spite
of the numerical superiority of his opponent. Six of the Spanish
ships were to the south of him, separated by a long interval from
the others which were to the south west. The British squadron
was formed into a single linc ahead, and was steered to pass
between the two divisions of the Spaniards. The six vessels
were thus cut off. A fecble attempt was made by them to
molest the Brilish, but being now to leeward as Jervis passed
to the west of them, and being unable to face the rapid and well
directed fire to which they were exposed, they sheered off. One
only ran down the British line, and passing to the stern of the
last ship succeeded in joining the bulk of her fleet to windward.
As the British line passed through the gap between the Spanish
divisions the ships were tacked in succession to meet the wind-
ward portion of the enemy. If this movement had been carried
out fully, all the British ships would have gone through the gap
and the Spaniards to windward would have been able to steer
unimpeded to the north, and perhaps o avoid being brought
to a closc general action. Their chance of escape was baffled
by the independence and promptitude of Nelson. His ship, the
“ Captain " (74), was the third from the end of the British line.
Without waiting for orders he made a sweep to the west, threw
bimself across the bows of the Spaniards. His movement was
seen and approved by Jervis, who then ordered the other ships
in his rear to follow Nelson’s example. The British force was
thrown bodily on the enemy. As the Spanish crews were too
utterly unpractised to handle their ships, and could not carry
out the orders of their officers which they did not understand,
their ships were soon driven into a herd, and fell on board of
one another. Their incompetence as bled the
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ST VITUS'S DANCE,! or CHOREA, a disorder of the nervous
system occurring for the most part in children, and characterized
mainly by involuntary jerking movements of the muscles
throughout almost the entire body (see NEUROPATHOLOGY).
Among the predisposing causes age is important, churea being
essentially an ailment of childhood and particularly during the
period of the second dentition between the ages of nine and twelve.
It is not often seen in very young children nor after puberty;
but there are many exceptions. It is twice as frequent with
girls as with boys. Hereditary predisposition to nervous troubles
is apt to find expression in this malady, especially if the general
health becomes lowered. Of exciting causes strong emotions,
such as fright, ill-usage or hardship of any kind, insufficient
feeding, overwork or anxiety, are among the most common;
while, again, some distant source of irriulion, such as teething
or intestinal worms, appears capable of giving rise to an attack.
It is an occasional but rare comphuuon of pregnancy. The

of ch with ism is now uni ly recog-
nized and is shown not merely by its frequent occurrence before,
after or during the course of attacks of rheumatic fever in young
persons, but even independently of this by the liability of the
heart to suffer in a similar way in the two discases. Poynton
and Paine have demonstrated a diplococcus, which they regard
as the specific micro-organism of rheumatism, and which has
been found in the lymph spaces in the cortex in chorea. An
attempt has recently been made to demonstrate the infectious
nature of the chorea.

The symptoms of St Vitus’s dance sometimes develop
suddenly as the result of fright, but much more frequently they
come on insidiously. They are usually preceded by changes
in disposition, the child becoming sad, irritable and emotional,
while at the same time the general health is somewhat impaired.
The first thing indicative of the disease is a certain awkwardness
or fidgetiness of manner together with restlessness. Inwalking,
too, slight dragging of one limb may be noticed. The convulsive
muscular movements usually first show themselves in one part,
such as an arm or a leg, and in some instances they may remain
localized to that limited extent, while in all cases there isa tend-
ency for the disorderly symptoms to be more marked on one
side than on the other. When fully developed the phenomena
of the disease are very characteristic. The child when stnndmg
or sitting is never still, but is constantly changmg the posmon
of the body or limbs or the facial exp
of the sudden and incoordinate action of musclu or groups of
them. These symptoms are aggravated when purposive move-
ments are attempted or when the child is watched. Speech is
affected both from the i dinate mo of the tong
and from phonation sometimes taking place during an act of
’l'he takmg of food becomes a matter of difficulty,

:
ion.

“Captain " to assail their flagship, the huge “ Santisima Trinidad
(130), with comparative impunity. The *“ San Josef ” (112),and
the * San Nicolas ”’ (80), which fell aboard of one another, were
both carried by boarding by the * Captain.” Four Spanish
ships, the “ Salvador del Mundo ” and “ San Josef ** (112), the
“San Nicolas ” (80), and the “ San Isidro ” (74), were taken.
The * Santisima Trinidad ” is said to have struck, but she
was not taken possession of. By about half-past three the
Spaniards were fairly beaten. More prizes mlghl have been
taken, but Sir Joha Jervis put a stop to the action to secure the
four which had surrendered. The Spaniards were allowed to
mml to Cadiz. Sir John Jervis was made Earl St Vincent (g.v.)
for his victory. The battle, which revealed the worthlessness
of the Spanish navy, relieved the British government from a
lozd of anxiety, and may be said to have marked the complete
predominance of its fleet on the sea.
AUTHORTTIES.—A very interesting account of the battle of Cape
St Vincent, A Narrative of the Proceedings of the British Fleel, &c.

. illustrated by plans, was published immediately
Coloncl Drinkwater Bethune, author of the Huslory

3“"‘ Mahan, The Infiuence of Sea Power on the Fi
Empire (Londoa, 1892).

since much of it is lost in the attempts to convey it to themouth,’
while swallowing is also interfered with owing to the megular
action of the plmryngeﬂl muscles. When the tongue isprotruded
it comes out in a jerky manner and is immediately withdrawn,

the jaws at the same time closing suddenly and sometimes witb
considcrable force. In locomotion the muscles of the limbs
act incoordinately and there is a marked alteration of the gait,
which is now halting and now leaping, and the child may be
tripped by one limb being suddenly jerked in front of the other.
In short, the whole muscular system is deranged in its operations,
and the term “ insanity of the muscles "’ not inaptly expresses
the condition, for they no longer act in harmony or with purpose,
but seem, as Trousseau expresses it, each to have a will of its own.
The muscles of organic life (involuntary muscles) appear scarcely,

1 This name was originally em, orloyed in connexion with those
remarkable ?ldtmlc outbursts of combined mental and physical
extlu:mtnt which for a time prevailed among theinhabitants of some
parts of Germany in the middle ages. [t is stated that sufferers from
this dancing mania were wont to resort to the chapels of St Vitus
(more than one in Swabia), the saint being believed to possess the
power of cunng.thcm The transference of the name to the disease
now under  wasa ifest error, but so closely has the
association now become that the original application of the term has
been comparatively obscured.
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if at all, affected in this disease, as, for examiple, the heart, the
rhythmic movements of which are not as a rule impaired. But
the heart may suffer in other ways, especially from inflammatory

SAINT-WANDRILLE—SAISSET, B.

family played an important réle during the quarrels of the
Armagnacs and Burgundians. They were among the leaders
of the Cabochian revolution of 1413. Driven out by the

conditions similar to those which attend upon rh tism and
which frequently lay the foundation of permanent heart-disease.
In severe cases of St Vitus's dance the child comes to present
a distressing appearance, and the physical bealth declines.
Usually, however, there is a remission of the symptoms during
sleep. The mental condition of the patient is more or less
affected, as shown in emotional tendencies, irritability and a
somewhat fatuous expression and bearing, but this change is
in general of transient character and ceases with convalescence.

This disease occasionally assumes a very acute and aggravated
form, in which the disorderly movements are so violent as to
render the patient liable to be injured, and to necessitate forcible
control of the limbs, or the employment of anaesthetics to produce
unconsciousness. Such cases are of very grave character, if,
as is common, they are accompanied with sleeplessness, and
they may prove rapidly fatal by exhaustion. In the great
majority of cases, however, complete recovery is to be anticipated
sooner or later, the symptoms usually continuing for from one
to two month- or even sometimes much longer.

The remedies proposed have been ble, but it is doubtful
whether an g of them has much oontml over the disease, which
under suitable hygienic conditions tends to recover of itself. These
conditi are all-im nt, and embrace the

tions, however, proper
feeding of the child’ vmh outritious light diet, the absence of all
of , and the rectification of any
causes of i ion ai g in | health. For
a time, and especially if the symp .are severe, confinement to
the house or even to bed may beneee-nry.bulumnupon
the child should be taken out into the ogen air and gently eunmed
by walking. Ruhrih, recognizing the mpomm of _rest, recom:

Mo ritin

Armagnacs, they recovered their influence after the return of
the Burgundians to Paris in 1418, but had to flee again in 1436
when the constable, Arthur, earl of Richmond, took the city.
Garnier de Saint Yon was &hkevis of Paris in 1413 and 1419;
Jean de Saint Yon, his brother, was salet de chambre of the
dauphin Louis, son of King Charles VI. Both were in the service
of the king of England during the English domination. Richard
:'e Saint Yon was master of the butchers of the Grande Boucherie

1

460- A. Langnon la domis ise (Paris,
w;s), Y Colville, e L oo oot 1413.

ST YRIEIX, a town of west central France, capital of an
arrondissement in the department of Haute-Vienne, on the
left bank of the Loue, 26 m. S. of Limoges on the railway to
Brive. Pop. (1906) town 3604, commune 7916. The town
possesses a church in the early Gothic style known as Le Modtier,
dating from the 12th and 13th centuries, and a tower of the 12th
century which is a relic of its fortifications. Its quarries of
kaolin discovered in 1765 were the first known in France. The
town owes its name to Aredius (popularly St Yrieix) who in the
6th century founded a monastery to which its origin was due.

SAIS (Egyptian Sai), an ancient city of the Egyptian Delta,
lying westward of the Thermuthiac or Sebennytic branch of the
Nile. It was capital of the sth nome of Lower Egypt and must
have been important from remote times. In the 8th century
B.C. Sais held the hegemony of the Western Delta, while
Bubastite families ruled in the east and the kings of Ethiopia
in Upper E;ypl. The Ethiopiam found their most vigorous

PP in the Saite princes Tefnachthus and his son

mends a modified Weir-Mitchell treatment.

the most serviceable appear to be zinc, o and iron, esp

the last two, which act as tonics to the system and improve the

condition of the blood. In view of the connexionof choreawith

rl\eumamm. Koplik and Dr D. B. Lees recommend salicylate of soda
doses. Recently ergot, hot packs and monobrom:te

camphor have found adv , while ¢ of the

followed the application of an ether spray to the orme twice dally

As sedatives in cases of

chloral are of use. In long-oonlmued cases of the disease mucl\

brneﬁ;f will be olyumed by a change of .'l’.lil as vlell as by tl:: employ-

ment

and of electricity is also hhely to be beneficial” After recovery the

general health ol the child should for a long timereceive attention,

and care ohoul be taken to
study or any exhausting condition, physical or mental, :lmm the fact

that the discase is apt to recur, nnd thnt other nervous disorders still

more serious may be develo)
acute loml of this malady, where the

In the rare mltanca of t
convulsive movements are unceasingand violent, the only measures
uce

available are the use of chloral of ¢ loroform inhalation to
bility and but the effect is only palliative.
SAINT-WANDRILLRE, a village of north-western France,
in the department of Scine-Inférieure, 28 m. W.N.W. of Rouen
by rail. It is celcbrated for the ruins of its Benedictine abbey.
The abbey church belongs to the 13th and 14th centuries;
portions of the nave walls supported by flying buttresses are
. standing, and the windows and vaulting of the side aisles are in
fair preservation. The church communicates with a cloister,
from which an interesting door of the Renaissance period opens
into the refectory. Beside this entrance is a richly ornamented
lavabo of the Renaissance period. The refectory is a room over
100 ft. long, lighted by graceful windows of the same period.
The abbey was founded in the 7th century by St Wandrille, aided
by the donations of Clovis II. It soon became renowned for
learning and piety. In the 13th century it was burnt down,
and the rebuilding was not completed till the beginning of the
16th century. Later in the same century it was practically
destroyed by the Huguenots, and again the restoration was not
finished for more than a hundred years. The demolition of the
church was begun at the time of the Revolution, but p
slowly and in 1832 was entirely stopped.
SAINT YON, a family of Parisian butchers in the 14th and
1sth century. Guillaume de Saint Yon is cited as the richest
butcher of the Grande Boucherie in the 14th century. The

Bocchoris “ the Wise ” of the XXIVth Dynasty. After reigning
six years the latter is said to have been burnt alive by Sabacon,
the founder of the Ethiopian XXVth Dynasty. At the time

of | When invasions by the Assyrians drove out the Ethiopian

Taracus again and again, the chief of the twenty princes to whom
Esarhaddon and Assur-bani-pal successively entrusted the
government was Niku, king of Sais and Memphis. His son
Psammetichus (¢.9.) was the founder of the XXVIth Dynasty.
Although the main seat of government was at Memphis, Sais
remained the royal residence throughout this flourishing dynasty.
Neith, the goddess of Sni:, was identified with Athena, and
Osiris was worshipped there in a great festival.

The brick enclosure wall of the temple is still plainly visible near
the little wl:g of Sa el hagar (Sa of stone) on tg east bank of the
Rosetta bra but the myll tombs and other monuments of Sais,
some of which were described erodmus. and itsinscribed records,
have all Only crude brick ruins and rubbish heaps remain on
the site, but a few relics conveyed to Alexandria and in the
Roman age have come down to our da _notably ﬂ\e nscribed
statue of a priest of Neith who was hng ia hvour with m-
metichus I11., Cambyses and Darius. Bronze figures of deitiey are
now the most interesting objects to be found at g: el '?l-"ll::. Gy

SAISSET, BERNARD (d. c. 1314), French bishop, was abbot
of Saint Antonin de Pamiers in 1268. Boniface VIIIL., detaching
the city of Pamiers from the diocese of Toulouse in 1295, made
it the seat of a new bishopric and appointed Saisset to the sce.
Of a headstrong temperament, Saisset as abbot energetically
sustained the struggle with the counts of Foix, begun two
centuries before, for the lordship of the city of Pamiers, which
had been shared between the counts and abbots by the feudal
contract of pariage. The struggle ended in 1297 by an agree-
ment between the two parties as to their common rights, and
when the pope raised the excommunication incurred by thé count,
Saisset absolved him in the refectory of the Dominican monastery
in Pamiers (1300). Saisset is, however, famous in French history
for his opposition to King Philip IV. As an ardent Languedocian
he hated the French, and spoke openly of the king in disrespectful
terms. But when he tried to organize a general rising of the south,
he was denounced to the king, perhaps by his old enemies the count
of Foix and the bishop of Toulouse. Philip IV. charged Richard
Leneveu, archdeacon of Auge in the diocese of Lisieux, and
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which lasted several months. Saisset was on the point of
escaping to Rome when the vidame of Amiens surprised him
by night in his episcopal palace. He was brought to Senlis,
and on the 24th of October 1301 appeared before Philip and
his court. The chancellor, Pierre Flotte, charged him with high
treason, and he was placed in the keeping of the archbishop of
Narbonne, his metropolitan. Philip IV. tried to obtain from
thepopetheummuldegndaﬁnnolsm Boniface VIII.,
mstad, ordered the king in December 1301 to free the bmhup
in order that he might go to Rome to justify himself. At the
same time, he sent the famous bulls Sa/valor mundi, a sort of
repetition of Clericis laicos, and Awscwita fls, which opened a
new stage of the quarrel between the pope and king. In the
heat of the new struggle Saisset was forgotten. He had been
turned over in February 1302 into the keeping of Jacques des
Normands, the papal legate, and wasordered toleave the kingdom
at once. He lived at Rome until after the incident at Anagni.
In 1308 the king pardoned him, and restored him to his see.
He died, still bishop of Pamiers, about r3i4.
mrenmpmoﬂorthelegend that Bernard Saisset earned
Philip IV.’s hatred in 1300-1301 by boldly sustaining the pope’s
demand” for the liberation of the count of Flanders, and by
supremacy.

pnbhck.npmdammg the doctrine of

See Vaissete, Hitoire générale mguedoc, ed. ann. t.

E. 216-310; Buiotn littéraire de la France, t. xxvi. i
de Rogzidre, Le P

usnc de Pn-mn. in Bnbhntl\eque de I'ﬁ{e
des Chartes (1871); Langlois in Lavisse's Histoire de France,
t iii, pt. i,

i‘;ll.l EDMOND (1814-1863), French philosopher,
was bom at Montpellier on the 16th of September 1814, and
died at Paris on the 17th of December 1863. He studied
philosophy in the school of Cousin, and carried on the eclectic
tradition of his master along with Ravaisson and Jules Simon.
He was professor of philosophy at Caen, at the Ecole Normale
in Pans and later at the Sorbonne.

34:) ch’:‘d' works are : Au&e-'dun t)he

1 H Pﬁmfu ant (1 ; a trans-
Luou Spman 'H Prkunm: et disci; Descarles
(1362) H Leibnits (!851 work which
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SAKA, or SHAXA, the name of one or more tribes which invaded
India from Central Asia. The word is used loosely, especially
by Hindu authors, to designate all the tribes which from time
to time invaded India lrom '.he north, much as all the tribes
who invaded China are tely termed Tatars. Used
more accurately, it denotes the tribe which invaded India
130-140 B.C. They are the Sacae and Sakai of classical authors
and the Se of the Chinese, which may represent an original
Sckor Sok. The Chinese annalists state that they were a pastoral
people who lived in the neighbourhood of the modern Kashgar.
About 160 B.C. they were driven southward by the advance of
the Yue-Chi from the east. One portion appears to have settled
in western Afghanistan, hence called Sakasthina, in modern
Persian Sejistan. The other section occupied the Punjab and
themselves of the u-mtory which the Graeco-Bactrian

kings had acquired in India, that is Sind, Gujarat and Malwa.
The rulers of l.huepmvmesborethemlco{&mp (Kshatrapa
or Chh ) and were bordi: to a king who
raled over the valley of Kabul and the Punjab. In §7 B.C. the
Sakas were attacked simultaneously by Parthians from the west
and by the Malava clans from the east and their power was
destroyed. It should be added that what we know of Saka
history is mostly derived from coins and inscriptions which admit
of various interpretations and that scholars are by no means
agreed as to names and dates. In any case their power, if it
bsted so long, must have been swept away by the Kushan

Buddhism, at least partially. They can be traced to the neigh-
bourhood of Kashgar, but not like the Yue-Chi to the frontiers
of China. They may bave been Turanians akin to that tribe,
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or they may have been Iranians akin to the Iranian element
in Transoxiana and the districts south of the Pamirs. They
cannot be the same as the Scythians of Europe, though the name
and original nomadic life are points in common.

See Vincent Smith, Early History of India (1908); O. Franke
Beitrage uu chu:uclml Quellen sur Kenntnis der T Wk:r %
Shythen ( P. Gardner, Coins of Greek and hsan ngs
in India 1886), and various articles by Vincent ith,

Cunningham, A Stein, Sylvain Levi and others in the Jnnml of
the Royal Amtu: Society, Journal mallqu, Indian AnlElw
Zestsck. der D or

8AKAI, an aboriginal people of the Mahy pemnsula found’
chiefly in south Perak, Sclangor.and Pahang. Representatives
are widely scattered among Malayan villages, but these are so
crossed with the Malays as to be no longer typical. An attempt
has been made to identify the Sakai with the Mon-Annam group
of races, i.c. the tribes which till 600 years ago possessed what
is now Siam, and some of whom still occupy Pegu and Cambodia.
Professor Virchow suggested that the Sakai belong to what
he calls the Dravido-Australian race, the chief representatives
of which he finds in the Veddahs of Ceylon, the civilized Tamils
of south India and the aborigines of Australia. In essential
characteristics of hair and hcad there is a remarkable agreement.
The difficulty in accepting the theory is in the colour of the skin,
which among the Sakais is often a light shade of yellowish brown,
whereas among Tamils black is the prevailing colour. Virchow
meets this by pointing out that Sinhalcse, though admittedly
Aryans, are often so dark as to be practically black. The
Sakais are, however, it is now generally held, kinsmen of their
Negrito neighbours, the Semangs (g.v.), and are, like the latter,
dwarfish, seldom exceeding 4 ft. 9 in. Their skins are usually
a darkish brown, but showing a reddish tinge about the breast
and extremities. The head is long, and the hair a black brown,
rather wavy then woolly. The face inclines to be long, and
would be Iutchebslmped but for the breadth of the cheek bones.
‘The chin is long lnd pointed, the forehead high and flat, the
brows often . The nose is small, slightly tilted or
rounded off at the tip, but broad and with deep-set nostrils.
The beard is usually scanty. The arm-stretch is almost always

sai de | greater than their height. Their food is varied; the wilder

tribes living on jungle fruits and game they hunt with the blow-
pipe, while the more civilized grow yams, sweet potatoes, maize,
sugar cane, rice and tapioca. The Sakai blow-pipe is a tube
6 to 8 ft. long formed of a single joint of a rare species of bamboo
(Bambusa Wrayi). This tube is inserted into another for protec-
tion. The darts are made of fine slivers from the mid-rib of the
leaf of certain palms, and are about the size of a knitting needle.
The point is usually coated with poison compounded from the
sap of the Upas tree (Antiaris loxicaria) and of a species of
strychnos. Each dart is carried in a scparate reed, thirty to
fifty of these latter being rolled up and carricd in a bamboo
quiver. The Sakais can kill at thirty paces with these blow-pipes.
They are nomads, building mere leaf-shelters in or under the
trees. Their dress is of bark-cloth and they scar their faces, as
do the Semangs. They are skilful in mat-making and basket-
work, but they have no kind of weaving or pottery. They are
musical, using a rough lute of bamboo and a nose-flute, and they
sing well in chorus. They have in common with the Semangs
curious ceremonies. The dead are slung from a pole
and carried to a distant spot in the jungle. Here, wrapped in
new bark-cloth, the body is buried in a shallow trench, the
clothes worn by the deceased being buined in a fire lighted near
the grave. When filled up, rice is sown on the grave and watered,
and some herbs and bananas are planted round it for the soul
to feed on. Afterwards a three-cornered hutch, not unlike a
doll’s-house but mounted on high piles, is built at the foot, in
which the soul may live. This soul-house is about 1} ft. high,
is thatched with leaves and has a ladder by which the soul can
climb in.

SAKE, the national beverage of Japan. In character it
stands midway between beer and wine. It is made chiefly
from rice (see BREWING). Saké contains 12 to 15% of alcobol
and about 3% of solid matter (extractives), o-3% of lactic
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acid, a small quantity of volatile acid, o-5% of sugar and 0-8%
of glycerin. There are about 20,000 saké breweries in Japan,
and the annual output is about 150 million gallons. Saké is a
yellowish-white liquid, its fi h bling that of
madeira or sherry. It is warmed prior to consumption, as the
flavour is thereby improved and it is rendered more digestible
The name is said to be derived from the town of Osaka which,
from time immemorial, has been famous for its saké. According
to Morewood it is probable that the wine called “sack ” in
England derived its name from the Japanese liquor, being
introduced by Spanish and Portuguese traders (see WINE).

SAKHALIN, or SAGHALIEN, a large elongated island in the
North Pacific, lying between 45° 57’ and 54° 24’ N., off the coast
of the Russian Maritime Province in East Siberia, divided
between the Russian and Japanese empires. Its proper Ainu
name, Karafuto or Karafitu, has been restored to the island by the
Japanese since 19os. Sakhalin is separated from the mainland
by the narrow and shallow Strait of Tartary or Mamiya Strait,
which often freezes in winter in its narrower part, and from Yezo
(Japan) by the Strait of La Pérouse. The island is 600 m. long,
and 16 to 105 broad, with an area of 24,560 sq. m.

Its orography and geol v. 1 st are imperfectly known.
Two, or perhaps three, parallel ranges of ins traverse it from
north to south, reaching 2000 to 5000 ft. (Mt. Ichara, 4860 {t.) high,
with two or more wide depressions, not exceeding 600 ft. above the
sea. Crystalline rocks crop out at several u&eo' Cretaccous lime-
stones, containing an abundant and speci auna of gigantic
ammonites, occyr at Dui on the west coast, and Tertiary conglomer-
ates, sandstones, marls and clays, folded by subsequent u%havah.
in many parts of the island. The clays, which contain of

coal and an abundant fossil vegctation, show that during the
iocene period Sakhalin formed part of a continent which com-
prised north Asia, Alaska and Japan, and enjoyed a comparatively
warm climate. The Pliocene dcposits contain a mollusc fauna more
arctic than that which existsat the p time, indicating probably
that the connexion between the Pacific and Arctic Oceans was
broader than it is now. Only two rivers are worthy of mention.
The Tym, 250 m. long and navigable by rafts and light boats for
50 m., Hows north and north-east with ous rapids and shallows,
and caters Okhotsk. The Poronai flows south-south-east
to the Gulf.of Patience or Shichiro Bay, on the south-east coast.
Three other small streams enter the wide semicircular Gulf of Aniva
or Higashifushimi Bay at the southern extremity of the island.

Owing to the influence of the raw, foggy of Okhotsk, the
climate 1s cold. At Dui the g ywl*( P is only

-0° Fahr. (January 3-4°; July 61-0°)-35-0° at Kusunaiand 37-6° at

iva (January, 9-5°; July, 60-2°). At Alexandrovsk near Dui the
annual range is from 81° in July to-38%in anuaﬁewhllzn Rykovsk
in the interior the minimum is —49° Fahr., rainfall averages
22§ in. Thick clouds for the most part shut out the sun; while the
cold current from the Sea of Okhotsk, aided by north-east winds,
brings immense ice-floes to the east coast in summer. The whole
of the island is covered with dense forests, mostly coniferous, The
Ayan spruce (Abies a: ), the Sakhalin fir (Abies sackalensis)
and the Daurian larch are the chief trecs; on the upper parts of the
mountains are the Siberian rampant cedar (Cembra pumsla) and the
Kurilian bamboo (Arundinaria kurilense). Birch, both European
and Kamchatkan (Betulps alba and B. Ermani) elder, poplar, elm,
wild ¢l (Prunus us), Taxus baccats and several willows are
mixed with the conifers; while farther south the maple, mountain
ash and oak, as also the Japancse Panax ricinifolium, the Amur cork
(Philodendron amurense), the spindle tree (Euonymus macropterus)
and the vine (Vilis thunbergii) make their appearance. The under-
woods abound in berry-bearing plants éﬁ" cloudberry, cranberry,
crowberry, red whortleberry), Letned er (Sambucus racemosa),
wild raspberry and Spiraes. Bears, foxes, otters and sables are
numerous, as also the reindeer in the north, and the musk deer,

squirrels, rats and mice everywhere. avi-fauna is the
the rivers swarm with fish, especially species
ynchus). N whales visit the sca-coast.
Sea-lions, seals and dolphins are a source of profit.

Sakhalin was inhabited in the Neolithic Stone Age. Flint
implements, exactly like those of Siberia and Russia, have been
found at Dui and Kusunai in great numbers, as well as polished
stone hatchets, like the European ones, primitive pottery with
decorations like those of Olonets and stone weights for nets.
'Afterwards a population to whom bronze was known left traces
in earthen walls and kitchen-middens on the Bay of Aniva.
The native inhabitants consist of some 2000 Gilyaks, 1300 Ainus,
with 750 Orochons, 200 Tunguses and Some Yakuts. The

Gilyaks in the north support themselves by fishing and hunting.

common Siberian.l

SAKHALIN—SALA

The Ainus inhabit the south part of the island. There are also
32,000 Russians, of whom over 22,150 are convicts. A little
coal is mined and some rye, wheat, oats, barley and vegetablcs
are grown, although the period during which vegetation can

‘grow averages less than 100 days. Fishing is actively prosecuted,

especially by the Japanese in the south.

H; —Sakhalin, which was under Chinese dominion until
the 19th century, became known to Europeans from the travels
of Martin Gerritz de Vries in the 17th century, and still better
from those of La Pérouse (1787) and Krusenstern (1805). Both.
however, regarded it as a peninsula, and were unaware of the
existence of the Strait of Tartary, which was discovered in 1809
by a Japanese, Mamiya Rinzo. The Russian navigator Nevelskoi
in 1849 definitively cstablished the existence and navigability
of this strait. The Russians made their first permanent settle-
ment on Sakhalin in 1857; but the southern part of the island
was held by the Japanese until 1875, when they ceded it to
Russia. By the treaty of Portsmouth (U.S.A.) of 1gos the
southern part of the island below 50° N. was re-ceded to Japan,
the Russians retaining the other three-fifths of the area.«

See C. H. Hawes, In the Utlermost East (London, 1903).

(P.A.K; f.’l‘. Br)

SAKI, the native name of a group of tropical American
monkeys nearly allied to those known as uakaris (see Uakagi),
with which they agree in the forward inclination of the lower
incisor teeth, the depth of the hinder part of the lower jaw, and
the non-prehensile tail. The sakis, which form the genus
Pithecia, are specially characterized by their long and generally
bushy tails, distinct whiskers and beard, and the usually elon-
gated hair on the crown of the head, which may either radiate
from a point in the centre, or be divided by a median parting.
They are very delicate animals, difficult to keep in confinement,
and in that state exhibiting a gentle disposition, and being
normally silent (see PRIMATES).

SAKURA-JIMA, a Japanese island, oval in shape and measur-
ing 7 m.by s m., lying in the northern part of the Bay of Kagoshima
(31°40'N., 130° 35" E.). It hasa volcano 3743 ft. high (of which
an eruption was recorded in 1779), and is celebrated for its hot
springs, its oranges and its giant radishes (daikon), which some-
times weigh as much as 70 1h.

SALA, GEORGE AUGUSTUS HENRY (1828-189s), English
journalist, was born in London, on the 24th of November 1828.
His father, Augustus John James Sala (1792-1828), was the son
of Claudio Sebastiano Sala, an Italian, who came to London to
arrange ballets at the theatres; his mother, Henrietta Simon
(1789-1860), was an actress and teacher of singing. Sala was
at school in Paris and studied drawing in London. In his earlier
years he did odd jobs in scene-painting and book illustration.
He wrote a tragedy in French, Frédégonde, before he was ten
yearsold, and in 1851 attracted the attention of Charles Dickens,
who published articles and stories by him in Household Words
and AU the Year Round, and in 1856 sent him to Russia as a
special correspondent. About the same time he got to know
Edmund Yates, with whom, in his earlier years, he was constantly
connected in his journalistic ventures. From 1860 to 1886,
over his own initials, he wrote “ Echoes of the Week ” for the
lllustrated London News. Afterwards they were continued in a
syndicate of weekly newspapers almost to his death. Thackeray,
when editor of the Cormhill, published articles by bim
on Hogarth in 1860, which were issued in volume form'in
1866. In 1860 he started Temple Bar, which he edited till 1866
when the magazine was taken over by Messrs Bentley. Mean-
while he had become in 1857 a contributor to the London Daily
Telegraph, and it was in this capacity that he did his most
characteristic work, whether as a foreign correspondent in all
parts of the world, or as a writer of leaders or special articles.
His literary style was highly coloured, bombastic, egotistic
and full of turgid periphrases, but his articles were invariably
full of interesting matter and helped to make the reputation of
the paper. He collected a large library and had an elaborate
system of commonplace-books, so that he could bring into his
articles enough show or reality of special information to make
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excellent reading for a not very critical public; he had an
extraordinary faculty for never saying the same thing twice
in the same way. He earned a large income from the Tdegraph
and other sources, but he never could keep his money. In 1863
be started on his first tour as special foreign correspondent to
his paper. He spent the year 1864 in America and published
a Diary of the war. Expeditions to Algiers, to Italy during
Garibaldi’s 1866 campaign, to Metz during the Franco-German
war, to Spain in 1875 at the end of the Carlist war, were among
his early journalistic enterprises, the long list of which closed
with his journey through America and Australia in 188s. In
1892, when his reputation was at its height, he started a weekly
paper called Sala’s Journal, but it was a disastrous failure;
and in 1895 bhe bad to sell his library of 13,000 volumes. Lord

gave him a divil list pension of {100 a year, but he
was 2 broken-down man, and he died at Brighton on the 8th
of December 1895. Sala published many volumes of fiction,
travels and essays, and edited various other works, but his
métier was that of ephemeral jounalism. .

See The Life and Adsentures of George Angustus Sala, wrillen by
Mimself (2 vols., 1895).

SALAANM (Arab. salom, * peace ”), the Oriental term for a
salutation. The word is used for any act of salutation, as of an
ambassador to a monarch, and so in a secondary sense'of a
compliment. Properly it is the oral salutation of Mahommedans
to each other; but it has acquired the special meaning of an
act of obeisance.

SALAD (Med. Lat. salata, salted, pickled, salare, to sprinkle
with salt), a dish, originally dressed with salt, of green uncooked
berbs, such as lettuce, endive, mustard, cress, &c., usually served
with a flavouring of onion; garlic or leeks, and with a dressing of
vinegar, oil, mustard, pepper and salt, or with a cream, for
which there are many receipts; hard-boiled eggs, radishes and
cucumber are also added.

SALADE, SaLLET or SALET, a head-piece introduced in the
early 1sth century replacing the heavy helmet. Its essential
features are its smooth rounded surface, like an inverted bowl,
and its long projecting neck guard. Usually there was no movable
vizor, but the front fixed part covered most of the face, a slit
being left for the eyes. The word is said to come through
the Old Fr. from the Span. cdads, Ital. celata, Lat. caelata,
sc. cassis, engraved helmet, caclare, to engrave, chase (see
HerxeT,

).

SALADIN (Arab. Sals-ud-din, “ Honouring the Faith”) (1138~
1193), first Ayyubite sultan of Egypt, was born at Tekrit in
1138. The brilliance of his career was only made possible
by the condition of the East in the 12th century. Such authority
as remained to the orthodox caliph of Bagdad (see CALIPHATE)
ot the heretical Fatimites (¢.v.) of Cairo was exercised by their
viriers. The Seljukian empire had, after 1076, been divided
and subdivided among Turkish atabegs. The Latin kingdom
of Jerusalem had existed since 1089 only because it was a
united force in the midst of disintegration. Gradually, however,
Christian enthusizsm had aroused a counter enthusiasm among
the Moslems. Zengi, atabeg of Mosul, had inaugurated the
sacred war by his campaigns in Syria (1137-1146). Nur-ed-din,
bis son, had continued his work by further conquests in Syria
and Damascus, by the organization of his conquered lands,
and, in 1157, by “ publishing everywhere the Holy War.” The
opportunity of Saladin lay therefore in the fact that his lifetime
covers the period when there was a conscious demand for political
union in the defence of the Mahommedan faith. By race
Sahdin was a Kurd of Armenia. His father, Ayyub (Job), and
bis uncle Shirkuh, sons of a certain Shadhy of Ajdanakan near
Dawin, were both generals in Zengi’s army. In 1139 Ayyub
received Baalbek from Zengi, in 1146 he moved, on Zengi's
death, to the court of Damascus. In r1s4 his influence secured
Damascus to Nur-ed-din and he was made governor. Saladin
was therefore educated in the most famous centre of Moslem
learning, and represented the best traditions of Moslem culture.

His career falls into three parts, his conquests in Egypt 1164~
1174, the annexation of Syria 1174~1187, and lastly the destruc-
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tion of the Latin kingdom and subsequent campaigns against
the Christians, 1187-1192. The conquest of Egypt was essential
to Nur-ed-din. It was a menace to his empire on the south, the
occasional ally of the Franks and the home of the unorthodox
caliphs. His pretext was the plea of an exiled vizier, and
Shirkuh was ordered to Egypt in 1164, taking Saladin as his
lieutenant. The Christians under Count Amalric immediately
intervened and the four expeditions which ensued in 1164, 1167,
1168 and 1169 were duels between Christians and Saracens.
They resulted in heavy Christian losses, the death of Shirkuh and
the appointment of Saladin as vizir. His relations towards the
unorthodox caliph Nur-ed-din were marked by extraordinary
tact. In 1171 on the death of the Fatimite, caliph he was
powerful enough to substitute the name of the orthodox caliph
in all Egyptian q The Mah d ligion was
thus united against Christianity. To Nur-ed-din he was invari-
ably submissive, but from the vigour which he employed in
adding to the fortifications of Cairo and the haste with which he
retreated from an attack on Montréal (1171) and Kerak (1173)
it is clear that he feared his lord's jealousy.

In 1174 Nur-ed-din died, and the period of Saladin’s conquests
in Syria begins. Nur-ed-din’s vassals rebelled against his
youthful heir, es-Salih, and Saladin came north, nominally to his
assistance. In 1174 he entered Damascus, Emesa and Hamah;
in 1175 Baalbek and the towns round Aleppo. The next step
was political independence. He suppressed the name of es-Salih
in prayers and on the coinage, and was formally declared sultan
by the caliph 1175. In 1176 he conquered Saif-ud-din of Mosul
beyond the Euphrates and was recognized as sovereign .by the
princes of northern Syria. In 1177 he returned by Damascus
to Cairo, which he enriched with colleges, a citadel and an
aqueduct. From 1177 to 1180 he made war on the Christians
from Egypt, and in 1180 reduced the sultan of Konia to sub-
mission. From 1181-1183 he was chicfly occupied in Syria. In
1183 he induced the atabeg Imad-ud-din to exchange Aleppo for
the insignificant Sinjar and in 1186 received the homage of the
atabeg of Mosul. The last independent vassal was thus subdued
and .the Latin kingdom enclosed on every side by a hostile
empire.

In 1187 a four years’ truce was broken by the brilliant brigand
Renaud de Chétillon and thus began Saladin’s third period of
conquest. In May he cut to pieces a small body of Templars
and Hospitallers at Tiberias, and, on July 4th, inflicted a
crushing defeat upon the united Christian army at Hittin. He
then overran Palestine, on September 20th besieged Jerusal
and on October 2nd, after chivalrous clemency to the Christian
inhabitants, crowned his victories by entering and purifying the
Holy City. In the kingdom only Tyre was left to the Christians,
Probably Saladin made his worst stratcgical error in neglect-
ing to conquer it before winter. The Christians had thus a
stronghold whence their remnant marched to attack Acre in
June 1189. Saladin immediately surrounded the Christian army
and thus began the famous two ycars’ siege.

Saladin’s lack of a fleet eitabled the Christians to receive
reinforcements and thus recover from their defeats by land.
On the 8th of June 1191 Richard of England arrived,and on the
12th of July Acre capitulated without Saladin’s permission.
Richard followed up his victory by an admirably ordered march
down the coast to Jaffa and a great victory at Arsuf. During
1191 and 1192 there were four small campaigns in southern
Palestine when Richard circled round Beitnuba and Ascalon
with Jerusalem as objective. In January 1192 he acknowledged
his impotence by renouncing Jerusalem to fortify Ascalon.
Negotiations for peace acc jed these d , which
showed that Saladin was master of the situation. Though in
July Richard secured two brilliant victorics at Jaffa, the treaty
made on the 2nd of September was a triumph for Saladin. Only
the coast line was left to the Latin kingdom, with a free passage
to Jerusalem; and Ascalon was demolished. The union of the
Mahommedan East had beyond question dealt the death-blow
to the Latin kingdom. Richard returned to Europe, and
Saladin returned to Damascus, where on the 4th of March 1193,
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after a few days’ illness, he died. He was buried in Damascus
and mourned by the whole East.

The character of Saladin and of his work is lin‘gulh:rly ﬂ:“nd. In
N il osii ry

SALAMANCA

small a number of emigrants, and the population tends gradually
to increase. See also LEoN.

SALAMANCA (anc. Sa/mantica or Elmantica), the capital of
the Spanish province of Salamanca, on the right bank of the

many ways he was a typical M
unbclievers—"* Let us Jwrge the air of the air they breathe " was his
aim for the demons of the Cross,—intensely devout and lar in
prayers and fasting. He showed the &ﬁde of race in the declaration
that * God reserved this triumph for the Ayyubitesbeforeall others.”
His generosity and hospitality were proved in his gifts to Richard
and his treatment of captives. He had the Oriental's power of
endurance, alternating with violent and emotional courage. Other
virtues were all his own, his extreme gentleness, his love for children,
his flawless honesty, his invariable kindliness, his chivalry to women
and the weak. Above all he typifies the Mahommedan's utter self-
surrender to a sacred cause. His achieveinents were the inevitable
pression of his ch He was not a statesman, for he left no
constitution or code to the East; his empire was divided among his
relatives on his death. As a nntﬂn, though of great ability, he
cannot be compared to Richard. a , he never organized
anarmy. * My troops will do nothin‘." e confessed, * save when |

ride at their head and review them.” His fame lives in ern
history as the conqueror who stemmed the tide of Western conquest
on the East, and turned it definitely from East to West, as the

who momentarily united the unrull East, and as the saint who
lized i i lity the high virtues and ideals of

in his p
Mahommedanism.

AvutHORITIES.—The contempor be
found in Michaud's Recueil des hs: 6).
This contains the work of Baha st,
and -ecrcur‘r of Saladin, the ge: o-
1233), the eulogist of the atabegs rer
of Saladin, and parts of the ge¢ ‘he
biography of the poet Osema ibn by
Dcnngourg (Paris, 1886), givesan ife.
Later Arabian authoritics are Ibr n-
Shama (born 1267). Of Christ are
important, the history of Willian er-
arium peregrinorum, probably ti 1en
Ambrosss (ed. by Stubbs, * Rolls the
Chronigue d'outremer, or the Fren: e's
history and its continuation by Er ur
of Ibelin, 1228. The best modern le's
Saladsin {** Heroés of the Nations "' 91+ e ais0 the
bibliography to CRUSADES. i (W.F.K)

SALAMANCA, a frontier province of eastern Spain, formed
in 1833 out of the southern part of the ancient kingdom of Leon,
and bounded on the N. by Zamora and Valladolid, E. by Avila,
S. by Céceres and W. by Portugal. Pop. (1900) 320,765; area,
4829 sq. m. Salamanca belongs almost entirely to the basin of
the Duero (Portuguese Douro, ¢.v.),its principal rivers being the
Tormes, which follows the general slope of the province towards
the north-west, and after a course of 135 m. flows into the Duero,
which forms part of the north-west boundary; the Yeltes and
the Agueda, also tributaries of the Duero; and the Alagon, an
affluent of the Tagus. The northern part of the province is
flat, and at its lowest point (on the Duero) is 488 ft. above sea-
level. The southern border is partly defined along the crests of
the Grédos and Gata ranges, but the highest point is La Alberca
(5692 ft.) in the Sierra de Pefia Francia, which rises a little farther
north. The rainfall is irregular; but where it is plentiful the
soil is productive and therc are good harvests of wine, oil, hemp,
and cereals of all kinds. Forests of oak, pine, beech and
chestnut cover a wide area in the south and south-west; and
timber is sent in large quantities to other parts of Spain. Sheep
and cattle also find good pasturage, and out of the forty-nine
Spanish provinces only Badajoz, Chceres and Teruel have a
larger number of live stock. Gold is found in the streams, and
iron, lead, copper, zinc, coal and rock crystal in the hills, but the
mines are only partially developed, and it is doubtful if the
deposits would repay exploitation on a larger scale. The manu-
factures of the province are few and mostly of a low class, in-

ded for home c ption, such as frieze, coarse cloth, hats
and pottery. The capital, Salamanca (pop. 1900, 25,690), and
the town of Ciudad Rodrigo (8930) are described in separate
articles. Béjar (9488) is the only other town of more than so00
inhabitants. The railways from Zamora, Medina, Plasencia and
Pefiaranda converge upon the capital, whence two lines go west-
ward into Portugal—one via Barca d’Alva to Oporto, the other
via Villar Formoso to Guarda. Few Spanish provinces lose so

river Tormes, 2648 ft. above sea-level and 172 m. by rail N.W.
of Madrid. Pop. (1900) 25,690. is the centre of a
network of railways which radiate N. to Zamora, N.E. to Medina,
E. to Pefiaranda, S. to Plasencia, W.S.W. to Guarda in Portugal,
and W. to Oporto in Portugal. The river is here crossed by a
bridge soo ft. long built on twenty-six arches, fifteen of which are
of Roman origin, while the remainder date from the 16th century.
The city is still much the same in outward appearance as when
its tortuous streets were thronged with students. The university
was naturally the chief source of wealth to the town, the popula-
tion of which in the 16th century numbered $0,000, 10,000 of
whom were students. Its decay of course reacted on the towns-
folk, but it fortunately also arrested the process of modernization.
The ravages of war alone have wrought serious damage, for the
French in their defensive operations in 1811-1812 almost
destroyed the western quarter. The ruins still remain, and give
an air of desolation which is not borne out by the real condition
of the inhabitants, however poverty-stricken they may appear.
Side by side with the remains of a great past are the modern
buildings: two theatres, a casino, bull-ring, town hall and
electric light factory. The magnificent Plaza Mayor, built by’
Andres Garcia de Quifiones at the beginning of the 18th century,
and capable of holding 20,000 people to witness a bull-fight, is
one of the finest squares in Europe. It is surrounded by an
arcade of ninety arches on Corinthian columns, one side of the
square being occupied by the municipal buildings. The decora-
tions of the facades are in the Renaissance style, and the plaza
as a whole is a fine sample of Plateresque architecture.

The University.—Salamanca is still rich in educational estab-
lishments. It still keeps up its university, with the separate
faculties of letters, philosophy, sciences, law and medicine;
its university and provincial public library, with 80,000 volumes
and 1000 MSS.; its {rish college, provincial institute, superior
normal school, ecclesiastical seminary (founded in 1778), economic
and other learned societies, and very many charitable founda-
tions. The city has still its 25 parishes, 25 colleges, and as many
more or less ruinous convents, and 10 yet flourishing religious
houses. The university, the oldest in the Peninsula, was founded
about 1230 by Alphonso IX. of Leon, and refounded in 1242
b, St Ferdinand of Castile. Under the patronage of the learned
Alphonsc X. its wealth and reputation greatly increased (1252—
1282), and its schocls of canon law and civil lawattracted students
even from Paris end Bologna. In the 1sth and 16th centuries
it was renowned throughout Europe. Here Columbus, to whom
a statue was erected in 1891, lectured on his discoveries, and
here the Copernican system was taught long before it had won
general acceptance. But soon after 1550 a period of decline
set in. The university statutes were remodelled in 1757, but
financial troubles and the incessant wars which checked almost
every reform in Spain prevented any recovery up to 1857, when a
fresh reorganization was effected. At the beginning of the 2oth
century the number of students was about 1200, and the number
of professors 1g—fewer than in any other Spanish university.

Principal Buildings.—The chief objects of interest in the city are
the old and new cathedrals. The old cathedral is a cruciform
building of the 12th century, begun bK Bishop Jer6nimo, the con-

the Cid (¢.9.). Its style of architecture is that Late Roman.
esque which iled in the south of Fi bu i od
much originality in the construction of t
crossing of the nave and tran: i spring,
not from immediately above the arches, but from a higher stage of a
double arcade pi with windows. The thrust of the vaulting is
borne by four massive pinnacles, and over the inner dome is an outer
pointed one with tiles. The whole forras a most effective
nndfru:dul group. On the vault of the apse is a fresco of Our Lord
in Judgment by the Italian painter Nicolas Florentino (15th
century). The reredos, which has the peculiarity of fitting the curve
of the apse, contains fifty-five ﬁpauels with paintings mostly by the
same artist. There are many fine monuments in the south transept
and cloister chapels. An adjoining building, the Capilla de Talavera,
is used as a chapel for service ding to the M bi

rite, which
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Allied army under W (about 46,000 with 60 guns) was drawn
up south of Salamanca, the left resting on the river Tormes at Santa
arta, with a division under Pakenham and some cavalry on the
north bank at Cabrerizos; the right near the village of Arapiles and
two hills of that name. Wellinnon'l object was to cover Salamanca
guard communications thmﬂgh Ciudad Rodrigo with
Portugal. The French under Marshal Marmont (about 42,000 with
70 (unn) were collecting towards Welhl;gon'- right, stretching
ds from Calv de Ariba. country generally is
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quality of ki ip are good k
efforts of SgnnilhtyGothic. The church contains paintings by J. F. de
Navarrete (1526-1579) and L. de Morales (c. 1 x_ﬁl:). and some
overrated statues by Juan de Juni (16th century;. treasu
msu'pnce‘ iece of goldsmith mk.md Dromre crucite of wadoubted

's a bronze il undoul
authenticity, which was borne before the Cid in battle. The t
bell weighs over 23 tons. Of the university buildings the h& of
the library is a peculiarly. rich example of late 15th-century Gothic.
The cdloisters are light and elegant; grand staircase ascending
from them has a fine balustrade of foliage and figures. The Colegio
de Nobles Irlandeses, formerly Colegio de Santiago Apostol, was built
i i arcaded cloister

y Colegio de
1 l(romd:gm Pedro de Ibarra. The double
:as;ne 5 'o?lolthe_best riod of the Renai The

i1
i

i

is | the French the southern (since termed the * French
While i

and streams.
uncertain whether

t S by the right or left bank of the
Tormes, or to gain the Ciudad igo road, but Wellington now
felt that the latter was his real objective. At dalr.light there was a
rush by both armies for the two commanding hills of the Arapiles;
the Allies gained the northern (s the - Englsh sz‘-lml
es.
Marmont was closing up his f a complete change of
position was carried out by Wdlingtomnhagﬂm dir::ted
to.march th h Sal ing the Tormes, and move under
cover to a "ooa near Aldea Tejada, while Wellington, holding the
village of Ara and the northern hill, took up a line with four
infantry divisions, a Portuguese brigade (Bradford), a strong force
of ca and Don Carlos’s Spanish brigade, under cover of a ridge
between Arapiles and Aldea Tejada. { Beon his old right had
become his feft, and he Ciudad Rodrigo N

(since

hoasild:

ugly g begun in
’l‘be Colegio Viejo, also called San
o was rebuilt in the 18th century, and now serves as the
vernor’s palace. The convent of Santo Domingo, sometimes called
gn Esteban, shows a mixture of styles from the 13th century
cowards. The church is Gothic with a Plateresque facade of great
lightoess and delicacy. It is of purer delirn than that of the cathe-
dral; nevertheless it shows the tendency of the The reredos,
the finest Renaissance works in Spain, contains statues by
Salvador Carmona, and a curious bronze statuette of the Virgin and
Child on a throne of champlevé enamel of the 12th century. The
chapter-house, built by Juan Moreno in 1637, and the staircase and

sacristy are_good exam of later wor convent of the
o Rty Daon by Fontana i 1616, s 1a better taste
than any other Renai ding in the city. ‘The church is rich
in fitti nd i | ures of the Neapolitan

ings ai fine pi
Mﬁ“‘" the Conception .Ri&cr: 1588-1656) over the
altar. (m¥m ‘;‘5 t;:e%ﬁr%i%:m lu‘sf a sgoor :ZIA.
Berruguete (c. 1480~-1561). There is a rather effective to
the convent of Las Duefias. The church of S. Mnco-isapocuﬁoun
crcular ing with three eastern apses; and the churches of S.
Martin and S. Matteo have good arler ys. Many of the
T theacs 1 which they ware il Such are the Care g6
mmuﬁmuin'ic they were built. are the

; and
and Espi

In middle ages trade of was not insignificant,
and t;:emped uced there is still sought after.
Its manufdctures are now of little consequence, and consist of china,
doth and leather. The P is,h , of more import-
ance, and shows signs of increasing, as a result of the extension of
railway communication between 1875 and 1900. During this period
the population increased by nearly 7000,

History—The town was of importance as early as 222 B.C.,
when it was captured by Hannibal from the Vettones, and it
afterwards became under the Romans the ninth station on the
Via Lata from Merida to Saragossa. It passed successively
under the rule of the Goths and the Moors, till the latter were
finally driven out about 1055. About 1100 many foreign settlers
were induced by Alphonso VI. to establish themselves in the
district, and the city was enlarged and adorned by Count Ray-
mond of Burgundy and his wife, the Princess Urraca. The
Fuero de Sal a celebrated code of civil law, probably
dates from about 1200. Thenceforward, until the second half
of the 16th century, the prosperity of the university rendered
the city one of the most important in Spain. But in 1593 the
establishment of an independent bishopric at Valladolid (then
the seat of the court), which had previously been subject to the
see of Salamanca,
and its commerce was shattered by the expulsion of the Moriscos
in 1610 and the wars of the 18th and 19th centuries.

See Villar y Macias, Historia de Salamanca (3 vols., Salamanca,
1587), H. Rashdall, Universities of Exrope sn the Middle Ages, vol. ii.
pt 1. (London, 1895):.hwn¥a. Lo Universidad de Salamanca y la
cuitura espaiols en o siglo X111 (Paris, 1900). (K.G J-

Battle , 1812. (For the operations which p
this battle see PENINSULAR WAR.) On the 22nd of July 1812 the

ded

finest example of its period in Spain; the Casa de |~
i ﬁmﬁdmmﬂ:&m

dealt a serious blow to the prestige of the city; | The F:

king Marmont should he move towards it.

aRer 00
Redrawn from Maj.-Gen. C. W. Robinson's Wellington's Campaigns,
by permission of Hugh Rees, Ltd. poigns
It was not Wellington's wish
a battle * unless under very ad g
that inf were ing the French, and, having
determined to fall back towards Portugal, he began to pass his
baggage along the Ciudad Rodriro road. Marmont, about 2 r.M.,
seeing the dust of his baggage column, ignorant of his true position,
and anxious to intercept his retreat, o two divisions under
Maucune, the leading one of which became afterwards Thomiéres'}

to push westward, while he himself ked Arapil M

y flanked by some cavalry and fifty. gups, leaving a ga

between him and the rest of the French. Wellington instantly tool
d age of this. Di \g Pakenham to attack the head of the
l%aeding re:cyh diviﬂn. anht: a Po;‘tzl;u:_-e staAd; (l:ackgeto occupy
the enemy by assaulting the south (or Frenc piles, pared
to bear do'nAi:; strength upon Maucﬁu‘r'lle"l right ﬂl::‘lh n’l‘;hg'l?x;:ch
attack upon Arapiles was after hard fighting repulsed; and, at about
PM., hf:ucune s force, when in oonfunionﬁmm the fierce attack of
'akenham and Wellington in front and flank and suffering severely,
was wddenl& trampled down * with a terrible clamour and dis-
turbance” (Napier) by an irresistiblecharge of Le Marchant's and
Anson’s cavalry under Sir Stapleton Cotton. This counterstroke
decided the battle, Marmont's left wing being completely broken.

(Despatches, July 21, 1812) to fight
et g

rench a gallant but fruitless effort to retrieve the day,
and repulsed Pack’s attack upon the French Arapiles; but, as t!
light waned, Clausel, Marmont being wounded, drew off the French
army towards Alba de Tormes and retired to_Valladolid. Both
armies lost heavily, the Allies about 6000, the French some li;nooo
men, 12 guns 2 eagles and several standards. The rout would have
been even more thorough had not the castle and ford at Alba de

1 Some authorities differ as to this (see The Salamanca Campaign,
by Captaia A. H. Marindin, 1906, appendix, pp. 51-59).
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Tormes been ed by its Spanish garri: ith
knowledge. . .
Salamanca was a brilliant victory, and followed as it was by the
capture of Madrid, it severely shook the French domination in

Spain. . W. R.

\ P;ALAIANCA. a village in Cattaraugus county, New York,
U.S.A,, in the township of Salamanca, about 52 m. S. by E.
of Buffalo. Pop. (1900), 4251, of whom 789 were foreign-
born; (1910, census), §792. S ca is served by the Erie,
the Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg and the Pennsylvania
railways, and by interurban electric lines connecu'n? with Olean,
N. Y., Bradford, Pennsylvania, and Little Valley (pop in 1910,
1368), the county-seat, about 8 m. N. The village is built on
bothsides of the Alleganyriver. Theagricultural and industrial
development of the region has been retarded by its being within
the Allegany Indian Reservation (allotted originally to the
Seneca Indians by the Big Tree Treaty of 1798 and still including
the valley of the Allegany river for several miles above and
below Salamanca); but land is now held under a g9 year lease
authorized by Congress in 1892. The village is a railway centre
and division terminal, and has repair shops of the Erie and the
Buffalo, Rochester & Pittsburg railways. The first settlement
in the district (which was included within the * Holland
Purchase " of 1792-1793) was made in 181§ near the site of
West Salamanca (pop. in 1910, 530), 14 m. W. of Salamanca,
and in the same township. Salamanca (until 1873 known as
East Salamanca) was incorporated in 1879, taking its name
from the township, which was erected in 1854 as Buck Tooth
Township and in 1862 was renamed in honour of a Spanish
banker who was a large stockholder of the Atlantic & Great
Western railway, built through the township this year, and later
merged with the Erie railway. .
P See a!;;;lory of Caltaraugus County, New York (Philadelphia,

a., 1879).

SALAMANDER. Salamanders in the restricted sense (genus
Salamandra of N. Laurenti) arc close allies of the newts, but of
exclusively terrestrial habits, indicated by the shape of the tail,
which is not distinctly compressed. The genus is restricted in
its habitat to the western parts of the Palaearctic region and
represented by four species only: the spotted salamander,
S. maculosa, the well-known black and yellow creature inhabiting
Central and Southern Europe, North-West Africa and South-
Western Asia; the black salamander, S. afra, restricted to the
Alps; S. caucasica from the Caucasus, and S. luschani from
Asia Minor. Salamanders, far from being able to withstand the
action of fire, as was believed by the ancients, are only found
in damp places, and emerge in misty weather only or after
thunderstorms, when they may appear in enormous numbers
in localities where at other times their presence would not be
suspected. They are usually much dreaded by country people,
and although they are quite harmless to man, the large glands
which are disposed very regularly on their smooth, shiny bodies,
secrete a very active, milky poison which protects them friom
the attacks of many enemies.

. The breeding habits of the two well-known European species are
highly intercstmg. They pair on land, the male clasping the female
at the arms, and the impregnation is internal. Long alter pairing
the female gives birth to living younT S. maculosa, which lives in
glaim or at low altitudes (up to 3000 it.), deposits her young, ten to

fty in number, in the water, in springs or cool rivulets, and these
{oung at birth are of small size, provided with external gills and four
imbs, in every way similar to advanced newt-larvac. S. afra, on
the other hand, inhabits the Alps between 2000 and gooo ft. altitude.
Localities at such altitudes not being, as a rule, suitable for larval
life in the water, the young are retained in the uterus, until the
completion of the metamorphosis. Only two young, rarely three or
four, are born, and they may measure as much as §0 mm. at birth,
the mother measuring only 120. The uterine s are large and

, as in S. / but as a rule only one fully develops in
each uterus, the embryo being nourished on the yolk of the other
eggs, which more or less dissolve to form a large mass of nutrient
matter. The embryo passes through three stages—(1) still en-
closed within the and living on its own yolk; (2) free, within the
vitelline mass, which is directly swallowed {:y the mouth; (3) there
is no more vitelline mass, but the embryo is ssed of long ex-
ternal gills, which serve for an exchange of nutritive fluid through
the maternal uterus, these gills functioning in the same way as tEe
chorionic villi of the mammalian egg. Embryosin the second stage,

Wellington's

SALAMANCA—SALAMIS

if artificially released from the uterus, are able to live in water. in
the same way as similarly developed larvae of S. macwlosa. But
the uterine gills soon wither and are shed, and are replaced by other
gills differing in no respect from those of its congener.

AUTHORITIRS.—Mane von Chauvin, Zeilschr. Wiss. Zool. xxix.
(1877), p. 324; P. Kammerer, Arch. f. Entwickel. xvii. (1904),
p. 1; Mme. Phisalix-Picot, Recherches embryologiques, histologiques
et physiologiques sur landes & venin de la salamandre terrestre
(Paris, 1900, 8vo).

SALAMIS, an island of Greece in the Saronic Gulf of the
Acgean Sea, extending along the coasts of Attica and Megaris,
and enclosing the Bay of Eleusis between two narrow straits
on the W. and S. 1Its area is 36 sq. m., its greatest length in
any direction 10 m.; its extremely irregular shape gives rise
to the modern popular name KovA\obpt, i.e. baker's crescent.
In Homer Salamis was the home of the Aeginetan prince Telamon
and his sons Ajax and Teucer, and this tradition is confirmed
by the position of the ancient capital of the island opposite
Acgina. Itsubsequently passed into the hands of the Megarians,
but was wrested from them about 600 B.C. by the Athenians
under Solon (¢.9.) and definitely awarded to Athens by Sparta's
arbitration. Though Attictradition claimed Salamis asan ancient
possession the island was not strictly Athenian territory; a
6th-century inscription shows that it was treated either as a
cleruchy or as a privileged foreign dependency. The town of
Salamis was removed to an inlet of the E. coast opposite Attica.
In 480 Salamis became the base of the allied Greek fleet after
the retreat from Artemisium, while the Persians took their
stationalongthe Attic coast off Phalerum. Through the stratagem
of the Athenian Themistocles the Greeks were enclosed in the
straits by the enemy, who had wheeled by night across the
entrance of the E. channel and detached a squadron to block
the W. outlet. The Greeks had thus no resource but to fight,
while the Persians could not utilize their superior numbers, and
as they advanced into the narrow neck of the east strait were
thrown into confusion. The allies, among whom the Athenians
and Aecginetans were conspicuous, seized this opportunity to
make a vigorous attack which probably broke the enemy’s
line. After waging a losing fight for several hours the Persians
retreated with the loss of 200 sail and of an entire corps landed
on the islet of Psyttaleia in the channel; the Greeks lost only
40 ships out of more than 300. During the Peloponnesian War
Salamis served as a repository for the country stock of Attica.
About 3so Salamis obtained the right of issuing copper coins.
In 318 Cassander placed in it 8 Macedonian garrison which was
finally withdrawn through the advocacy of the Achaean states-
man Aratus (232). The Athenians thereupon supplanted
the inhabitants by a cleruchy of their own citizens. By the
and century A.D. the settlement had fallen into decay. In
modern times Salamis, which is chiefly peopled by Albanians,
has regained importance through the transference of the
naval arsenal to Ambelaki near the site of the ancient capital.
Excavations in this region have revealed large numbers of
Iat: Mycenaean tgmb;.o 8 P - o
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SALAMIS, the principal city of ancient Cyprus, situated on
the east coast a little north of the river Pedias (Pediacus). It
had a good harbour, well situated for commerce with Phoenicia,
Egypt and Cilicia, which was replaced in medieval times by
Famagusta (Ammochostos), and is wholly silted now. Its trade
was mainly in corn, wine and oil from the midland plain
(Mesaoria),and in salt from the neighbouringlagoons. Tradition-
ally, Salamis was founded after the Trojan War (c. 1180 B.C.)
by Teucer from Salamis, the island off Attica, but there was an
important Mycenaean colony somewhat earlier. The spoils
of its tombs excavated in 1896 are in the British Museum.




SAL AMMONIAC—SALARIA, VIA

A king Kisu of Silna (Salamis) is mentioned in a list of tributaries
of Assur-bani-pal of Assyria in 668 B.C., and Assyrian influence is
marked in the fine terra-cotta figures from a shrine at Toumba

to | It is dried, and sold to the common people as fuel.
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naturalist (Phkil. Trans., 1760, p. s04). The dung of black cattle,
horses, sheep, goats, &c., which contains sal ammoniac ready
formed, is collected during the first four months of the year,
when the animals feed on the spring grass, a kind of clover.
The soot
from this fuel is carefully collected and sold to the sal ammoniac

excavated in 1890-1891. The revolts of Greek Cyprus against
Persia in B.C., 382380 B.C. and 352 B.C. were led mp&gl‘vtly
by kings k E (g P seem
have been the principal Hellenic pom in the isiand. In 306
Demetrius Poliorcetes won a great naval vnctoq here over P!olemyl N
P pgd hou ml’mk n: kil nd unde!
y, though u maic -kings and under
vernment was at New l!:mphos (see PaPHOS).

maTd in the Jewish revolt of A.D. 116-117; it

mm e‘nh uakes, and was wholly rebuilt

onstantia. There was a large

r.olmzum Ptolemmc urly Roman times, and a Christian

nded by Paul and Barnabas in A.D. 45-46. Barnabas

f 2 Cypriote, and his reputed tomb, duoovered m A Eﬂz&ﬂ
ml[ shown, a little inland, mr the monastery of A

S Ej n:hlmlwp ?6 . ﬁecmkm
destroyed by 1l InAnb:undenheCa wiya in 6. 7.
a0t seem to have revi

was hi

does
In later tlme- the nte fer

the building of Famgusta it is now covered mﬁnlls, and its
::n is xmpufecdy The market-place and a few public
m excavated in 1890-1891, but nothing of importance

, who work only during the months of March and April,
for it is only at that season of the year that the dung is fit for
their purpose.

The composition of this salt seems to have been first discovered
by J. P. Tournefort in 1700. The experiments of C. J. Geoffroy
in 1716 and 1723 were still more decisive, and those of H. L.
Duhamel de Monceau, in 1735, left no doubt upon the subject.
Dr Thomson first pointed out a process by synthesis, which has
the advantage of being very simple, and at the same time rigidly
accurate, resulting from his observation that when hydrochloric
acid gas and ammonia gas are brought in contact with each
other, they always combine in equal volumes.

The first attempt to manufacture sal ammoniac in Europe
was made, about the beginning of the 18th century, by Mr

SeeW.H. , Kypros (Berlin, 1841:cl ): J. A. R. | Goodwi
Munro and H. Tu ourn. Hellemic Studies, xii. 59 ﬂ . 298 ff.
site monuments); British Munum Excavations in Cyprus

.’landon, 1900; Myoenann tombs) ;
Coins of Cyprus (London, 1904; coins)

SAL AMMONIAC,! or Anormm Crrorme, NH(CI], the
earliest known salt of ammonia (q v.), was tonnerly mucb used
in dyeing and metallurgic operations.

The namé Hammoniacus sal occurs in Pliny (Nat. Hist. xxxi. 3?‘
who relates that it was applied to a kind of foml salt found
sand, in a di of Cy The is, that the sal
mdthe.mumtbeumuth“oﬂhe moderns; but
the mpu{ect da:npuon o( Phny is far from being conclusive.

ibed by Model and
H thmth huno resembllanr.c to the

. F. Hill, Brit. Mus. Cat.
J.L. M)

, & chemist of London, who appears to have used the
mother ley of common salt and putrid urine as ingredients.
The first successful manufacture of sal ammoniac in Great
Britain was established in Edinburgh about the year 1760.
It was first manufactured in France about the same time by
A. Baumé. Manufactories of it were afterwards established in

Germany, Holland md Flanders.

It is now obtained from the facal liquor of gas works by
distilling the liquor with milk of lime and passing the ammonia so
obtai; into hydrochloric acid. The -ollmon of ammonium

chloride so obmmd is mmted and the crude nmmomum chlonde

purified by
s: (1) a hemispherical stoneware basin | vmlnn a dme-
bem:!

nl!daaibedby ﬁn‘db"beumemnark tothe
of volcanoes. (v. 126), in mentioning sal ammoniac,

makes use of a phrue qmte irreconcilable with the description of

Pliny, and rather upplnz to mr.k-ult than to our sal ammoniac.

Sal hesa prized if it can be easily split into

mcun‘uhr fngm:nu. hnally. we have no proof whatever that

her ncar the temple ot Jupiter

uu:(ormanypn m cheeveeomludzt ttlw
term ammoniac was a| the a

most of their other chemi urms. It ma;
same salt which is known to the
was not confined to it.
lnnyuaethereunbemdoubtthathwaweﬂkmntotm
as early as the 13th century. Albertus Magnus, in his
treatise De clchymia, informs us that there were two kinds of sal

have g.wtn to tbe
that but

_remains open to

tting iron one, or an enamelled iron basin, and (2) a hemi
or nomwam lid, or dome, cemented on the top of the
e dome has a small aperture in the top whlch
lude accumulation of pressure. The carefully

dried crystallized salt is pressed into the basin, and, after the lid
has been fitted on, is exposed to a long-lasting moderate heat.
The nlt volatilizes (mostly in the form of a mmed vapour of
the which on cooling), and in
tbedommthefmndachmuuzmll

condenses i
y fibrous and tough

The pure salt has a sharp saline taste and is readily soluble
in water. It readily volatilizes, and if moisture be rigorously
excluded, it does not dissociate, but in the presence of mere
traces of water it dissociates into ammonia and hydrochloric
acid (H. B. Baker Journ. Chem. Soc., 1895, 65, p. 612).

( i chlonde. British and United States

ammoniac, a natural and an artil . The natural was
white, and sometimes red; the artificial was more useful to the
He does not tell us how it was prepared, but he describes
the method of subliming it, which can leave no doubt that it was real
sl In the mineralia of Isaac Hollandus the elder,
there is likewise a description of the mode of subliming sal ammoniac.

Basil Valentine, in his Currus triumphalis antimonis, describes some
d(heyecuhu, P of sal in. ible, a still less
equivocal manner

Egypt is the mntry "where sal ammoniac was first manu-
factured, and from which Europe for many years was supplied
with it. This commerce was first carried on by the Venetians,
and afterwards by the Dutch. Nothing was known about the
method employed by the Egyptians till the year 1719. In 1716
C. J. Geofiroy read a paper to the French Academy, showing
um. sal ;mmonuc must be formed by sublimation; but his

d so violently by W. Homberg and N.
Lcmery unt the paper was not printed. In 1719 D. Lemaire,

Sal

harmacopoeiae) as used in medicine is a white line odourless
;owdcr hamz a saline taste. It issolublein 1 nmm water and
in 1 in 50 of 90 % alcohol. It is incompatible with carbonates of the
alkalis.” The dose is 5 to 20 grs. Ammonium chloride has a different
action and therapeutic use from the rest of the ammonium salts.
It m-enu only slight influence over the hun and re.pﬂ:non. but
uhed"pu:ﬁceﬁmlz“ ly through the lu whzre ld.ld
t rug takes y mg it a in
loosening bronchial le r‘e n::s'c‘rntdtheutm

H i o)

value in is.
‘The drug may be venmaminuumth lycerine or liquorice to
eover:l‘:gd E uneontmaybeu mpmyb?mumo(

of the fumes of nascent ammonium
thlonde by ﬁllmg the room with the gas has been recommended in
foetid bronchitis. Though ammonium chlonde has certain irritant
m which may disorder the stomach, yet if its mucous mem-

be depressed and atonic the drug may improve its condition,

md it has been used with success in gastric and intestinal catarrhs
of a subacute type and is given in doses of 10 grains half an hour
before mub né" Pamful dyspepsia d:endlo h ity. Itisalso an

the French consul at Cairo, sent the Academy an of

a feeble diuretic and dia-

the mode of manufacturing nl ammoniac in Egypt. The salt,
it appeared, was obtained by simple sublimation from soot.
In the year 1760 Linnaeus communicated to the Royal Society
a correct detail of the whole process, which he had received from
Dr F. Hasselquist, who had travelled in that country as a

1 Some derive the name sal ammoniac from Jupiter Ammon, near
whoee tem it is toluve been found; .others, from a

of Cy > Pliny’s derivation is from
lh.nd(lpn)hwhidlnm

a
phm:c.-ndhubeenmndemdtlpenbclnmlmol

BALARIA. VIA, an ancient highroad of Italy, which ran from
Rome by Reate and Asculum to Castrum Truentinum (Porto
d Ascoh) on the Adriatic coast, a distance of 1sx m. Its first
portion must be of early origin, and was the route by which the
Sabines came to fetch salt from the marshes at the mouth of
the Tiber. Of its course through the Apennines considerable
remains exist.
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See T. Ashby in Papers of the Britisk School at Rmvu, iii. 3-38;
N. Persichetti, Viaggio arc gico sulla Via Salaria nel Circondario
di Cittdducale (Rome, 1893); and in Romische Milleilungen (1903),

276 seq.

SAI.AR JUNG, SIR (1829-1883), Indian statesman of
Hyderabad, born in 1829, descendant of a family which had held
various appointments, first under the Adil Shahi kingsof Bijapur,
then under the Delhi emperors and lastly under the Nizams.
While he was known to the British as Sir Salar Jung, his personal
name was Mir Turab Ali, he was styled by native officials of
Hyderabad the Mukhtaru ’l-Mulk, and was referred to by the
general public as the Nawab Sahib. He succeeded his uncle
Suraju 'I-Mulk as prime minister in 1853. The condition of the
Hyderabad state was at that time a scandal to the rest of India.
Salar Jung began by infusing a measure of discipline into the
Arab mercenaries, the more va.lu;ble part of the Nizam’s army,
and employing them ag ious nobles and bands of
robbers who had annihilated the trade of the country. He then
constituted courts of justice at Hydcrabad, organized the police
force, constructed and repaired irrigation works, and established
schools. On the outbreak of the Mutiny he supported the British,
and although unable to hinder an attack on the residency, he
warned the British minister that it was in comtemplation. The
attack was repulsed; the Hyderabad contingent remained loyal,
and their loyalty served to ensure the tranquillity of the Deccan.
Salar Jung took advantage of the preoccupation of the British
government with the Mutiny to push his reforms more boldly,
and when the Calcutta authorities were again at liberty to consider
the condition of affairs his work had been carried far towards
completion. During t.he hfeume of lhc Nizam Afzulu'd-dowl.l
Salar Jung was considerabl, d by his 's
supervmon When Mir Mahbub Ali, however, mccwded his
father in 1869, Salar Jung, at the insunce of the British govern-
ment, was associated in the regency with the principal noble of
the state, the Shamsu 'l-Umara or Amir Kabir, and enjoyed an
increased authority. In 1876 he visited England with the object
of obtaining the restoration of Berar. Although he was un-
successful, his personal merits met with full recognition. He died
of cholera at Hyderabad on the 8th of February 1883. He was
created G.C.S.I. on the 28th of May 1870; and received the
honorary degree of D.C.L. from the University of Oxford on the
218t of June 1876 His grandson.enjoyed an estate of 1486
lq m., yielding an income of nearly £60,000.

emoirs of Sir Jung, by his pnvnte secretary, Syed

Houam Bilgrami, 1883.

SALARY, a payment for services rendered, usually a stipulated
sum paid monthly, quartetly, half-yearly or yurly, and for a
permanent or lengthy term of employment. It is g 1}

Don Diego de Noche (1623) and a most sparkling satirical volume
of character-sketches, El Curioso y Sabio Alexandro (1634). He
died in poverty at Madrid on the 1oth of July 1635. Some of
his works were translated into English and French; and Scarron’s
Hypocrites is based on La Ingeniosa Elena; he deserved the
vogue which he enjoyed till late in the rjth century, for his
satirical humour, versatile invention and pointed style are an
effective combination.

SALDANHA BAY, an inlet on the south-western coast of
South Africa, 63 m. by sea N. by W. of Cape Town, forming a
land-locked harbour. The northern part of the inlet is known as
Hoetjes Bay. It has accommodation for a large fleet with deep
water close inshore, but the arid nature of the country caused
it to be neglected by the early navigators, and with the growth
of Cape Town Bay was rarely visited. Considerable
deposits of freestone in the neighbourhood attracted attention
during the later 19th century. Proposals were also made to
create a port which could be supplied by water from the Berg
river, 20 m. distant. From Kalabas Kraal on the Cape Town-
Clanwilliam railway, a narrow xauge line runs via Hopefield to
Hoetjes Bny—uG m. from Cape Town.

Saldanha Bay is so named after Antonio de Saldanha, captain of
a vessel in Albuquerque's fleet which visited South Africa in 1503.
The name was first given to Table Bay, where Saldanha's ship cast
anchor. On Table Bay being gl\;ehn its present name (1601) the onldh:

bay now called after

In 1781 a Bnmh d under C George J
1731-1787) seized six Dutch East Indiamen, which, (’unng an
attack on Cape Town, had taken refu, ln Saldanha Ba This was
th: only achievement, so far as Sout rica was
" 3' ition despa u-_bu{ to seize Cape Tovm during the war of 1781~

SALDERN, FRIEDRICH CHRISTOPH VON (1719-178s),
Prussian soldier and military writer, entered the army in 1735,
and (on account of his great stature) was transferred to the
Guards in 1739. As one of Frederick's aides-de-camp he was
the first to discover the approach of Neipperg's Austrians at
Mollwitz. He commanded a guard battalion at Leuthen, again
distinguished himself at Hochkirch and was promoted major-
general. In 1760 at Liegnitz Frederick gave him four hours in
which to collect, arrange and despatch the spoils of the battle,
Gooo prisoners, 100 wagons, 82 guns and soco muskets. His
complete success made him a marked man even in Frederick’s
army. At Torgau, Saldern and Mollendorf (g.v.) with their
brigades converted a lost battle into a great victory by their
desperate assault on the Siptitz Heights, The manceuvring
skill, as well as the iron resolution, of the attack, bas excited the
wonder of modern critics, and after Torgau Saldcm was accounted
the pletest general of infantry alive ” (Carlyle). In the

contrasted with wages," a term applied to weekly or dnly
payment for manual services. As laid down by Bowen, L. J., In
re Shine (1892)) 1 Q.B. 529, “ Salary means a definite payment for
personal services under some contract and computed by time.”
The Latin salarium meant originally salt money (Lat. sal, salt),
f.e. the sum paid to soldiers for salt. In post-Augusun Latin
the word was applied to any allowance, pension or stipend.

SALAS, or SAN MARTIN DE SALAS, & town of southern Spain,
in the province of Oviedo; on the road from Tineo to Grado,
and on a small sub-tributary of the river Narcea. Pop. (1900),
17,147. The official total of the inhabitants includes not only
the actual residents in the town, but also the population of the
district of Salas, a mountainous region in which coal-mining and
.griculture are the principal industries. The products of this
region are sent for export to Cudillero, a small harbour oun the
Bay of Biscay.

SALAS unnmmn, ALONSO JERONIMO DE (c. 1580-
1635), Spanish novelist and playwright, born at Madrid about
1580, and educated at Alcalé de Henares and Valladolid. His
first work, La Pairona de Madrid restituida (1609), is a dull
devout poem, which forms a strange prelude to La Hija de
Celestina (1612), a malicious transcription of picaresque scenes
reprinted under the title of La Ingeniosa Elenma. This was
followed by a series of similar tales and plays, the best of which
are E} Cavallero puniual (1614), La Casa de placer homesto (1620),

_——_

following winter, however, being ordered by Frederick to sack
Hubertusburg, Saldern refused on the ground of conscience.
Nothing was left for him but to retire, but Frederick was well
aware that he needed Saldern’s experience and organizing
ability, and after the peace the general was at once made inspector
of the troops at Magdeburg. In 1766 he became lieutenant-
general. The remainder of his life was spent in the study of
military sciences in which he became a pedant of the most
pronounced type. In one of his works he discussed at great
length the question between 76 and 75 paces to the minute as the
proper cadence of infantry. There can be no question that
“ Saldern-tactics ”” were the most extreme form of pedantry to
which troops were ever subjected, and contributed powerfully
to the disaster of Jena in 1806. His works included Takiik der
Infanterie (Dresden, 1784) and Taktische Grundsdize (Dresden,
1786), and were the basis of the British * Dundas " drill-book.

SALE, GRORGE (c. 1697-1736), English orientalist, was the
son of a London merchant. In 1720 he was admitted a student
of the Inner Temple, but subsequently practised as a solicitor.
Having studied Arabic for some time in England, he became,
in 1726, one of the correctors of the Arabic version of the New
Testament, begun in 1720 by the Society for Promoting Christian
Knowledge, and subsequently took the principal part in the
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work. He made an extremely paraphrastic, but, for his time,
admirable English translation of thé Koran (1734 and often
reprinted), and had a European reputation as an orientalist,
He diéd on the r3th of November 1736. His collection of oriental
manuscripts is now in the Bodleian library, Oxford.
+ SALR, SIR ROBERT HENRY (1782-1845), British soldier,
entered the 36th Foot in 1795, and went to India in 1798, as a
lieutenant of the 12th Foot. His regiment formed part of Baird's
brigade of Harris's army operating against Tippoo Sahib, and
Sale was present at Mallavelly (Mallawalli) and Seringapatam,
subsequently serving under Colonel "Arthur Wellesley in the
campaign against Dhundia. A little later the 12th was employed
in the difficult and laborious attack on Paichi Raja. Promoted
captain in 1806, Sale was engaged in 1808-1809 against the
Raja of Travancore, and was at the two actions of Quilon, the
storm of Travancore lines and the battle of Killianore. In 1810
be accompanied the expedition to Mauritius, and in 1813
obtained his majority. After some years he became major in
the 13th, with which regiment he was for the rest- of his life
associated. Inthe Burmese Warhe led the 13th in all the actions
up to the capture of Rangoon, in one of which he killed the
enemy’s leader in single b In the luding operati
the war, being now licutenant-colonel, he commanded a bngnde
and at Malown (1826) he was severely wounded. For these
services he received the C.B. In 1838, on the outbreak of the
Afghan War, Brevet-Colonel Sale was assigriedto the command
of the 1st. brigade of tbeamyammblmgonthclndus.
His columan arrived at Kapdahar'in April 1839, and in May it
omup:ed the Herat plain. The Kandabar force next set out on
its march to Kabul, and a month later Ghazni was stormed,
Sale in person Iadmg the storming column and distinguishing
bimself in single combat. The plmc was well provisioned, and
on its supplies the army finished its march to Kabul easily. For
his services Sale was made K.C.B. and received the local rank
of major-general, as well as the Shah’s order of the Duranee
Emp:re. He was left, as second-in-command, with the army of
o:cupa.uon, and in the mtervul between the two wars conducted
1 small ding with the action of Parwan
whxhleddlrecﬂytolhemmduotDost Mahommed. By
this time the army had settled down to the quiet life of canton-
ments, and Lady Sale and her daughter came to Kabul. But
the policy of the Indian government in stopping the subsidy to
the frontier tribes roused them into hostility, and Sale’s brigade

received orders to clear the line of communication to Peshawar. | §

After severe fighting Sale entered Jllahbad on .the 12th of
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Ml&atownol'l'mjﬂ , Victoria, Australia, the
principal centre in the agricultural Gippda.nd district, on the
river Thomson, 1274 m. by rail E.S.E. of Melbourne. Pop.
(2901),3462. It is the seat of the Anglicanbishop of Gippsland,
and contains the cathedral of the Roman Catholic bnhop of
Sale. Attached to its mechanics’ institute are schools of mines,
art and technology, and a fine free library. finest buildings,
excluding a number of handsome churches, are the Victoria
Hall and the convent of Notre Dame de Sion. The Agricultural
Society has excellent show grounds, in which meetings are
annually held. Sale is the head of the Gippsland lakes naviga-
tion, the shipping being Immght from the lakes to the town
by canal. Daily communication is maintained with Cunningham
at the lakes’ entrance, and ocean-going steamers ply frequently
between Sale and Melbourne.

SALB, an urban district in the Altrincham parliamentary
division of Cheshire, England, s m. S.W. of Manchester. Pop.
(1901), 12,088, Itisserved by the Manchester, South Junction &
Altrincham and the London & North- Western nilwa.ys, and
the Cheshire Lines, and has b a large ial suburb
of Manchester. At the beginning of the 1gth century the greater
part of the township was still waste and unenclosed. There are
numerous handsome villas. Market gardening is carried on in
the neighbourhaod; and there are large botanical gardens.

SALEM, a city and district of British India, in the Madras
presidency. The city is on both banks of the river Tirumani-
muttar, 3 m. from a station on the Madras railway, 206 m. S.W.
of Madras ¢ity. Pop. (rgo1), 70,621r. There is a considerable
weaving industry and some manufacture of cutlery. Its situa-
tion in a green valley between the Shevaroy and Jarugumalai
hills is picturesque.

The DisTRICT OF SALEM has an area of 7530 sq. m. Except
towards the south it is hilly, with extensive plains lying between
the several ranges. It consists of three distinct tracts, formerly
known as the Talaghat, the Baramahal and the Balaghat.
The Talaghat is situated below the Easterd Ghats on the level
of the Carnatic generally; the Baramahal includes the whole
face of the Gbhats and a wide piece of country at their
base; and the Balaghat is situated above the Ghats on the
tableland of Mysore.

‘The western part of the district is_mountainous. Amongst the
chief ranges (5000-6000 t.) are the Shevaroys, the Kalrayans, the
Melag:m, the Kollimalais, the Pachamalais and the Yelagiris. The
rivers are the Cauvery with its numerous tributaries, and the
Ponniar and Palar; the last, however, only flows through a few
miles of the north-western corner of the district. The forests are of

November 1841. Ten days previously he bad news of
the murder of Sir Alexander Burnes, along with orders to return
with all speed to Kabul. These orders he, for various

le value. The geological structure of the district is mostly
gneissic, with a few irruptive rocks in the form of trap dikes and

granite veml. Mlmetlc iron ore is common in the hill regions, and

decided to ignore; suppressing his personal desire to return
to protect his wife and family, he gave orders to push on, and on
occupying Jalalabad at once set about making the old and half-
ruined fortress fit to stand a siege. There followed a close and

severe investment rather than a siege, and the garrison’s sorties | of

were made usually with the object of obtaining supplies. At
last Pollock and the relieving army appeared, only to find that
the garrison bhad on the 7th of April 1842 relieved itself by a
brilliant and completely successful attack on Akbar’s lines.
Sir Robert Sale received the G.C.B.; a medal was struck for
all ranks of defenders, and salutes fired at every large canton-
ment in India. Pollock and Sale after a time took the offensive,
and after the victory of Haft Kotal, Sale’s division encamped
at Kabul again. At the end of the war Sale received the thanks
of parliament. In 1845, as quartermaster-general to Sir H.
Gough's army, Sale again took the field. At Moodkee (Mudki)
he was mortally wounded, and he died on the 21st of December
184s5- His wife, who shared with him the dangers and hardships
of the Afghan _war, was amongst Akbar’s captives. Amongst
the few possessions she was able to keep from Afghan plunderers
was her diary (Journal of the Disasters in Afghanistan, London,

b? 3.
Sale’s Bi Afghanist

L-udl mom' l’(‘ dn;:l 7)”‘1’“'& Demas,?dlala&

(ondon, History of the l3th L.ghz Iafantry.

1846);

of iron are also obtainable. The qualities
of the soil daﬂ'er very much; in the country immediately surroundlng
the town of Salem a thin Iayer of calcarcous and red loam generally
prevails, through which quartz rocks Apgenr on the surface in many
places. The climate, owing to the fra flerence of elevation, varies
considerably; on the hnlls it u d bracmg. nnd fora grut

Toh a t

the year very
32in.

The population in 1901 was 2,204,974, showing an increase of
12% in the decade. The principal crops are millets, rice, other
food grains and oil-seeds, with a little cotton, indigo and tobacco.
Coflee is grown on the Shevaroy hills. The chief irrigation work
is the Barur tank system. Salem suffered severely from the
famine of 1877-1878. The Madras railway runs through the
district, with two narrow-gauge branches. The chief industry
is cotton-weaving, and there is some manufacture of steel from
magnetic iron ore. There are many saltpetre refineries, but no
large industries. The district was acquired partly by the treaty
of peace with Tippoo Sultan in 1792 and partly. by the partition
treaty of Mysore in 1799. By the former the Talaghat and
Baramahal were ceded, and by the latter the Balaghat or what
is now the Hosur taluk.

SALEM, a city and one of the county-seats (Lawrence. is the
other) of Essex county, Massachusetts, about 1s m, N.E. of
Boston. Pop. (1900), 35,956, of whom 10,02 were foreign-born
{including 4003 French Canadians, 3476 Irish, and 1585 English
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Canadians), 23,038 were of foreign parentage (one or the other
parent foreign-borny and 156 werc negroes; (1910), 43,697.
Area, 8-2 sq. m. Salem is served by the Boston & Maine
and by interurban electric railways westward to Peabody,
Danvers and Lawrence, eastward to Beverly, and southward
to Marblehead, Swampscott, Lynn and Boston. It occupies
a peninsula projecting toward the north-east, a small island
(Winter Island) connected with the neck of the peninsula (Salem
Neck) by a causeway, and some land on the mainland. Salem
has many historical and literary landmarks. There are three
court-houses, one of granite (1839-1841) with great monolithic
Corinthian pillars, another (1862), adjoining it, of brick, and a
third (1908-1909) of granite, for the probate court. The City
Hall was built in 1837, and enlarged in 1876. The Custom House
(1818-1819) 'is described in the.introduction to Hawthorne's
Scarles Letter, and in it Hawthorne worked as surveyor of the port
in 1845-1849. The public library building (1888) was given
to the city by the heirs of Captain John Bertram.
The Essex Inst™~ -~ *-°- fakur i

SALEM

Salem js Liberty Hill, another On a bluff eecung inta
South river is the old * Burying Point,"” set apart inp‘;o 37, and the
oldest cemetery in the city; its oldest stone is dated 1673; here are
buried Governor Simon Bradstreet, Chiel-Justice Benjamin Lynde
(1666~1745) and %udge gohn Hathorne (164:-1712 of the witch-
craft court. The Broad Street Burial Ground was laid out in 1655
On Neck is Fort Leeand on Winter Islandis Fort Picken :h:s
{gn hu:ac site of a fort built in 1643), near which is the Winter I
ighthouse.

e main trade of Salem is along the coast, princif in the
transhipment of coal; and the Historic meninlhid(ﬁnzr India
wharf is now a great coal The harbour is not deep enough
for ocean-going vessels, and manufmuri;lgei: the most important
i‘ndunry. llz 190.; the total value of) dh::ht:ry prg:‘lum was

12,202,217 (13.9 % more than in 1900), an principal manu-
fmgﬁ w’eresboou and shoes leather. The largest single

sablish 13 l.h:o;' k gt;:m dE(mon Complhlrlgey. which has
2 ms and about 1 mill-han Another factory is
that of the silversmiths, ie] Low & Co.

History.—Salem was settled in 1626 by Roger Conant (1503-
1679) and a company of “ planters,” who in 1624 (under the
Sheffield patent of 1623 for a settlement on the north shore of
Massachusetts Bay) had attempted a plantation at Cape Ann,
whither John Lyford and others had previously come from
Plymouth through * dissatisfaction with the extreme separation
from the English church.” Conant was not a separatist, and
the Salem settl t was a ial venture, partly agri-
cultural and partly to provide a wintering plact for Banks
fishermen so that they might more quickly make' their spring
catch. Cape Ann was too bleak, but Naumkeag was a “ pl
and fruitful neck of land,” which they named Salem in June 1629,
probably in allusion to Psalm Ixxvi. 2. In 1628 a patent for
the territory was granted by the New England Council to the
Dorek
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30 ny, p
of minerals and (o:sill; implements, dress, &c. of primitive peoples,
especially rich in objects from Malaysia, Japan and the South Seas;
ics of f: Salem hants, wit del

and pictures of Salem merchant vessels. The Salem Ath

pany, in which the Rev. John White of Dor-
chester, England, was conspi , and which in the same year
sent out a small company under John Endecott as governor.
Under the charter for the Colony of Massachusetts Bay (1629),
which superseded the Dorchester C: y patent, Endecott

1810), the successor of a Social Library (1760) and a Phil hical
ibrary (1881) is housed in Plummer Hall (1908), a building in the
southern Colonial style, named in honour of a benefactor of the
Athenaeum, Caroline Plummer (d. 1855). who endowed the Plummer
Professorship of Christian Morals at Harvard. Some of the old
houses were built by ship-owners before the Warof Independence,
and more were built during the first years of the h?th century when
Salem privatecrsmen made so many fortunes. any of the fincst
old houses are of the gambrel type; and there are many beautiful
doorways, doorheads and ot details. Nathaniel Hawthorne's
birthplace was built before 1692; another house—now recon-
structed and as a social settlement—is pointed out as the
original * house of seven gables.” The Corwin or * Witch " house,
s0 called from a tradition that Jonathan Corwin, one of the judges in
the witchcraft trials, held prehminarﬁeuminatiom of witches here,
is said to have been the property of Roger Williams. The Pickering
house, built before 1660, was the homestead of Timothy Pickerin
and of other members of that family. Amon;.g the other buildings an
institutions are Hamilton Hall (1805); the Franklin Building (1861)
of the Salem Marine Society; a large armoury; a state normal school
gs_u); an orphan asylum (1871), under the Sisters of the Grey
uns; the Association for the Relief of Aged and Destitute Women
9860). occupying a_fine old brick house formerly the home of
jamin W. Crowninshield (1772-1851), a member of the national
House of Regmsematim in 1824-1831 and Secretary of the Navy
in 1814 ; the Bertram Home for Aged Men (1877) in a house built in
1806~1 80%; the Plummer Farm School for s (incorporated 1855,
opened 1870), another charity of Caroline Plummer, on Winter
Island; the City Almshouse (1816) and the City Insane Asylum
§|884; on Salem Neck; a home for girls é‘l:?6 ; the Fraternity
1869), a club—l}ous ltzr|boy:; the Marjne tety Bethel and the

Salem Sr-—--t- Poibofe dha €o-—o- s Orphan and Children's
Frie: ies (1901), and the
Sale:
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continued as governor until the arrival in 1630 of John
Winthrop, who soon removed the seat of government from
Salem first to Charlestown and then to Boston. 'In July or
August 1629 the first Congregational Church (see CONGREGA-
TIONALISM, § American) 'in America was organized here; its
“teacher” in 1631 and 1633 and its pastor in 1634-1635 was
Roger Williams, a close friend of Governor Endecott and always
popular in Salem, who in 1635 fled thence to Rhode Island to
escape arrest by the officials of Massachusetts Bay. In 1686,
fearing that they might be dispossessed by a new charter, the
people of Salem for £20 secured a deed from the Indians to the
land they then held. Although not strictly Puritan the character
of Salem was not essentially different from that of the other
Massachusetts towns. The witchcraft delusion of 1692 centred
about Salem Village, now in the township of Danvers, but then
a part of Salem. Ten girls, aged pine to seventeen years, two
of them house servants, met during the winter of 1691-1692
in the home of Samuel Parris, pastor of the Salem Village church,
and after learning palmistry and various * magic ” tricks from
Parris’s West Indian slave, Tituba, and influenced doubtless
by current talk about witches, accused Tituba and two old
women of bewitching them. The excitement spread rapidly,
many more were accused, and, within four months, hundreds
were arrested, and many were tried before commissioners of
oyer and terminer (appointed on the 27th of May 1692, including
Samuel Sewall, ¢.v., of Boston, and three inhabitants of Salem,
one being Jonathan Corwin); nineteen were hanged,}! and one
was pressed to death in September for refusing to plead when
he was accused. All these trials were conducted in accordance
with the English law of the time; there had been an execution
for witchcraft at Charlestown in 1648; there was a case in Boston
in 1655; in 1680 a woman of Newbury was condemned to death
for witchcraft but was reprieved by Governor Simon Bradstreet;
in England and Scotland there were many executions long
after the Salem delusion died out. The reaction came suddenly
in Salem, and in May 1693 Governor William Phips ordered
! There is nothing but tradition to identify the place of execution
with what is now called Gallows Hill, between Salem and Peabody.
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the release from prison of all then held on the charge of
witchcraft.

Salem was an important port after 1670, especially in the
India trade, and Salem privateers did great damage in the Seven
Years’ War, in the War of Independence (when 158 Salem
privateers took 445 prizes), and in the War of 1812. On this
foreign trade and these rich periods of privateering the prosperity
of the place up to the middle of the 19th century was built.

The First Provincial A bly of M huset ts met in Salem
in 1774 On the 20th of February 1775 at the North Bridge
(between the present Salem and Danvers) the first armed resist-
ance was offered to the royal troops, when Colonel Leslie with the
64th regiment, sent to find cannon hidden in the Salem “ North
Fields,” was held in check by the townspeople. Salem was the
birthplace of Nathaniel Hawthorne, W. H. Prescott, Nathaniel
Bowditch, Joues Very and W. W. Story.

Marblchead was separated from Salem township in 1049;
Beverly in 1668, a part of Middleton im 1728, and the district

of Danvers in 1752. Salem was chartered as a city in 1836.
SeeClurluS.OufoodandHenryh T g
Salem, 1626-18;73 Salem, 1879); "'{
(ibid., 1827; 2nd ed., 2 vols, 1 m,
Salem Wilcheraft (2 vols. g€

, Bost
Communities of Cape Ann and Sai
Putnam (the pen-name of Mrs Arlo
C. H. Webber and W. S. Nevins, Odd
Paine, Skips and Saslors of Old Salem
Guide to Salem (Salem, 1902) publist  _

SALEM, a city and the county-seat of Salem county, New
Jersey, U.S.A,, in the S.W. part of the state, on Salem Creek,
about 38 m. S.W. of Philadelphia. Pop. (1900), s811, of whom
263 were foreign-born and 809 were negroes; (1910 U.S. census),
6614. It is served by the West Jersey & Seashore railroad,
and has stekmer connexion with Philadelphia. Among its
institutions is the John Tyler Library, established as Salem
Library in 1804 and said to be the third oldest public library
in the state. In Finn’s Point National Cemetery, about 4 m.
N. of Salem, there are buried some 2460 Confederate soldiers,
who died during the Civil War while prisoners of war at Fort
Delaware, on an island in Delaware river nearly opposite the
mouth of Salem Creek. .Salem lies in a rich agricultural region.
Amohg the city’s manufactures are canned fruits and vegetables,
condiments, glass-ware, brass and iron-work, hosiery, linoleum
and oilcloth. Near the present site in 1643 colonists from
Sweden built Fort Elfsborg; but the Swedish settlers in 1655
submitted to the Dutch at New Amsterdam, and the latter in
turn surrendered to the English in 1664. In 1675 John Fenwicke,
an English Quaker, entered the Délaware river and founded
the first permanent English settlement on the Delaware (which
he called Salem). After purchasing lands from the Indians,
Fenwicke attempted to maintain an independent government,
but in 1682 he submitted to the authority of the proprietors
of West Jersey. During the War of Independence Salem was
plundered on the 17th of March 1778 by British troops under
Colonel Charles Mawhood, and on the following day a portion
of these troops fought a sharp but indecisive engagement at
Quinton’s Bridge, 3 m. S. of the town, with American militia
under Colonel Benjamin Holmes. Salem was incorporated as a
town in 1695, and was chartered as a city in 1858.

SALENM, 2 city of Columbiana county, Ohio, U.S.A., 67 m.
N.W. of Pittsburg and about the same distance S.E. of Cleveland.
Pop. (1goo), 75832, including 667 foreign-born and 227 negroes;
(1910) 8943. Salem is served by the Pennsylvania (the Pittsburg,
Fort Wayne & Chicago division) and the Youngstown & Ohio
River railways, and by an interurban electric line to Canton.
The city bas a Camnegie library (1896), two beautiful cemeteries,
a park, and a Home for Aged Women. It is situated in a fine
agricultural region; coal is mined in the vicinity; natural gas
is obtained in abundance; and the city has various manu-
factures. Tt was settled by Friends in 1806, incorporated as a
town in 1830 and as a village in 1852, and chartered as a city in
1887. For several years preceding the Civil War it was a station
on the “ underground railway ” and the headquarters of “ the
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Western Anti-Slavery Society,” which published here the Anti-
Slavery Bugle.

SALEM, the capital of Oregon, U.S.A., and the county-seat of
Marion county, on the east bank of the Willamette river, sam.
S.S.W. of Portland. Pop. (1900), 4258, including 522 foreign-
born; (1910) 14,004. Itisserved by the Southern Pacific railway,
by the Oregon Electric line (to Portland), and by a steamship line
to Portland. The city is in the centre of the Willamette Valley,
a rich farming and fruit-growing country. It has wide, well-
shaded streets, and two public parks. Among thepublic buildings
and institutions are the State Capitol, the State Library, a city
public lib